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FOREWORD

BY

Sir C. R. REDDY, K¢, . A., (Cantab) Hon. D. Litt. (Andhra)
Viee-Chancellor, Andhra Univeraity.

——

have much pleasure in introducing this learned monograph on
«The Dutch in Malabar® by Mr, P.C. Alexander, ¥.4.,
M. Litt,, Lecturer in History, V. R. College, Nellore, He was
formerly an Assistant Lecturer and Research Scholar at the
Annamalai University. The book bears traces, which add to ita
value, of the master hand of Diwan Bahadur C.8. Srinivasachari,
Professor of History and Politics, Annamalai University, under
whom young Alexander was trained. Naturally, it is published
by the Annamalai University. This publication carries out its
tradition of research into Dravidian Hiatory relating to
Vijayanagar and the European Epochs which have thrown such
wonderful and accurate light on the facts of important epocha
which have left permanent traces on our Politieal and Caltural
bistory. The book is well documented, There are already some
thres Publications relating to the History of Malabar and
Travancore pnder Dutch, Portuguese, Yrench and English
intervention  and domination. Mr, Alexander’s book is no
superfluity but an essential contribution. No wonder he has
been the recipient of the coveted Endowment Prize designated
ufter the illustrious Maharani Setu Parvati Bai. I congratulate
the young author on this scholarly and scientific work. 1 have
ambitions for him. I hope this is the precursor of bigger
volumes on South Indian History. Now that he bas become
affilisted to Andhra, may I not expect something from him in
the vast field of more than Provincial interest, of its history and
culture !







PREFACE

“The Duteh in Malabar" is the thesis I submitted for the
M. Litt, degree of the Annamalai University. In this monograph
I have attempted to make a detailed study of the relations of the
Dutch with Malabar, The Dutch were masters of the Cochin
fort from 1663 to 1795; this period witnessed many important
events which radically altered the history of the country. When
the Dutoch arrived on the Malabar Coast, the country was divided
into about fifty small principalities ; but by the close of the 15th
century Malabar had come to be divided into three main units
—Calicut, Cochin and Travancore. Thus the Dutch epoch in
Malabar saw the end of the middle ages and the beginning of the
modern. It would be an exaggeration to say that the Dutch played
an important part in shaping the history of Malabar during this
period. Their role, no doubt, was something more than that of
mere spectators. But their political influence was not strong
enough to engble them to play an active part in the politics of
the country. » Due importance is given im this book to the
important palitical events of this period. I have attempted to
make a study of the social and economiec conditions and the
administrative system of Malabar during this period. I have also
discnssed the administrative, economic and religious policy of the
Dutch in Malabar, their trade and their administrative system.

There is no paucity of material for research in this subject.
The texts of the numerous letters exchanged between the Dutch
and the Malabar princes and the treaties concluded by them
are available in Malayalam. THe Memoirs left by the Dutch
Commanders,—especially those of Moens and Gollenesse—the
Letters of the Dutch Chaplain Visscher, and the accounts of
forzign travellers are rich mines of information for our study.
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I must express my thanks to Diwan Bahadur Professor
C. S, Srinivasachariar for his valuable guidance and help. I had the
benefit of his guidance for five years for preparing my theses for
the M. Litt. and the D. Litt. degrees of the Annamalai University
on snbjects relating to Kerala History, and I owe him a deep
debt of gratitude. Sir C. R. Reddy saa., (Cantab) D. Litt.,
Vice-Chancellor, Andhra University, has conferred on me a great
distinekion by writing a Foreword to my book. It is a distinction
which my book hardly deserves, I am thankful to the authori-
ties of the Annamalai University for sanctioning the publication
of this book.

NELLORE,
} P. C. ALEXANDER

15—85—1948,



INTRODUCTION

“The Dutch in -Malabar” is the result of two years of
research conducted by Dr. P. C. Alexander during the years
when he was & member of the staff of the History Department
of the Annamalai University. He was awarded the M. LiTr.
Degree of the University for this thesis in 1943 and the University
kindly sanotioned its publication on the recommendation of the
examiners.

The importance of the Dutch epoch in the history of Malabar
can be hardly exaggerated. The Dutoch wrested the fort of Cochin
from the Portuguese in 1863 and thus became the inheritors of
the political supremacy exercised by the Portuguese in the kin&—
dom of Cochin, The Rajas of Cochin had entered into political
alliance with the Portuguese to escape from the humiliating
tutelage of the Zamorins of Calicut. But the Portuguese never
recognised the Sovereign status of the Cochin Rajas and frequently .
interfered in their internal administration. During the one hundred
and fifty years of Portuguese rule at Cochin they consolidated
their position in the country and virtuslly gained control of the
rulers, When the fort of Cochin was seized by the Dutch, the
kindom of Cochin becamé a dependency of theirs. The frequent
disputes of succession in Cochin and the rebellions of local
chieftains welkened the position of the Cochin rulers who were
forced to relf entirely on the protection of the Dutch. The
installation of the Mootha Tavazhi Prince on the throne of Cochin
by the Dutch Commander in 1063 is indicative of their power.
The famous * War of the Vetlom suceession ” confirmed the
position of the Dutch as kingmakers in Cochin. 1t now became
clear that no candidate could have any prospect of ascending the
throne of Cochin without the support of the Dutch. By under-
taking the administrative responsibilities in Cochin, the Dutch
were committing themselves to the great task of safoguarding
the integrity of a weak kingdom. The Dutch tried their best to
discharge their responsibilitics towards Cochin. Their policy
however brought considerable loss to the Company and the Dutch
authorities soon perceived that the Rajas of Cochin should no
longer be supported by them.

L4 "



During the first phase of their relations with Malabar, the
Duteh bad very little to do with the state of Travancore. #When
the Dutch arrived on the Malabar coast, Travancore was a very
small principality. It was under the great Maharaja Marthanda
Varma that Travancore came to the forsfront of Malabar polities.
The most important event in the history of Malabar in the
18th century was the rise of Marthanda Varma. His military
and political achievements affected the position of all powers in
Malabar, including the Dutch. The Dutch tried to thwart the
schemes of Marthanda Varma by re:orting to the clever policy of
setting the Malabar Rajas against him. But finding their
attempts useless they decided to cultivate his friendship and
signed a treaty with him (Treaty of Mavelikkara 1753). This
treaty clearly marked the decline of Dutch influence in the
country. A good feature of Dr. Alexander’s book is his account
of the policy of Marthanda Varma. The great achievement of
Marthandavarma was the destruction of the old feudal nobility
and the establishment of a powerful and efficient autocracy.
The Maharaja’s activities have been severely criticised by some
authors, the most notable among them being Sardar K. M. Panik-
ker. Dr. Alexander differs from Mr. Panikker and defends and
justifies the Maharaja's policy and aims.

The relations of the Dutch with the Zamorins ofCalicut have
not always been friendly, When the Dutch established their
power in Cochin, the most powerful of the princes of Malabar was
the Zamorin of Caliout. The Zamorin had been the traditionad
enemy of the Portuguese and so he has prepared to enter into an
allisnce with the Dutch. But scon he found that the Dutch
were thwarting his aims of conguest of Cochin. The Zamorina
and the Dutch drifted into open war over the -question of the
possession of Chettwaye and thus the relations between the two
powers were always strained,

The invasions of Malabar by Hyder Ali ard Tipu sultan had
important reactions on the fortunes of the Dutch. Dr, Alexander
Las dealt with these in great detail in Chapters VIL and VIIIL.
The Dutch bad bardly recovered from the great blow they had
sustained by their treaty with Travancore, whea the Mysoreans



xi
attacked Malabar, The Dutch had treaty obligations to save the
kingdom of Cochin from foreign attack. But their position was
so weak that they could hardly fulfil their obligations. In
fact their anxiety now was not to save Cochin or any of their

allies, but to save themselves. The Mysorcan invaders were
fully aware of the weakness of the Dutch,

By the close of the 18th centory the Dutch had practically
lost all power in Malabar. It was not a difficult task for the
English to seize power from their.hands. The author has aptly
described the destruotion of Dutch power in Malabar when he says

** Marthanda Varma dealt the death blow to the Dutch Company,
the My soreans hastened its death, the Evglish effected it.”

A special merit of Dr. Alexander’s book is that He has
devoted great attention to the study of the political and social
conditions of Malabar in the 18th century and the policy, trade and
administrative system of the Duteh. By devoting special chapters
for these topics, the author has made his book very informative
and useful to all stadents of Kerala history. In Chapter XI he
bas elaborately dealt with the Nairs, the Syrian Christians, the
Jews and other important communities in Malabar. Chapter XII
describes the administrative system prevalent iu Travancore,
Cochin and Calicut and gives many useful details asbout the
revenue and judicial administration of Malabar in general. When
the author discusses the policy of the Duteh in Malabar—admi-
nistrative, egonomic and religious—he makes very useful obser-
vations. The contrast which the anthor draws between the
Dutch and the Portuguese is instructive,

1 recommended this subject to the author for his study as I
was convineed that his knowledge of Malayalam would enable
him to make full use of the many documents relevant to this
subject in that language, Fhe texts of the letters exchanged
between the princes of Malabar end the Dutch Commanders which
are available in' Malayalam have been properly utilised for
marshalling the neccssary data for this thesis, [ trust that this
useful and informative monogr®ph will be an important contri-
bution to Kerala history.

13th August 1046, C. S. SRINIVASACHARL
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THE DUTCH IN MALABAR

CHAPTER 1

A. MALABAR ON THE EVE OF THE ADVENT OF THE DUTCH.

"THE name ‘ Malabar' in its wider sense is applied to the
L Malayalam-speaking territories of South India, comprising the
two native states of Travancore and Cochin and the British
District of Malabar. In its narrower sense it is applied only to the
British District of that name. The origin of the name has given
rise to much speculation. [t is interesting to note that the name
* Malabar " by which the country is commonly referred to in the
writings of foreign travellers and authors, is rarely used in indige-
nous literature. Al Biruni seems to have been the first torefer to
the country by this name, In the writings of the early travellers
we find different variations of the word Malabar ; for example
‘ Manibar *, * Minibar*, * Melibar’, * Mulaibar ’, etc. * Malabar " is
certainly not an indigenous word, even'though the first part of it,
* Mala * may be considered as the Dravidian term for mountain.
Some scholars have suggested the possibility of the derivation of
the suffix *bar’, from the Arabic ‘barr’, which means a continent. Tt
can also be f.afen as a variant of the 3anskrit * vara ', which means
a region; Thus *Malabar ' is considered to have been derived
from * Malavaram'. But we have rarely come across any refe-
rence to the country as * Malavaram’® in Sanskrit literature.
In the Keralolpathi we find the country being frequently referred
to as * Malanado '. * Malanadu ' {Hﬂlﬂ.}raiam} or ‘ Malainada
(Tamil), literally means the hill country. Probably Malabar isa
variant of the indigenous term * Malanadu''

1 The word Malanadu is used to refer not only to Malabar, bat 1o the
sdjoining distriets also. Thus the ' Malakuta® of Yuan Chwang's acconnts
has been identified with * Malzinadu* which includes the Malavalam-speaking
‘countrias on the west coast and the modern districts of Tanjars, Madurs 'snd
Coimbaters

-
-
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" Malayalam* is invariably used to refer to the language of
the country. But it denotes the territory also. It is composed
of the two words ‘Mala " (hill) and ‘alam’ (depth) or *ala’
(wave). *Malankara® is another name by which the country is
known'. It may be interpreted to mean * Mala * (hill) and * Kara ’
{shore) or as * Malayala Kara ',

‘Kerala' is the name which the Malayalees like most for
their country.  But it came to be applied to the country only
since the advent of the Aryans®. The original name of the
country was ' Chera'#; and it is by this name that it is referred to
in the various classics of the Tamil literature, Dr. Caldwell was
inclined to think that * Kerala ' was the original form of the word
and that * Chera * was derived from ‘ Kerala'., But there is a
greater possibility for the word ' Kerala * to have come from
*Chera ", Scholars like Rev, Foulkes and Dr. Gundert point out
that ‘ Keralam ' is the Canarese dialectical form of the word

Hel . “Ancient Geography oi India’" by General Cunningham

" Malakutia of Yoan Chwang ' by Prof. K. A N Sastri in the -
Proceedings of the Orienial Cobference, 1930, P. 176

Naladyar Introdaction by Dr. Pape. F. X.

Indian Antiquary Viol. VI PR, 239—241

South Indian Insrciptions ** Vol [. Part 1. ¥ 1 Note 1,

L 4
1.~ Malankara) does not seam to have been a verv common name.

Generally it is lound in the religious literature of the Syrian Christians, The
Archbishop of the Syoaa Christians of Malabar is styled as * Malankara
Metrapolitan ',

2. The name Kerala has had a loug usage. The Mahabaratha,
the Hamavana the Vayupurana, the Matsya ami Markandeys Poranas make
mention of Kerala, The famous Hock Edict of Asgka (R E 11} refers to the
ruler of Kerala as * Kerala Putra,” The Periplus refers to the ruler of Kerala as
‘Cemabotra’ The ' Cerabotra’® of the Periplus and the * Caclobotra ' of Pliny
have been correetly iWentificd with the * Keralaputra ' of the 4sokan edicts,

3, Prof P T, Srintvam [yengar says that the name of the country ia
its griginal farm of ' Chefa ' occors in the Tittiriya Aranyaka as Chera padah’.
EBu# this interpretation 1 nof accepted by scholars as Savane gses the word
Chera to mean snake and aot the conntry of Chera



*Cheram "' Some scholars contend tkat * Keralam 'is derived
from ‘' Keram ', the name of the cocounut palm which grows
luxuriantly in the country. But it seems more probable to accept
that * Keram * is derived from the Dravidian root Cheram,

Malabar had never been a single political unit in any period
of her history., Of course tradition speaks of political unity i the
days of the Perumals; but a student of listory has genuine
doubts whether the country at any time had been brought under
unified control by any Perumal. When the Dutch arrived on
the Malabar coast, there were as many as forty-six petty chieftains
and four ruling houses in the country. Tradition ascribes the
origin of their autonomy to Cheraman Perumal, the last of the
Perumals, who is said to have partitioned his empire among his
relatives and dependents and gone on a pilgrimage to * Mecca *.*
The authenticity of this tradition is questioned by many historiana,
There is ample evidence to show that these dynasties and princi-
palities were in existence long before the alleged division of the
country by Cheraman Perumal. Probably the storv about the
partition of Chersman Perumal's dominions was invented in later
centuries as a convenient explanation for the state of affairs in
the country.

1 Toprovd thai roots and words begining with the palaial cossanani
C change inio the® guttoral consonant K in Canarese, the  following examples
may be given:—,

Tamil Canarese
Cey (4o dol Hev
Cevi (ear) Kiwvi
Ceri (a hamlet) Keni
Centamarai (red lotus) Kendavara
Chennir (red water, hlood) Kennir

" Haja Sir Annamalai Chettinr Commemaration Volome™, 1941,
Article on ** Ceranadu and Tamil * by Vidwan S, Arumngha Madaliar, p. 131.

2. Thestory of Cheraman Perumal’s partition of the empire and pil-
grimage to Mecca is one of the nosolved purzles of Kerala history. We find the
story al the Perumal's conversion in Malayalam works like the Keralolpathi, io
Mohommedan accounts like the ' Tohfut ul Mojahidesn *, in foreign accounts
like'the Joint Commissioner’s Heport and Letters of Visscher and in Tamil
Classics like the Peria Puranam. These accounts disagree {undamestally in
manydetails, even though they all agree in saying that Cheraman was the last
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The leading princes «of Malabar when the Dutch arrived in
the country were the Rajas of Travancore and Cochin, the
Zamorin of Calicut and the * Kolathiri ' or Raja of Chirakkal.?

Fravancore was only one among the many small kingdoms of
the south. North of Travancore lay the minor principalities of
Attingal, Peritally, Desinganadu, Maruthu Kulangara, Kayamku-
lnm, Porakkad, Punjar, Tekkumkur; Vadakkumkur and [dappally.
The Portuguese influence had never been strong in Travaucore :
in fact Travancore had never been under the influence of any
power in any period of her history. Even though the small
principalities lying between Travancore and Cochin were enjoying
a status of independence, Travancore was exercising considerable
control over them. Many of them were ruled by princes related
to the royal house of Travancore. Even the others had no fear
of annexation by Travancore JInter-statal wars were a regular
feature of political life in medieval Malabar, bnt conquests never
led to annexation, The most important eveats which radically
changed the political character of Malabar during the hundred
years of Dutch rule in the country were the annihilation of these
principalities by Travancore and the rise of Travancore as the
predominent power in Malabar.

of the Perumals. It is interesting to note that almost all thY religions =ects
known to South India—Mobommedanism, Buddhism, Jain®m, Christianity,
Saivism —have claimed Cheraman as their convert, Latest resgarches into this
subject prove ibai Cheraman never embraced any foreign religion, but dieda
a Salvite &

1 The Roval family of Travancore was known as Trippappil Swaroopam,
that of Cochin as Perimpadappu  Swarcopam, that of Calicut as Nediyiruppu
Swarcopam snd that of Chirakkal as Kolathu Swarcopam. It was by these
names that the Rajns used to refer 1o each other in their correspondence.

According to the popular traditions of the country. Cheraman Ferumal
gave the sorthern part of his dominions to the Kolathiri when he partitioned
his empire. The Kolathiri was erowned as the “lord of Kerala', H the
Perumal was 1o return after his pilgrimage, the Kolathiri was to become his
“Hamkur ' (beir-apparent) ; if he did oot return he was to bave Cheraman's
crowi. The southern portions of the empire were given to the Haja of
Travencore aad the central regions 10 the Raja of Cochin, When the Zamorin
came to meet the Perumal, the latter had only mne ** Desam*' 1o give Him.
But the Perumnal gave him his sword with the blessing that he may ** die, kill
and seize "' and make himsell master of all Malanady, P



Cochin was the chief port on the Malabar coast. It had
passed into the hands of the Portuguese very early in the 16th
century. Nearly a century and a half of Portuguese administra-
tion of the port had raised it to the status of one of the predo-
minent centres of trade in the East. Baldaeus says that Cochin
could compare well with some of the best ports of Europe and conld
* justly challenge the second place after Gon among the Indian
cities . Before Goa was constructed, Cochin was the official
residence of the Portuguese Viceroy. The port extended to a
mile and a half in length and a mile in breadth. Caesar Frederick,

“a Venetian merchant who visited Malabar in the latter half of the
sixteenth century, describes Cochin as the * chiefest place that
the Portugals have in the Indies next unto Goa

The native kingdom of Cochin extended from Porakkad in
the south to Chettwave in the north,! The cardinal point of
interest in Malabar politics before the advent of the Europeans
was the keen hostility between the two kingdoms of Cochin and
Calicut. The Zamorin of Calicut was the most powerful of the
princes of Malabar. His ambition was to subdue the whole of
Malabar with the assistance of the foreign Mohommedans with
whom he was on friendly terms. The history of Cochin’s indepen-
dence is a very chequered one ; in {act Cochin had never enjoyed
an umntrrrupted period of mdapendrne.e Duarte Barbosa says that
before the a.mval of the Portuguese the Raja of Cochin was not
considered asamvermgn at all ', The Zamorins of Calicut had
made it a fegular custom to invade Cochin and enforce their

1. ©Of the possessions of Cochin Visscher mentions *Moutan', * Coerpnad *
‘VWypeen ', 'Cranganore’, and " lyvroor’. " Moutan' is identified  with
*Mattam” and ‘Coernad ® with " Korunada *, Both 1hese territones were
later conquered by the Raja of Travancore Cranganore was sitoated at the
southern end of the Chettware islamd. 1t was the famous capital of the Chera
rulers—known as Kodungallur in Malavalam literniure, as * Muziris® in the
writings of enrly wesiern travellers, as "~ Muvirikkedn ', * Muochini® and
* Makotni Patta~am ' in Tamil books and inscriptions and as *Vaoji® m the
Sangam classics. It bad its lost independent statns and was always under the
protection of either the Rajaof Cochin or the Zamorin of Calicut. Iyroor
was a small principality lving between Cranganoce and Chetiwaye.

2. Barbom says that the Cochin Raja could neither coin money, nor
even roo! his hoose with tiles “Destription of the coasts of Africa and
Mphbar', P 1356 '



.
8

supremacy on the Cochin rulers. The latter had to send pepper
and spices to the Mohommedan merchants at Calicut with whom
the Zamorins had enteréd into commercial contracts. This had
affected adversely the trade of Cochin : but the Rajas of Cochin
were too weak to oppose the policy of the powerful Zamorin,'

When the Portuguese arrived on the Malabar coast the
Cochin Raja readily entered into an alliance with them hoping
that he could extricate himself from the humiliating tutelage of
Calicut. But it was a fall from the frying pan into the fire. From
the very beginning of Portuguese relations with Malabar, they
treated the Cochin Rajas as their vassals. They considered
Cochin as one of their dependencies and in all their corres-
pondence with the Raja they used to address him as their “faithful
servant . The Portuguese Governors at Cochin never showed
even the ordinary courtesies due to a king in their dealings with
him, In 1510 the Portuguese interned the Raja in his palace on
the slightest provocation. The Raja was not allowed even to
retire. Once Albuquerque openly told the Raja that it was the:
will of Portugal and not the custom of Cochin that was binding
on Cochin. The Raja was deprived of even the taxes which were
legitimately due to him. His complaints were treated with
contempt, and whenever he remonstrated, he was reminded of his
dependent position. During the century and a half that the
Partuguese Captains exercised their authority in the fortress of
Cochin, the Rajas of that territory were virtually prisoners.?

L]

Calicut, as we have already pointed out, was the wealthiest
and the most powerful of the four kingdoms of Malabar. There
was an extensive cultivation of pepper in the Zamorin’s dominions
and this had attracted foreign merchants to Calicut. The relations
of the Zamorins with the Portuguese were never friendly, because
the Portuguese had always thwarted the Zamorins' schemes of
southern conquest.

1. For a detailed accaunt of Cochin's depenident position see * Cochin
and the European Powers " by P C. Alexander, thesis which was awarded the
Sethu Parvathi Pal Historical Research Prize of *1944 by the Annsmalai
University,

2. Malabar and the Portoguese K. M. Panikkar P, 165. .
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The * Kolathiri * or the Raja of Chirakkal was the weakest of
the four Rajas of Malabar. Fofuerly Chirakkal had been an
important centre of trade in pepper, cardamom and sandal wood.
But the influence of the Kolathunadu Swarcopam steadily declined
and Chirakkal ceased to be an important power in Malabar. The

three major powers of Malabar on the ewve of the advent of the
Dutch were Calicut, Travancore and Cochin.*

B. The first Duteh settlements in Malabar.

By the close of the sixteenth century Holland had become a
. formidable rival for the Catholic kingdoms of Spain and Portugal.
For mearly a century, the Portuguese had been enjoying the
monopoly of the Eastern trade, unquestioned by the Christian
powers of Europe. All intruders beyond Lisbon to the south
were treated as pirates, and misleading reports were spread about
the dangers of the route to discourage adventurous navigators.
But the union of the Spanish and the Portuguese crowns in 1580
brought about a great change in the sitnation. Portugal was
now dragged at the heels of Spain into her struggle with Protest-
antism, and the Protestant countries of Holland and England
were emboldened to openly challenge the Catholic monopoly,
The union of the two Cathglic crowns in 1580 was as important
to the Protestant countries of the sixteenth century as the closing
of the Eastern land routes by the Turks had been to Christendom
in the fifteenth®. In the case of Holland her newly achieved
independence was an additional stimulus for maritime enterprises,
Soon a life and death struggle for supremacy followed between
the Catholic Kingdoms and Holland. In 1585 Phillip 11 ordered
the seizure of all Dutch ships in Spanish waters. The Stales.
General retalisted by forbidding Dutch vessels to trade with

1 llﬂhlhihl princes ol Travancore, Cochin, Calicat and Chirakkal
there was a Mohommedan chief in Malabar who enjoyed sovereign sinius  He
was the " Adi Raja'or " All Kaja' of Cannanore. He obtained possession of
the Laccadive Lulands (koown as the ™" [alands of Malabar *) and styled himseli
us the Sultan of the Laceadives. His political influence in Malsbar was not
very stong and he played only an insignificant part in the politics of the
couniry.

2 Hustory of British ladia. W, Hunter. Vol I, P 229
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Spain or Portugal. Severe penalties were imposed by the
States-General on those who attempted to trade with the
Catholic Kingdoms. Meanwhiie vigorous attempts were being
made in Holland to organise an expedition to the East. The
Dutch gained much valuable information about the East froma
traveller by name John Huyghen Van Linschoten who was
a resident at Goa from 1583 to 1580, in the train of the Portu-
guese Archbishop. When Linschoten returned to his country in
1392, he placed at the service of the States-General the vast store
of knowledge which he had gathered during his travels. He
obtained a licence from the States-General to publish his work,
one part of which setting forth the routes to India, was published
in 1595. It had immediate results. Within a few months, a
squadron of four ships was despatched under Cornelius Houtman
to the East. He returned in 1597 after concluding a treaty
with the King of Bantam. Houtman's example was soon followed
by many adventurous captains and by 1601 about fifteen fleets
consisting of sixty-five ships had sailed to the East. The Dutch
Government soon realised the danger of ‘separate voyages ',
The different companies were already showing cigns of mutual
jealousy and rivalry and the Government realised that their
disunity would lead to their extermination, Meanwhile Philip 11
had ordered his Indian fleet * to close'in on the Hollanders at the
Straits of Malacca and to impress whatever private shipping
might there be found to aid in their destruction”, The Portu-
guese Government was using its influence with the+native princes
to shut out the Dutch. The Dutch realised that their strength
lay in unity and on the 2oth of March, 1602, the various com-
pauies were amalgamated under the name * General Chartered
East India Company "*. Those companies which refused to join
the United Company were excluded from the trade with the East,
The States General granted to the new company the exclusive
right of navigation to the East of the Cape of Hood Hopeand the
west of the Straits of Magellan for twenty-one years, It was
empowered to mike war or peace, to seize foreign ships, (o esta-
blish colonies, construct forts and to coin money.

The first achievement of the United Company was
the routing of the Portuguese near Bantam in 1602 It
was followed by a series of successes. In April 1607, they
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destroyed the Spanish fleet in Gibraltér, The Dutch ambition in
the East was to gain possession of the Spice Islands. The ins-
tructions issued to the Dutch Governor-General were that * the
commerce of the Moluccas, Amboyna and Banda should belong
to the Company and that no other nation.in the world should
have the least part'*. In 1619 the Dutch succeeded in estab-
lishing their capital at Batawvia.

Though most of the early expeditions were sent to the
Malay Archipelago, the Datch had despatched factors to the Indian
mainland as early as 1boz. Some Dutch factors arrived in
Gujarat to see whether trade relations could be established with
India. But it is reported that those factors were seized by the
Portuguese when they were proceeding from Surat to Calicut.
They were taken to Goa and hanged there, In 1603 the Dutch
sent a big expedition of 13 ships to the West Coast of India under
Steven Van der Hagen. The fleet arrived in the west coast in
1604. Van der Higen concluded a treaty of alliance with the
Zamorin of Calicut on the rrth November 1604. This treaty
marks the first connection of the Dutch with -Malabar. The
" treaty refers to the Zamorin as ‘Emperor of Malabar®’, The
main object ot this alliance was ' to expel the Fortuguese from
the territories of His Highness and the rest of India'. The Dutch
were also allowed to build a fort at Calicut. The readiness shown
by the Zamorin to enter into an alliance with the new-comers for
driving out the old ally, shows the weakness of the Partuguese infiu-
ence in Malabar at that time. Calicut had been the main centre
of Portuguess trade ; but the relations of*the Zamorin with the
Portuguese were seldom friendly. There is some truth in the
statement of Moens, however strongly prejudiced he was against
the Portuguese, that ‘as soon as the Portuguese had taken possession
of the navigation and trade in these regions, the trade of Calicut
decreased and fell into its decline.” The princes of Malabar were
aware of the fact that the Portuguese trade in their country was
in no way beneficial to them. It was the domination of the
Portuguese in the eastern seas that forced them to keep up their
trade relations. But, when this was challenged by a stronger
power which the Portuguese could not successfully resist, the
princes in Malabar were encouraged to turn againt their old ally.

—

1 Hunter : History af British I'midia Vol. I, P. 353
]
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The Dutch East India Company succeeded in obtaining foot-
ing in’other parts of India also. As early as 1602 they had built
a factory at Surat, But it was soon destroyed. In 1605 they
established a factory at Masulipatam. It was followed by
another at Nizampatam in the next year. By 1615 the Company
had established many factories on thé Coromandel Coast, with
Pulicat as their head-quarters.

The Dutch signed a new 'Ltc:l'l}. wuth the Zamorin on October
16, 1608'. It was negotiated by Admiral Peter William Van
Hoeven ; the object of the treaty was *the ruin and destruction
of the Portuguese together with their assochites' " Associates *
here most probably refers to the 'Perumpadn.ppu Swaroopam ",
The Zamorin insisted that the Admiral should besiege the town of
Cochin which was at that time in the hands of the Portuguese.

The Dutch had made their position very strong in the Malay
Islands and Ceylon before they ventured into Malabar. They
captured Malacca from the Portuguese in 1641. They attacked
the Portuguese in Ceylon in 1638. The Dutch had obtained a
footing in Ceylon as early as 1610. They were strengthening
their position there with a view to driving the Portuguese nutlrr_]y
ont of the island. The Portuguese power was very weak in Ceylon.
They had only 500 Europeans in Colombo at the beginning of its
siege by the Dutch, nor was it well fortified.  The Dutch compelled
Colombo to surrender in May 1656, The Dutch power was
further strengthened by the arrival of the R]{s[t Worshipful
Rijklof Van Goens with a large fleet. By 1638 the Portuguese
were driven out of their last stronghold in Ceylon.® It was easy
for the Duatch to attack the Portuguese dominions in Malabar
wlhen once they had establisheéd their position in Ceylon. From
Ceylon the Dutch could camry on their operations against
the Portuguese settlements in the West Coast. The town of
Quilun was the first object of their attack. Quilonr was at that
time a great political and commercial centre.  The Portuguese had
a strong fort there. [t was also the seat of the Roman Catholic
Bishop®. The influence of the Portuguese in Quilon is testified by
the English traveller Ralph Fitch who passed by Quilon in 1588.

| October 16, 1608, is the date given by Moens, AMr. Gallotti says the
correct date is October 13,

Quilonr was the seat of the first Homan Catholic Bishopric in Indis.
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He describes Quilon !t as ““a fort of the Portugals from whence
commeth great store of pepper which commeth from Portugall.”
The conquest of Quilon was however nd easy task. Admiral
Van Goens sailed from Colombo with a small force against
Quilon: He managed to seize the Portuguese fortress there on
December 29, 1658 (833 M. E.)

e

Frqm there he proceeded to Cannanore. But Van Goens
received orders to undertake no farther operations in Malubar
and to send back 500 men to Batavia. Therefore, he returned to
Colombo, On his way back he stationed a strong garrison at
Quilon to guard the fortress they had captured from the Porto-
guese. But they were immediately attacked by an army of
3000 Portuguese and 1000 Nairs,  Finding the defence of the
place hopeless, Governor Van der Meyden sailed to Colombo
and withdrew the garrison on the 14th April, 1650.

The attempts of the Dutch to capture the Portuguese
strongholds in Malabar were renewed in 1660. Van Gdéns sailed
with a small fleet against Malabar. He was joined by a fleet of
six Ships commanded by Governor Van der Meyden. The Dutch
reached Ayacotta on the roth Februrary, 1661, They signed a
treaty with the Zamorin with the object of attacking the Portu-
guese forts of Palliport and Cranganore. It was agreed to divide
the loot equally between the Dutch and the Zamorin if the
attempt was £o be successful. Among the captives, the Christians
were to be enwrusted to the Dutch, ‘“Portuguese priests were to
be expelled, $he forts to be pulled down . . . the Dutch to
" administer justice, the Dutch to have all pepper at a fixed price
except one third which the native chiefs or their merchants should
keep for their own trade”. The main motive of the Zamorin was
to take possession of En-chin with the help of the Dutch. Van der
Meyden landed at Palliport on the 15th February, 1661 and
attacked the Portuguese fort theré. There was only a very weak

— e e e

:I Capqun Nisuhoff, the Dutch Director of the East India Company in”
Quilen, p\-e-:. the following description about the Portuguese strongholds thers,
** The city is fertified with a stone wall of eighteen to twenty feer high and
eight bastions , . .. , The Friars of St Paol and the Franciscans had each
4 monastery there adorned with stately chapels and steeples. Besides these,
there were {our other Portuguese Churches here dedicated to as many Romish
Saints |, ... . The castle (the residence of the Portuguese Governor) is the
strongest the Portuguese were ever masters of oo the coast of Malabar™
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garrison of 100 to 150 Europeans and 200 Nairs at Palliport.
The Portuguese had made arrangements for reinforoements from
Cochin, but it was too late when help eame. The Dutch took
possession of the fort. Meanwhile the Portuguese garrison defend-
ing the fort had escaped through the lake. Van der Meyden
handed over Palliport to the Zamorin and sailed back to Ceylon.
The Portugiese abandoned all ideas of re-capturing the fort of
Palliport and concentrated their attention on Cochin and Cranga-
nore. The Dutch were aware of the Portuguese strength in
Quilon. Therefore, Governor Van der Meyden had decided to
postpone all attempts at the capture of Cochin. The Dutch plan
was to consolidate their conquests and strengthen their position
before launching an attack against Cochin. But the capture of
Cochin had always been the pivot of their plans in Malabar. JThey
knew very well that *once the Portuguese were turned out of
Cochin, they were turned out of India """, That was the reason
why Van Goens insisted on seizing Cochin. * In every case’ he
said “* evefi if our nation should make peace with the Crown of
Purtugnfthe design on Cochin must be kept in mind" . He
wrote to the Governor-General and Council of India about the
necessity of seizing Cochin. * If we are so lucky as to defeat
them (the Portuguese in Cochin) the whole coast of Malabar and
the pepper trade will be ours .

The power of the Dutch in Malabar was steadily ascending
and the chiefs and princes were anxious to secure their friendship.
When the Dutch were hatching plans for an attack 8n the Cochin
fort, Paliath Achen, the commander-inchief and* the chief
minister of Cochin, approached them at Palliport and placed
himself immediately under the Company, surrendered his person,
land and subjects to the Company "' He signed a treaty with
Van Goens on the r2th of March 1661 on board the * Muscaat

I De Weert—(Quoted by K. M. Pannikker in * Malabar and the Duaich |

2 BRatavia Diary, 1661. Quoted by Galletti

3 Proi. K A. Nilakania Sastri, commenting on this ireaty, says: “This is
neta trenty in the usual sense. It i5 an instruction or request from Paliath
Achen. Komi Manon, to the Dotch Company tﬂrutncl him from danger [rom-
the Poriuguese and other enemies who have hostile designs against him and
his possessions in  Vypeen and clsewhere ™ Mr. Sastri calls this agresment
"mshrewd stroke of business' on the pari of Palinth Achen, Relerto his
paper ' Some Documiests on Cochin History *, 1, H. R Commission, Proceed-
ings of Meetings. Vol XV,

- - = -
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Boom ‘. Paliath Achen confesses in this treaty that he was in a
* position of émbarrassment *, “powerless to save himsell and
stand against his enemies ' and therefore he was compelled to look
out for a powerful nation which will maintain and protect his
land and subjects. The Company took him under its protection
on condition that * neither he nor his legal successors should ever
make a treaty or alliance with the Portuguese directly or indireet-
ly'. This treaty shows the great prestige of the Dutch Company
and the desparate position of the Malabar chiefs at that time.
The treaty, no doubt, enhanced the prestige and influence of the
Dutch .in Malabar considerably.

CHAPTER 11

THE DUTCH OCCUPATION OF TOCHIN

'THE history of the Dutch relations with Cochin should be

studied in ‘the background of the complicated politics of
the country. Certain adoptions made in the ruling family of
Cochin had given rise to bitter internecine struggles and thrown
the state into utter confusion. In the 17th century the Cochin
ruling family was divided into five tavazhies! or branches. They
were (1) Muttatavazhi, (2) Iayva tavazhi, (3) Murnngur,
(4) Chazhiyur and (5) Palluritti. Of these five families, the
reigning princé Rama Varma was from the Ilaya tavazhi branch.
He adopted sofie princes from the Mutta tavazhi and Palluritti
branches as h® successors, Two princes® were adopted from the
Miitta tavazhi branch, and in July 1646, Rama Varma the eldest
of these princes became the ruler. Soon quarrels arose between
the Mutta tavazhi and Palluritti branches; Virm Kerala
Varma of the latter family deposed Rama Varma and
drove him out along with his brother with the help of the-
Portuguese. The members of the banished fa.m:]} secured the
support of one of the fendatories'of the Zamorin and tried to regain
their position. But, they were defeated at a battle which took
place at Trichur. The Zamorin immediately_took up the cause
of the banished princes and made preparations for an attack on
Cochin. The throne having again fallen vacant, some princes

1 Panappatiu. Page 3.
2 Introduction to the Patappattn  Ooliur S. Parameswars Iyer,
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were adopted from the Vettathu family (Tanur) in North Malabar.

The Vettom princes were traditional friends of the Portuguese.

The ‘anointment of the prince was held in the Portuguese

cathedral at Cochin and he was sworn in as the Portuguese King's
" brother-in-arms.  None of the local chieftains or neighbouring

princes took part in these ceremonies on the ground that the

Vettom family was not so ancient or noble as the Mutta tavazhi,

Fr. Sebastioni rightly observes that this adoption was the root

cause of all the subsequent troubles in Cochin.

. Now there were two principal parties in Cochin, one suppart-

ing the Vettom princes and the other supporting the Mutta
tavazhi princes. The leading supporter of the Mutta tavazhi
princes was the Zamorin. THey had also as their allies the Rajas
of Vadakkumkur, Thekkumkur and Edappalli. Paliath Achen,
the premier chief of Cochin, was secretly helping the exiled princes,
The principal supporters of the Vettom princes were, of course,
the Portuguese. The princes of Porakkad, Valluvonad and
Chempakassery were their other allies.

- The Dutch had hitherto taken little part in the affairs of
Cochin. They were anxiously waiting for an opportunity to get a
foothold there.  The influence of the Dutch Company at that
time seems to have be®n very great. The author of the ‘ Patap-
pattu’! describes the Company as a * mighty elephant * and speaks
of the * big guns, ammunitions and ships’ of the Dutch as a great
terror to Malabar. On the advice of the Paham chief, the Mutta
tavazhi prince, Vira Kerala Varma, proceeded to, Colombo to
seek the help of the Dutch. Vira Kerala Varma explained to
the Governer General the whole case, specially laying stress on
the fact that the Portuguese had been illegally supporting the
claims of the usurpers. The Dutch promised immediate help.
A conference was held with the Zamorin at Ayacotta and a plan
of attack was drawn up. The Zamorin was to attack by land
and the Dutch by sea, while the Rajas of Vadakkamkur and
Thekkumkur were to lead a sifhultaneous attack alongside the
the rjver. :

The Dutch fleet under Van Goens at Pulicat received orders
from Batavia for the campaign on the west coast. He collected
a huge fleet numbering about 24 ships from Colombo and other

1 Fatappatiu, Page 5.
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parts. He was joined by the ships of Commodore Roodhas at
Manapare, @nd the whole fleet arrived at Quilon on the 5th
December, The Dutch fleet consisted of nearly-4,000 soldiers
including 27 companies of Europeans. The Portuguese offered no
resistance. But the Nairs of the queen of Quilon ably resisted
the enemy. In the encounter with the Nairs, about 13 Dutchmen
were killed and about 3o were wnund-:d while * the ways and
fields were sown with dead Malabaris'.! The Dutch entered the
town which had been abandoned by tl'tr: Portuguese ; they aet fire
to the palace there and the temple attached to it

After capturing Quilon, Van Goens sailed for Cranganore.?

The Dutch landed at Cranganore on the 2nd January, 1662
and approached the Portuguese town early on the morning of the
qrd. The Zamorin immediately sent an army to help the Dutch,
and the Dutch laid siege to the fortress, The Portuguese fortress
was under the command of Urbano Fiatho Fercreira. The Dutch
opened fire against the fortress, determined to storm the town.
The author of the * Patappattu * says that the Dutch commander
sent word to the Portugaese garrison that he was determined to
hisve his dinner in the Cranganore Fort on the following day.
But, the ceaseless firing of the Dutch seemed to have no results
in the beginning. Fr. Sebastion gives an interesting story that
the Dutch sent a messenger with a white flag for truce. But,
Urbano Ferreira sent back the messenger to tell Van Goens that
the fort was full of valuable articles and that if he was very parti-
cular to enter the fort, he himself would send him the ladder to
scale the walls! This insulting reply infuriated the Dutch and
they resolved to seize the fort on any account. The Dutch
wanted to hnd out a wvulnerable pointin the fort and to
attack there. Captain Nieuhoff who was depated for this task
managed to get information about the weak points in the Portu-

L Galleiti quotes from the accounts of Schoutsn, the sargeon in the
Company's service who l.cmmpunad the expedition

2 Captain Nienhoff says ' Mr Van Goens set sail the samo. day nhh the
ships the * Walhut tree " and the Ulieland ' towards Cranganore, Commodore
Gotske being to follow with the res: on the :9th we 3=t sail in the ship
* Exchange * to follow the fleat .. . We landed without any opposition
except that the enemy discharged some of its great cannons sgainst us from
Cranganore, but without any loss on our side’, .

3 Sebastioni, Bk 1. Chap XII .
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guese defences and attacked that, side on January 15. It is
stated that the plans of the Portuguese were betrayed to the
Dutch by Paliath Achen who had already signed a treaty with
them, The Portuguese fought couragecusly, but their comman-
dant fell pierced by a wound; and they retired to the Jesnit Church.
The Dutch rushed into the Fort and the Portuguese, finding
turther defence impossible, surrendered.  On the Portuguese siiie
about 720 Europeans and many Nairs were killed. The Dutch
lost about 70 men among whom were important officers like
Poolman, Sobulenburg, Simon Wending and Licutenant Silvester.
~ The Portuguese had many buildings and churches in Cranganore.
Baldaeus says that the Dutch found there a noble College of the
Jesuits with a fine library attached to it, a Franciscan church and
a stately cathedral adorned with tombs of the Archbishops of the
place. - Qutside the fort there was a seminary belonging to the
St. Thomas Christians (Syrian Christians) where many students
and priests were studying Syriac. There were in all seven
churches in Cranganore. Baldaeus* says that the town showed
 traces of Portuguese decadence ! but from various other accounts
he himself gives, Cranganore seemed to have been a flourishing
town. Its decadence set in with its conquest by the Dutch. The
Dutch at first entrusted it to the local Raja who was to be
their vassal,

After the capture of Cranganore, the Dutch forces moved
south towards Cochin, subjugating the island of Vypeen on their
way. They established their headquarters in®a Portugnese
church and built a fort called * New Orange’. Their idea was to
bombard Cochin from New Orange. The morale of the Portu-
guese defenders had been considerably shattered by the brilliant
victories scored by the Dutch at Cranganore. ' Bishop Sebastioni
says that he received a letter from the Paliam chief asking him to
go over to Chennamangalim for some important confidential
negotiations. The Portuguese were prepared to recognise the .
right of the Mutta tavazhi to succeed the Vettom prince in order
«to avoid an encounter with the Dutch. They were anxious about
the fate of the Syrian Catholics in Cochin in the event of 1 Dutch
conquest of the fort. Buot, before any settlement 'could be
arranged, the Dutch had launched their attack on Cochin®.

1 Baldasus 1. Chap. XVTIL
¥ 2 Sebastioni 11, Chap. X111,
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The Zamorin with his troops advanced to Elankunnapuzha to
help the Mutta tavazhi prince. The Mutta tavazhi prince had
meanwhile met the Dutch dommander on board the ship and
promised all possible help. He undertook: to supply the Dutch
with food materials from the neighbouring districts.

The Portuguese Governor had convened a conference consis-
ting of his officers, the Cochin prince and Goda Varma, the junior
prince, to discuss about the steps to be taken for the defence of
Cochin. The junior prince advised the Cochin Raja to escape
before the enemy advanced, but he was steadfast in his resolve
“* to fight for the crown and country "

Van Goens landed some miles south of Cochin and marched
along the shore to the Church of St. lago. From there he
advanced towards Mattancherry. Vira Kerala Varma bad
specially requested the Dutch admiral that there should be no
indiscriminate slaughter after the capture of the town. He was
very anxious“that his sister, the old queen-mother, and the
Brahmans and the gosha women in the fort should suffer no
harm, The Dutch pretended to be friends of the natives, and
announced that they had come not to hurt them, but only to
help them by defeating the Portuguese. But their persuasion
was of no avail ; and the Nairs put forth a stout resistancel,

Baldaeus says that the Nairs wereall intoxicated with opium.
But their heroism was in vain. AH the three Vettom princes
were killed i, the fight®. The Nairs had fortified themselves
in a temple very near the palace. But the Dutch attacked
them and chased thém from there. In the encounter about 400
Nairs were killed and many times their ndmber wounded. Rani
Gangadhara Lakshmi, the old queen-mother, took refugeyin the
temple, but she was taken prisoner and brought before the
Dutch general by Hendrik Van Rhede? (author of the famous
work, * Hortus Malabaricus'). Van Rhede was instantly promoted
to the rank of captain as a rﬂ:ognitiun of his service. J

1 Nieuhoff says ** They all a ppeundtu mmutmmdwﬂ times
attacked us like mad men throwing themselves among our ranks ihough they
were sare to die in the attempt and thrusting themselves upan our swords, and
spikes not like men, but like wild boars and enraged bears ',

2 Tavernier says that {our princes were killed. Hef Bk I, Chapt. XVI.

3 Nieohoff says " The old Queen would fain have hid hersell in a corner
of the top of the Pagode, buf was found out by Captain Henry Rede and

-brqught into ear camp * ]

v 3
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When the queen-mother was brought before Van Goens, the
Mutta tavazhi prince paid his respects to her. She readily recog-
nised him as the legal prince:.

Many Nair chiefs were Killed or taken prisoners in the battle 3.

Goda Varma, the Vettom prince, had escaped to Ernakulam.
The Dutch proposed to pursue him and attack his stronghold
there. But, meanwhile, the Raja of Chempakassery, a staunch
ally df the Vettom prince, had arrived at Ernakulam with re-
inforcements. When the Dutch heard about this, they gave up
the idea of pursuit.

The Dutch now decided to attack the main fortress. Their
army was then divided into three companies—one on the southern
side under Van Goens, one on the western side under Commodore
Isbrand Goske and one on the eastern side under Commodore
Root Bans. The Dutch started bombarding the tgwn from their
fortress of New Orange at Vypeen. Captain Was was ordered to rush
on the fortress and take it by storm before sunrise on Sunday the
5th February. But he was killed in his attempt and his army re-
treated in confusion. The siege continued for three weeks during
which not a day passed without attacks and sorties. Winter was
fast approaching, and the besieging forces were reduced in
number to 1400 men. Meanwhile, the Portuguese received re-
inforcements from their ally, the Raja of Chempakassery. Further
five ships amived lrom Goa for Portuguese help., The Dutch
were badly in need of many war materials, and the putbreak of
the monsoon had spoiled their plans. Van Goens thought it
better to raise the siege and retire to Batavia. The retreat was
effected in such a clever way that the Portuguese came to know
of it only after the whole garrison had left. “ All night a Dutch
constable named Boerdrop had been running about bawling out
at the top of his voice words ol command such as “stand’,
*halt’, “who is there 7 | a {riendly Jew in the meanwhile sounded
the gong till early vespers; and these tricks put the beseiged

1 Fr. Sebastioni says that the WI:_E;H'I_PE"I‘E' by _III; Duteh 1o l’ﬂ;ﬂlﬂ_m
the Mutta tevazhi prince as heir

S X The Tirgpumithora: Granthavari says that Raghavan Coil was wounded

and he escaped anil that twa Namboodiries of Murivattitta wars carried away
by the Datch on board their ship as prisoners

L
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off their guard!”’. Van Goens embarked on the night of March 2,
leaving garrisons at New Orange, Cranganore and Quilon.

The Portuguese thought that the Dutch had given up their
idea of conquering Cochin for good. Therefore, they did not do
anything to strengthen their position in ‘the fort. Instead, they
sought to wreak their vengeance on the Jews and Konkanis who
were supposed to be the supporters of the Dutch. Goda Varma
imMediately returned to Cochin and he was accepted by the local
chiefs and nobles as the prince. It was very late in the day When
Mutta tavazhi the prince and Paliath Achen came to know of the
retreat of the Dutch.. They were about to fall into the hands of
the Portuguese, but fortunately escaped.

Vira Kerala Varma immediately proceeded to Colombo
accompanied by one of the Chaliur princes and Paliath Achen.
He represented his grievances to the Governor-General who found
fault with the Admua] for returning without installing the prince
on fhe throne, “A Dutch fleet was instantly despatched to Cochin.
But Vira Kerdala Varma died on board the ship on his return
journey. On his death the Chaliur prince, Vira Kerala Varma
—became the heir to the throne.

: When the Portuguese understood that the Dutch were

planning a second attack they appealed to Goa , for help.
They afso made busy preparations fof strengthening their fort.
But the reinforcements sent from Goa did not reach them as the
ships that bromght them were caught in a tempest near Honore.®.

The Dutch appeared before Cochin on the 25th October 1662
under General Jacob Hustaart. A Dutch fleet of eleven shipsarrived
at Palliport from Batavia. Van Goens who was not keeping good
health at that time was to proceed with three ships a little later,
The Dutch entrenched themselves at the southern end of the
island. Meanwhile reinforcements came from Batavia and other
parts. Van Goens arrived from Ceylon with a body of native
Ceylon troops. Some Konkani troops also arrived from thé Dutch
settlement of Vingorla. After leaving a small contingent at
Vypeen, the Dutch army left for Cochin and landed in the
vicinity of the Church of St. Andrews. They took all precautions
to prn.vent supplies reaching the Portuguese from their allies,

I History of Kerala, Vol . K. P. P. Menon, P, 195
‘2 Ibid.
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As soon as the Dutch arrived in Cochin, they offered terms
of peace to the Portuguese. The Dutch Governor-General promised
to give the Portugiuese absolute freedom of religion and trade,
provided they would surrender the fort. But the terms were
sternly refused by the Portuguese commander Sarmento. Bishop
Sebastioni says that the Dutch had sent two captains with a
white flag to the Portuguese Governor before the final attack.
The Dutch captains were brought inside the fort with their eyes
blindfolded so that they might not notice anything about the
defences of the fort. But they had admitted a boy also inside the
fort who was not blindfolded like the others. The boy made use
of that opportunity to study all details of the Portuguese defences.
This information was very valuable to the Dutch general.

The Dutch erccted batteries under cover of small barri-
cades made of palm-trunks. A battery with four pieces of
cannon was erected near the Church of 5t. John, another was
erected near the Church of St. Thomas, a third was erected at
Calvetti with seven pieces of cannon. On the whole about 28
* guns were employed in this scheme of attack.

The Portuguese constructed a new bastion at Calvetty. think-
ing that the Dutch would attack them at that point. There was
an old, half-ruined pepper warehouse, and the Dutch attacked it
from the sea on the 3j1st of December 1662, .

Meanwhile, the Raja of Porakkad, the traditional ally of the
Portuguese, arrived with a strong Nair contingent and made some
attempts to send food supplies to the defenders inside the fort.
A serious battle took place at the landing place between the
Dutch and the Nairs of Porakkad. The Porakkad troops dis-
played exceptional heroism, but fresh troops under Captain Ree
came to the help of the Dutch and completely routed the Nairst:

The Dutch at last resolved to take the fort by storm directing
their attack on the Calvetty side. They sent a frigate to Vypeen
to bring the soldiers stationed there. Bat, on its return voyage
the entire frigate was destroyed as it struck against a sand bank.
All except ten soldiers were drowned in the sea®. The ten who
managed to reach the shores fell into the hands of thé Portuguese,

1 Cochi Rajya Charitram. Vol. IL. K. P. P, Menoa.
2 Thid.
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The final assault on Calvetty took place on the 6th of January.
Four companies each consisting about 150 men, tock part in the
attack '

A Dutch army under Captain du Pon succeeded in entering
the town on the Calvetty side. The position of the Portuguese
was very precarious.  Goda Varma and his followers had already
deserted the Portuguese and escaped to places of better -security,
The Raja of Porakkad also had deserted the Portuguese and they
were not getting any supplies from any quarters. Still the
Portuguese put forth a stout resistance. But it was of no avail.
Finally they decided to surrender and sent two commissaries fo
Van Goens with a white flag. The next morning the Portuguese
general, Ignatio Sarmento, delivered the keys of the fort into the
hands of the Dutch general.® :

Among the Portuguese killed was Don Bernardo, the son-in-
law, of the Portuguese Governor. The Dutch leader ol the assault,
Major Du Pon, was wounded in two places; a Dutch captain and
two lieutenants died of their wounds. The seige had cost the
Dutch 360 men ; 300 more lay in the hospital ; 500 more were unfit -
for duty. On the enemy’s side goo had been killed. wounded or
captured.

The treaty was signed an the 7th January 1663*.

I Tavernier says that the Portuguess gat the assistance of 200 Dutchmen

who had deserted their army. Their salary for 6§ months bad been withheld
by the Dutch Government for failure to defend the town of Tonan in Java and
they joined the PoMuguese to take revenge.  But for their help the Portoguese ®
would not have Geld out for so long a time.—Book I Ch. XVL

2 Sebastioni says that the town was given up 1o loot for three days.
According to the Bishop the cruelties and atrocities perpetrated by the victori-
ous troaps pass all description,  But Tavernier givesa difierent account about
the capitolation.  * The Portuguess according to the terms of the capitulation,
left Cochin with arms and baggages, but as soon as they were cuiside the
gates of the town where the Dutch troops were in order of battle, they were
obiliged to give up their arms and place them at the feet of the General. with
the exception of officers who kept their swords  The General had promised -
the soliders the®oot of the town, but not being able to keep up his promise for
reasons he explained 1o them, he led to hope that he would pay them six
maonths' wages.

3 28th Dhanu, 838 M. E. (Pawmppatta) '* The date of the documeat is
nsually given as 7th January. The entry at the end shaws that the terms were
negotiated on the 7th and ratified on the Bth”. ~Some Documents jon the
History of Cochin by K. A. Nilakanta Sastri: |. HR Commission Procesdings
of Mestings Val : XY
-



The terms were :(—

1. The town of Cochin shall be surrendered with all its
Jurisdictions, old privileges, revenues, lands, with the documents
and papers relating thereto and whatever else is held in the name
of the King of Portugal, all rights and title§ thereto bein geeded
to the Dutch General or His Worship's representatives.

2. All artillery, ammunition, merchandise, victuals, movable
and immovable property, slaves and whatever else there may be,
shall be handed over as above.

3. All free persons who have borne arms shall swear not to
serve against the Netherlands in India for two years.

4. All the soldiers and others belonging to the army shall
march out with fying colours, drums beating, fuses alight, bullets
in their mouths and two guns, to a convenient place outside the
town and lay down their arms beneath the standard of the
General.

_ 5. Al true-born unmarried Portuguese shall be conveyed to
Europe,
6. All maimed Portuguese and Mestics shall proceed to Goa

and may take their bed and bedding and such other articles as
the General and his Council may permit.

7. All free Topasses and Canarians (Konkanis) shall remain
at the disposal and discretion of the General,

8. The clergy may take with them their im:a:gm afid church
ornaments except those of gold and silver, E

9. All free persons and all persons belonging to the
church now wandering in the country shall, if they be subjects
of the king of Portugal, be comprehended in this treaty.

The capitulation of Cochin was soon followed by that of
Cannanore—the last Portuguese stronghold on the Malabar
Loast. The Cannanore fort seems to have been strong enough
to resist the beseigers. But the commandant surrendered
before Hustaart on the, 13th of February, for which act of
cowardice he was executed on his arrival at Goa,

Portugal and Holland had made peace in Eurppe before
the capitulation of Cochin and Cannanore. The treaty had

peen ratified by the Dutch Government in Holland on the



14th of December 1662 and one ol the clauses of the treaty
was that all conquered places should be restored to their
former masters immediately after the publication of the treaty.
Day! says that the Dutch General had deliberately withheld
the information about the signing of the peace so that it
should not prevent his conquest of Cochin. It is said that
when the Portuguese accused Van Goens of this charge he
coolly replied that he was only playing the same game which
the Portuguese themselves had played on the Dutch® at the
capture of Pernambuco in Brazil not many years ago. Even
otherwise, the Dutch had a sound justification in refusing to
restore Cochin and Cannanore to the Portuguese. When the
Portuguese Viceroy demanded the restoration of these places
on the ground that they were captured after the signing of the
treaty, the Dutch replied that "it was true the treaty was

ratified on the 14th of December 1662, but only came into
" force so far as the last was concerned after the publication of
the said peace which took place three months after the said
ratification *, Cochin was captured in January and Cannanore
in February 1663, but the ‘treaty was published only in March.,
Therefore the Dutch were not obliged to surrender their
conquests?,

The capture of Cochin from the Portuguese marks a wvery
important landmark in the history of the Dutch in Malabar.
The Portuguese flag ceased to fly over Malabar and the Dutch
were left undisputed masters of the countryd,

] IDﬂr--"LmduIthe F:r::ln.l.ls B. 117

3 Francols Martin who visited Coclin in 1660 observes in this connection:
“*There have besn neveriheless some prolests agninst this capture, the King of
Portugal bolding that this action was against ke terms and sobsequent to the
roaty of peace concluded between the two nations in Esrope, But such
protesis must needs be upheld more by right of force than by way of
procesdings '

The question was Gually decided by the tréaty of 1669 between Holland
and Portugal which stated that Cochin and Cannapore should remain in the
- hands of the Datch. ¢

3 Baldasus says that the Dutch were very liberal in the treatment accorded
to the Portuguese ' Being this becoms entirely masiers of Cociun, after it
had been 150 vears in the possession of the Pofuguese, the Dutch General
made it his chiefest care to issub his orders not to molest the Fortuguese, but to
tobserve punctually the ariicles of capitulation.”

1 -
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Dutch Influence in Cochin. As soon as the Dutch took

charge of the government of Cochin, the Muta tavazhi prince
was installed on the throne,! 9

A golden crown was made, bearing, the insignia of the
Dutch East India Company, and Van Goens himsell placed it
on the prince’s head. The very ceremony proclaimed the °
altered position of the Cochin ruler, The position of the
Cochin Raja was that of a mere puppet in the hands of the
Dutch Company. » He sigred a new treaty with the Dutch
by which he promised to recognise the autharity of the Company
in the Cochin fort *so long as the sun and the moon exist’,
He accepted the Company as his protector in view of the fact
that the Company had been responsible for installing him on
-thet hrone. The Company was given a-monopoly of trade
in pepper and cinnamon, The Dutch also got the right to
construct three new forts—one at Pallipuram for the protection
of Cranganore, another at Cheppuram for the protection of
Porakkad and a third at Azhikkal for the protection of Cochin.
The Cochin prince was entitled to all the customs and duties
traditionally collected by his predecessors. The Christians were
placed under the special protection of the Company. Certain
arrangements were made concerning the administration of
justice in cases of disputes between the Company's dependents
and the Raja's subjects. No Portuguese priests were to be
allowed to stay within the fortress of Cochip. This treaty?
not only established the Company’s monopoly of trade, but
also legalised the sovereign position of the Company in Cochin.

Two days after tne signing of the treaty with the Cochin
prince, the Dutch concluded an alliance with the Raja of Porakkad
1 Tavernier describes the coronation ceremony as lollows :-** The General
had & crown made to place on the head of a new king of Cochin, the other
having been driven away and on the day which he selected for this grand per-
formance he seated himself on a kind of throne at the foot of which & Malabari
called Mootani conducted by two or three captains, placed himself on his
knees to receive the crown from his hands and to take possession of o kingdom
of very limited extent, that is to say, some smal] territories in the neighbour-
hood of Cochin ', —Vol, I P, 242
2 Cochy Rajya Chanitram. by K. P. P, Menon, Vol. IL.

3 The Treaty is dated Meenam 12th, 835 M. E , corresponding to March




had always been helping the enemies of the Dutch; but there
seems to have béen no difficulty at all in concluding a friendly
alliance. The Raja of Porakkad and the Dutch General met as
if they were old friends* and a treaty was signed expressing
desire to keep their friendship for ever. The Raja of Porakkad
promised that he would never be hostile towards the Cochin
Raja or the Company. On the other hand he undertook to help
them against the Portuguese or any other enemies. Goda
Varma, the Vettom prince, was not allowed to enter his terri-
tories thereafter. Trade of pepper and cinnamon in his territory
was to be conducted with complete agreement with the Cochin
Raja and the Dutch. The Company was to construct a new fort at
Porakkad. All the Portuguese ships in Porakkad were to be
handed over to the Dutch. The Company and the Cochin Raja
undertook to protect Porakkad from all its encmies. All the pri-
vileges previously enjoyed by the Portuguese in Porakkad were
thereafter to be enjoyed by the Dutch.

The treaty with Porakkad strengthened the position of the

Company to a considerable extent. It turned a former cnemy
into-a close ally.
" Jacob Hutstaart succeeded Van Goens as Governor of Cochin.
He signed a fresh treaty with the Cochin prince on Feb. 235, 1664,
whereby certain new concessions were gained by the Dutch. The
Dutch company was exempted from the payment of tolls to the
Cochin prince for carrying goods into the Cochin port. The Com-
pany was to egjoy complete liberty for trade with the Cochin
merchants and, the Raja was not to interfere in their affairs. The
Company's monopaly of trade with Cochin was again asserted in
the new treaty.

In 1673 Hendrick van Rheede came to Cochin as the com-
mander. The finances of Cochin seem to have been in confusion
when he took charge as the Commander. He made certain
agreements concerning the administration of Cochin on September
2, 1674. The Raja was to receive 3,000 fanams for his expenses.
The allowances for the junior princes were also fixed'. Adoptions
to the Royal family were to be made only with the consent of the
2 Patappatta P. 46, B
1 Elaya Haja—1500 Fanams.

Rams Varma— 730
Goda Varma— 450
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Company. The Paliam chief was to be in charge of the ‘adminis-
tration, and the junior princes were not to interfere in the State
affairs. The provisions of this agreement were not pleasing to
the junior princes. The princes were encouraged by the Nair
chieftains ywho also disliked the interference of the Dutch in inter-
nal affairs. The junior princes defied the authority of the Raja
and the State was thrown into Civil War. The Raja himself had
to leave the capital fearing the troubles of the nobles and the
junior princes. He wrote a lettér to the Governor General at
Batavia in March 1677 informing him of the situation in his
State. The Raja received the reply on the 8th of September.
The Governor General was of opinion that the Raja himself should
settle the affairs of his State. He advised the Raja to return to
his capital and protect the ** fair name and pride of the Company
and the Swarcopam ', The Governor General again asserted the
mutual corfidence between the Company and the Raja, and eager-
ly desired that it should never be strained. \

The Raja tried his best to restore order and peace in his
family and State, But the troubles only intensified.

Van Rheede was succeded by Jacob Lobo as Commander of
Cochin. Lobo signed a new treaty with the Raja on the 21st of
May 1678. This agreement stated that the janior princes should
not interfere in the State affairs. They were not to go against
the orders of the Raja on pain of very severe punishment. They
could not enter the Cochin port without the consent of the Raja.
The Paliam chief was to manage the administration in consulta-
tion with the Raja and the Commander. If tRe Paliam chief
failed to discharge his duties satistactorily, the Raja could appoint,
a new chief with the permission of the Commander.
Certain arrangements were made for the collection of
revenue due to the Raju. The Nairs were told that they would
be severely punished if they attempted to create troublein the
State. Some regulations were made concerning the protection of
the Christiin subjects in Cochin.

The agreement virtually handed the Cochin State over to the
Company., [t reduced the position of the Raja to that of a mere
dependent of the Company. The administration was to be
carried on by the Paliam chief who was to be responsible to the
Company. The Raja was the nominal head of the State, but he
could exercise very little powers.  The position of the - Raja was

L]
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very pitiable, The junior princes were all enraged against
him and the Nair nobles were openly supporting the princes.
The threat of punishment meted out to the Nair nobles and the’
junior princes resulted only in ageravating their hostility. They
were now planning for deposing the Raja and destroying the
Dutch influence in the State, There was no love lost between
the lacal merchants and the Company's merchants ; and therefore
there was considerable difficulty in the collection of customs and
duties. The Dutch Commander at that time—Martin Huysman
signed a new agreement with the Raja on the qrd of May, 1681
at Chennamangalam. This agreement provided another oppartu-
nity to the Dutch for tightening their grip over Cochin. The firsf’
clause of the agreement declared the Paliam chief as the head of
the administration. The allowances for the princes were fixed at
the former rates (i.c., 3000 fanams for the Raja, 1500 fanams for
the Elaya Raja, 750 fanams for Rama 'u"nrr;w. and 450 fanams for
Goda Varma.) The paliam chief should see that the allowances
were properly given to the princes. The Elaya Raja was not to
interfere in State affairs. No adoptions were to be made. to*the
Royal family without the consent of the Company. [n short, the
affairs of the state were to be conducted by the Paliam chief
under instructions from the Commander. Hewas to be assisted
by three others including an officer of the Company.

Captain Hendrick Reins was selected to represent the
Company as stipulated in the agreement. Meanwhile, the Paliam
chiet' died leating as his heir a minor by name Ittikkannachen.
The Raja appointed Ittikkannachen as the prime minister, but as
he was a minor, it was necessary to appoint a counsellor. The
Raja consulted the Dutch Commander Gulmer Vorsburg as to
the appoinment of new counsellors, and a fresh agrement was
signed between the two on July 25, 1684 Captain Hendrick
Reins who was appointed as the Company's representative was to
exercise the powers of the prime minister. The minor Paliam
chief, Ittiakkannachen, was of course the chiel minister in name.
He was to be assisted by two counsellors who were also named in
the agreement!. The treasurer of the State was Perimbala
Shenoi—a dependent of the Company. He had not been regular
in keeping the accognts and he was never on good terms with the
local officers. The Raja had desired the removal of Perimbala

1 Vadakkeojeril Ramer and Parsthurathil Iitinikomaraa.
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Shenoi and the appointment of a new hand, but the Commander

, Was not prepared to remove him. Thus the Company had the
command of both the treasury and the dewanship, and the Raja
was reduced to the position of a mere cypher. The Raja was
conscious of his growing helplessness. But, he had no other
alternative but to depend on the Duch as he had estranged the
junior princes and the nobles. The Paliam chief was only a
minor, and assuch he was not powerful. Even otherwise the
Raja could not rely on the support of the Palinm chief as hewas
more a dependent of the Company than of the Rajo. The Duch
wege the de-facto rulers of Cochin, and they exercised their
authority even in minor matters of the State like the appoint-
ment of local officials.

In 1687 Isaak Van Deelan was appointed Commander of
Cochin. The highhanded interference by the Company. in
internal matters drove the Raja to desperation and he himself
secretly helped the outbreak of troubles in the state. Some
loyal Nair nobles pledged their support for ousting the Dutch
from Cochin, The Dutch Governor General at Batavia was
canstantly informed of the steady deterioration of Dutch influence
in Cochin, Events were fast developing in the direction of a rap-
prochement between the Raja and his nobles against the Dutch.
But a dispute of succession arose in Cochin meanwhile, and the
Rajan was agnin put to the necessity of depending on Dutch
power.

It had been decided at a meeting of the RaJa, Elaya Raja,
the Dutch Governor and the Paliam chief at Chenndmangalam in
May 1681, to adopt some princes and princesses from the
Chaliyur family. This decision was given effect to in 1689. But
this ‘adoption was not welcome to some nobles especially the
Rajas of Parur, Mangat and Manakulom. The Chaliyur princes
were dependents of ithe Dutch, and therefore, their cause was
upheld by the Company. The Nair nobles supported the Vettom
princes and demunded that adoption should be made from that
family. The Vettom princes were popular with the people and
the Raja himself was prepared to support them becanse of his
hostility. towards the Dutch. Bat, Paliath Achen stood firmly by
the Dutch and the Chaliyur branch, The Dutch had alienated
every one at Cochin and their position was very precarious. The
Nair nobles invited the Vettom prince to assume leadership. In



160r he arrived at Mangat accompanied by Ayinikkuttil
_ Nambidi. ' v

The aathor of * Keralolpathi® says that the Dutch and the
Cochin Raja frightened at this new turn of events, appealed to
the Zamorin for help through the Raja of Cranganore. The
Zamorin consented to come to their help and signed a truce Tor
12 years with the Dutch. The Dutch ceded Chettwaye to the
Zamorin and agreed to pay the expenses of the war. The
Calicut forces commanded by Krishnan, the * Talachchenmore * of
Chowghat, crossed into Alangad and Parur  The Dutch forces
were commanded by Hendrick Van Rheede. The supporters of
the Vettom princes were commanded by Mangat Raja. He'was
defeated by the Dutch, and Parur and Alangad were plundered
by the victors, The Zamorin got Chettwaye as was originally
prnmtwd

The war of the Vettom suvccession secured thc prﬂmer
position of the Dutch once again in Cochin and established it.on-
an unquestmmhle basis, The Dutch with the hglp of the
Zamorin broke the power of the Nair nobles and local Rajas who
bad been their bitter enemies. The position of the Dutch as
king-makers in Cochin became undisputed. Cochin was reduced
to the position of a mere Dut<h principality,

The Raja of Cochin died in 1687. The administration of
Cochin was in great confusion in the time of his successor.
Ittikkannachen, the Paliam chief, was never loyal to the new
Raja, and he joined sides with his enemies.  Collection of customs
and revenues fell into amrears. The Company’s Indian agent,
Bavan Prabhu, was secretly intriguing sgainst the Raja gnd
encouraging these irregulanties. Isaac Van Declan, the Dutch.
Commander, died on the 25th December 1603, and the Raja  was
in a helpless position. He wrote a letter (on 22nd of Jan. 1604) .
to the Governor General at Batavia acquainting him of the
situation injCochin. He complained of the hostile attitude of the new.
Paliath Achen. * Formerly there were loyal and efficient men in
the Paliam family ', he wrote! * but now it is managed by minor
urchins........ Thure are many Swaroopis in my State ot which
the Paliam §s only ong We had done our best to improve the

1 Tﬂn;ed from the mrﬂ.:ﬁm;nm: c



-
L

30
position of the Paliam family. But now all of them have turned

against me because of their youthful recklessness........ I have

enemies both inside and outside the fort. Therefore, T am put to
very hard difficulties. The Menons in my service are not given
correct accounts, and customs and duties are not properly
remitted to my Government. Bavan is at the root of all these
confusions and he is in the pay of my enemy, the Zamorin."
The Raja earnestly appealed to the Governor General to do all
that was necessary to stop these irfegularities. The Raja got the
reply that the new Commander, Adrian Van Mattan and the
néw Commissar General would set matters right and do their
best to improve the position of the Company and the Raja. Bat
the irregularities of Bavan Prabhu only became worse, The
Commander was also anxious to keep his friendly relatiof with
the Zamorin. The Raja again sent a letter to the Governor
General at Batavia (Idavom B71 M. E. 1696 A. D.) complaining
of the hostile attitude of the Company’s agents. The Commissar
of the Company had met the Zamorin at Ponnani and received
presents from him. The Raja, also drew the attention ot the
Governor General to the poor state of the finances of the
Swarcopam. What enraged the Raja most was the attitude of
the Commissar in courting the friendship of the Zamorin. The
Raja was seriously afraid that the Dutch may fall under
the influence of the Zamorin, which would mean the destruction
of his Swaroopam. ]

In 1697 Hendrick Zwardercroon was appointéd Commander
of Cochin. The Cochin Raja passed away in 1608 and he was suc-
ceeded by Prince Rama Varma, A new agreement was entered
intp between the Raja and Zwaadercroon. Some arrangements
were made regarding the finances of the State. The LCompany
renewed its pledge to protect the State from all its enemies, The
Raja in turn promised to send help to the Company if it was
attacked by its enemies. This agreement finally set the seal of
servitude on the Cochin principality and made it merely an ap-

pendage of the Dutch Company, -
CHAPTER 111

THE ZAMORIN AND THE DUTCH
HEN the Dutch established their power in Cochin, the most
resourceful and aggressive of the princesof Malabar
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was the Zamorin of Calicut. The Zamorin had been the tradi-
tional enemy of the Portuguese, and he extended a willing sup-
port to the Dutch to drive out the Portnguese from Cochin. The
main ambition of the Zamorin was to gain possession of Cochin
through Dutch help. Bat, the Zamorin was disillusioned at the
very begining when the Dutch signed an agreement with the
Cochin Raja undertaking to protect him from all outside attack,
The Dutch were careful in seeing that the Zamorin did not be-
come too powerful in Malabar. The Zamorin demanded that at’
least the island of Vypeen should be ceded to him, but the Dutch*
were not prepared for that, Thus both the Dutch and the Zamo-
rin knew from the very outset that their relations could not be
cordial. There was traditional enmity between the Zamorin' and
Cochin, Visscher! refers to the continual warfare between the
two kingdoms and attributes it to the division of the Malayalee
community into the two factions—FPanniyurkur and Chovarakur.
** No firm or lasting peace is ever made "’ writes Visscher, * but
merely 50 to speak, a cessation of hostilities, invariably followed
by a renewal of war'. But how far this- tradition -.of the two
rival [actions was responsible for these constant wars is not cer-
tain. More olten these wars had originated from their claims on
places in each other's territories, The warlare between the rival
kings of Cochin and Calicut continued for over 250 years after
the arrival of the Portuguese in Malabar, and we have instances
of at least nine such conflicts®. Both the Portuguese and the
Dutch had cleverly availed themselves of all opportunities to bet-
ter their inter®sts in tlie Malabar coast. But the commitment of
the Dutch te protect Cochin from her enemies had brought consi-
derable loss to the Company. The Dutch Governor General once
wrote bitterly to the Cochin Raia. [ do not know how much
treasure and how much blood had been spent by the Hon'ble
Company to aggrandise your family......”".» But, it was very:
late when the Company came to the conclusiont * that the Raja.
of Cochin was no longer to be supported in his interminable
fights with the Zamorin.
We have seen before, that the Dutch had ceded Chettwaye
to the Zamorin in 1691 in return for the help ke had given in the

I Visscher's Letters. V. ek xR b
2 Hwtory of Kerala. K, P. P. Meoon, Vol. [ P. 484,

3 Letter of Jan Van Horn dated 15th November 1705.
4 Resolution of the Suprems Govi. at Batavia.

L] . >
-



’ # ) .

‘“war of the Vettom succession.” Chettwaye was of émat stra-
tegic importauce for an attack on Cochin. It lay in the
territories of Payyencherry Nair, 1 feudatory of the Zamorin. As
soon as the Zamorin gained possession of Chettwaye he took
advantage of the position to use it against his hereditary enemy.
the Raju of Cochin. He bnilt a line of fortresses on the Cochin
frontier and strongly garrisoned them!. The Zamorin was fully
aware of the fact that his treaty with the Dutch would not be
longstanding. Further, the Raja of Cochin was trying his best
to bring about a rupture of the peace between the Zamorin and
the Dutch. Therefore the Zamorin took all possible steps tp
enlarge the circle of his friends. The Raja of Kayamkulam was
dlready his ally. Bavan Prabhw was keenly supporting the
Zamorin. He was sent to Porakkad, Parur, Tekkumkur and
Vadakkumkur to enlist their support for the Zamorin, The
Dutch were anxious to avoid war, and the¥ invited the Zamorin
and his allies to a conference in Januvary 1701. But the king of
Calicut knew that it was only a ruse to gain time and he attacked
the Cochin territory. In 1702 the Raja of Porakkad joined sides
with the Zamorin and attacked Cochin territory. The Raja
of porakkad was an ally of the Company and therefore
the . Company i ered in the matter and restored
_ peace between the two. Parur also was on hostile terms with
Cochin. The Raja of Parur complained to the Dutch that the
Cochin Raja was committing outrages in his territories. The
Company felt that the grievamces of the Raja of Parur were not
legitimate and decided to declare war againSt him. The
Zamorin was canvassing the support of Vadakkumkur by
proposing an adoption from the Raja's family.

In 1705 the Zamorin died. = But his successor continued the
war against Cochin, In 1707 he attacked Kodasseri and
*Muriyanad. Hitherto the Dutch had, not actively interfered in
the war even though they were frequently reminded by the
Cochin Raja of their moral obligation to support him.
Mow. the Dutch Commander decided to tuke stern steps
against the growing aggression of the Zamorin. The Zamorin
was told that the Cochin Raja and the other victims of his
aggression were in the Sprotection of the Company, and as such,

—

1 The impoctant fortresses were l-*.prmmr. Kattur, Mapranam and
Qorakam Trittam,
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an attack on them would be tantamotnt to an attack on the
Dutch. The Zamorin expressed his desire to be on friendly terms
with Cochin. He also stated that the war against Kodasseri had
been provoked by the Kaimal himsell and that he had no
intention of becoming an enemy of the Company. The Zamorin
sent his representatives to Cochin to meet the Commander. A
temporary peace was concluded but it was broken in February
1708. The Company was However anxious to avoid war and
further negotiations . were started with the Zamorin. The
Zamorin himself was desirous of peace and on August 30, 1708
he wrote to the' Commander to fix a date for an interview with
him. The Zamorin was informed that an interview could be
held only after deciding the points of dispute. After a series of
correspondence  between the Zamorin and the Commander,
peace was concluded on the toth of January r7io. According to
the termis of the treaty the Zamorin had to hand over Chettwaye
to the Dutch. The Payyancherry Nair and Cranganore Raja
who were formerly feudatories of the Zamorin came under the
protection of the Company. The Raja nf Cochin also gained
certain territories. .

The treaty of 1710 was not approved of by the heir-apparent
of Calicut and the Commander-in-chief Dharmpt Panikker. The
Zamorin was a peace-loving man and hie was anxious to stop all
war before the Mamankam festival,! which was fast approaching.
But the loss of Chettwaye was a serious blow to Calicut and the
chiefs of the &rmy and other nobles were very anxious to recover
it as earlys as possible. They knew very well that Chettwaye
would be used by the Dutch for operations agamst them and
wanted to prevent it. Visscher spetks of the strategic impor-
tance of Chettwave; * Chettwaye is another fort about twalve
leagues from ‘Cochin serving partly to protect commerce and
partly as a defence against the Zamorin whose dominions

1 The Mamankam (Mahamakham) was the greatest natiomal festival
of Malabar till two centuries ago. The festival  was  held on ihe
banks of the Periyar river near Tirunavaye once in twelve  years. A
regular change used to take place in all offices fincloding even kingship) in
all eontracts and in afl tenures after a period of twelve years (n Vyalavattam).
The Mamankam was the great occasion when all the existing relations were
re-adjusted by tha princes and the peaple. In the eacly eenturies the kings
msed 1o abdicate after s pericd of twelve yearsin fuvour of their socoessors.
But adter the power of royaliy had become very prominent, this practice was
{!m up. The festival was attended by representatives of all parts of Kerala.

tign attributes its origin to Parasuram, the legendary bero of Kerala.
-
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lie contiguous. It stands at the mouth of the river and is at

present the strongest fortress in Malabar ',

As soon as the Dutch gained possession of Chettwaye they
resolved to build a new fort there and gave arders to B. Ketel,
the Commandant of Malubar to finish it as speedily as possible.
There were some lands near Chettwaye which were claimed both
by the Cochin Raja and the Zamorin. The Raja of Cochin who
was anxious to prevent the aggression of the Zamorin handed
over his rights over these territories to the Company:.

In 1711 the peace-loving Zamorin of Calicut passed away
and his heir-apparent came to the Stanam.' He sent Tamma
Panikker (Dharmoth Panikar) who owned some territories in the

*neighbourhood of Chettwaye to prevent the Dutch from fortifying
these places. The Zamorin vigorously protestsd against the high-
handedness of the Dutch, but they proceeded in quick haste with

the fortification of the place. The Zamorin tured to the English
for help. The English had a few factories on the Malabar coast.
They were waiting lor an opportunity to destroy Dutch influence
in Malabar and step into their shoes.  Robert Adam, the chief of
the English factory at Tellicherry encouraged the Zamorin to
prevent construction of the fortifications at Chettwaye. Visscher!
gives the following details about the capture of Chettwaye by the
Zamorin, **The East India Company having resolved to build a
new fort gave orders to B. Ketel, the Commandant. of Malabar,
to finish it as speedily as possible. This alarmed the Zamorin
who knew it was intended to curb his power on tiws coast. He
accordingly left no means untried to impede its progrgss, and not
succeeding by fair methods, he determined to try force. He was
encouraged by learming that the garrison consisting of 48 men
were lodged outside’the half-finished fortress and that mone of
the requisites had been provided for its defence,....... The
Zamorin perceived his advantage, crossed the river at night with
boo men who were soon followed by more; and all was effected

* 50 quietly that about 4 o'clock in the morning of January zand

1715 they surprised the soldiers who were sleeping in their hut,
beforer the fort. They took to flight in great alarm and the
Zamorin obtained possession of the plice withoyl striking a
blow ™. Captain  Alexander Hamilton gives another story
about the capture of Chettwaye. * The Dutch were buil-
1 Visscher's Letters, [V,
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. ding. the fort at® Chettwaye and the Zamorin got some
of his men under the disguise of labourers to be employed
by them and to an opportunity of surprising the Dutch.
The two lieutenants who had the overseeing of the work were one
evening diverting themselves with a game at tables in a guard
room about half a mile from the fort. They had let some of
their soldiers go straggling about and the disguized natives took
the opportunity to kill the sentinels, signal to the ambuscade and
take the hall-built fort...... The Zamorin caused the English flag
to be hoisted and the fort was destroyed . How far the account
, given by Hamilton is correct is open to question. Hamilton wasa
traveller -in the East Indies between the years 1688 and 1723,
and he is likely to have first-hand information of these matters.
But the story of sending soldiers disguised as labourers is not
found in the Letters of Visscher. However, it is clear that'the
Dutch were taken by surpise at Chettwaye and the Zamonn was
ahle to score a signal success.

The fort fell into the hands of the Zamorin who made a sur-
prise attack, The loss of Chettwaye was a seriofis, hlow to the
‘Dutch prestige in Cochin, * When -the tidings of this disaster
reachied Cochin®, says Visscher, “it caused a universal panicamong
the Dutch and gave rise to a spirit of indolence among the nati-
ves”. Ketel, the Dutch Commandant, marched against Chettwaye
with three battalions, He was opposed by Mangatt Achen,
thie Zamorin's General. But the Dutch were abie to disperse the
army. ‘‘Many were cut down, others drowned in the rver and
others took'refuge in the fort at Chettwaye where their defeat
caused a great panic "% If the Commandant had followed up
his victory by attaking the fort. the Zamorin would have abando-
ned it in alarm. But, instead of doing this Ketel marched with
his troops into a neighbouring village and thus gave time to the
enemy to prepare for the defence. The Zamorin's forces got
fresh supplies from the English and erected barricades at the
entrances to the fort. Ketel decided to attack the fort on the
1st of February and scale the walls, but when the troops
reached the walls they found that they had forgotten to bring
their scaling ladders and were forced to retire foiled with the
loss of eightymen. The Zamorin took advantage of this

2 1bid.




opportunity to build a fort at Pappanetty between Chett- -
waye and Cranganore. It was fortified with three trenches and
manned wita a strong troop of %oldiers among whom were some
Portuguese and English officers,

Towards the endhof 1715, three Captains arrived from Bata-
via with reinforcements. They attacked the fort early in 1716,
but, **owing partly to some misunderstanding among the officers
and partly to the faint-heartedness of Captain Pluis, the second in
command, who trembled at the sound of a cannon ', the attempt
failed, When the defenders saw the advance of the Dutch, they
rushed out of the fort on the opposite side. The Dutch troops
who were stationed there thought that it was a sudden assault on
them and fled in disorder. Immediately the Zamorin's forces
returned to the forsaken fortress. The failure of the expedition
created universal consternation. To add to that there was aru-
mour afloat that the allied. princes weres going to desert the
Dutch. The Raja of Parur proceeded against Cranganore. Hear-
ing about this Ketel advanced with his men to the assistance of
the garrison at Cranganore.

When the news of the repeated failures of the Dutch reached
Batavia, they decided to send a large force to make a successful
attack against Chettwaye. They attributed the success of the
Zamorin to the treachery of ¢heir Indian allies, Therefore they
declinied the offer of help made by Ali Raja and Kolattiri. In
1716 William Bakker Jacobsz was despatched from Batavia as
Admiral and Commander-in-chief, Johannes Hertenberz was
sent to supersede Ketel 2s Commander.  They brought with them
a huge army of about 30,000 soldiers, consisting of Europeans
and Javanese and joined with the forces of the ‘Raja of Cochin.
Bakker Jacobsz arrived in Cochin on the 23rd of November 1716.
One of his first steps was to inform the different princes and
chieftains of Malabar of his intention to punish the Zamorin.
Letters were sent to as many as 42 chieftains in Malabar. The

1 Galletti's Indroduction. o' D=y |y Modae
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Dutch attacked Pappanetty (on the 16th January 1717), where
the Zamorin was entrenchad with his forces. The Dutch resolved
to attack Pappenetty on three points simultaneously. The attack
started early morning and it was carried gut with such great force
that the Zamorin was compelled to raisz a flag of truce. But the
Dutch paying no heed to this, carried on their attack. The Dutch
capturing two trenches a dvanced (o the third to which the Zamo-
rin's forces had retreated. | The Zamorin’s forces under Dharmoth
Panikker defended with great courage and inflicted heavy losses
on the Dutch. But they could withstand no longer and again
hoisted a flag of truce. They promised to leave the fort; but
meanwhile the European officers within the fort had set fire to
the powder magazine so that it might not fall into the hands of
the enemy. That created a big confusion and the infurianted
Putch slaughtered as many as three thousand of the Zamorin's
troops. They destroyed the fort rasing it to the ground. The
Dutch sent some ships to attack Chettwaye. But meanwhile the
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Chettwaye fort had been abandoned by the defenders and that
too easily fell into the hands of the Dutch. The Dutch advanced
into the interior and occupied ﬁhpram Towlainpuri;, Avatorti
and Urakam. Desu]taq fighting was still continuing and the
Dutch too were anxjous for peace. If the General had chosen to
advance his victorious banners he could no doubt have made him-
self master of the Zamorin's court at Ponnani and of Calicut it-
self. But Bakker Jacobsz did not have a very large force under
his command and further the expected re-inforcements from
Ceylon did net arrive.  Also it was not the policy of the Dutch
Company at that time to assudie the sovereignty over extensive.
territories, They were mainly interested in trade, and all that
they desired was to get the products of Malabar at « lower price.
The Dutch made peace with the Zamorin on December r7. 1717

Both parties agreed to be in perpetual alliance and friendship,

The Zamorin proposed to pay a war indemnity of 85,000 fanams.

. The Dutch General was conscious of the fact that 85,000 fanams

was too poor a sum to be received as a war® indemnity. But he
was prepared to accept this nomina! amount in view of the finan-
cial dfficulties of the Zamorin. The Zamorin, had to cede Chett-
waye and Pappinivattam to-the Dutch. Dharmot Panikker “ the
chief firebrand of the treason of Chettwaye " ! was held responsi-
ble for all these calamities, and in order to avert such calamities
in lnture, he was to be dismissed from the Zamorin's services.
All the lands and properties belonging to Panikker were forfejted
to the Company. The Company undertook to help the Zamorin
against foreign invadérs. In turn, the Zamorin promised to help
the Company in_case of an attack from outsiders. The Zamorin
also promised to be friendly with Cochin. The Dutch were
given certain commercial privileges in Calicut. They were
allowed to erect factories at Ponnani, Calicut and several other

~ places. The Dutch promised to cede Punnattur Swaropam to

the Zamorin and abandon their territorial claims there. The
Zamorin was not to receive any fugitives from the Dutch side.
The French were to be given no commercial privileges in the
Zamorin's tecritories. Similarly, the Zamorin was to refuse per-
mission to the Portuguese and the English for trade in his coun-
try. - The Zamorin gave up all his claims over the territories of

1, Moens' Memairs,
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«* Payvencherry Nair . They were placed under the special pro-
tection of the Company. The Zamorin was not to receive any
fugitives from the Cochin court. i |

The treaty was not acceptable to the authorities at Batavia,
They were dissatisfied with the Dutch General for being satisfied -
with a small indemnity and for handmg over to the king of
~ Cochin some of the territories ceded by the Zamorin.

Though the Zamorin was defeated by the Dutch forces, it
was not a final defeat. The gains on the side of the Dutch were
not sofficient to justify the enormous expenditure they had to
incur in the war. However, the campaign of 1717 restored the
Company’s prestige in Malabar at least for some time.

CHAPTER IV
TRAVANCORE AND THE DUTCH

’['HE Dutch had very little to do with the State of Travancore

in the first phase of their history in Malabar, They were
concentrating their attention on Cochin as they believed the
mastery over Lochin would secure for them the trade monopoly
of Malabar. Their success in- driving out the Portuguese from
" Cochin had resulted in the total subordination of that state. [t
left them in an obligation to protect an important s tate of
Malabar from all its enemies, and thus we find the Dutch
involved in the complicated politics of Malabar. No doubt, the
Dutch made us® of their sovereign position in Cochin to angment
their trade ; but the security of their trade depended upon their
success in adjusting the political balance between Cochin and
Calicut, Travancore rose into prominence in Malabar only in
x729 with the accession of Prince Marthanda Varma,

When the Dutch first came to Malabar, Travancore wasa
very small principality, Van Goens wrote in 1675 * Travancore
begins with the West Cape of Comorin and ends on the coast
about two hours walk or less north of Fengapatanam,” Besides
Travancore, there were many important principalities in the
south, namely, Attingal, Quilon, Kayamkulam, Elayadathu
Swarcopam, etc. '

| We have already seen that the Portuguese possessions at
Qlﬁ?n had been attacked by the Dutch in 166r. The Dutcy
at Emt time were mot anxious to establish their supremacy in

L
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Quilon, but they were only interested in destroying the influence
of the Portuguese, The attack on Quilon was carried out by
Admiral Van Goens who managed, to defeat the Nair troops there
and destroy the Portuguese fortifications. After pillaging and
plundering the town, the Dutch left for Cranganore.

In 1662 the Dutch signed a treaty with the Raja of
Travancore at Kallada. [ts main object was to gain the
supremacy for trade in pepper.

In 1663 and 1664 the Dutch deputed Captain Nieuhoff who
was a factor at Quilon to negotiate with the chief princes of
Travancore. The first kingdom which he visited was Kayam-
kulam, which was at that time ranked as the spcond principality
of Travancore.

Nieuhoff says, * We amived at Kalkolang on the zznd
Januvary 1664. 1 gave notice of my arrival by our mterpreter to
the king who soon after returned in company of a Residoor from
the king to fetch me to court.... ... .After the first ceremonies
and complimengs such agare usual in this place were passed, [
surrendered my credentials to the king who received them with a
great deal of respect and seeming satisfaction.””  After signing an
agreement with the Raja of Kayamkulam, Nienhoff went to
Porakkad. On arrival at Porakkad the Captain was intormed
that the Raja had left for Kodumalur some ten days before. He
met the Raja at Kodamalur.  Nieuhoff gives the following
account about his wisit. * After the usual respect paid, I
delivered to him my credentials which he, hiving received,
ordered all his attendants and an interpreter umsng the rest to
withdraw, becanse he had a mind to discourse with me alone in
Portuguese, which he understood very well. [ told him that 1
was sent on purpose by my masters to His Majesty to assure him
of their friendship and to pay the money stipulated by the last
" The king gave for answer that it never had been a
custom to weigh the pepper at Cochin, and that therefore he
hoped the Company would not introduce -any novelties in his
territories. ....... 1 agreed that the pepper should be received and
weighed at Porka........ The king appeared to be highly
satisfied thereat, desiring that a factor might be sent thither
forthwith, to buy and receive the pepper.” The Raja of
Porakkad was a clever diplomat and he told Nieuhoff that ** he
had cansed the flags of the English and some other nations o be



taken down and the Dutch flag to be set up ™ in his territories.
He wanted to impress upon the Captain the troubles he bad
undertaken to secure the interests of the Dutch.

, Nieuhoff next wisited Madathumkur—the territory that lies
between Kayamkulam and Quilon. The demands that the Dutch.
made upon the king were ‘' to forbid the importation of opium,
the peeling of the wild cinnamon and the exportation of pepper.”
The Mohomedan  merchants who had the trade monopoly there
opposed the proposals of the Dutch. After some perspations the
Dutch ** overcame all “difficulties, the king having granted them
all that they demanded except the peeling of wild cinnamon.”

Though “Madathumkur was a small principality, it wasan
" important centre of pepper trade, and the Captain was anxious
to come to an agreement with the king.

After signing the agreement Nieuhoff went to Quilon to
interview the Raja of Tranvancore, Alter some negotiations a
treaty was signed between the Dutch’and the chief princes of
Travancore. The articles of agreement were (1) “ Nobody shall
import, sell or exchange opium into these countries” (Karunaga- -
palli, Travancore. Quilon aad Kottarakara) except the Dutch
East Indin Company.

(2) *“ Nobody without ahy exception shall be permitted to
export any pepper or cinnamon out of this country or sell them
to anybody except to the said Company."

(3) “A certain price was settled betwixt both parties and
what shareeath should have in the customs, whereby all former
pretensions and exceptions should be annulled "

Nieuhoff had some difficulty in negotiating this treaty. When
he first visited the Raja of Travancere, the Raja expressed his
dissatisfaction at the comduct of the Dutch in Quilon. He insisted
on paying reparations to the Queen of Quilon. The Queen of
Quilon had also complained about the delay the Dutch were
making in paying the customs due to her, Finally, all points of
dispute were settled in an interview and a friendly alliance was
signed between the Dutch and the Queen.  Nieuhoff gives the
following description about the interview. * After I bad paid the

! Quoted from Travancors State Manual by Nagam Ayya, Vol I
Ch.: VL. P. 307 T
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usual compliments 1 showed her the proposition I was to make to
her in writing, which she ordered to be read twice, the better to
understand the meaning of it, which being done she asked me
whether this treaty comprehended all the rest and whether they
were annulled by it, unto which I having given her a sufficient |
answer, she agreed to all our propositions, which were accordingly
signed immediately."’

Alter signing these agreements and contracts with the princes
of Travancore, the Dutch began to devote their attention mainly
to trade. The Dutch had a small settlement at Quilon under
Nieuhoff, but they did not attempt to assert any political rights
in Travancore. Further they were so much invelved in the
politics of Cochin and Calicut that they had -no time to pursue
any such schemes in Travancore. Trade was’ their only interest
as far as Travancore was concerned.

Rise of Marthanda Varma. The accession of the great
Marthanda Varma in 1729 was a sighificant event in the history
of Malabar. By his vigorous activities extending over a period
of over 29 years, Marthanda Varma brought about the political
unification of Travancore, Thereafter Travancore was destined
to play a decisive role in the politics of Malabar.

Marthanda Varma ascended sthe throne under extremely *
adverse circumstances. There were no organised departments
for the transaction of state business. The finances of the. state
were in great -confusion. His predecessor, Rama Varma Raja,
had entered into an agreement with the Pandyan (Government of
the Madura Nayaks) Government by which he had promised to
pay an annual tribute of about, 3,000 Rupees in return for
military help from a Pandyan army consisting of 1,000 cavalry
and 2,000 infantry soldiers. The pay of this contingent and the
annual tribute were in arrears for a long ime. Complete anarchy
prevailed in the kingdom, and there was no respect for royalty
"*The country was honeycombed with petty chieftains who
collecting around themselves bands of brigades subsisted on
pillage and plunder and harassed the Raja and his people by
turns frustrating all attempts to establish order or any settled
form of Government.! * The Raja’s following was very small and
his authority was only in name. The Ettuveettil Pillamars and

| Travancore Statc Manual. Nagam Iyya. Vol 1 chap. VL P. 333
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their Madampis were practically independent of the king. The
power of this Nair oligarchy had long been established in
Travancore and the predecessors of Marthanda Varma had failed
to suppress it. The pillamars were originally tenants of the Potti
Jenmies. 1In the time of Umayamma Ranee (1678 —1683) these
Pillamars had usurped the properties of their landlords and
established themselves as lords of their own localities independent
of the Queen. The Pillamars belonged to the eight Nair houses of
Marthandaom, Ramanamatam, Kulathoor, Kazhakuttam,
Venganoor, Chempazhanathi, Kodamun, and Pallichal. The
ambitign of the Pillamars was to extirpgte the royal family and
to establish a republic of their own.

The task of the Maharaja was an extremely difficult one.
Even as the Elaya Raja he had insisted on destroying the power
of the turbulent Nair nobles and thereby made himself extremely
unpopular with them. Assoon as he ascended the throne,  he
started with his daring schemes of re-organisation. Finding that
the maintenance of the Pandyan forces was an unnecessary drain
on his treasury, he dispensed with their services and sent them
back. But withdrawal of the Pandyan troops encouraged the
feudatory chiefs and nobles to organise a large scale rebellion.

The late Maharaja had left two sons known as the “ Kunju
Thampis''. The Pillamars persuaded the Thampis to claim their
father’s throne, even though the right of succession in Travancore
is definitely for the nephew of the deceased king and not his sons.
The Thampis sbught the help of the Pandyan Governor who
readily granted their request. The Governor sent one of his
officers, Alagappa Mudaliar with a small force to enquire into the
claims of the rival parties and to install the Thampis on the throne.
But, the Maharaja convinged Mudaliar of his legitimate rights to
the throne, whereupon he returned to Trichinopoly. Marthanda
Varma organised several new regiments of Maravas and construc-
ted strong forts in important strategic points. He also requested
Mudaliar to leave half of the Pandyan contingent in his charge
in order to put down the rebellion of the feudal chiefs.

Assisted by the Maravars and the Pandyan army, Marthanda
Varma set out on his bold scheme of the suppression of the
Pillamars and their allies. His idea was to round up the whole
band of the Pillimars without letting any one know of his
mhe‘cnﬁ. Secret orders were issued to the soldiers to arrest all
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rebel chieftains simultaneously at a given signal. He posted.
horsemen between Nagercoil and Trivandrum for carrying out
this order. When these preparations were going on, the elder of
the Thampis came to the palace one morning to pay his respects
to the Maharaja. But the guards on duty (acting under the ins-
tructions of the Raja) pregvented him from entering the palace.
The Thampi lost his life in his encounter with the guards. The
younger Thampi who attempted to avenge the death of his
brother was killed by the Raja. Orders were immediately issued
to arrest all the rebels and in a few hours, the Pillamars were
seized.  Forty two of thengbles were sentenced fo death. The
brahmins who had taken part in the rebellion were banished from
the State. The properties of all the rebels were confiscated to the
State. " This was the first and most important blow struck
against the Malabar Political system ', says Pannikker. * With
it went the feudal conception of Malabar Polity . '

After the suppression of his enemies, Marthandy Varma
turned his attention to the extension of his dominions. Quiion
was the first prey to the aggression of Marthanda Varma. The
royal family of Quilon was a ‘branch of the Travancore House.
In 1731 the Quilon Raja formed an allinnce with the Raja of
Kayamkulam by adopting some members from the family of the
latter. Marthanda Varma' was noét consulted on this step. He
considered it as & hostile combination of Quilon and Kayamkulam
against his power and on this pretence led a powerfiyl army against
Quilon. Marthanda Varma destroyed the forts of Quilon and
other defensive works. The Raja of Quilon sued for peace; he
promised to break off his alisnce with Kayamkulam and
agreed to the annexation of his territory by Travancore
after s death. The Quilon Raja was brought to Trivandrum
where he was placed in one of the state palaces as a prisoner, A
small garrison of soldiers was stationd at Quilon- for the
maintenance of peace there.

Meanwhile, Attingal had been amalgamated with Travancore,
Attingal was the maternal house of the Travancore princes,
Marthanda Varma persuaded the Queen of Attingal to resign her
sovereign authorities to Travancore:

_ The acquisition of Attingal and Quilon alarme;l the other
Rajas. The Raja of Kayamkulam began to concert means to
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prevent the further aggressions of Marthanda Varma. In
October 1773 Ichara Patare, a Ragaidoor of the Raja of Kayam-
kulam, accompanied by two of the Cochin Raja’s friends, called
upon the Dutch Governor, Adrian Matten, He stated that the
Raja of Travancore was making great preparations to attack
Kayamkulam on the 16th of that month. The Raja of Kayam-
kulam being an ally of the Dutch, earnestly sought their
assistance against Marthanda Varma. Itchara Patare also
stated that Marthanda Varma was trying to persuade Tekkenkore
and Porakad to join the war. But the Commander was in no mood
to promise help to Kayamkulam. By a resolution of the Batavia
Government in 1721, the Company was not allowed to interfere
in the wars of local princes, and therefore Adrian Matten gave a
convenient excuse. He told*Itchara Patare * that the cause of
these troubles was owing to the Raja of Culli-Quilon, having
without any provocation, invaded the Marta territories. He
 continued that he could give no assistance, “but as the chief of
Peritally had refused leave to the Travancoreans to pass through
his * country to attack ‘Culli-Quilon, they had betjer join their
forces to those of the Peritally chief.”! But fdvice was not
what kayamkulam sought from the Dutch. The Raja stood in
immediate-need of military help. So he hurried towards the
chieftains of the Northern States. The kings of the northern
principalities assembled under the persidentship of the Cochin
Raja and resolved to assist the Raja of Quilon in regaining his
lost kingdom. ® They sent secret emissaries to Trivandrum to
inform the saptive prince about their plans. The Raja of
Quilon managed to escape from Trivandrum. He joined sides
with the Raja of Kayamkulam and attacked the territories of
Travancore at Kallada and Mavelikera. The Travancore lorces
under the Dalawa resisted, but they were obliged to retreat.

The Maharaja made vast praparations for a simultaneous
attack on Cochin and Kayamkulam. The Travancore army was
strengthened with additions of cavalary and infantry. New fire
arms were obtained from English merchants trading at Anjengo
and Edava. In 1734 Quilon and Kaysmkulam were attacked by
the Maharaja’s forces under the command of Thanu Pillai and
Sthanapathy Kumaraswami Pillasi and Rama Iyen. = Several
battles were fought against the Kayamkulam troops which were
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under the command of the Raja himself. -In the course of these
battles the Kaymkulam Raja was killed, but his soldiers continued
to fight. He was succeeded by his younger brother who carried
out the operations with greater vigour. Marthanda Varma
strengthened his army by a new body of recruits, Rama Iyen
went over to Tinnevelly from where he brought a regiment of
Maravars. Rama Iyen himself took command of the army and
marched to Kayamkulam. The Kayamkulam Raja appealed to
Cochin and the Dutch for help, but finding that no help was
forthcoming sued for peace. Consequently, hostilities were
suspended and the war came to a close,

In the same year Marthanda Varma annexed Elayadath
Swaroopam. The Raja of Elayadath Swaroopam died leaving as
his successor a princess. The real administration was in the
hands of a Sarvadhikariakar. Marthanda Varma seized the
principality and banished the Sarvadhikariakar. The princess
was allowed to stay either at Trivandrum or at Kottarakara, but
of course after relinquishing all her claims to her kingdom.

P, anwhil&lhe Raja of Quilon had died and his country was
taken over by the Kayamkulam Raja basing his calim on the
adoption. Marthanda Varma repudiated the cliams of the
Kayamkulam Raja over Quilon on the ground that the former
adoptions had been cancelled by the deceased Quilon Raja.
Further he claimed that Quilon shonld be amalgamated with
Travancore as its royal family was related to the Travancore
royal family. .

The Dutch were alarmed at the astonishing successes of
Marthanda Varma. Tt was highly necessary to their interests to
prevent any one prince growing too powerful in Malabar, The
Dutch had hitherto endeavoured to secure their position as
arbitrators in Malabar, but the activities of Marthanda Varma
convinced them that they could not continue this position any
further. They were particularly interested in the fate of Quilon
and Kayamkulam as they had their own factories theres Seill
they bad refused to interfere in the first stages of the war as
they legitimately feared that it would endanger their interests.
But now it became no longer possible for them to remain passive
spectators, The Dutch Governor at Cochin, Adrian Matten, sent
a messenger to. the Maharaja asking him to stop further
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aggressions on Kayamkulam and Quilon, Marthanda Varma
received the messenger with great courtesv, but sent a reply to
the Governor that His Excellency need not trouble himself about
affairs which did not concern him. He added that he would
take special interest in promoting the commercial - prosperity of
the Company, but he regretted to find the Governor attempting
to interfere with the internal affairs of Travancore.

In 1739 Van Imhoff, *“ the bitter enemy of his opponents,
and a most intolerant Governor came from Ceylon to. examine
into and report upon the Cochin accounts''!. [In his report to
the Supreme Government at Batavia dated 6th July 1739, he
wrote " The king of Travancore having been successful in the
wars which he had undertaken, had rendered himseli so much
respected among the chief kings of the Malabar coast, that he
was looked upon by every one with eyes of jealousy and appre-
hension " . He was of opinion ** that if that were requisite for
the Company to maintain a balance of power amongst the chiefs
of the Malabar coast, it conld never be made to preponderate
more to the prejudice or danger of the Company than ‘in favour
of that prince who was almost wholly attached to their competi-
tors, and whose increase of power could not but be pregnant with
the most alarming consequences to their interests "2,

So, Van Imhoff decided to curtail the rising power of Travan-
core and took up the cause of the exiled princess of Elayadathu
Swarcopam. Pay says that it would have been more judicious
if the Cochin council had waited for reinforcements from Batavia.
The troops in Cochin consisted of only 462 infantry and 23 artil-
lery. But matters were regarded as too serfous to admit of delay.
Further it was believed that the neighbouring petty chief-
thins would join sides with the Dutch as soon as they starteds the
war. In 1740 he sent a protestto the King of Travancore espou-
sing the cause of the exiled princess. Tmhoff himself carried the
meszage and it is said that he threatened an invasion of the
Travancore territory finding that the Raja would not yield to his
persuasions. The Raja replied that ** doubtless he might do so,
but there were forests into which he could retire in safety "',
Imihofi retorted that " where Travancoreans could go, the Dutch

1 Day. Landef the Perumals.
2 Smvorinus' Veyages o the East Indies. Vol I1I. P, 240.
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could follow !, The interview is said to have abruptly closed
with a scornful remark from the Raja that he had himself been
thinking of some day invading Europe with his Munchies (canoes)
and fishermen,

Finding that there were no prospects of an nmlcable settle-
ment, Van Imhoff decided to proceed against Travancore. He
wrote to Ceylon for a detachment of infantry and artillery and
strengthened the Dutch army at Quilon. .

In 1741 Imhoff installed the exiled princess of Elavadathu
Swaroopam on her throne. In return the Dutch gained " a large
farm at Airoor about three Dutch miles from Quilon and also
Bichoor in the Berkencoor country "' *. 'When Marthanda Varma
heard about the activities of the Dutch, he gathered his soldiers
and straightway attacked the Dutch and the Elayadathu Swaroo-
pam princess. The Dutch were utterly defeated and Elayadathu
Swarcopam was formally annexed to Travancore. Fhe Rani fled
to Cochin and placed herself under the protection of Van Imhoiff®.
The Raja captured all the Dutch possessions in Travancore and
seized all the goods they had stored in their factories. The Dutch
returned to Cochin in the face of these serious reverses, °

After annexing Elayadathu Swaroopam, Marthanda Varma
turned against Kayamkulam.” Meanwhile the Dutch received
reinforcements from Ceylon and they invaded the Travancore
territory.  Galletti quoting from the Duteh Letters to Batavia
gives the following information about the plans of the Dutch. “ In
January 1741 Colachel in Travancore was occupied with the view'
of attacking Travancore in his own country. The idea was to
seize the whole country from Colachel to Cape Comorin and make,
& Dutch province of it as it is'the most beautiful district in
Malabar and all the cloth places are there. It was then still
hoped that in spite of the war in Java the Company might be
able tosend troops from Batavia for the reduction of Travancore.
Anji Caimal and Marta were also to be annexed and Bercuncar
whose king had been declared a rebel by the Dutch was to be
retained.” The Dutch landed at Tengapattanam, Kadiapattanam
and other places in South Travancore. The Travancore army at

e W P Doy, =
2 Land of the Perumals.  Day,
3 It i said that the Dulch gave the priacess a daily allowance of Rs.2 As. 5,
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this time was in the north, engaged in operations agamst
Kayamkulam. Therefore the Dutch could easily subjugate
almost all the villages in South Travanchre between Colachel
and Kottar. They were even contemplating an attack on the
Raja’s palace at Padmanabhapuram.  When the Maharaja heard
about the advance of the Dutch, he hastened to the South with
all the forces at his command. Rama Iyen who was engaged in
war with Kayamkulam in the North was ordered to join him at
Padmanabhapuram. The Maharaja displayed his conspicuous
abilities in tackling a dangerons crisis. He raised a Nair force
and strengthened the infantry stationed in South Travancore.
Rama Iyen arrived from the North with the whole army. It is
said that the Maharaja strongly remonstrated with the Governor
of Cochin and even wrote to the Supreme Government at Batavia
about the unprovoked invasions of his tersitories by the Dutch
forces. The Maharaja took another precaution to strengthen his
position. He sent an embassy to the French Governor at
Pondicherry to negut:.ue a treaty with the French. The
Mahardja promised to give them certain commercial privileges in
Travancore and also to cede certain lands in Colachel and other
places for erecting factories. The French in turn promised to
assist the Raja against all his enemies.

?

) The battle of Colachel ! commenced on the 1oth of August
1741. The Maharaja took personal command of the operations.
Rama Iyen’s Ermp& mee through the Dutch line and threw the

___.__ = o= i

1 Galletti gives me tn!lumug account about the battle, basing his
accounis on thie material furnished by Latters to Batavia.

*In August 1741 the Dutch garrison at Colachel was attacked by

Travancore and surrendered On the 7th a red hot ball having fired a barrel of *

gan powder and caused a conflagration in the stockade in which the whole of
the rice supply was consumed.

.. . In October 1741, 1 find the Malabar administration reporting that the
news of the Company’'s troubles in Juva bad been industrivosly spread
throughout Malabar by the Company's European rivals and by the king of
Travancore and that the native chiefs thought the time bad come to shake off
the Company's heavy yoke amd drive it from the coast. The 'Cochin
administration had not been able to get reinforcements even from Ceylon to
whom they had applied for 200 Europeans and 200 Malays, the Governor in
Council of Ceylon nat being able to sparc any troops, and ** what makes the
danger even greater s thai iravancore has appointed deserter Sergeant
Duyyenschot to be General over his toops. ™
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Dutch army into great confusion. The Dutch were compelled to
retreat to their fort. About twenty-four of them were taken
prisoners and sent t6 Udayagiri. Immediately the Travancore
troops besieged the Dutch fortress, In the course of i few
hours the Dutch fort was taken and the Dutch hurriedly sailed
to Cochin.

The defeat of the Dutch at Colachel was no dsubt due to
the superiority of their enemy in strength, The Travancore
forces: outnumbered the Dutch. The Dutch had another
disadvantage. They had no- cavalry foree to combat the enemy.
The Dutch who Were taken prisoners enjoyed kind treatment
from the Raja. All of them were enlisted as officers in the
Travancore army. Among the Dutch captives were two impaor-
tant officers—Eustachius De Lannoy and Donadin.  De Lannoy,.
who later came to be known as Valia Kappithan (Great

¢
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Captain) was selected for the organisation’ of a special |

regiment of sepoys, These two' played a very important
part in the development of the Travancore army, ~ Their
SETVICES WEre nxtrenw!}"vnluahlu to the Maharaja in his suobse-
quent conquests. The strong fort round Udayagiri®* now stands
as the monument of the Dutch Captain’s engineering  skill.
** De Lannoy, commonly known in Travancore as the Valia
Kappithan (Great Captain) was in the manner of an experiment
entrusted with the organisation and drilling of a special regiment
of sepoys; this he did very successtully and to thg satisfaction of
the Maharajn. Several heroic stories are extant of the achieve-
ments of this particular regiment. De Lannoy was next made a
captain and entrusted with the construction of forts and the
organisation of magazines and arsenald. He reorganised the whole

army and disciplined it on European models, gave it a smart '

appearance and raised its efficiency to a very high order 3,

The battle of Colachel is of great political significance both
for the Dutch and Travancore. It was the first serious blow sus-

" tained by the Dutch in Malabar, and it marked the beginning of

their decline. The Dutch had hitherto maintained their predo-
minant position in Malibar unchallenged by any native or foreign
~ power. But for the first time they had to face a powerful prince

1 This fort is famous in Teavancore as * De IAJﬂ.nu:r_Hntt.l "
2 Travancore Siate Manual Vol I Nagam lIyya, Ch, VI, p. 343
L]
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in Malabar before whom they had to admit defeat. [If the Dutch
had been successful at Colachel, Travancore also would have
become a Dutch appendage like Cochin. That would have
seriously altered the history of Travancore. The victory over the
Dutch proclaiimed the superiority of Marthanda Varma who
proceeded with his scheme of expansion with redoubled vigour.

After the expulsion of the Dutch from Colachel the Maharaja
resumed his war with Quilon and Kayamkulam. Rama Iyen was
seént to the North to renew the war he was already waging at the
time of the Dutch invasion of Colachel. He was assisted by
De Lannoy who had been appointed as Captain in the Travancore
army.! The Dutch were secretly assisting the Raja of Kayam-
kunlam and the war dragged on without either side scoring any
decisive success. In 1742, the Travancore army was repelled by
Atchyutha Warrier, a veteran Kariakar.of the Kayamkulam Raja,
in its attempt to seize the Dutch fort at Quilon. Fresh supplies
of arms and ammunition came for the Travancore troops from
Trivandrum. In 1743 the Kayamkulim troops took the offensive
and attacked Kilimanoor, about twenty miles south of Quilon, a
territory of the Travancore Raja. Marthanda Varma hastened
to Kilimanoor with an army of 5,000 Nairs and a corps of sappers
and miners. He had received arms and ammunition trom the
English at Anjengo and the French at Mahe. The Kayamkulam
troops were besieged at Kilimanoor where they held out for 68
days. Finally they surrendered and the fort was recaptured.
The Maharaja chntinued his victories, advancing towards Kayam-
kulam, The Kayamkulam Raja had lost the major part of his
army at Kilimanoor and he found himself in a helpless position.
He sued for peace and a treaty was signed at Mannar in Septem-
ber 1742. The Kayamkulam Raja promised to be a vassal of
Travancore paying an annual tribute of 1000 rupees and one
elephant. He ceded a large portion of his territory to Travancore

and also promised to treat all enemies of Travancore as his own
enemies.

I Many European adventurers had taken dervice in the armies of Indian
princes. e , Feixoto in the service of Hyder Ali. Sumroo alias Walter
Heinhardt in the service of Mir Kassim of Bangal ; Ah-r.pdn; Gardener and
Avitabile Cocte in theservice of Ranjit Singh.

Ref.—Hindutan under Freelances, H, G. Keene, Ewropean Military

Adventurers in Hindustan. Compton,
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The Travancore forces now marched against Qm'h;n. . The’
Raja resisted for some time. Finally Quilon was annexed to -
Travancore. '

The Maharaja understood that the Rajas of Kottayam and
Vadakkumkur had rendered assistance to the Kayamkulam Raja
in his war with Travancore. “On this pretence he sent an army
under the heir-apparent to invade thesy countries. The prince
captured the Kottayam fort and tock the Raja prisoner. The
Raja of Vadakkumkur, when he heard about the fall of
Kottayam, fled to Calicut. Kottayam and Vadakkumkur were
annexed to Travancore,

The treaty of Mannar and the rapid expansion of Travancore
convinced the Dutch that it was dangerous to continue their
hostilities with Marthanda Varma and now they were inclined to
make peace. Rama Iyen informed the- Dutch through the
Kayamkulam Raja that Travancore was fully prepared to march
against the Dutch, but the Maharaja had no objection to sign a
peace with them provided the terms were reasonable. [t was
both a threat and ‘a taunt The Maharajn knew that the
Dutch were anxious to come to terms with him, finding that they
had no other alternative. The Dutch Governor received this
offer with great pleasure and directed the Rajas of Cochin and
Thekkumkur to come to a settlement with Travancore. But the
conclusion of peace with Travancore and the Dutch was certainly
not conducive to the interests of these princes ard therefore they
delayed these proceedings. The Dutch Goverfor then directly
proposed a iriendly settlement with the Maharaja. « The Maharaja
deputed Rama Iyen and Thalavady Kunju Muthathu Kariakar
to negotiate peace on his behalf. The Dutch were represented by
Ezekel Rabbi and Silvester Mendes. The conference was held at
Mavelikara and after prolonged discussion, a treaty was drafted
in 1743. The terms of the treaty were extremely favourable to
Travancore, but when they were submitted to Marthanda Varma,-
he proposed some stringent clauses, restricting the freedom of the
Dutch to interfere in the :yﬁmm of any of the native princes.
The original draft of the trcnt} wis acceptable to the Dutch, but
when the pmposuls of the Maharaja were placed before them,
they hesitaté to ratify them. Further, Rabbi and Mendes, the
Dutch representatives in the peace conference, informed the
Cochin Council of their personal impression that Travancore was
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not likely to come to uny terms. The negotiations were post
poned without any definite settlement.

Some time later, the negotiations were renewed when both
parties assembled at Parur, a place near Quilon. Two conferences
were held at Parur, but as Rama Iyen stuck firmly to the
original conditions, they failed.

Meanwhilé, the Kayamkulam Raja was intriguing to régain
his lost position. The tributes he had promised to pay to
Travancore had been in arrears. Marthanda Varma directed
Rama Iven to proceed to Kayamkulam to enforce the conditions
of the treaty of Mannar. The Kayamkulam Raja was obstinate in -
his refusal to pay the tribute as he considered it * imfra dig " and
chose to abandon his country. Kayamkulam was therefore annexed
to Travancore.

With the annexation of Kayamkulam the Dutch lost all hopes
of gaining any further concessions from Travancore, Pepper was
their main concern in Travancore, but they saw to their great
dismay that the English had acquired the monopoly for that
article. The Dutch were now prepared to accept all the terms of
Travancore and come to a final settléement. They *learnt the
lesson from the ruinous war with Travancore that it was not
expedient to entangle the Company in andther war, the expenses
of which were always certain but the issue uncertiin'”. The
Dutch always viewed these things from the financial point of
view. They were successful to some extent in' the beginning |
stages of thg war, but later it proved to be very disastrous.
** The Company squandered uselessly an immense sum of money ",
Moens regrets ** and the Signatty® lost everything ', The Dutch
realised that if the Company's concerns continued to be directed
on the old principles, a complete decline was to be expected. It
was not at all advisable for the Dutch to continue its war with
Travancore. * Travancore, supposing she succumbed, would
still not remain idle, but now that she has already become so
large would each time recover and so keep the Company continu-
ally in travail® ", The Dutch understood that * the Company in
either case, whether Travancore alone rémaided in possession of

R = e e
1 Memairs of Moens,

2 Signatty refers to the King of Quilon and Kayamkulam.
3 Memoirs of Moens.

-
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Malabar, or the Company continued to support the other kings,
would equally have no hope of more pepper and equally have to
bear excessive burdens.” . Therefore, to make a treaty profitable
to both the Company and Travancore wonld be the best and the '
most certain plan for the Company. Moens writes: * The native .
chiefs should be allowed to atfack one another althongh they should
rain each other, rather than we should put on our harness eqch
time on their behalf.”” The Dutch realised that by making such a
treaty with Travancore they would have to do with only one and
not with so many. In any case it was better * to make their
authority grow imperceptibly again by means of the new system
than by sticking to the old, to see it gra dually brought more and
- more to scorn.”’

These and other similar considerations induced the Company
to accept the proposals of Travancore. The treaty was signed
at Mavelikara on the 15th August 1753. The principal provisions
of the treaty were :—Travancore and the Dutch should be mutua)
friends. Travancore should not allow any other European power
to acquire a footing in its territories, biat should leave undisturbed
the English factories at Anjenco, Edava and Vizhinjam, but the
English should not be allowed greater advantages than they
were entitled to under existing treaties, The Dutch should assist
Travapcore both by land and sea il case of an attack from a
foreign power. The Dutch should not in any way aid the enemies
of Travancore or give them refuge : the two contracting powers
should  apprehend and deliver up deserters t8 each other.
Travancore should restore to the Dutch such goode and men as
belonged to them add might have been wrecked on the Travan-
core coast. Travancore should compel its subjects to fulfil
mercantile obligations and contracts with the Dutch and abstain -
from levying any unusually heavy duty on the goods of the
Dutch. The Dutch should renounce all their engagements with
the Malabar princes and particularly with those against whom
Travancore intended to go to war. The Dutch should supply
Travancore with munitions of war annually to the value of
12,000 Rupees at cost price. Travancore should sel] every year
to the Dutch a stated quantity of pepper at certain fixed rates
from territories then I possession of Travancore and also another
stated quantity from those territories which Travancore might
conquer thereafter.
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It is said that the Dutch tried to include a clause in the
treaty safeguarding the interests of Cochin. Day says “Ata
private interview at Mavelikara between the Cochin Raja and
the Dutch on one hand and the Travancore Raja on the other
“the Dutch unsuccessfully attempted to have a clause inserted
that should the Raja of Cochin or the Chettwaye island be
attacked by Travancore such was to be considered equivalent to
war.” «The object of this proposal was of course to save Cochin
from falling o prey to the aggression of Travancore* The Dutch

were naturally interested in Cochin ** which was their first and

oldest ally and also  their nearest neighbour':. But their
endeavours were in vain, They had to be satisfied with an oral
promise that “ Travancore would live in triendship with the Raja
ol Cochin provided he gave no cause to the contrary.” As Moens
pertinently observed, it only meant that Travancore would remain
friendly with Cochin as long as it suited him. The gth clause of
the treaty which' stated *that the Company shall renounce all
illiances with the other chiefs and nobles of Malabar with whom
His Highness might desire to wage war, and shall not thwart him
in this matter in any respect, give asylum to any such persons or
oppose His Highness's enterprises "', was extremely damaging to
the Company’s prestige. This clause allowed the Travancore
Raja to carry out his ambitious schemes to any extent he pleased.
By this the Dutch threw over their native allies and pledged
themselves to leave them all to the mercy of Travancore. The
Raja of Cochin bitterly complained about this to the Supreme

Government &t Batavia. * The Company has sacrificed an old .

friend and ally besides other Malabar kings and broken -all
contracts " he wrote. **When from the wvery beginning our
ancestors tried to bring some kings under their sway and
obedience, the Hon'ble Company continuously interfered; by
observing this rule this kingdom got divided in so many parts
and hias therefore become unable to check its enemies.
Now that the king of Travancore has become a powerful
king, he has been able to coax the Hon'ble Company under
promise to observe everything by means of which he bids
fair to bring the other kings under his sway''. This was
a legitimate ventilation of a strong grievance. The Dutch had

1 Moens" Memairs.
. 1 Cochin State Manual,
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hitherto effectively prevented all political designs of Cochin and
the Zamorin. But when it came to a question of their dealings
with a powerful prince, they threw aside their old policy. It is
to be doubted whether the Dutch had been driven to this neces-
sity by force of circumstances or whether they had accepted this
course for their own personal ends. The other clauses of the
treaty prove that pecuniary motives had been at work, The
treaty says that the Dutch should supply the Raja with various
kinds of arms and ammunition to the value of Rupees 12,000,
while they were to receive 1,500,000 poungs of pepper at Rs. 13

for every 100 pounds, and 10,000 pounds more out of the terri-

tories, to be conquered at Rs. 11 for every 100 pounds. This
shows that the Company was anxious to strike a successful
bargaint with Travancore by betraying the interests of its old
allies. Day writes: ** Certainly giving up.their former allies to an
ancient enemy and providing arms to subdue their former friends
for the sake of gaining 4 annus or six pence on every 25 pounds
of pepper, was an inglorious act.” If the object of the Dutch had
been to gain more pepper at a cheap rate, they were deleated
in that also as subsequent events clearly showed them.
Marthanda Varma never furnished the quantity he promised even*~
though the Dutch used to send many commissioners to Trivandrum
to remind him of his treaty obligation, The Dutch offered him a
higher price for pepper ; even then the Raja was not prepared to
favour them. The treaty brooght neither credit nor money to
the Dutch. The princes of Malabar scon discovered that the
Company could no longer maintain any pretensions of political
authority.

CHAPTER V.
TRAVANCORE AND THE DUTCH—(Continued)

HE Dutch knew pretty well that the peace of Mavelikara
would naturally be an encouragement to Marthanda Varma

for further aggressions. Gollenesse wrote * Although a peace
should be concluded, one may very reasonably doubt whether it
will be lasting ; since he strongly 4insists upon a promise from the
Hon'ble Company to remain neutral in case he goes to war with
the Malabar chiefs, which sufficiently shows his ambitious
infentions, and though it will be some time before his finances

-
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are re-established and besides most of his picked MNairs have
fallen, still I do not believe that he has altogether abandoned his
high flying esigns to make himself master of the whole of
Malabar.” What Collenesse apprehended was perfectly right.

. The Raja ot Cochin knew that Marthanda Varma’s attention
" would immediately turn against him. He knew that he could
not rely on the promise of friendship. In his letter dated r4th
October . 1753 to the Dutch Government at Batavia, he had
expressed all his fears about the Travancore Raja. .* He has no
compassion on or charity towards neighbours ', wtote the Cochin
Raja **but plays with big men and small as a cat with mice,
seeking nothing else but his own gains and profits.” To add to the
difficulties of the Cochin Raja, thére were bitter factions in the
royal family between the Thampans and the Raja. The
Thampans belonged to the Chaliyur branch and they put forth
a claim to the title of ** Perimpatappu Mooppil “. The Raja of
Cochin refused to recognise the claims of the Thampans and
therefore they sought the help of Marthanda Varma. The
Thampans hoped that they could compel the Cochin Raja to
recognise their titles through the help of a powerful ally. This
was too good an opportunity for the ambitious Marthanda Varma
to miss. He upheld the claims of the Thampans and informed
the Cochin Raja through the Dutch that he was determined to
see their claims fulfilled. The Thampans had concluded a
marriage alliance with Vadakkumkur and therefore Vadakkumkur
also supported sheir cliim, The Travancore Raja led his forces
to Alleppey, 4 place near Shertallay where the Cochin Raja had
established his residence. In a small encounter that followed,
the Cochin troops were driven back. Marthanda Varma had
placed the Thampans at Karappuram under the title of
* Perumpatappu Mooppil . The Raja of Cochin was in great
difficulties and he started negotiations for peace with Marthanda
Varma. A peace was concluded at Mavelikara between Cochin
and Travancore. The Cochin Raja promised to hand over all the
pepper in his territory to Travancore, taking only 500 candies for
his use. Thiruvella and Harippad were to be under the Cochin
Raja as before!, but Karappuram. would be” under Travancore.
The thorny question -about the claims of the Thampans was

& Marthanda Varma had seized the temple at Thiravella before.
(Granthavari)
8
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postponed to be decided in a further conference to be held at
Vaikom three weeks later!. The Travancore Rﬂ]a was not to
proceed against the principalities of Vadakkumkur and Chempaka-
serry as these two were feudatories of Cochin. Cochin was to pay
25,000 rupees as war indemnity to Travancore,

Even though the treaty was drafted, it was not ratified by
either party, Marthanda Varma did not pay any heed to this
treaty and proceeded straight against the Chempakassery Raja
on the pretence that he had helped Kayamkulam in its war
against Travancore. Chempakassery (Ambalapuzhi) was at that
time governed by 4 line of Brahmin chiefs and the Raja at that
time was a sagacious prince. His army was commanded by
Mathu Panikkar, a Sudra knight of exception: al abilities. It is
said that the Ambalapuzha soldiers used a special kind of arrows
with pmsonaus tips. The Travancore army under Rama Iyen
met the Ambalapuza soldiers at Thottapally (an outpost on the
southern frontiers of Ambalapuzha) where a deadly battle took
place. Rama Iyen's troops could not resist the poisonous arrows
of the enemy and he was obliged to retreat. Further, a panic
seized his troops based on the rumour that Krishnaswamy, the
deity of the Brahmin Raja of Ambalapuzha, was himself leading
the troops against Travancore. The Hindu soldiers of Travancore
could not be persuaded to fight against Ambalapuzha, and Rama
Iyen ‘had to wait till the arrival of De Lannoy with his arhl]l:r}r
and Mussalman and Christian soldiers.

Meanwhile, Rama Iven's intrigues ammﬂ‘.rl in winning over
Mathu Panikkar and Thekkcdathu Bhattathiri, the principal
officers of the Ambalapuzha army, to the Travancore side. They
signed a truce with Rama Iyen, but the Raja continned to fight.
He was casily defeated by the Travancore army and taken
prisoner. Liberal presents were given to Mathu Panikkar and
the Bhattathiri by Marthanda Varma. The Ambalapuzha Raja
was removed to Trivandrum, and from there to Kodamalur,
where he was kept as a prisoner.

Rama Iymlhad taken possession of Changanassery, the
capital of Thekkumkur. He was now ordered to march to the

1 Thnpm:un.hﬂ:nm at H:m:lltm was he]d aft Il'uz Zﬂih Karkadagom
92t M E. The conference at Vaikom was 1o meet on Chingom 20th 920 M E
P - {Granthavari)
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North and settle the northern boundary which had been extended
up to the river Periyar. Practically all the countries south of
the Dutch possession at Cranganore belonged to Travancore.
Thus the Travancore territories surrounded those aof Cochin, to
whom of course Travancore was not a welcome neighbour.

The Raja of Ambalapuzha who was a prisoner at Kodamalur
escaped trom there and joined with the Rajas of Thekkumkur
and Vadakkumkur. They made busy preparations for recovering
their lost possessions and sought the co-operation of Cochin.
They secured the support of Paliath Achen and other nobles like
Kodacherry Karthay and Koratti Kaimal. They persuaded the
Cochin Raja to join sides with them to stop the aggression of
Marthanda Varma. Many Nair chiefs from Ambalapuzha,
Kayamkulam, Changanassery, Ettumanocor and other places joined
this big anti-Travancore league. Marthanda Varma had alienated
the vast majority of the Malabar chieftains by his aggressive policy
of expansion. And all of them were burning with a spirit of
revenge, It was the hostility towards Marthanda Varma that
drew all l.hese‘chit.-imins together ; the Cochin Raja was fo
become the leader of this formidable combination. They collec-
ted a flest of native boats and made busy preparations gathering
rifles, guns and ammunitions. While these preparations were
going on, the Dutch Governor at Cochin conveyed private infor-
mation about this to the Travancore Raja. The conduct of the
Dutch in this affair is really unintelligible. Cochin had been
their traditional ally, and Travancore their inveterate enemy
The fall of Travancore would have been more advantageous (o
the Dutch than to Cochin. But the Dutch, after the treaty of
Mavelikara, were following a cowardly policy of appeasement
with Travancore, anxious to cultivate its friendship. By secretly
informing the Travancore Raja about the preparations of his
enemy, the Dutch perhaps imagined that they could gain his
favour and friendship. -

Marthanda Varma made busy preparations and proceeded
with his army to Mavelikara. As the Maharaja was slightly
indisposed, the prince together with Rama Iyen and De Lannoy
was ordered to lead the expedition.  The confederates Janded at -
Porrakkad and immediately a *sanguinary battle followed. The
well-disciplined army of Travancore with its strong equipment

 proved its superiority over its enemies. Many soldiers of the
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Cochin army were slain, and Paliath Achen, Kodacherry Karthav
and several other nobles were taken prisoners. The Kayamkulam
Nairs who took part in the war were severely punished by
Rama lyen,

Rama Iyen proceeded to the north through Ambalapuzha,
Alleppey and Ariad. He seized the Cochin Raja’s palace at
Madathumkara' about five miles north of Alleppey. The
Madathumkara palace was not occupied by any member of the
royal family ; but it was guarded by a handful of sepoys. The
Dalawa easily captured the palace and proceeded towards Aroo-
kutty. Therapid advance of the Travancere forces alarmed the
Raja of Cochin. The concerted attempt of the Malabar chief-
tains had miserably failed and he knew that Rama Iyen would
press his victories into the frontiers of Cochin. He immediately
sént a messenger to Trivandrum apologising for his past conduct
and suing for peace. The Dutch Governor at Cochin also reques-
ted the Maharaja to stop the further advance of Rama Iyen.
Marthanda Varma accordingly ordered Rama Iven to return to
Mavelikara. Arookutty was made the northern dmit of Travan-
core and it continues to be so even to-day,

It is interesting to examine why the ambitious Marthanda
Varma did not venture on a conquest of Cochin. If Rama Iyen
‘had not been ordered to return from Arookutty, he would have
easily hoisted the Travancore flag in Cochin. The part played
by Cochin in the Ambalapuzha war was sufficient "excuse for an
invasion of that country. The Dutch would-not hive interfered
on behalf of Cochin even though they knew that * no ruler would
do better or be more suitable than the king of Cochin” to
strengthen their interests. ** He is qur oldest ally and sufficiently
rooted into us ” the Dutch Governor wrote, * his territory lies in
view and almost within range of our walls ; he even shares with
us the taxes of the town, was faithful ‘to the Company when
Cochin was taken and exposed himself for our sake to almost
total ruin . But in spite of all these, the Dutch would not have
supported him in a war with Travancore. -

It was the pet ambition of .ana Iyen to cury his victories
to the heart of Cochin, It is said that at the time of his death

I The ariginal seat of the Cochin Rajas is considered to bn_ﬂ;hﬂxm-
kara.  Hence their title ** Mada Bhoopathy "', =
L]
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he told the Elaya Raja that his only disappointment in life was
that he was not permitted to conquer and annex the whale of the
Cochin Raja's territories and add that Raja’s mame to the
Travancore pension list. But it was prudence that advised
Marthanda Varma to desist from this project. ‘' Should it be
asked why, being so successful in everything, he has not exten-
ded his conquests further and completely subjugated the king of
Qochin ', writes Moens, ** the answer is that he would certainly
have done this and has it still in hi$ mind; but Travancore is
far-seeing and careful ; he knows that the comservation of his
conquests requires as much prudence as their acquisition ; he lies
in wait ; he looks out for opportunities and seldom lets any
chance of obtaining an advantage slip by". As Moens rightly
observes, it was'to his advantage to keep quiet at that time as
there was the legitimate chance of a sweeping invasion of all
territories by Hyder Ali. Therefore Marthanda Varma thought
it wise to draw the line at Arookutty.

Peace with Cochin was soon brokén on the question of a
tract of land known as Karappuram. The Cochin Raja pressed
his claim on Karappuram and Paliath Achen and Kodacherry
Karthav were collecting an army to defend his claim. Rama
Iyen immediately proceeded from Mavelikara with his powerful
darmy apd drove the Cochin troops beyond Arookufty., The
Cochin Raja finding himself helpless again sued for peace. He
agreed to cede Karappuram to Travancore,

As the Maharaja was adding on territories after territories
there were violent outbreaks of rebellion in different parts of his
dominions. In 1754 there was an organised insurrection by the
inhabitants of the northern countries of Ambalapuzha, Changanas-
sery, Kottayam and Ettumanoor. They were instigated by the
Zamorin and also by the deposed Rajas of Thekkumkur and
Vadakkumkur. Rama Iyen advanced to the north to suppress the
r&bcllinnﬁ; but his attempts were of no avail. He requested the -
Maharaja to go over to these places personally to bring the sitna-
tion under control. The rebellion subsided on the arrival of the
Maharaja. But Marthanda Varma took precautionary measures to
root out the trouble and sought.the help of Hyder Ali of Mysore.
Hyder Ali promptly replied that he would send a strong army
from Dindigul. But the mere rumour that Hyder was coming to
the belp of the Maharaja was sufficient to induce the people to give
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up their rebellion. The Maharaja, finding that Hyder's help was
not necessary, later wrote to him declining his offer. The
Maharaja was wise in not availing himseli of Hyder's promised
help. ‘That would have prundcda handle for Hyder to carry
out his ambitious designs in Malabar. The Maharaja’s reply
declining his promised help was not pleasing to the Mysore
ruler, He understood the drift of this reply and thus the first
seed of enmity between Travancore and Mysore was sown.

The conduct of the Maharaja in inviting toreign mercenaries
to suppress the rebellion in his own State has been severely
criticised as both impolitic and unpatriotic. His plan of getting
the help of Hyder Ali was no doubt imprudent ; though the
Maharaja soon realised it and did not avail himself of the help.
But Hyder was made of the same calibre as Marthanda Varma,
and he could not be easily put offi by the Maharaja's arts,
The remedy which the Maharaja sought was more disastrous than
the disease ; and once it was songht, it was not easy to be shaken

~ofi. It was the beginning of the series of wars in which Travan-

core was involved in the next decade. It was not the first time
that Marthanda Varma was invoking foreign aid for the manage-
ment of his affairs in Malabar. It was at the root of his policy
from beginning to end.

Marthanda Varma was fortunate in securing the able
services of Rama Iven,! an unscrupualous general, but a statesman
of unparallelled merits. In scheming and intrifue no one was

I According to the high snthority of Mahskavi Ullor 5. Parameswara
Iyer, Rama Iyen was a native of Rajamannarkoil in Tinnevelly District, and
his father had ssttled down in South Travancore. He was brought to the
notice of Mabaraja Rama Varma. the predecessor of Marthanda Varma, and
by dint of his precociona intelligence ross to important places of service in
the State, first as Samprathy or Head clerk ul“ the palace and finally 1o the
post of Dalawa which then combined the fanctiona of prime minister and
commander-in-chiel. Besides his martial explaits and administrative abilities
Hama Iyen was a patron of letters and himself 2 member of a learned family.
He renovated the temple al Aruvikkars in' 1745 A Sanskrit posm ‘The
Chathaka Sandesa * written about 1735 describes the fort at Quilon that he
built as being the very incarnation of his valour. His brother Gopala Iyen
also worked up his way to the post ol Dah\u which he beld {or a pumber of
years, (1768 —76)

iVide article on ** Some new facts on Hama Iyen Dalawa, the warrior
Statesman of Travancore ** by Ulloor 8 Parameswara Iyer, in the I H. R,
Commisgion proceedings, Veol. XIX. 1944, Pages 141 10 42).

- -
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a match to Rama Iyen and in carrying out the designs of
his master effectively no one could excel him. Visakam
Thirunal Rama Varma Maharaju of Travancore (1055 to 1060 M.E.)
observed. “He (Marthanda Varma) was served by one of the
ablest of ministers. Sully did not serve Henry IV of France more
nobly and faithfully than Rama Iyen did Marthanda Varma.
vivrss...Rama Iyven was unrelenting, unsparing and often
unscrupulous to his master's enemies, but his self was merged
completely in that of his master, He was as [earless in the
council room as he was in the battle field. With such. a master
as his right hand and with a strong will, abiding patience and
indomitable courage, the Raja not only won back what his
predecessors had lost but subjugated one after another the
neighbouring chiefs who were a perpetual source of trouble.™

It was the great ambition of Marthanda Varma to destroy
the old feudal nobility of the Nairs and to build up
on its debris a powerful and efficient autocracy. This was
s0 deadly against the cherished sentiments of the people of
Malabar that it took many years for even Marthanda Varma to
establish it on a secure basis. Mr. K. M. Panikar in his ** Malabar
and the Dutch "', severely criticises Marthanda Varma as being
entirely devoid of a feeling for ** Kerala Dharma." * The basis o
his statecraft ** says Mr. Panikar, **was the utilisation of foreign
help for subduing the chieftains opposed to him.......... His
autocratic staje was to'be supported by the twin pﬂla.rs of a
mercenary army and an alien bureaucracy, both hostile to the
pnpnlnu-::-n of Malabar and unsympathetic towards its institu-
tions ", The ethics of utilising foreign help for suppressing
ﬂl&mieﬁ need not be questioned.at all. When once Marthanda
Varma was bent upon subduing his enemies, it mattered little
whether he depended entirely on his army or hired soldiers from
outside. It wss open to all princes to secure help from out-
side and it was not any respect for the feeling of **Kerala Dharma™
that prevented them from doing it. The truth is that they had
neither the skill nor the courage of Marthanda Varma to venture
on such schemes, No doubt the numerous chieftains and princes
who were subdued by Marthanda Varma' considered his action as
a violation of their legitimate rights and liberties. But the pres-
ence of innumerable independent principalities, hardly able to
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subsist by their revenues or maintain good rule was certainly not
conducive to the happiness of the people. It'may bea fact that the
people highly resented the high-handed actions of Marthanda
. Varma. But they could not understand the necessity or advanta-

ges of a political unification. It would have been a Herculean task
for any prince of the 18th century to induce by peaceful means
the different principalitics to merge into a common entity.
Conquest was the only means for creating a united and strong
Travancore and certainly in this case the end justifies the
means. It would be wrong to accuse Marthanda Varma of any
violation of " Kerala Dharma . * Kerala Dharma " does not con-
sist in the perpetuation of a highly incompetent and undesirable
political system, Perhaps it may be difficult to justifiv on strict
moral grounds the treatment he meted out to the Ettuveettil
Pillamars. But Marthanda Varma was a practical statesman.
He realised fully well, and rightly too, that the total
annihilation ot the recalcitrant nobility was the sin gua
non of an orderly government,. And this soldier-king with a
* heart to resolve a head to contrive and a hand to execute "' set
about his task in the most thorough manner possible. And its
result was that he raised Travancare from its insignificance to
the forefront of Malabar politics,. The great achievement of
Marthanda Varma was that he carved out a powerful state from
out of on agglomeration of weak principalities and made it an
effective bulwark against foreign aggression. * Tfus ended the
\ the dominion of the petty Malabar sovereigns a.IILd princes, thus
was humanity avenged and thus were the crimes punished and
licentiousness suppressed by which the countiy had been
distracted ever since the roth century.'"!

The greatness of Marthanda Varma lies in the fact that his
conquests kept pace with consolidation, After finishing his
conquests he brought about extensive reforms in the military and
revenue administration of the State. Captain De Lannoy was
appointed as the commander-in-chief of the Travancore forces.
He had already in his employ a body of soldiers trained in
‘western methods of warfare, The Maharaja realised that a well
equipped and well disciplined army was highly indispensable for
the administration of his extensive dominions. The Maharaja's
palace at Padmanabhapuram was strongly = fortified and

1 Fra Bartolomeo "' A vovage fo the East Indies, "
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Udayagiri was converted into a strong military establishment.
Batteries were erected on the sea coast at different places and old
forts were renovated and strengthened. Rama Iyen was deputed
to.organise the revenue administration of the State. A commerce
department was established and pandakasalas or store-hounses
were erected in different parts of the State. The lands annexed
by the State were assessed and their administration was
established on a sound financial basis. Many .public works

- were undertaken and numerous palaces were constructed. Roads
and canals were made to facilitate commerce and communi-
cations.

The important role played by Marthanda Varma in deciding
the fate of the Dutch in Malabar can hardly be exaggerated. To
Marthanda Varma goes the credit of shattering the Duatch East
India Company’s usurped position as the sovereign authority in
Malabar. Marthanda Varma was able to compel the Dutch to
discard their old system of Malabar administration and to adopt
a new policy whose chief feature was to keep friends with Travan-
core  Moens wrote, * As long as the Company sticks to its present
peaceable policy, friendship with this king is and must remain of
utmost necessity.” But thé Dutch were always apprehensive
about the political designs of Marthanda Varma. The letter
from the Amsterdam Council to Batavia, dated 13th[October 1755,
stated *“ When we reflect on the ambitious designs of this prince
and his behaviour from time to time even with regard to the
Company, we'are more and more strengthened in our  belief that
not much refiance can be placed upon, the aforenamed Raja. Far
this reason we once more recommend our administrators always
to follow carefully the enterprises of the prince, to be on their
guard at every turn of events'". The Dutch authorities expréssed
the same fears about Marthanda Varma in another letter dated
4th October 1756. ** With reference to the king of Travancore
whose progress we cannot behold with indifferent eyes, we are
\Constantly in fear that if the said king should conquer - the kings
of Cochin, Birkancur and Thekkumkur, he would become a
dangerous neighbour to the Company ; for this reason it would be
desirable that the combined arms of the said three kings may be
S0 prosperous that the one party could be kept in check by the
other, and the king of Travancore thwarted in the execution of
his ambitious designs, of which he has already given diverse indi-
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cations and which therefore require every attention”. The Dutch
earnestly wished that Travancore had not become so exceedingly
large and Cochin so small so that the latter might balance the
former. Marthanda Varma had convinced the Dutch that they
could no longer play the convenient game of adjusting the balance
of power in Malabar to their advantage. And this was no small
achievement, Marthanda Varma will ever remain as one of the
most ontstanding figures in Malabar history. ]

CHAFPTER VI
THE ZAMORIN AND THE DUTCH

THE failure of the Dutch against Travancore had many disastrous
consequences. [t encouraged all the Malabar chieftains to
throw aside the authority of the Dutch. 'The Malabar princes
discovered that their interests had been given up to Travancore
by the treaty of 1753, and they were therefore seeking [for new
alliances to strengthen their position. The Zamorin of Calicut
who for long had enjoyed the position of the premier prince of
Malabar was not slow to miss this opportunity. When the Dutch
first came to Malabar the most powerful prince they found on the
coast was the Zamorin, [t was with the help of the Zamorin that
they established their power in*Cochin. But the Dutch were
always thwarting the political ambitions of the Zamorin on the
plea of protecting their allies. By the treaty of 1717 the Zamorin
had been compelled to cede Chettwaye and Pappanivattam to the
Dutch and to allow thiem freedom of trade in his dominions, But
ever since the surrender of Chettwaye, the Zamorin had been
trying to restore it to his kingdom. Chettwaye was so vital to his
communications in the south that he conld not afford to lose it.
The Zamorin tried peaceful means towin back the lost territories.
But the Dutch were not prepared to return what they had gained
after so much of fighting. The hostility between the Dutch and
the Zamorin was becoming keéner. Chettwaye was not the only
bone of contention. The Dutch wanted to prevent the establish-
ment of English influence in the Zamorin's territories and they
were taking every possible step to achieve this end, The Zamorin
+ was meanwhile trying to strengthén his postion by forming alli-
ances, In 1728 he sent Padmanabha Pattar to Kayamkulam,
- Vadakkumkur, Thekkumkur and other places to negotiate alli-
A

L



S " m -

ances with them. The main object of this alliance was to bring A
down the power of the Dutch and conquer Cochin. The Dutch
also were not slow in concerting measures for the suppression of
the Zamorin's power. in 1735 they occupied Inamakal and forti-
fied it. But they continued to maintain their appearance of
friendship with the Zamorin; therefore it did not result in the
commencement of hostilities, The Raja of Cochin invaded the
lands of Chittoor Namboodiri in 1750, but even this did not
result in the outbreak of war. In 1742 a serious dispute arose
between the Cochin Raja and the Zamorin about the management
of the Triparayar temple and the heir-apparent of Calicut who
was an inveterate enemy of the Dutch invaded Cochin. This
prince, Gollenessee says, used to boast that he intended ‘ to live
and die asa mortal epemy of the Dutch,” He made a sudden
raid upon the kingdom of Cochin without any previous declara-
tion of war and captured the teritory known as Mangalam. At that
fime the prince received ‘information about the arrival of Van
Imhofi and suddenly stopped all hostilities. The Zamorin
disowned his responsibility for this war and declared that every-
thing had been done without his orders. A peace was concluded
on the 3rd December 1742 in the presence of two deputies of the
Company. The Dutch " seriously warned the king of Cochin to
avoid carefully every occasion of new disturbances and rather to
bear and digest a small injustice than bring greater one upon
himsel{'." .*

" :

Even t;h'nl.'lgh a temporary peace was signed between Cochin
and Calicut in 1742, the Zamorin was making busy preparations
for carrying out his great political designs. The Zamorin w:
watching the progress of Travancore and the steady decline uE‘E:
Company’s power, ** Ha found that he could insult- the Dutch
with impunity, as although they sent remonstrances, these were
unsupported by physical forced.”

In 1752 the Zamorin attacked Inamakkal. The next year
they took Pappanivattom and ebliged the Dutch to retire to
Cranganore with the loss of eight pieces of artilery, The Zamorin
had compelled many petty chieftains to recognise him as the
overlord of Malabar. The .Cochin Raja had always refused

1 Gollenesse:  Memairs.
2 Day. : Land of the Perumals.
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to acknowledge the Zamorin’s suzerainty, The Zamorin ven-
tured on his aggressive scheme of conquest and invaded Cochin
with a large army. In the meantime, Marthanda Varma was
steadily extending his dominions northwards. Attacked on both
sides by powerful enemies, the Cochin Raja Jooked up to the
Dutch for help. He wrote many letters to the Dutch at Cochin
and Batavia reminding them wof *their treaty obligations
to protect Cochin from outside attacks. But the Dutch: were not
inclined to lend active assistance to Cochin. The Cochin Raja
realised that his kingdom would be reduced to extinction it he
did not make a diplomatic move to secure a powerful-ally, An
alliance with the Zumorin was clearly impossible and therefore
Cochin turned to Travancore for help. The leader of these
negotiations was Paliath Komi Achen, a far-seeing diplomat of
exceptional abilities. He had been taken prisoner at the battle
of Ambalapuzha and taken to Trivandrum. He had realised that
an alliance with Travancore would be to the best interests of his
country and had cultivated the friendship of Marthanda Varma
and the Elaya Raja during his stay at Trivandrum. “He knew
perfectly well that depending on Dutch help would be extremely
foolish and persuaded the Cochin Raja to come to an agree-
ment with Marthanda Varma. The Cochin Raja came to
Mavelikara where he had an interview with Marthanda Varma.
A peace was signed between the two prinees in 1757. The Raja
of Cochin declared perpetual alliance with Travancore and volun-
tarily ceded all the places which the Travincore arfly had con-
quered. He relinquished all his claims over the petey principa-
lities of the north with the exception of Alangad and Parur. He
promised to render no help to the enemies of Travancore and 1o
refrain from all intercourse with the deposed Rajas of Ambala-
puzha, Thekkumkur and Vadakknmkur, The deposed Raja of
Ambalapuzha was permitted to stay at Trichur.

The Zamorin was steadily scoring victories at the expense of
Cochin ‘and the Dutch. In 1756 the Zamorin invaded the
territories ' round about Cranganore. The Zamorin's troops
strengthened themselves at Pappanivattam throwing up earth
works at * Tripoonatty * holding posts at Madilukam. They erected
palisades at the river bank.closing the passages und preventing
supplies from reaching the Dutch garrison at Madilakam. The
Zamorin with 5000 Nairs advanced close to the Cranganore fort

; it



and overran Parur. The Dutch in Cochin were greatly alarmed
at the progréss of the Zamorin, The garrison at Cochin consisted
. of only 138 Europeans and 75 Topasses.! They enlisted some
natives and wrote to Ceylon to send immediate reinforcemients.
But the Ceylon Government could not spare any soldiers at that
time. The Dutch then requested the Rajas of Chettwaye, Ayroor
and Cranganore to stop the advance of the Zamorin's troops.
But these chieftains had already realised the futility of thewr
alliance with the Dutch and they declined to comply with their
request. On the other hand they entered into alliances with-the
Zamorin. *The petty princes perceiving the Dutch no longer
protected them against Travancore had recourse to the Zamorin,
whom they persuaded to enter into hostilities against the
company. The Dutch commander applied to the Raja of
Travancore for help, but he replied that ‘‘he had told the
Zamorin's ambassadors that they ought to advise their sovereign
to stop.”” Perhaps the Travancore Raja did not want to inter-
fere in the war at that stage. He knew that when the Dutch
would be hard pressed they would be compelled to beg his
assistance and then he would carry out his schemes of conquest. as
he pleased. s '

| Topasses A name used ig the 17th or 15th eentury for dark-skinned
half-caste Portuguese Christian® [t is held that the word is & corruption of
the Tuarkish *Top-chi’. (a guoner) Various other derivations have also been
given. Thus Crme and [ollowing him Wilson, had derived the word from
“Topy " ' ahat’ and held it to wiean ' hatman’ or * Topy-walas * Still another
curious derivation, is from the word ' Dubash ', e, interpreter between the
Eurapeans and the Indians,

Possibly the first derivation is the correct one, becanse European gunners,
fialians, Levantines, or Ouomans, were empolyed as artillery men and for
casting guns, from very eatly in the 16th century. Portuguese gunmen, i.e ,
Top-chis {Topkhana artillery depariment) wece employed by the Zamorin of
Calicut, as is frequently mentioned in the Annals of Correa who went over (o
India in 1512 and remained in the country as late as 1361, Hef ;—"" Thres
Voyages of Vas Co da Gama and his Vicerovaliy * of Gaspar Correa, Translated
by E. ]. Stanley,

The term Topar or Topas was frequently in use from about 1670 in the
records of the English faciories. ' Gradually in course of time it came to ba
applied to the sons of Earopean men and black woman who affected European
dress and wore European hat. Accordipg to the high gutherity of James Mill,
it degoted the Indo Portuguese, either the mized descendants of Portuguese
and lpdan parents of converts to the Porluguese from the Indian faith, They
were also known s Mestizos (literally of mixed blood)

- -
- i



While the Dutch and the Zamerin were carrying on hostili-
ties, peace talks also were indulged in. The mam idea of the
Zamorin was not to suppress the power ot the Dutch. He
would have readily welcomed their help for carrying out his
designs over others. The Zamorin was also careful to prevent an
alliance between Travancore and the Dutch, which he knew

% would only strengthen the power of Travancore. Furtherthere
were frightful rumours about the imminent invasion of Calicut by
Hyder Ali, Therefore the Zamorin thought it would be a wise
step to pegotiate peace with the Dutch. On October 18th 1756
the jZamorin sent a Jew—Ezekiel Rabbi—to the Dutch to arrange
terms for peace. He promised to give the Dutch 2,000 candies ! of
pepper vearly if they would join sides with him against
Travancore. The Dutch did net want to wage a war with
Travancore. They sent a reply that as soon as the lands which
the Zamorin had conguered were restored to them, they would
consider the offer of peace. They also stated that the new.
treaty should be on the basis of the old one, i.e., the treaty of
1717, The Dutch did not want to commit themselves to support
any party in haste. Before doing that they wanted to ascertain
what terms either party would offer, Governor Cunes in his
letter to Batavia sfated : ** Should Travancore refuse tg join us, it
becomes the more urgent that your Excellencies should furnish
sufficient forces to enable us to assume o commanding position,
merely to overawe these Malabar chiefs and thus to continue on
the terms of most intimate friendship with Tridvancore, without
the slightest room for any misunderstanding.” + He also added
that * should the Zamorin give an opportunity for a renewal of
friendship with him, on reasonable and honourable terms, it is
advisable to at once close with them.'! Thus the Dutch were
trying to make the best use of these opportunities,

Meanwhile the Zamorin had occupied the major part of
Cochin’s territories. He could capture Inamakkal without firing
a shot. From there he advanced to Trichur which was very
poorly defended. The handful of soldiers he found there were
driven out and Trichur was made the capital of the Zamorin's
territories in Cochin. Many local chieftains voluntarily surren-
dered before the Zamorin. Chankardkanda Kaimal, Chittur

1 * Cochy Raja Charitram ' says 4,000 candies were offered. Hel:—Vol Il
P. 199. ¢
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Nampoothiri and Velos Nambiar invited the Zamorin ta” take
possession of Qorakam, Arattupuzha and Mapranam.!  The
Zamorin's forces seized the Mullorkara fort belonging to Paliam
and compelled many local chiefs to recognise his suzerainty. In
1758 the Zamorin's forces attacked Chennamangalam, the seat of
the Paliath Achens and drove away the Paliam troops. Paliath
Achen and the meribers of his family were obliged to leave
Chennamangalam and settle in Vypeen. This was the most
critical period in the history of Cochin. The Cochin Raja had
been deprived of the major part of his territories, The majority
of the Raja’s feudatories had joined sides with the Zamorin.
Even some of the members of the Paliam family were thinking
of going/over to the Zamorin, But Komi Achen, the Paliam
chief, stood loyal to the Raja and tried his best to strengthen the
Raja’s power in Cochin.

When the Zamorin was thus at the zehith of his power, he
conclnded a treaty with the Dutch by which he agreed to give
up Matilakam, Puttenchira, Chettwaye and Pappanivattam. He
also promised to pay a war indemnity of 65000 Rupees to the
Dutch. [t seems strange that the Zamorin should sign a treaty
of this kind with the Dutch_when he was victorious in all his
operations. Probably he [eared a combined attack of Trayancore
and the Dutch, Perhaps it was his idea to offset the immediate
prospects of a Travancore invasion by a treaty with the Dutch.
* Thé Zamorin Jad no fear of the Dutth: he knew what theix
strength was and where their weakness lay. The immediate
crisis tided ovér, and the advance of the Travancoreans stopped,
he thought he could at his own convenience recover Chettwaye " *

The Cochin Raja knew that he could not resist the advance
of the Zamorin without help from outside. Therefore he retired
to Ernakulam with his troops. The only effective help’ he could
hope to secure at that time was from Travancore. In 1758 the
great Marthands Varma died and he was succeeded by his
illustrious nephew Rama Varma, Rama Varma had been trained
and brought up by Marthanda Varma and he proved himself to
be a worthy successor of his great uncle. As heir-apparent he
had closely associated himself with matters of state administra-

"1 Cochy Rajya Chiaritram by K P. P. Menon, Vol I1. P. 305,
' 2 K, V. Krishna Iyer. Zamorins of Calicut.
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tion and his policy as king was strictly in accordance with thaf
of his predecessor.  His long rule extending over a period of 40
years, characterised by wisdom, justice and kindness, was ex-
tremely popular and won him the title of * Dharma Raja’. He
was endowed with great natural gifts and administrative abilities,
which stood him in good stead under trying. cirenmstances,

_  The Cochin Raja sent Paliath Achen to Travancore to solicit
the Maharaja's help for checking the aggression of the Zamorin.
A fresh treaty' was signed on the 26th December 1761 based on
the provisions of the former treaty, The Cochin Raja promised
to bear all expenses that will be incurred in connection with war
against the Zamorin, He relinquished his claims over the Karap-
puram territories.

At the time of the signing of the treaty Karappuram was a
part of Travancore, but the clause about the surrender of Cochin’s
claims over that territory was purposely included to prevent all
future disputes aboptit. Itisstated that the Travancore Raja hesi-
tated to place full confidence in the Co¢hin chief and delayed to
take action against the Zamorin. Therefore the Cochin Raja sent
his nephew to Trivandrum to swear his allegiance to the treaty®.

1" s ewes. Wou inform me that the Samoory: has entered your
conntry with his troops, expelled your people and taken possesaion of it and you
desire me to assist you by sending my troops at my own_expenss in order to
enahble yoo to recover possession of your country by expellinlg the Samoory's
troops from that part which estends north as far as Poocoidah river and eam
as [mr as Chitoor river as also the districts you forfnerly possesssd in
Vellapanad Karee. [f T shouold assist yoo and put you in gossession of this
country you in return agres to make over to me the district Karappumm
extending (o the sonth ef Pampolly river and north of Alipie and alss Paroor
wes 7 1 will s2nd my troops
to be paid by me and will use every exertion and render all the assistance
in my power to defeal the Sampory’s troops and restore your country™,
« =+ Malabar Maneal Vol. IIL. P. 112.

2 A ‘perpetunl alliance was solemnly declared before the deity at
Suchindram. It was as follows:—'" We, Veera Kerala Varma Raja, bom
ander the star Rohini of Perumpatappu Swarcopam declare in the presence of
Sthanu Moorthy, deity of Suchindram, that neither we nor our heirs will da
or cause to be doas any act against Sies Padmanabhadasa Vanchi Pala Rama
Varma Kulasekhara Perumal Raja of the Trippappoor Swaroopam, born nnder

. the star of Karthiga or againat his heirs. We will aot join with those who are

his enemies, neither will we correspond with them. Truly resolved and
solemnly declared on the feet of Sthanumoorthy,
(Sankuny Menon, History of Travancore), ch:.prur I, P. lﬂ.
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According to the terms of this treaty the Maharaja sent his

troops to the north to assist the Cochin Raja. The Travancore
farces were under the command of Aiyyappan da Pillay,
‘the Dalawa, and General De Llannoy. The first thing they under-
took was the construction of the. famous * Travancore Lines." !
extending from Cranganore to the foot of the ghats™ The cons-
truction of a northern barrier was found to be imperatively
necessary as there was the threat of a Mysorean imvasion of
Travancore. The fortifications were constructed under the super-
vision of De Lannoy and the Dalawa who were specially
comitissioned for this by the Maharaja. The Maharaja had also
a conference - with the Cochin Raja at Annamanaday. As many
parts of the barrier had to pass through Cochin, the Cochin Raja
_ ceded these lands to Travancore,

In 1762 the Travancore troops under the command of De
Lannoy formed into three divisions and attacked the Zamorin's
possessions at Cranganore Parur and Verapoly. The Zamorin
was driven back from Cochin and the Cochin Raja was re-instated
in his original possessions. The Dalawa even contemplated an
attack of Calicut, the Zamorin's capital, But by that time the
Zamarin had sued for peace and the Maharaja ordered his minister
to return. The imminent danger of Hyder's invasion had induced

1 "'I"h“ [Travancors Lines) consisted ;f_unimpming earthen rmplﬂ.'

not very high, extending over thirty miles in length from Palliport along a great
portion of the Cochin State vn a strip of land ceded by the Cochin Raja which
served as check fipon the Zamorin's advances. Just flanking their westesn
extremily were the Dutch foris af€ranganore and Ayskottah. The lines were
fronted by a ditch on the North” Flanking towers were placed at intecvals
and a fort was conafrucied at the westera extremity.”

{Travancore Siate Manoal, Vol. -1} Ch. VL. P 371,
. Day gives the lollowing accounts about the Travancore Lines :—

“ They commenced at Yellingayree to the eastward of which the hills
were supposed to afford some defence. They then extéended 24 miles to the
westward and terminated at Jacotay—a name which was occasionally employed
to designate the whole wark. The latter consisted of a rather strong embank-
ment and parapet of earth, the whole measuring st the highest part above
Gifteen fect, but the elevation was mot always the same. The ditch was
generally speaking about half that depth, and iwo or three [leet broad. An
Abattis composed of a bamboo hedge was planted, which in some places where
it has been caréfully preserved may still be secn” flourishing. Along its inner
side ran a broad and level road, and scattered along this at irregular intervals
ware forty two small works."" :

- . m
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both the princes to stop their hostilities and seek friendship with
one another. Further, the Travancore Raja had no personal
reasons for ing- on the war against the Zamorin. His only
obligation was to Testore the Cochin Raja’s territories, and having
fulfilled that he was ready for peace. The Zamorin came fo
Padmanabhapuram to meet the Maharaja and a treaty of alliance
was concluded in 1765 (26th Idavom 938 M. E.). The Zamorin
promised to maintain perpetual friendship and fidelity with
Travancore and to pay a war indemnity of 150,000 Rupees. This
treaty protected the interests of Cochin by providing that it
should bedeft unmolested by the Zamorin. Any dispite that
might arise between the Zamorin and Cochin was to be settled by
the mediation of Travancore. The Zamorin and the Maharaja
promised to help each other in case of a foreign attack.
" After re-instating the Cochin Raja in his restored dominions,
the Travancore Raja opaned up Alleppey to foreign trade, an event
which was greatly ruinous to the interests of the Dutch. The
Dutch had formerly preventedl the Raja of Porakkad from doing
this on the ground that they would not have control over the
exportation of cinnamon and pepper.  But now the Dutch were
not in a position to check the Raja of Travancore. This event
made Travancore master of the whole country from Cranganore
to Cape Comorin.

In the war between the Zamorin and the Raja ol Cochin
many of the feudatories and nobles of Cochin had joined sides
with the Zamorin, The Zamorin’s authority had ten recognised
by many local chieftains of Cochin ‘dhd they were actively syp-
porting the Calicut troops in their war with Cochin, In Travan-
core the power of the Nair nobility had been completely  broken
by the iron measures of Marthanda Varma and therefore there
was no chance of any popular insurrection there, The Cochin
Raja also wanted to secure his position on a similar basis and
sought the help of the Travancore Raja in this respect, The
principal leaders among the rebellious nobles were brought to the
temple at Thiruvanchikulam and compelled to swear an oath of
fidelity. They promised to be loyal to the Rajas of Cochin and
Travancore and never to entertain any enemies of these princes
in their territories. They undertook to break off 4l their rela-
tions with the Zamorin, and to support the’ Raja against the
Zamorin’s aggression, The second chief of Paliam had taken an
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active part in the rebellions. He was also compelled to swear an
oath of loyalty to Cochin and Travancore. He repented very
much for all his youthful misdemeanours and prayed that he
should be forgiven and protected by the Rajas. He promised to
be obedient to his brother, rst Lord of Paliam who has
always been loyal to his mast e properties of the rebellions
chieftains were forféited to the State and all their titles and
claims were abolished,

The part played by the Travancore Raja in annihilating the'
power of Cochin nobility is very significant. He saved the Cochin
Raja from the aggression of his hereditary enemy the Zamorin, .
and also from his own feudal nobles. The Rajas of Cochin were
the feudatories of the Zamorins when the Portuguese first came
to Malabar. During the Portuguese hegemony in Malabar,
Cochin had secured its independence from the domination of
Calicut. But ever since, the two States had been in perpetual
warfare. The Cochin Raja had never been able to suppress the
power of his feudal chiefs, Like the Pillamars and Madampies of
Travancore, these nobles had been enjoying more or less sovereign
authrity in their own villages. The interference of Travancore
brought to a close the war with Zamorin which was going on for
about 250 years and also destroyed the power and influence of
the local nobility,

Even though matters were amicably settled between the three
States of Travafcore, Cochin and Calicut, a quarrel broke out
between the Dutch and Travancore over the question of the
possession of the Mathukunnu islands. According to the treaty
of 1758 between the Dutch and the Zamorin, the latter had pro-
mised to pay a war indemnity of 65,000 Rupees, By the year
1762 more than half the amount had been paid by the Zamorin
in different instalments, But there still remained a balance of
30.000 Rupees, As the Zamorn was involved in expensive wars
with Cochin and Travancore he could not pay the amount due to
the Company. He mortgaged to the Dutch the islands of
Muthukunnu which he had previously taken from Cochin asa
security for the amount due to the Dutch. The Dutch resolved
to take these islands as security on an f:mma.ted value of 16,000
Rupees. Tf the Zamorin failed to pay his arrears within a period
of two years, the Dutch were to take possession of the islands.
Whem!]::e stipulated period was over, the Dutch resolved to

— = .
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appropriate these islands as the Zamurm had failed to fulfil his
obligations, But Travancore disapproved of this transaction and
laid claim to the island on behalf of the Raja of Cochin. Moens
the Dutch Guvernor, says that before entering ipto the transac-
tion, the Dutch had consultad ravancore Raja and obtained
his permission in a conferencESWith him at Shertallai. The
Travancore Raja pressed his claims on behall of Cochin and used
to issue * interdicts ' preventing sowing and harvest in the islands.
- Matters went on like this till 1767 when the Dutch seat troops
from Chranganore to take forcible possessiom ol the islands.
Since then no more *interdicts' were laid on the islands ani
no other " improper claims” were pressed on by Travancore,
But special orders were given by the Dutch authorities about
this affair as they were  always afraid of the intention of
“ Travancore who seldom forgets anything but alway knows well
how to make the best of his chances” " They knew that
“ Travancore will not so easily let this claim slip away from him,
but when octasion offers will formulate it again.” Bath
Travancore and Cochin repeatedly sought the permission of the
Dutch Governor to build a strong fort there in order to check
the Mysorean invasions, The Dutch Governor was aware of the
usefulness of the fortifications in these parts for common defence ;
still he was not prepared to trust the intentions of Travancore in
his request for permission to construct a fort in Muthukunnu
islands. He was afraid that if the Travancore Raja was allowed
to build a fortress there, he may later press his claim for the
whole islands because he knew very well that  the Malabaris
seldom’let slip claims which they have once made, but keep them
always in reserye in order to make them serye as often asan

opportunity offers.”

CHAPTER VII
THE MYSOREAN INVASIONS

HE Mysorean invasion under Hyder Ali was the most signifi-
cant event which aflected the historv of Malabar in
general and the fortunes of the Dutch in particular. We have
. already referred to Marthanda Varma's invocation of help from
Hyder and its political significance. We have also seen how the
Malabar princes and the Dutch were living in great dread of an
imminent invasion from Hyder.
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Hyder Ali is said to have heen a descendant of the tribe to
which the Prophet Muhammad belonged. The date of his ancestor’s .

migration from Mecca to India cannot be precisely fixed. Neither
is it a historical fact which can be accepted without dispute.
But the details about his ancestors’ settlement in the Deccan are
well known and authentic, Hyder's great grand-father Wali

Muhammad, migrated from North India to Gulburga in the Nizam's

dominions, His father—Nadim Saheb—joined the service of the
Mysore ruler and steadily rising to prominence became the
Governor of a profince and the captain of ten thonsand horses,
Hyder commeticed his military career as an officer of a corps of
gepoys under his father at Devanuhalliin 1749. He distinguished
himself as an efficient soldier at the siege of Devanahalli and his
conspicuois abilities attracted the attention of Nanjaraja, the
Survadhikari of Mysore, who secured for him a command of fifty
cavalry and two hundred infantry. .

The government of Mysore was at that time in the hands of

the two brothers Devaraj and Nanjaraj.. The reigning maonarch

+ Chick Kissen ' was only the nominal bead of the administration,
while Devaraj the Dalawa and Nanjaraj the Sarvadhikari were
the de facto rulers.

In 1750 Hyder joined the army of Barakki Venkat Rao.

that fought side by side with the French. The treasdries seized
by Hyder in the course of the campaign had enabled him to

' re-organise his army and equip the soldiers with ~hetter weapons -

of warfare., With the help of some French sepoys Hyder, began
to train up his new recruits in novel methods of warfare. He
raised a bodv of 500 sepoys and 200 horses and further distin~

guished himself at Trichinopoly. * Trichinopoly was Hyder's -«

great training ground. There amidst constant strife and turmoil,
_ his fibre was hardened, his observation quickened; his resourceful-
ness increased and his character developed® . - It was at
Trichinopoly that Hyder gained his experience in the art of
western warfare which stood him in good stgad throughout his
career, Fighting by the side of the English, Hyder had many
opportunities of securing firsthand knowledge of English strategem.

and skill in sicge warfare. In 1755 Hyder was appointed Foujdar _

of Dindigul. Hyder's brilliant achievement in Dindigul was the
subjugation of the rebellious Poligars led by Amminayaka and

« s .1 " Hyder Ali" by N’ K. Sinba, P, 14,
Ll
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Appinayaka. Hyder also accumulated much wealth and in
- creased the strength of his army at Dindigul, He is said to have
obtained skillul French engineers to arganise a regular corps of
artillery and to build up an arsenal and a laboratory. -

By 1757 Nanjaraj had made himself the undisputed master
of the Mysore kingdom. In 1751 Hyder came to Seringapatam
at the request of Nanjaraja to suppress a mutiny there. The
Government of Mysore at that time was in a bankrupt condition.
The salaries of the soldiers had long been -in arrears. The
differences of opinion between Nanjaraj and his brother Deviraj
only worsened the ‘position. Hyder managed to bring about a
reconciliation between Nanjaraj and his brother. He also
persuaded Nanjaraj to pay off all the salaries that were in arrears
to the soldiers. Hyder further distinguished_ himself by a
brilliant victory over the Marathas who invaded Bangalore. The
great reputation he had earned by his military exploits, his popu-
larity with the Mysore soldiers and above all his position as the
leader of a well organised and well equipped army had made him
de facto ruler of the major part of the Mysore territories, From
1751 onwards Hyder ventured on an aggressive scheme of con-
quests and annexation. He annexed Sira and its dependencies
and Hoskote and other forts which had been occupied by the
Marathas, The Poligars of Raidurg and the chief of Harpanhalli
surrendered without offering registance. The Chittaldurg Poligar
evaded Hyder's summons to surrender and therefores his country
was farcibly annexed. His outstanding achievement quring this
period was the conquest of Bednur. The Rani of Bednur is
said 10 have offered 18 lakhs of pagodas as ransom to Hyder.
But Hyder marched against the city which he found almost un-
defended. The Rani had-fied to Bellalraydurg and the soldiers
could offer little resistance. Hyder seized Basavarajdurg,
Honave, Mangalore and also Bellalraydurg. Hyder improved
the fortifications of Bednur which was renamed Hydernagar. It
is specially noteworthy that Hyder proclaimed himself as the
real master of these dominions, while in the other parts of the
kingdom, Hyder was carrying on the administration in the name
of the Mysore king. 1t was at Bednur that Hyder for the first
time asserted his right of striking coins in his own name: he
considered Bednur as his * Swarajyat *,

I N. K. Sinha—Hyder Ali P. 68, R i
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Practically the whole of Canara was conquered by Hyder,
He also made himsell strong on the sea by building a fleet!, the
expenses of which were met by the forcible loans he extracted
from the conquered people. The Portuguese were anxious to win
his friendship and assisted him.by allowing their soldiers and

officers to enter his service. L

The Dutch at this time had factories at Basrur. and Manga-
lore, but Hyder did not interfere with them. He tried to get the
help of the Dutch for securing some equipment. for his soldiers
and applied to Wayerman, the: Dutch Governor at Cochin, for

‘one thousand muskets. The Governor wrote to the Supreme
Government at Batavia recomending that it might be * worth-
while to'have him complimented on behalf of the Compiany and
to enter into negotiation with him ”. But the Supreme Govern-
ment at Batavia * understanding at once that he was not & man
with whom the Company could work, recommended that endea-
vours should be made to keep him in that disposition which he
professed towards the Company and that his demands for war
material should be refused in the most suitable manner'. It
was not in the Company’s interest to set up any further establish-
ment between Surat and Cochin.  They new that they could not
depénd on Hyder's friendship for long : therefore their main policy
was to observe neutrality.

Hyder had aggressive designs on Malabar from the very
beginning.  The complicated political situation in  Malabar
offered him a very good opportunity.

* North Malabar was at that time in a state of anarchy, a
sea of intrigues, conflicting interests and mutual jealousies, **
says N, K. Sinha®, * The Kolathiri’s sway was now confined to
to the town of Chirakkal. The Mohomedan chief Ali Raja was
master of Canannore. The Kadathanad chief ruled bétween the
Mahe and the Kotta rivers, There was an ofishoot of the
Kilattanad family north of the Kavvyi river, The Kottayam

1 Peisoto says that Hyder's fleet consisted of 50 vessels, 13 topsail vessels,
seveval manchooes of war, besides a great many skybars and small craft for
the transport of war materials and provisions for the passage of the army
across the rivers.  According to the Duich accounts the fleet had 2 ships,
7 smaller vessels and 40 gallivats, beaides more thad 50 other vessels laden
with provisions,

2 Hyder Alv, by N. K. Sinka, P. 252, 253
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Taluka was partly in possession of Truvalinad Nambiars and
partly of the Puranad or Kottayam Rajas .

The first opportunity for Hyder to interfere in the affairs of
Malabar was provided by the Raja of Palghat. The Zamorin of
Calicut was expanding his territories ab the éxpense of his weak
neighbours. He attacked the dominionsof the Palghat Raja in
1756 and carved out a country for him in the midst of Palghat
territories, to which he gave the pname Naduvattem.  Tha
Palghat Raja in great despair appealed to Hyder for help.
Hyder promptly sent his brother-in-law Mukhadam, Sahib
{Makhdum Ali Khan) with 2,000 horses, 5,000 infantry and 3 guns
to assist the Raja, The Mysore troops aided by the Palghat
Nairs drove the Zamorin's troops out of the Raja’s dominions.
The Zamorin's troops retreated and finding that they could not
resist the Mysoreans, the Zamorin sued for peace. The Zamorin
promised to restore his Palghat' conquests to the Raja and to
pay a war indemnity of r2 lakhs of Rupees to Mysore. The
Zamorin then opened negotiations with Devaraj to whom he
promised to remit the money in different instalmeats. Hyder
relinquished his claim in favour of Devaraj who sent a Rajput
corps under Hari Singh to collect the money. But before Hari
Singh could collect any money from the Zamorin he heard about
the death of Devraj and returned to Coimbatore. Hari Singh
was murdered at Coimbatore by a band of Hyder's soldiers sent
there under the leadership of Mukhadam Salib. Thus Hyder
established his claim on the 12 lakhs of Ruppees which the
Zamorin had promised to pay him. This was a coavenient pre-
text for Hyder to invade the territories of the Zamorin.

In 1764, Breekport was appointed Governor of Cochin. He
feceived a letter from Hyder Ali in which he expressed his hopes
that tie and tlie Dutch would conitinue as friends. Hyder propo-
sed that the Dutch should send a resident factor to Basrur to
establish trade relations and promised all help to the Company
ifi this respect. Breckport senit a polite reply saying that the
Dutch had no idea of extending their trade at that time, but
that they would gladly avail themselves of his friendly offer as
goon as they had resolved on doing so.

The Dutch authorities at Batavia had ordered the destruc-
tion of their fort at Cannanore. But as the fort was in a sound
condition and as it was advantageously situated for their trade,
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the work of demolition was not carried out. They had reduced |
their establishments at Canannore and some ammunitions and
. goods had been transferred to Cochin.  The Dutch were prepared .

to sell the {ort to Hyder Ali if he would offer a good sum for it
But it was to be on condition that a Dutch President should be
allowed to live there to carry on trade. The Dutch Government
at Batavia seems«to have given similar instructions for destroying
their fortresses at Chettwaye, Quilon and(Cranganore. Breek-
port’s predecessor, Wayerman, had refused to obey the order for
destroying the Dutch fort at Chettwaye as he believed that it was

“ a most impolitic order . Breekport also realised the folly in
destroying the forts; he therefore merely reduced the establish-
ment- there.

Hyder had made himself master of Mangalore and
other places, thé Ali Raja', the Mahomedan chiel of Cannanore
went.over to his court promising him his loyal help for his
Malabar expedition. The Mahomedans of North Malabar, com-
monly known as * maplas ' were having a virtual monopoly of the
commerce and industries of the coast. These rich merchants
used to lend money to the Malabar chieftains and princes at
exorbitant rates of interest, sometimes upon pawns and some-
times in advance upon the harvests of pepper, cardamoms and
rice. Ali Raja, the chief of the Moplas™of Malabar, was making
attempts to strengthen his position by acquiring political power.
When he heard about Hyder's proposed scheme of a Malabar
invasion, he led a * deputation ' to Hyder at Mangalore placing
himself undér the protection of Hyder. Hyder received the
Mopla * deputation ' with great courtesy and loaded them with

. magnificent presents, assuring them of his protection” and good-
will. Ali Raja had u powerful fleet at his command which he

t There is 3 local tradition that Ali Raja had chisined possession of .
Canannore by virtue of his marriage with daughter of the Nair chief of Canan-
nare. M.M.D L T., in his " History of Hyder Shab alia® Hyder All Kban
and of his son Tipoo Sultan’, gives the same story. '’ This Ali, son of one-of
the most rich and powerfal Mupelehs had the good fortune in his yooih to be -
beloved by the daughter of the Raja of Canannore; a Nair prince.  The [ather
int spite of the diversity of religion and the prejudice of his nation, which
forbids all allinnce with a different caste and muoch more with stoangers of
another religion, consented to the marringe of his daughter with Ali- and
dyiog, left him his principalities or the small kingdom of Cansanore ',

W11 * [
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placed at the disposal of Hyder. Peixotot says that the Ali Raja
convinced Hyder that he could subjugate Malabar with ease if
anly he started the expedition and that Hyder was’ greatly
encouraged by this welcome offer of help from one of the Malabar
chieftains, According to MM.D.L.T., (author of * History of
Hyder Shah and Tipoo Sultan”') Hyder appointed Ali Raja as
his High Admiral and Ali Raja’s brother Sheik Ali as the *inten.
dant * of the marine, of the ports and of the maritime commerce
of his ports. Hyder alsogave Ali Raja a considerable sum . of

money for purchasing or building new vessels.

Before undertaking his expedition to Malabar, Hyder had
made extensive preparations to strengthen his army. He kept a
corps of observation consisting of 3,000 cavalry, 4,000 infantry
and 10,000 peons at Baswapatna in order to watch the Marathas,
The army which Hyder took for his southern expedition consisted
of 40,000 soldiers among whom were 450 Europeans.

In 1764 Hyder sent his emissary Ananta Rao with a letter
to the English chief at Tellicherry to announce his intentions of
conquering Malabar, He expected the English not to oppose
him in his conquests of the Kolathri, the Zamorin Cochin and
' other Rajas of Malabar. The English at Tellicherry sent two
* representatives to Hyder Ali's camp “to point out to him what
powers were in alliance with the Company and should not be
molested . But in their treaty with Hyder they did not demand
from him any promise for not molesting the powers which wers
in alliance with them. The English had undertalfen to protect
the Kolathiri from all his enemies by a previous treaty. But in
the face of a formidable enemy like Hyder, the Kalathiri was
forsaken by the English and left to protect himself. In February
1766 the Mysore troops took possession of the temple at Kunni-
mangalam and laid siege to Matai, The Kolathiri's palace at

1 Peixoto ' The anthenticity of the record ig penerally relinble sincs
the events narraled find support from other sources for the history of Hyilar
and since also it is appareat that the anthor has written with & healthy fraok.
ness and in & langoage quite in accond with his Eurcpean nativiey, T
While chronicling the events he has in no way exaggerated and where he hias
given his opinion, he has been judicious, An account of Hyder from a peo ol
such an unhiassed person as the anthor of this Mes woold set ar naught the
writings of English critics and Indian enlogists who have made much of their
own and too lirtle of their enemies’ activities or achigvements -

Archeological Survey of Mysore Annual Report --1937. P. §4—53. |
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_ Chirakkal was seized by.the Ali Raja and his troops. He fled to
Tellicherry with the members of his family, but the English

refused-to give him refuge, The Kolathri escaped to Travancore
and his kingdom was entrusted to the Ali Raja of Canannore,

Hyder after overthrowing the Kolathiri arrived near the
Dutch fort at Canannore. He gave orders to put to death all Nairs
and Hindus who wore ‘kudumi’, but he issued special instructions
to spare the Company’s servants. The Dutch commandant at
Cannanore reported to Cochin that Hyder ‘* had been so civil to
their possessions and dependants that not a cogoanut had been
picked from one gfytheir trees, nor even a leaf abstracted'’, On
March 15th, Hyder visited the Dutch commandant, H. Kroonen-
berg, at Cannanore and invited him most courteously to his camp
at Chirakkal. The Dutch commandant was consigned to the
care of Ali Raza Khan who told him that Hyder preferred the
Dutch to all other European powers and would grant them special
favours. Ali Raza Khan informed him of Hyder's great anxiety
at the rapid expansion of the English in the different parts of
rIndia. The English were already masters of Bengal and the
greater part of the Coromandel Coast, and they were trying to
bring Malabar under their sway. [If things were to develop at
this rate, unless a change did’ take place within. two years
there was every possibility of the English becoming the masters of
the whole of India. Hyder Ali was determined to check the
progress of the English, but he wanted the able assistance of the
Dutch and othees in his attempt. 3

The object of this conversation was no doubt to eompel the
Dutch to seek his friendship. Hyder thought of securing the help
of the Dutch by emphasising the danger of an English invasion,
Hyder knew perfectly well that the assistance of the Dutch would
be extremely valuable to him for his conquest of Malabar. What
he expected from the Dutch was quly neutrality when he con-
quered-the Malabar states.

After conquering the kingdom of the Kolathri, Hyder marched
against the Zamorin. He sent envoys to the Zamorin to demand
the sum due to him by the treaty of 1756'. But the Zamorin
was nolina-pGSition to pay the amount as his treasury had

.1 The Zamorin had promised (o pay a war isdemaity of 12 lakhs of
Rupees to Hyder by the treaty of 1736,
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been completely exhausted by his disastrous wat with Travancore
and Cochin. He asked for time, but Hyder was not prepared to
grant any. In 1766 he ifivaded the Zamorin's territories with an
army of 12,000 picked troops.

Hyder encamped on the side of the river which separated
the Kolathiri's kingdom from the Zamorin’s. The Zamorin and
the Kolathri princes pitched their camps on the other side of the
river in order to prevent Hyder crossing it. But the Zamorin's
attempts were in vain. Hyder crossed the river and marched
straight through the Zamorin's troops slaughtering the Nairs in
large numbers. Hyder's task was made easy’ by the help he
received from the Muhammadans of Calicut. The Ali Raja appeared
before the Zamorin's capital at the head” of Tooo soldiers and
summoned him to surrender, but the Zamorin refused. He tried
to make peace with Hyder by a personal appeal. He offered all
his treasuries and properties but Hyder demanded a crore of gald
mohurs as the price of peace. Obviously the Zamorin could not
satisly this demand. Hyder arrived at Calicut and established
his camp at Palayam on the 20th April.- The Mysore troops laid
siege to the Zamorin's palace where he was taken prisoner. The
Zamorin sent the princesses and the Eralpad to Ponnani and put
an end to his own life by setting fire to the powder magazine in
the palace where he was imprisoned. The Eralpad who had
retired to Ponnani with the princesses became the Zamorin. He
ordered his Nairs to harrass Hyder as best as they could and to

-carry on a guerrilla war against him. Several skirmishes took

place, but Myder destroyed all the Nair rebels in Calleut with his
powerful army. * Hyder pursued a policy of iron repression in
Malabar. The Nairs were not allowed to bear arms; his soldiers
were ordered to kill all the Naits who violated his orders. Many
were taken slaves and transported to Mysore.  Meanwhile,
Hyder’s Mysore dominions were attacked by the Marathas and
the Nizam and he was obliged to return to his- capital imsnedi-
ately. Hyder restored the conquered dominions to the new
Zamorin who agreed to pay him an annual tribute,

The Dutch were watching with anxious.eyes the steady pro-
gress of Hyder. They were afraid, that Hyder wduld “extend. his
conquests to the south. _ Therefore, they resolved to compliment
him on his conquests by special commissioners and to understand



the extent of his intentions. The Dutch sent their commissioners
to Calicut where they were received politely by  Hyder Ali. The
chief object of this commission was to ifform him of the rights
and privileges they had enjoyed in the Zamorin's territaries. They
also informed him that the Rajas of Cochin and Travancore were
their allies and therefore these kings should be left unmolested,
- Hyder's replies were made in the form of seven propositions as
follows? :—

(1) He was prepared to make a perpetual alliannce with the

Company and to supply them with the products of his muntrg._

but he also should be accommodated whenever he stood in need
of anything.

{2) If the Dutch required nssistance he was mlhng to furnish -

them 30,000 land forces and his fleet, but he might expect the
* same from the Company.

(3) If he should advance further.south, the Company should
provide him with 1000 European soldiers, whose pay and expenses
he would defray.

(4) If he passed through the territory of Chettwaye he would

not molest the Vassals and subjects of the Company and would not

disturb the possessions of the king of Cochin, out of respect for the
Company.

(5) He was prepared to eede more territories to the Company.

(6) He would allow the Company the freedom to trade so
far as his tegritory stretched tu the north, or in course of time
might streetch. -

(7) The Dutch might restore their residency at Basrur and
build a new residency at Ponnani or at Calicut,

Commenting on the fourth proposition Moens observes that it
is striking that Hyder did not mention Travancore, but only
Cochin., This goes to prove that Hyder had his eye on Travan-
core and ils pepper. It is also significant to note that Hyder did
not promise to refrain from marching through the Company’s
territories. His only promise was that hé would do no harm  to
the inhabitants there. This was conclusive proof that his inten-
tions were not to respect the Company's territories.  What Hyder

l. Memoirs of Hnum
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wanted was, says Moens, a defensive and offensive alliance with
the Company, Hyder also wrote to. the Dutch Government at
Batavia about his proposals. The Cochin authorities replied with
the greatest politeness that they were unable to give an answer
to his ‘most important proposals' as they were beyond their
jurisdiction, but they would address the Batavian Government
about it and get their reply without delay. But Hyder could
not be put off with their elusive reply. He modified his promises
regarding the Raja of Cochin. He wanted it to be made condi-
tional as he #peoted the Cochin Raja to contribute towards the
expenses of his wars, He also offered to enter into a similar
agreement with Travancore and the Company was to prevail upon
these two Rajas to fulfil his demands. Hyder's demands were
four lakhs of Rupees and eight elephants from the Cochin Raja-
and fifteen lakhs of rupees and and thirty elephants from
Travancore Raja. He also added that if the Rajas were not
inclined to pay, he would * pay a visit"’ to these countries!

The Dutch Governor informed both the princes about Hyder's
proposals. The Travancore Raja replied that * he was unaware
that Hyder went to war to please him or in accordance with his
advice and was consequently unable to see the justice of his
contributing towards his expenses”’, Further, he was a tributary
to Muhammad Ali, Nawab of the Carpatic and therefore he conld
not afford to be a vassal to two powers at the same time. Still
he was prepared to send envoys with a present to Hyder Ali, but
Hyder Ali should re-instate the Kolathiri and the Zamorin in
their dominions. He said that the dispossessed Princes were
prepared to pay large amounts to Hyder Ali, “but he should then
leave Malabar and return to the north. The Raja also added
that the Dutch should send their envoys along with his to Hyder
to represent these matters before him. The Cochin Raja replied
that ** he left his affairs in the hands of the Company and
trusted that whatever conclusions were arrived at, the Kolathri
and the Zamorin should be restored to their dominions,"”

The Dutch Governdr was afraid to send these replies to
Hyder. They knew that nothing could come out of such negoti-
ations except that they would get themselves into a difficult
situation. Therefore they resolved not to send their envoys along
with the envoys of the Rajas. They wanted to leave things as
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they were and wait for instructions from Batavia. They informed
Cochin and Travancore about their attitude and they also dec-

lined to send envoys to Hyder. The Cochin Governor then wrote

B

to Hyder that he ¢ had communicated his terms to Batavia,
Travancore and Cochin and trusted all would be arranged in a
satisfactory manner ",

Meanwhile the Travancore Raja was taking defensive
measures to meet Hyder's invasion which he knew was unavoid-
able. He informed the Nawab of Carnatic and the English
Governor at Madras about the intentions of Hyder. De Lannoy
and the Dalawa were ordered to fortify and strengthen the
northern barriers. The Travancore lines were extended to the
neighbourhood of the Cranganore fort. The Dutch fearing that
the extension of these lines would offend Hyder Ali, sent® notice
to the Travancore Raja that he must stop his work. They also
informed him that no armed Nairs belonging to his fort could be
permitted within the territories of the Dutch. The Dutch were
anxious not to offend Hyder Ali in any respect. They had
already rebuked the Cranganore Raja for giving refuge to the
Zamorin and his family. The Dutch Governor told the Cranga-
nore Raja that ** according to a lawful contract between him and
the Hon'ble Campany, all the land from Chettwaye to Cranganore
waus under the overseership of the Company and also that His
Highness and ]'ll.b whole country were under the protection of the
Company ; that therefore his request to send away the Zamorin
was not unréhsonable, and that hercafter His Highness must
abide implicitly by the good advice given him by the Company! ™.
The Raja of Cranganore immediately obeyed and desired that the
Zamorin should leave his country., These acts of the Dutch
authorities show how much they stood in mortal fear of Hyder,
They were afraid to inform Hyder of the unpleasant repliés the
Rajas of Travancore and Cochin had §iven them. They were
not prepared to allow the Travancore Raja to extend his fortific-
ations to Cranganore. Now they were not prepared even toallow
«the exiled Zamorin to live in the territories of one of their depen-
dants. This policy they called *strict neutrality . But it was
i ncuimlil}' which was imposed-upon them by their hc]plﬂisnm,

1 tuhuni repl:m 1 the '.'.-nutmr nl Lochm guoted by Day.
-
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Tn October 1766 there was a strong rumour that Hyder was.
going to attack Travancore and Cochin 7 but Hyder heard news
of an attack of his country by the Marathas and the Nizam and
therefore he hastened to Mysore. Hyder managed to avert a
crisis by winning over the Nizam to his side. In February 1767
Hyder's fleet, consisting of 28 vessels sppeared in Cochin. Two
envoys from the fleet came on shore and informed the Dutch
authorities that their fleet had come in ‘search of the Marathas
and to protect the Malabar coast. But they left for the north
the next day itself, i

Hyder was now engaged in a serious war with the English in
the north (First Mysore War, 1768—176g). Hyder and the Nizam
were defeated by the English at the battles of Changama and "
Tiruvannamalai. These reverses compelled the Nizam to aban-
don his alliance with' Hyder and join sides with the English.
The English captured Mangalore and other places on the west
coast. But Hyder soon re-established his position there. He
now took the offensive and invaded the Carnatic and marched
against Madras. A peace-was concluded at Madras between
Hyder and the English in 1769. One of the clauses of this treaty
was that Travancore should not be attacked by Hyder as it was
under the protection of the Nawab of Carnatic. ~ The Travancore
Raja was no doubt greatly relieved to hear this good news from

‘the English at Madras. *But he knew that HYder's promises

would be easily broken, and therefore did not desist from his
preparations for defence. The Travancore Raja deputed an

officer to the Mysore court to watch the further movements of

Hyder AL!

The Travancore ‘Raia had sent his Dalawa to Cochin to
have an interview witlf the Commander as soon as he heard
about Hyder's plans:to invade Travancore. The Raja wanted
to ascertain how far the Dutch would help him in his attempts to
check the progress of Hyder. The {ollowing terms were agreed
upon as a result of the interyiew?® :— '

L 3

1 History of Travancore by saniunﬁr hk-l_:‘rr;
2 A free translation from the Malayalam document
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Facts represented by the
Dalawa before the Commander.

1. Some evil minded par-
ties may try to bring about a
rupture in the friendly rela-
tions between the Company
and Travancore by telling all
sorts of falsehoods to the
Commander. The Maharaja
requests that the Commander
should not believe any of these,

2. It is rumoured that
Hyder Ali proposes to lead
his invasions on four sides
through Manappuram, through
Trichur, through the hill sides
in the south and through the
sea. The Maharaja wishes to
strengthen his position after
consulting the Commander,

3. The Maharaja requests
the Commahder to send some
rifies, guns and ammunition.

4. The Maharaja would
like to receive some money for
- his pepper.

The Commander's reply
to the IDafqmu.

1. The Commander will
not take into account any of
these falsehoods spread by
interested parties. The Com-
pany will always be friendly
towards the Rajas of Malabar
as they are to the Company.

2. The Commander has
also heard about Hyder's
intentions to proceed to the
south. But he does not know
anything as to the troth of it.
He will try to prevent Hyder's
invasion by way of Manap-
puram and. the sea. He was
at that time expecting orders
from the authorities from
Batavia. Meanwhile, he will
try to effect an understanding

between Hyder and the
Malabar princes.
3. The Commander will

send a few which he has
received from Batavia.
4. Rs, 25,000 will be given

it the agreed quota of pepper
is submitted.

By this interview .between the Dalawa and the Commander
nothing definite was settled. But there wasa mutual under-
standing that they will not betray each other in case of a
Mysorean invasion, When Hyder's fleet sailed off to the north
after visiting Cochin, the Dutch Commander informed the Rajas
of Cochin and Travancore that he had persuaded them to leave
the fort. The Rajas of Cochin and Travancore sent their
ministers to the Dutch Commander to discuss about their future
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plan of action.  The following is the text of the discussions that
took place in the econference between the Eommandur and the
two ministers! ;.—

““The Dalawa. said that the Maharaja was very pleased with
the Commander for persuading Hyder's fieet to leave Cochin.
The Commander replied that the Company would do nothing on
its part which might hinder its good relations with Travancore,
But Travancore has not paid to the Company the 3,000 candies
of pepper which had been promused in the treaty. The Company
has received only 2,300 candies from Travancore. The Dalawa
replied that it was because of the unexpected failure of crops.
The Maharaja was too willing to give all the pepper in his

- territory to -the Company. He wanted to enter into a new

agreement with the Company concerming pepper transactions.
The Commander replied that he. could not do this without the
perm:ssmn of the authorities at Batawvia. He would be pleased
to see the terms of the existing treaty being fuolfilled, Then the
Dalawa told the Commander about Hyder's activities. The
Nawab's troops had settled in Malabar for a long time, They
have dishonoured the Brahmin priests and the Malabar princes
who have now sought refuge in the Maharaja’s territories.  Their
maintenauce has cost the Maharaja very heavy-expenditure. The
Malabar chieftains were of. opinion that it was the best
opportunity for re-instating the Kolathri and the Zamorin in
their lost dominions. The Dalawa wanted to know what attitude
the Company would take in such a move as this, THe Commander
replied that he was not permitted to get involved it the wars of °
the Malabar princes. His mstructions were to settle the affairs
relating. to. Travancore and Cochin only. Therefore it was not
possible for him to interfere in the affairs of the northern States.

“The prospects of a war are always. uneertain. Any way Travan-
‘core is bearing heavy oxpenses for these northern princes for

which act of kindness, they are always indebted to Travancore.
Then the Dalawa asked the Commander what attitude the
Company would take if Travancore and Cochin were to be
attacked by Hydw The Commander said that the Company
would see that the Nawab takes no such aggressive steps. The

1 A Translation from the ]'-[ulnn.l;.m tlucnmcn; H'I_'h:u docament is
publiabad in Malayalam'in K'P. P Hr_nuus"(.mhp Raja Charitram " Vol. LI
PP 365—370.
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- Commander be!:ews that the Nawab would pay heed to the

orilers of the Company as has already been proved by the with-
drawil of the fleet from Cochin. . The Dalawa asked him what he
would do if the Nawab refused to comply with his request. The
Commander replied thnt he was sure that the Nawab would not
attack any one upless he was attacked first. If the Nawab
proves to be imprudent he will, of course, suffer the consequences-

The Dalawa sought the advice of the Commandér about the

the question of re-instating the Kolathiri in his dominions,} Th,
Commander replied that the Maharaja should decide such ques.
tions using his own discretion. But he was afraid that it may
precipitate a conflict with the Nawab. The Dalawa asked the
- Commander whether it would not be possible for him to persuade

the Nawabto restore the conquered dominions to the Kolathri

and thé Zamorin. But the Commander replied that nothing®

could be done at present ‘as the Nawab was away in the north
Any way, he promised to correspond with the Nawab on this
question, but he was afraid it might take some time. The
Commander would inform the Maharaja about the results of his
attempts some time later. The Dalawa then asked whether the
Company wonld extend its support to the Maharaja if he were to
~ start the war on behalf of the Kolathri and the Zamorin. The
Commander advised that the Maharaja should not take'such a
step. If *he does so, he will have to suffer its consequences by
hjmsel!' The Emnpan} would never come to the help of the

Th15 dosument shows the regl attilude of the Dutch with
regard to the Mysorean invasion. The maximum help that the
Dutch could promise was to try peaceful methods of persuading
Hyder Ali to drop toe idea of extending his invasions to the
South.

The mlatmns*betwccn the Dutch and the Rajn of Cochin

were not very friendly during the period, There was a dispute .

between the Company and the Raja over the ownership of a strip
of territory known as ‘ Pathinettarayalam ', The trouble over
this territory had started as early as ryig when it was appro.
priated by the Datch. The Dutch were in possession of this
territory till 1740 during which period the Raja had been
persistently complaining to the Batavian Government about the
great injustice done to him. In 1740 when Van Gollennesse was
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the Governor of Cochin, this territory was ceded back to the Raja.
But in 1757 it was captured by the Zamorin who later transferred
it to the Dutch Company. After the Zamorin had been driven
out of the Cochin territory, the Raja pressed his claim over
Pathinettarayalam and demanded that it should be restored to
him. When the Cochin anthorities wrote to Batavia about the
claims of the Raja, they instructed the Governor to try his best
to persuade the Raja to give up his claims. TIn their secret
despatch dated 17th September 1763, the Governor was asked to
refute the claim of the Raja, If the Raja was found to be
persistent in his claims the” Datch Governor was to offer some
other territory as a compensation. But thg Raja seemed to be
adamant in his claims and he could not be persuaded to give them
ap. Finally in February 1769 the Dutch ceded the territory to
the Raja,

The Tripoonithurai Granthavari relates an instance when a
war was averted between the Dutch and Travancore by. the
mediation of Cochin. In ryyo (Vrischigom 7, g45 M. E.) some
Dutch soldiers attacked the Travancore Fort at Kuriapilly without
any provocation from Travancore and the latter made preparations
for a war. But the Cochin -Raja interfered in the affair and
brought about a reconciliation between the two by arranging
a conference of representatives from both sides. ;

The unfriendly relations between the Raja and the Dutch
became worse over a dispute on their respective jurisdictions in
Cochin. In 1770 the Dutch claimed jurisdiction over Ammvaﬂiy,
Mattancherry and Chellaye., All the Konkanies in Cochin were
" claimed to be under the special protection of the Company. The
Dutch Governor proclaimed that the Raja had no right to collect
taxes from the aforesaid territories and therefore the inhabitants
should not make any remittances to the Raja’a officers?,

The Cochin Raja complained before the Rajj of Travancore
about the hostile attitude of the Dutch. The Travancore Raja
_wrote to the Dutch Governor that he should not do any injustice
to Cochin. He also offered to be the mediator between Cochin
and the Dutch to bring about a reconciliation  The Travancore
Raja sent one thousand . five hundred soldiers for the protection
of the Cochin Raja. The Raja of* Cochin built a new fort at
Anchikaima) to which place he later retired.

1. Prass List of Ancieat Duotch Records. No. 852
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The Dutch created further troubles for Cochin when they
posted Kalika Prabhu, a bitter enemy of the Cochin Raja as
their trade agent in two important settiements in the Cochin
territory. The Cochin chiefs could not suffer these outrages.
Paliath Achen attacked the settlements of the Prabhu, killed him
and captured his followers as prisoners. The Dutch Governor
was thoroughly infuriated at this action and demanded an expla-
nation from the Raja. The Governor demanded that the Raja
should apologise for his past conduct and give an undertaking to
be loyal to the Company in future, He was to destroy the newly
constructed fort at Anchikaimal and to send back the soldiers
that he had taken from Travancore. All prisoners taken by
Paliath Achen were to be immediately restored; and the Raja
was to bear all the expences. The Raja was prepared to abide
by all these injunctions, and he promised to settle the mafter
with the Governor. But the Governor was determined to wreak
vengeance on the Paliam chief. Paliath Achen was proclaimed
to be a rebel and his properties were seized by the Company.

The Raja tried his best to pacify the Dutch authorities in
Cochin. He was fully prepared to comply with all their demands.
But the Governor took up a very hostile attitude towards the
Raja. The Raja wrote to the Governor General at Batavia
relating all his grievances, (Letter dated Thulam 946 MLE.) The
Travancore Raja also wrote to Batavia complaining about the
outrages of the Dutch authorities in Cochin. He informed them
about the [Dateh raid of his. fortress at Kuriapilly and also
championed the rights of the Cochin Raja in Mattancherry,
Chellaye and other places. He pointed out that all these would
affect the papper trade between the Rajas and the Company and

would be ruinous to the interests of both. He requested the,

Governor General to send two representatives to Malabar to settle
these disputes, The Batavian Government recalled the Governor
of Cochin and appointsd Adrian Moens in his place. Befare
Moens took charge as Governor he received two latters from the
Cochin and the Travancore Rajas explaining the causes of the

trouble once again. The Cochin Raja informed him of the

troubles he had taken in bringing about a reconcilintion between
. Travancore and the Dutch in coanection with the K apilly raid.
He complained fhat in spite of all his efforts to maintain friendly
relations with the Company, the Dutch authorities in Cochin had
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been giving him ceaseless tronble by seiring his territories and
appropriating all the costoms and duties due to him.  He sarnest-
Iy hoped that the new Governor would see the justice of his
cause and redress all his grievances, The Travancore Raja also
complained about the hostile activities of the Dutch towards his
State and Cochin. He too expressed his hope that the new
Governor would restare the friendly relations bcth&u the Com-
pany and the two Swarcopams.

The Governor General of Batavia in his reply to the Travan-
core Raja (dated 1st October 1771) expressed his great desire to
mgaintain amicable relations with Travancore. He said that he
had instructed the new Governor of Cochin to settle all matters of
dispute, But he could not entirely approve of the claims of the
Cochin Raja as they were against the previous agreements entered
into with Cochin. In his reply dated 1st October 1771 to the
Cochin Raja, the Governor General reminded him of the previous
agreements by which the Raja had relinquished his claims over

. the Konkanies and other foreign merchants in his territories:

Still he expressed his hope that everything would be settled ina
friendly way with the arrival of the new Governor whom he was
sending to Cochin.

Moens, the new Governor as soon as he arfived in Cochin,
enquired into the points of dispute between the Company and the
Raja. He was of opinion that the Raja's claims over Mattans
cherry, Chellayee and other places could not be fustified on the
ground of previous agreem®nts. He also insisted that the Raja
conld exercise no jurisdiction over the Konkanies and other mer-
chants as his claims were definitely against all the former onder-
takings he had entered into with the Dutch. Moens pointed out?
that the Raja was then in possession of more territories than
those stipulated in the treaty of 1663 which his great ancestor
had signed with the Dutch immediately after the expulsion of the
Portuguese from Cochin. According to clause (r3) of that treaty,
the Raja had promised not to appropriate any of the waste lands
surrrounding the Cochin fort without the permission of the

" Company. But now all these waste lands had been seized by the

Raja and his terrritories had extended as near as a stone-throw
from the fort. The Company should at least have a gun range of

1 Letter dated 10th Februsry 1771 «
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wasfe lands round abont the fort, The Governor asked the Raja
on what anthority he had planted cocoanut trees in these waste
lands. * Could the Raja produce iny documents authorising him
todoso? Everything would go to prove that the Rajn’s actions
were illegal.” Moens, refuting the Raja’s cluims on Mattancherry,.
said that the whole trouble arose out of the Raja’s excessive
demands of customs and duties from the merchants at Mattan-
cherry. He asserted that the Company’s territories extended as
far as Chellaye and that he ‘won't yield even a single plot of land
to the Raja. All those who were resident in these
territorics must necessarily be under the protection of the
Company. The Konkanies had been imported into Cochin by the
Portuguese from Goa and they had always remained under the
protection of the Portuguese, By the treaty of 1663 it had been
specially laid down that the Toapasses and Konkanies should be
_under the jurisdiction ol the Dutch. The Dutch had always
asserted this right and the Konkafiies themselves were not pre-
pared to accept the domination of any power except that of the
Company. Therelore, the Raja’s claims - were thoroughly
unjustifiable.

After a series of correspondence like this between the Raja
and the Compauy a final settiement was arrived at w1772 The
* Duteh Governor made the following declaration on behalf of the
Company :—** Fgom this day forward, as lopg as the Government
of Cochin exists, [ do cede and transfer unto you and your descen-
dants the right of collecting the income from Mattancherry and
Chellaye, to collect the farms and customs of Amaravathi and to
conduct the affairs of Mattancherry, Chellaye and of the Konka-
nies and their temple " . . . . .« .  But the Raja shall impose
no new demands upon the Konkanies ; they shall have full liberty
to complain to the Dutch Governor if aggrieved ; the Raja shall
not interfere in any maters of the temple without the knowledge
and consent of the Company'”. The Dntch no doubt ceded
these rights wery grudgingly. As Day observes :—* Giving up

these righits must have been a great trial ‘to the Dutch as they

had guarded them most jealously ever since 1663 .
Y Dutch Government Records, Mss. Quoted by Day.
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CHAPTER VIII ‘
THE MYSOREAN INVASION—(Confinusd)

AF’I‘ER the first Mysore War, Hyder was engnged in a war with

the Marathas. The Zamorin thinking that Hyder would
- not get clear off his enemies had not cared to pay the annual
tribute which he had promised in the treaty of 1668. But
Hyder made peace with his enemies in Mysore and turned his
attention towards the south again. He sent his general Sreenivasa
Rao to Palghat in order to march into the Zamorin's territories.
The Zamorin appealed to the French at Mahe to help him and he
concluded a treaty with Governor Duprat on the t2th January
_ 1774., 'submitting himself, his country and sabjects to the King
of France’, The French undertoock to protect him from his
enemies and Duprat took possession of the Zamorin's territories
and hoisted the French flag in the Calicut Fort, Duprat informed
Hyder Ali's general that the Zamorin had been taken under the
protection of the King of France and therefore he should not be
attacked. But Hyder's troops could not be persuaded to desist
from their object and they marched against Calicut. When they
entered Calicut, Duprat left the fort and hurriedly returned to
Mahe. Deserted by the French, the Zamorin also left Calicut.
He attempted to take refuge with the Cranganore Raja, but the
Dutch were afraid to give lum protection. Therefore he retired
with his family to Travancore in a native boat by sea.’

Hyder demanded from the Cochif Raja two lakhs of rupees
~and a few elephants. The Raja of Cochin consulted the
Travancore Raja who advised him it was better to satisfy Hyder's.
demands, The Travancore Raja himself lent the money to
Cochin so that Hyder might be persuaded to drop his ideas of a
southern conquest, The Tiruppunithurai Granthavari says that
when Hyder pressed his demands on Cochin the Raja requested
‘the Company to send its captains to Hyder to tell him that he
should be lenient to Cochin.  But the Dutch were not prepared
to undertake any such reponsibilities on behalf of Cochin and
therefore the Raja had no other alternative but to satisfy Hyder’s
demands.



; by
-

Hyder now demanded two lakhs of rupees and two elephants

the Cranganore Raja. The Dutch Governor tried his best

to save the Cranganore Raja as the latter was under the

Company’s protection. But the Nawab's general sent his troops

to Cringanore to compel the Raja to make the payment. The
Raja agreed to pay 50,000 rupees to Hyder in two instalments.

The Dutch were trying their best not to displease Hyder Ali,
But the latter was making use of these opportiumities to press his
demands further and further, In order to pick up a quarrel with
the Company, Hyder complained that the Dutch had allowed the
Zamorin to traverse their territories and that the Zamorin had
concealed his treasures with the inhabitants in different places in
the Dutch possessions, The Dutch Governor asked him to pnmt
them out to him and assured him that he would make a search in
these places in the presence of the Nawab's representative. The
Governor used all his wits to maintain friendly relations with
Hyder, but the latter was very cold in his attitude towards the
Dutch, The Governor thought that Hydér's unfriendly attltude
was due to the fact that he had not received any presentsin
return for those he had sent to Batavia in 1766. The Governor
feared that Hyder might have taken it as an insult and wanted
to rectify the mistake. The return presents had actually arrived
from Batavia, but r.hE} could not be sent to Hyder as he was at
that time engaged in war with the Marathas. On the 23rd
February 1775, the Governor sent two envoys with presents to
Hyder who reteived them with great courtesy. The ENVoys
returned with'letters and presents from Hyder which were sent to
Bataviza by the ship ‘Princess of Orange.’ Meanwhile, the
Governor was trying to keep Hyder Ali in good humour and
induce him to make a treaty of friendship with the Company. -
The ' #Princess of Orange’ had an unusually long voyage because
of adverse monsoons, therefore there was considerable delay in
getting the reply from Batavia to Hyder's letters. The Dutch
Governor explained the cause for the delay to Hyder : but Hyder
was not in a friendly mood to receive these explanations. Hyder
seemed to have been under the impression that Moens, the Dutch
Governor, had actually received instructions from' Batavia to
make: an offensive and defensive” glliance with Hyder, but that
he was deliberately kegping them away from Hyder as he did not
like these proposals.

-9 : "
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/" Hyder now demanded from the kings of Cochin and Cranga-
more a new instalment of subsidies. But the Dutch Governur
‘suoceeded in persuading Hyder to refrain from further requisitions
of money. Hyder yielded to this s he was engaged iff a war with
the: Marathas at that time, Bt sooh he revived  his demands on
Cochin and Cranganore. Bochin was. asked to pay 8 lakhs of
rupees and Cranganore one lakh. In order toenforce his demands
he sent his general Sardar Khan to seize some of the territories of
the Cochin Raja. The Raja sent his envoys to Hyder at Seringa-
patam. They tried their best to escape from the obligatioh of the
payment of this amount. But Hyder was very stubborn in his
demands. Finally & compromise was arrived at by which Cochin
promised to give four lakhs of rupees and four elephants immedi-
“43{. and in future an annual tribute of one lakh and twenty
thousand rupees, The Cranganore Raja had to pay one lakh
and twenty' thousand Rupees immediately and in future an
ampual tribute of twenty thousand rupees. The Butch would
hatye very much liked  to saye Cranganore from this obligation

ranganore had been a vassal of the Dutch ever sipce 1717 ami
the Dutch koew that its acknowledgment ‘of Hyder's suzerninty
pl‘guld, wyolve the loss of their own. But, as Moens frankly
admits, he cqulglfl not prevent this and therefore he had *to shut
}?}!,.Wﬂt“ itl,, : _
IS Tw October 1775, the Dutch tried to placate Hyder by sap-
‘Plymeim with eléphants and fire arms. The Dhitch factor at

Taticut worte a coaxing letter to Hyder in which™ he apologised
~ #or the fire-arms being of an inferior quality. - ‘He® promised to :
send ubetter wéapons as sdon us he could get them from Europé.
The elephants, he said, were the best procurable, and * hoped that
they would answer the purpose for which they were intendad *',
‘He cothplained about the extortions of Hyder's agents at Calicut.
But, 'he tried to please Hyder by writing to him that he had sent
carpenters and iron smiths to assist in the construction of the
Mysore flects Hi wishied Hyder health, long life and success in
his undertakings. .

In 1766 Hyder demanded a safe passage through the terri-
tories of the Dutch Company for. attacking Travancore. Moens
evadéd a reply as he had no definite instructions from Batavia,
But Hyder was highly incensed by the conduct of the Dutch and
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threatened a forcible march through the Datch territories. Sirdar
Khan was ordered to proceed against ‘Travancdre with 0,000
soldiers. .
Hyder ngw. demanded from the Dutch a full account, concern-
ing the administration of Chettwaye. He pressed his claims on
Chettwaye as it formed a part of the Zamorin's dominions, whose
suzerainty he had assumed. The Dutch sent a regular account
to the Nawab, but he was bent upon taking possession of these
territorics, On October g, Sirdar Khan crossed the Chettwaye
river near Pulicarra and seized the customs house arresting a
writer of the Company. The general demanded twenty 'years'
revenues from the Dutch officials at Chettwaye. The Datch
protested in vain against the activities of Hyder's general.  The
Mysore forces were divided into two bodies, one of which pro-
ceeded South towards Paponetty while the other took possession
of Chettwaye. Paponetty was burnt, pillaged and plundered ;
and the Dutch retreated to Cranganore.  Sirdar Khan took up
his quarters in the residency at Paponetty from'where he sent a
letter to the Dutch'Governor explaining the causes that had led
to the hostilities, He stated that his thaster had been insulted
by Moens' silence in replying to hisletters and that he had regeived
orders to inviide the Company's territories. At ‘the same tifiie
his master desired to live in friendship with the Company. Any
way he insisted on getting a free passuge through fhe Company’s
territories towards Travancore. The prospects of friendship, he
said, would depend on the Company's attitude with regard to
this demand. . Moens replied that he was glad to ufiderstand that
Hyder wished his friendship ; but he conld not but observe that
Hyder’s conduct had been very strange. He trusted that Hyder
would put astop to all hostilities and respeet the Company's
territories. He also offered his mediation ‘between Hyder and
Travancore, . But before this letter reached Hyder;) Sirdar Khan
led his troops against Cranganore in order to take it by surprise.
But his attempis proved a failure. Sirdar Khan now ‘wrote
another letter to Moens stating that he had taken possession of
Chettwaye and demanding twenty years’ revenue from the lands
which he had seized : ** he actually demanded o tribute from/the
-~ Company”, . h 4 ."
The Dutch Governor found bimself 'ifi a very difficult’ posi-
- tion, ' He did not have sufficient troops td resist the ' thvasion of
Le ]



et
L]

100

" L]

Hyder. Therefore, he thought it wise to get the assistance of
Cochin and Travancore and proposed tothese Rajas a plan of
joint action against Hyder. The Travancore Raja replied that
he had entered into an alliance with the Nawab of Arcot and the
English East India Company by. which he was to.act only on the
defensive. He had been promised help by his allies only if the
Mysore troops took the initiative of attacking his territories. His
allies had definitely stated that they would send no help if he
were to be the aggressor, Therefore he regretted his inability
to join sides with the Dutch.

, However, busy preparations were made by the Dutch
and Travancore te meet the invasion. The Dutch received
re-inforcements from Ceylon and fortified Ayacottah near the
northern boundary of the island of Vypeen. It was rumoured
that Hyder would first launch his attack on Ayacottah. The
Travancore Raja sent some soldiers to Ayacottah, but they were
strictly following a defensive policy., Hyder attacked the Chett-
_ waye fort, and the Dutch resident informed Moens that hie could
not hold the fort without immediate help from outside. Moens
decided to send an expedition by sea for the relief of Chettwaye.
But Hyder's troops prevented the Dutch from landing. The
Dutch were compelled to surrender the fort on the 13th November *
and the garrison withdrew to Cranganore. Hyder had promised
to allow the Dutch to withdraw salely to Crapganore, but con-
trary to his pledge Hyder’s general took the whole gdrrison as
prisoners. .

The fall of Chettwaye was a great below to the .Dutch. The
Zamorin decided to keep his forces at Cranganore and to launch
a joint action with the help of Travancore and Cochin for recover-
ing Chettwaye. Moens wrote to the ministers of Travancore and
Cochin about his plans and asked them whether they were
pared to join in the operations. The ministers replied that they
had no orders to take any offensive. . They added that any such
-step should be taken after mature consideration as their failure
would mean the subjugation of the whole of Malabar by Hyder.
Moens believed that their offers and boasted readiness were
nothing but big talk and decided to march against Hydes
without waiting for their help. At that timeé the Travancorg
Raja informed Moens that he intended to pay a visit to discuss
with him the steps to be taken and therefore he should delay his -
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attack for same more time. But later, the Raja fnformed Moens
that he could not pay the promised visit as he was engaged in
some domestic affairs. However, it_was the Raja’s wish that the
" Dutch should not launch an offensive as he feared that the defea
of the Dutch would soon lead to his own. » -

Meanwhile the reply to Hyier's letters arrived from Batavia
(January g, 1777). It was forwarded to Hyder with some
customary presents and also an apologetic letter from Moens. On
the, 25th  February Hyder's commandant and resident of the
Chettwaye fort came to Moens. They told Moens that some of the
Dutch soldiers who were taken prisoners had joined the services
of Hyder and others had been set at liberty. ‘They informed him -
that Hyder was still anxions to enter into a treaty of friendship
with- the Company. Hyder's letter to Moens disowned Sirdar
Khan's proceedings and stated that his instructions were only to
enquire into the ddministration of some of the Zamorin's terri-
tories in Chettwaye. He said he had no * unfriendly feelings
towards the Dutch and trusted all matters of dispite wonld be
rapidly and amicably settled.”

Moens clearly understood that his troubles with Hyder
would finally lead to the strengthening of the English Company's
power in India. The English were no doubt interested in
preventing Hyder Ali becoming too powerful, But they were
* laughing in, their sleeves” wheén they found the disorders in
Milabar and * trying to fish in troubled ‘waters.”" They were
prepared to allow Hyder to capture Cochin and other forts from
the Putch as they were sure they could capture them from
Hyder's hands before long.! Moens anticipated all these events.
Left to himself, Moens would have joined with Hyder Al
in his attempt to subjugate Travancore. Day obsedyes :
* Had this ambitious capable Dutch Governor of Cochin been it
this period possessed of sufficient troops at his own disposal,
untramelled by Batavian orders, there can be little doubt,
he would have joined the Mysoreans. Had he done so, Trayan-
core must have fallen and the Cochin State would bave become
a desert, Then who could have foretold what course evenis on
the western coast would haye ‘taken ?

} Sxarovins * VoyBEea 10 East Tndies, PL235—36. | - 00
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Moens got a convenient opportunity for Iaunching his attack
on Chettwaye. The Zamorin’s Nairs in Calicut were carrying
on a desultory warfare against Hyder's troops. The Nairs were
joined by Hydros Kutty, a Mohomedan chieftain of Chavakkad,
who had /heen appointed by Hyder as his Governor there. Hyder
had demanded from him an exorbitant sum as annual tribute -
and unable to satisfy the excessive demands of Hyder, he joined
sides with the rebellious Nairs. Hyder's troops were engaged in
putting down the Tebellion in Calicut and everything kppeared
favourable to the Dutch to attempt a recovery of the Chettwitye
fort. A Pih

The expedition was launched on the 8th of Jamuiry 1778.
The Dutch stormed the Cranganore Raja's palace which had a
garrison of 400 men. They pursued the enemy to Papooetty and
from there to Valappattam. They reachied Chettwaye on the r1th
evening The fort was heavily bombarded, but the Nawab's
forces held out valiantly, The siege lasted fﬂr‘ seven davs, but
finding their attempts useless, the Dutch retreated to Cranganore.
But Hyder attacked the palace of the Cranganore Rija which the
Dutch had seized and compeHed them to retire to the Cranganore
fort,

The minister of the Travancore Raja paid a visit to Moens
who urged upon him the necessity of defending Cranganore,
Moens “ pointed out to him that.on the preservation. of Cranga-
nore and Ayacottah depended his master's safety or ruin; that
his master should meet part ot the expenditure *for otherwise
they could not maintain a large force; that withdut this his
master would be exposed to the greatest danger of losing évery:
thing . But Moens says that his arguments were addressed 1o

deaf ears,

Hyder’s attentions were now turned to Mysore where he had
to wage a war with the English and the Nawab of Arcot, The
Travancore Raja had informed the English and the Arcot Nawab
about the aggressive policy of Hyder in Malabar. Moens ‘made
another attempt to win the friendship of Hyder. He was pre-
pared to sign an offensive and defensive alliance with Hyder ;. but
the latter refused to listen to any of Moens' overtifres. On his
way north, Hyder plundered the Dutch store-house at Porto Novo
and made the Dutch Resident there a prisoner.

-
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“In 1781 Van Angelbeck became the Governor of Cochirl.
The Cochin Raja had allowed the Travancore Raja to strengthen
the fortress at Palliport as a measure of common defence.  Van
Angelbeck could not approve of the extension ot Travancore
influence in_Cochin territories and wrote bitterly about this to
the Cochin Raja.! He asked the Raja to put a stop to all
measures of fortifications which he feared would lead to disastrous
consequences. But the Cochin Raja was not pl.'e[mrerl to abide
by the instructions’'of the Dutch.

In the Second Mysore War between H}'det and the English
the Travapcore Raja assisted the latter by sending a large armye
Hyder Ali died in the course of the war (December 1732) and he
was succeeded by his son Tippu. Tippu a worthy son of his,
warlike father, continued.the war. The English sent a strong
army under Colonel Fullerton to Malabar.  He was to be assisted
by the Malabar Nairs and the troops of the Travancore Raja,
The commandant of the English army at Calicut, -Major
Abihgtondnformed the Travancere Rija that “the only safe way
was to exort every means to' shut the door against the enemy
and it could not We éffected while the passes of Canom were left
" open and Palghatcherry remined in their possession,” The Raja
accordingly sent a strong force to fight side by side with the
English. who managed to seize the fortress at Palghat. At this
time ‘the Zamorin of Calicut, who was spending his time as an
exile, placed’himself under the protection of the English and
invoked their help for recovering his lost possessions. The
Zamorin was placed in charge of Palghat, but he was so dread-
fully afraid of Tippu's soldiers, that as soon as he heard about
their advance, left the fort and escaped. The British seized Tippu's
fortress «at Cunannore engaging the Mysore soldiers in many
pltched battles. The war came to a close by the treaty of Manga-
lore? which recognised Tippu's suzerainty, over the territories of
Northern Malabar. The Raja of Travancore was specally
mentioned as an ally of the Engl.i;h and guaranteed protection.

1 Letters dated Now, 10, 1782 and Nowv. 14, Im
2 Treaty of Mangalore, March 14, 1754,
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Tippu's administration of the Malabar provinces was severe
in its extremity.' The ancient system of Government was
completely set aside and was substituted by unrestrained auto-

v 4

cracy. Tippu's fanatic attemptssto convert the people of Malabar

to Islam made matters worse, Tippu wanted to’* improve the-

morals"' of the Malayalees who he believed, * were more shame-
less in their immorality than the beasts of the field". Tippu
wanted * to honour them with Islam " and started a regular policy
of forcible conversion. - His religious persecutions led to alarge-
scale rebellion in Malabar. The movement was led by Ravi
Varman of the Zamorin's house. Supported by the rebellious
Nairs, Ravi Varman made himself master of some territories and
attempted to'seize Calicut. Tippu immediately sent Lally and
Mir Asir Ali Khan to suppress the revolt. The Zamorin was
driven out of Calieut. 'Large numbers of Hindus left Malabar and
sought refuge in Travancore. The Travancore Raja afforded
them protection and, ail the expenditure for their maintenance
was borne by the State. The Zamorin also fled -to Travancore
and sought refuge there. J

In April and May of 1788 there was a strong rumour thit
Tippu was marching against Cranganore with a huge army. But
the Dutch segmed to have enterad into,.an wnderstanding - with
Tippu in that year®, y:

1 DRy describes the niracities of Tippu thus : *" Many of his victics wers
hung, even mothers with their children arciind their necks, others were
dragied to death by elephants. No mode of execution was too terrible, no
torture (oo great. 1o satiate hu',:tr fiendish vengeance, Charches were plundered,
and the roofs of all place of warship blown off whilst Hindu and Christian
womefi were compelled to accept’ Mohomedan husbands. No Hindu' was
allowed to wear the lock of hair on bis head - The rack and starvation were
used as instruments of conversion and thoss obstinate unbelievers who refused
to be coavinced by these persuasive arguments were put to death” This
description: of Tippa's'activities is no doabi exaggerated.  But the conster-
Dation he created in Malabar was by no memns small, Tippa's name could
strike terror in every part of the country. Evan (o day he is remembered as
" Mysore Kaduova™,

2 Day =ays ;—"' Some correspondence occurred between Tippa Sultan and
the Dutch with reference to Hyd-r's old wish of entering into an offensive and
defensive alliance with them. But many of the letiers appear to be missing.
There is one dated Seotember 17588 in which it is stafed that Tipou's eavoy
will shorily be at Cranganore to assist the Dutch against Travancore and the
writer who 15 at Calicut eads by saying time will show if he [Tippu) really
‘wishes o assist s or is meraly serving his owa interests

'
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In 1789 Tippu was planning for buying the Cochin fort from
the Dutch. The Dutch had expressed a wish to sell their fortresses
in Cochin, Cranganore and Ayacottah. Tippun had deputed
the Cochin Raja to negotiate on his behalf, but before anything
could be finally settled the war with Travancore was precipitated.

The conquest of Travancore was a long cherished ambition
of the Mysoreans. Tippa was only waiting for an excuse to lead
his armies against Travancore, When the Travancore Raja gave
asylum to the Brahman refugees of Malabar—about 30,000 fami-
lies—Tippu was highly incensed and demanded their surrender.
But the Travancore Raja politely replied that that would be against
the traditional principles of hospitality which his family had
observed and as such he could not oblige him. Tippu decided to
take his vengeance on Travancore even though he had promised
to recognise the independence of Travancore in the treaty of
Mangalore. Tippu encouraged the Zamorin to put forward his
claims on Travancore and promised him all support.) But the
Zamorin did not join in this scheme. Tippu then induced the
Raja of Cochin to put forward his claims on Parur and Alangad
which were the part of the Travancore State. Tippu advised
the Cochin Raja to meet the Travancore Raja to see whether
peace could be concluded between Travancore and Tippu. The
two Rajas met at Anna-nada, north-east of Cranganore. The
Travancore Raja said he could not do anything without consult-
ing the English and the Nawab of Arcot, .

Tippu sent his envoys to Travancore with valuable presents
to the king. .The Raja received Tippu's envoys in the presence of
Major Bannerman, the refiresentative of the English Government
at Trivandrum. Tippu wrote to the Raja in a coaxing way how
an alliance with Mysore would be to the great advantage of
Travancore. The Raja politely replied that he could not enter
into any alliance without the permission of the English Company.
Tippu was highly offended at this reply and made busy prepara-
tions for his Invasion. The English Governor wrote to Tippu
that an invasion of Travancore would be considered as a
declaration of war against the English. He promised to send two
or three battalions of the Company’s troops to the help of
Travancore. At the same time he informed the Raja that he
should always be on the defensive and never appear as the

aggressor,
A
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In 1780 Tippu marched from “Coimbatore with 20,000
infantry, 10,000 spearmen, 35,000 cavalry and 20 field guns.
Tippu had already expressed his desire to buy the fortress of
Cranganore and Ayacottah which the Dutch were prepared to sell.
He opened negotiations with the Dutch at Palghat about the
purchase of these forts. The Travancore Raja knew that the fall
of Cranganore and Ayacottah into the hands of Tippu would be
highly dangefous to his interests. Therefore, he started negotia-
tions with the Dutch for purchasing these forts for Travancore.
He sent his minister Kesava Pillay to negotiate with the Dutch.
The Dutch decided to sell their forts to Travancore as they
thought that Travancore would be able to check Tippu's progress
to the south. The bargain was struck in July 178g. The Dutch
possessions were sold for three lakhs ol Rupess to be paid in
several instalments?.

Even though Cranganore and Ayacottah were sold to Travai-
‘core, the Dutch retained their right over the Christians in these
places and also over certain buildings and churches there.
Special provisions were made in the agreement by which the
** Lepers House "' at Palliport, ** the Romish Church " at Cranga-
nore and Ayacottah, and * the Parson’s house ™ at Palliport were
to remain in the possession of the Duteh, Also * the Christians
were to remain vassals of the Companw und they were not to be
burdened with any new tax,

It need not look strange that the Dutch sold these forts for
three lakhs of Rupees to Travancore, This transaction was made
after mature consideration by the awthorities in'Cochin and
Batavia, From the very beginning the Malabar settlements have
been a matter of considerable anxiety to the East India Company
as the income derived from the Malabar trade was never commen-
surate with the expenses of Government. The Company's’
authorities in Batavia and Holland were always regretting tlat
they had staked so much of -their.interest in Malabar. - Governor
General Mossel in great disgust wrote (o Gollenesse, (who
mamtained that Malabar was one of the most important posses-
sions of the Compagy,) that he “would rather wish that the
ocean had swallowed up the coast of Malabar 2 hundred years
ago . As early as 1606 the Duteh authorities fiad decided to

1 Sea Appendix 3. = -
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reduce their fortifications in Cochin, Cranganore, Canannore and
Quilon. The Batavia Government had passed a resolution on the
19th of August 1697 recommending to the Cochin Government
the reduction of all their fortifications to the minimum level
necessary for the interests of the Company. The sale of these
fortresses was always welcomed by the authorities as an advant-

ageous and necessary step.

The transactions concerning the Dutch forts were carried out
in the presence of the English agent Powgey. When the Madras
Governor heard about the transaction. he disapproved of it under
the wrong impression that these forts belonged to the Cochin
Raja. He wrote to the Raja of Travancore as follows ! :—

1 lament that you have taken the indiscreet step which
may possibly involve you in much embarrassment if Tippu should
be disposed to wrest from you these late acquisitions. I cannot
approve of your having entered into a treaty with the Dutch for
the extension of territory without the consent of this Government,
This very impolite conduct makes you liable to the forfeiture ol
the Company’s protection. ... ....I therefore think it necessary
you should immediately give bu:L to the Dutch the places you
have thus mdmacmﬂ} ‘received from them and thereby esta-
blish vour affairs precisely upon their former footing. I again
recommend to vou the greatest caution in vour conduct towards
Tippu.” The Maharaja immediately explained to the English
authorities at Madras, Bombay and Calcutta the propriety of his
conduct. He® pointed out to them that the Dutch were the real
owners of these forts and as such the transaction should be valid.
He “explained to them that Cochin had no right whatsoever over
these forts and therefore the Governor's :l.ssumptims were not
right. He refuted the allegation that the transactions were made
without the knowledge of the English as it was arranged in the
presence of Powney, the English agent. Further, Major Bannerman
had personally- inspected these forts before the transaction was
made, He also explained that his object in purchasing these
territories was not mere extension of territories, but only the
security of his dominions.

When Tippu heard about the attitude taken by the Madras
Governor, he put forward his damts to thn twu {nmi on theg’tmd

1 I.J:tt-ﬂdl.lﬂd!ﬂﬁ.ul ITB'J.
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that they belonged to the Cochin Raja who was his tribatary.
Tippu sent one of his Sirdars to Travancore with a letter to the
Raja. He demanded that the Travancore troops should be with-
drawn from Cranganore, The Raja was again asked to surrender
the refugees from Malabar. He should demolish that portion of
the Travancore Lines which crossed the Cochin territory. Tippu
also hinted that if the Raja failed to comply with his demands he
could leads his forces against Travancore. The Raja replied that
with regard to the wigpdrawal of troops from Cranganore, he
would be guided by the Madras Governor. The Raja pleaded
that he had not given asylum to any of the rebellious subjects of
Tippu but only to those refugees who were his relations and
dependants. He regretted that his moral principles did not allow
him to surrender them to the Sultan. About the demolition of
the Travancore Lines, the Raja said that they were in existence
long before Cochin came under the protection of Mysore.

The Raje’s reply naturally infuriated Tippu. Tippu sent
another letter to the Raja accusing him severely of hostile: inten-
tions against Mysore. He bitterly attacked the Raja’s conduct
in giving protection to the rebellious Malabar chieftains and told
the Raja that he should immediately hand them over. He again
accused the Raja for his * highly improper " conduct in purcha-
sing the Cranganore and Ayacottah forts which were in his terri-
tories. The Raja thought it better to keep silent over Tippu'
accusations, but promptly kept the English Government informed
of all developments. .

Tippu sent a letter to the Dutch in November %8¢ address-
ing them as *“merchants in the Cochin fort which was under his
protection . He claimed the Dutch as vassals under him in
Cochin and accused them for allowing the Travancore Raja to
occupy Cranganore, He informed them that unless they drove
out the Travancore troops from Crangagore, they could not enjoy
his friendship or kindness. He sent his envoy, Abdul Kadir, to
the Dutch Governor to explain to him his attitude in the affair,
The Dutch Governor replied. that he valued Tippu’s friendship
greatly and that he was pleased to note that Tippu was favour-
ably disposed to the Company. Regarding the Cranganore fort
he said that the transaction was already over and it won't be
possible to retrace the steps, Still he would try to do his best to
deserve Tippu's friendship,
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The correspondence between Tippu and the Dutch Governor
shows that Tippu treated the Dutch as no better than ordinary
merchants and the latter were not at all prepared to offend him!,

In December 1739 Tippu commenced his march against
Travancore. He established his camp six I.’I.'I.l.lcﬁ to the north of
the main entrance of the Travancore lines where he erected many
batteries, Tippu marched with 14,000 infantry and 500 pioneers
by a circuitous route guided by a native of the country towards
the Travancore. He succeeded in taking possession of a
considernble extent of the ramparts while the Travancore troops
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1 Tippu's letterd to the Duitch i Cochin
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retreated. Scon the Travancoreans miade their stand in a small
square enclosure and vigorously attacked the Mysore troops.
Tippu brought re-inforcements to put pressure on the Travancore
forces. But in the course of this encounter the officer command-
ing the Mysore army was killed and his whole army was thrown
into .confusion. e confusion became so great that the Sultan
bimself was thrown down into the crowd from his palanquin. He
was only saved by the exertions of some steady and active
“Ghelas who raised him on their shoulders and epabled him to
ascend the counter scrap, after having twice fallen back in the
attempt to clamber -up; the lameness which occasionally
continued until his death was occasioned by the severe contusions

-
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he received on this occasion "'.! Tippu lost his state sword, signet
ring and many other personal ornaments which were taken to
Trivandrum by Dewan Kesava Pillay as trophies of victory.*

The Travancore Raja informed the English and the Nawab
of Arcot everything that had taken place. But the Madras
Governor was wvery lukewarm i'p his support to Travancore. He
wrote to Tippt on the 1st of January 1790 assuring him that if
his claims on Cranganore and Ayacottah were to be found
equitable, ** the English would caupse those forts to be returned to
the Dutch and placed on the same footing on which they wm
previous to the late purchase of them by the Raja of Travancore.” *
But he also warned” Tippu that any aggression on Travancore
would be considered as o breach of friendly relations between the
Company and Mysore. * It is our intention to do you
justice on this occasion,” he wrote * and it is scarcely necessary
for us to say that we are equally determined to do justice to our
own reputation and honour apd it will be wise for you to wait the
issue of a fair enquiry, If you are desirous of settling the points
in contest by the investigation of commissioners, we will appoint
ne or more to meet such persons as may be appointed by you at
any convenient place on the borders of our respective countries
and you will theri judge whether our intentions are fair,” Tippu
received this_ letter soon after his dismal defeat at
Travancore. But he wrote to the Governor an ante-dated letter
pretending to have written it before he received the Governor's
letter®. In this letter Tippu stated that his troops “hllcmrchmg
“the lugitives were attucked by the* Travancore forcess but as
soon as Tippu heard about the war between the two troops he
ordered his soldiers to return. He requested the Governor to
advise the Raju to maintain friendly relations with him,

L] L.
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The attitude of the Madras Governor was in no way helpful
to Travancore. But the Maharaja’s appeal to the Governor

1 History of Mysore. Wilks Vol IT P. 145,
4 History of Travancore Sankuning Menon P, 228
3 Travapcore State Manoal Vai. I Ch. VI P. 398, -
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General had its desired effect. When the news of Tippu's attack
on Travancore reached Cornwallis, he sent an urgent despatch to
the Madras Governor instructing him to consider it as a decla-
ration of war against the Company. He accused the Madras
Governor of “a most criminal disobedience of the clear and
explicit orders of the Government by not considering themselves
to be at war with Tippu from the moment they heard
of his attack on the Travancore lines.” 1In his despatch
to the Madras Government dated the 3oth of March 1790
Corgavallis stated *.........0c00000 I sincerely lament the
disgraceful sacrifice, which you have made by “that delay of the
honour of your country by tamely suffering an insolent and cruel
enemy to overwhelm the dominions of the Raja of Travancore;
which we were bound by the most sacred ties ol friendship and
good faith to defend”. Cornwallis sent two battalions of sepoys
and one company of artillery under the command of Colonel
T-I.art]ey to assist the Travancare army,

Tippu commenced his second attack on Travancore early in
March 1790. He was *deeply mortified and enraged’ at the
disastrous failure of his first attempt and he had taken a vow
that he would not rest until he had rased to the ground the
Travancore lines, ' that contemptible wall”. He had been
strengthening his army by getting down re-inforcements from
Seringapatam and Bangalore., Hostilities started With a skirmish
between the Travancore and Mysore soldiers outside* the walls on
the 2nd of March. The Travancore army could not defend the
fort in the face of the fierce artillery attacks of the Mysoreans,
The English battalions did not give any help to the Travancore
soldiers on the ground that they had no instructions to join the war,
Therefore they were compelled to retreat. Tippu then turned against
the Dutch fort of Cranganore. Cranganore was defended by the
Travancore soldiers under the command of Captain Flory, But
finding resistance fruitless they abandoned the fort and retreated
to Travanoore. Tippu's army under the leadership of Lally
turned against the tort of Kyriappilli which was also abandoned
by the Travancoreans. Tippu fulfilled his vow by demeolishing
the fortifications as soon as he captured these forts. Tippu him-

-
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_ self took a pick-axe and inaugurated the destruction of that

“ contemptible wall* *'.

Cochin fell an easy prey to the aggression of Tippu. Tippu
established his head quarters at Tricher and carried on his work
of devastation ** desecrating the Hindu places of worship as well
as both the public and private schools inside which cows were
slaughtered to pollute them, the bodies of some of them being
afterwards flung into the tanks, behind the bathing house of the
Raja of Cochin.” The Mysoreans seized the monastery at
verapoly and plundered the religious establishments there.* The
Cochin Raja, frightened at this course of events sent the women
and children of his family to the Travancore Raja entrusting
them to his hands.

Tippu marched into the-Travancore territories and encamped
on the northern side of the river Periyar, in Alwaye. But hu;
march to the south was prevented by the floods in Perifar
consequent on the outbreak of the South West Monsoons. Tippu
waited for the flood to subside, but it only increased causing preat
inconvenienceé to Tippu and his soldiers. **His army had no
shelter, no dry place for parade ; all their ammunitions, accoutre-
ments, etc,, got wet. Even the very necessaries of life were
washed away by the impetuous current of the flooded riverd™.
To add to his tronbles Tippu heard about the advance of Lord
Cornwallis against Seringapatam, Tippu thought it wise .to
collect all his {preess and retreat so that he could save his own

-

i ** He (Tippu) took a pick-axe himsel{ and set an example which was
followed by everyone present and the demolition of the wall was completed
by his army without much delay. Afier this, the lawless force was let lose
in the villiges. They committed various ateocities and the country was laid
waste with fire and sword - S yme of the iohabitanis flad for shelter to the
wild hitls of Kunpatbnadu while msny were taken captives, Hindu temples
and Christian churches were equally desecrated by the followers of Mohomet.
Tuwers of Pagodas, the houses of the rich and the hats of the poor all were
barnt to ashes and the scenes throughout the districts of Alangad and Pam-
voor were bheart rending. The ruins which may be seen up to the preseat

* date testify to the ferocity of the invaders. Records of matiquity secured in
the archives of Pagodas, Palaces, Charches and the houses of thenobles were
all committed to the Games ™’

Sankunny Meson  History of Travancore P, 232, 233,
2-Bartholomeo. A Voyage to the Enst Indies P {141—42}
3 History of Travancore, Sankunni Menon. P, 234
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capital. In the course of his hasty retreat, his army suffered
many heavy losses. Like Napoleon retreating from Moscow,
Tippu had to leave Travancore without realising his cherished
dream.

The war between the ﬂnglish and Tippu came to a close in
February 1793 by the treaty of Seringapatam. Tippu was
compelled to cede one half of his dominions to the English.
Among the districts he promised to cedé he had included Alangad,
Paroor and Kunnathunadu also which really belonged to
Travancore. The Travancore Dewan Kesava Pillai made a represen-
tation to the English Government asserting the rights of Travancore
over these districts. [t was supported by Powney, the English
Resident at Travancore who explicitly condemned the cession as
«* altogether unwarrantable . Lord Cornwallis also realised that
it would be an act of great injustice on the part of the Company
to deprive the Raja of these districts. Two commissioners were
deputed to enquire into the disputes about the ownership of these
territories. Meanwhile, the Cochin Raja also had put forward his
claim on these talugs. But, finally the Cochin Raja made a
frank declaration acknowledging the legitimate claims of Travan-
core and the territories were recognised by the English as part of
the Travancore State,

Alter the retreat of Tippu from Travancore the Malabar
princes and Chiets' were restored to their original places. Dewan
Kesava Pillai was deputed by the Travancore Raja to execute
this grave task. He entered into special treatie8 with these
princes that they should each supply a fixed quotas of grain to
Travancore and the English.

The Cochin Raja entered into a treaty with the English on
the 6th Januery 1791. The Raja recognised the sovereignty of
the English East India Company renouncing his allegience to
Mysore. The Company undertook to restore to the Raja the
territories seized by Tippu, but the Raja was to administer these
provinces as the vassals of the English. The Rajs was to paya

1 The list of Kajas and Chiefs who took refugs in Travancore : -
Kajas 1. Zamorin. 3. Cherakkal. 3. Koitavam 4. Korombanad.
3, Vetiathumado., 6. Beypore. 7. Tannicre. 5 Palghat.
Chiefs of 1. Koulaparay 2. Koringote 3. Howghat. 4 Elathary
:: Hlﬂm
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tribute of 70,000 Rupees in the first year, 80,000 rupees in the
second year, 90,000 Rupees in the third year and 100,000 rupees
in the fourth. He was to pay 109,000 rupees inall the subse-
quent years in equal quarterly instalments. The sixth clause! of
the treaty dealt with the Raja's relations witl the Dutch. The
English expressed their wish not to disturb the amicable relations
of the Raja with the Dutch East India Company and expressly
stated that their sovereignty was to be recognised only on those
territories with which the Dutch had no concern. Before con-
cluding the transactions with the Raja the English had requested
the Dutch Council at Cochin to let them know. the existing
engagements between Cochin and the Dutch so that they could
w avoid doing anything which might subsequently interfere with
the good understanding that existed hetween the two
Companies”, The English deputed Powney to ascertain
the details “of the engagements of the Dutch in Cochin ;
but the Dutch Governor does not seem to have submitted
the neceseary particulars. * However the English expressed
their wish to maintain friendly relations with Dutch in
Cochin. The Dutch Governor in Cdchin was very anxious
to prevent the extension of English influence in Malabar;
but as circumstances did not allow the Dutch to take up a strong
attitude against the English, he had to wink his eyes at these new
developments. The Dutch realised perfectly well that “if the
English were allowed to insert their little finger into the affairs of
these regions, they would not rest until they had managed to
thrust in the'whole arm* ", The English had already thrust in
their arm and it was only a question of time for them to thrust
out the Dutch from Malabar. Anglebeck gives many glaring
instances of the interference of the English in the affairs of Cochin.
The Raja of Cochin was asked to submit all the documents
dealing with the treaties he had entered into with Travancore

1 Clause 6 of the treaty 1> ;

* That owing 1o a treaty which exists between the Dutch Company and
Rama Varma Rajeol Cochin the Governor in Coancil of Madras, not wishing
{0 entér into any engagements between these parties, resolved that Rama
Varma Raja shall become tributary to the English East India Company, only
in respect to such districts or places as are above enumerated and gre at
present in possession of Tippa Sultan and with which the Dutch East India
Company have no concern”", *

2 Memoirs of Angelbeck.
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.and the Dutch. The Raja replied that he had no. objection to
* produce them if he could get the Dutch Governor's consent. ]
The Raja produced all the documents in a locked ‘box and told
the English agent that he could get the key from the Dutch
Governor. The English agent Duncan approached the Dutch
Governor and said in a very ironic way: * Well, sir, the Raja
places much confidence in your great-kindness, but it occurs to
me that he in this instance misuses it, by forcing upon you the
trouble of unlocking a box*, The Dutch had to suffer many
such insults. They were perfectly sonscious of the rapid decline
of their power in Malabar,

CHAPTER IX

THE DESTRUCTION OF DUTCH-POWER IN MALABAR

THE Mysorean invasion brought about radical changes in the
political system of.Malabar. The most important of all
was the transfer of sovereignty from the hands of the Dutch to
the English. We have seen how the English managed to thrust
* their little finger* in Cochin which was the headquarters of the :
Datch in Malabar, The Dutch lost practically ail their influence
in northern Malabar as the princes and chiefs there including the
Zamorin had entered into new alliances with Travancore and the
English. The northern princes clearly saw how  helpless the
Dutch themselves were in Malabar and nntura]]y-saught the
protection of the stronger powers. Travancore also understood
the value of a friendly alliance with the English and a treaty of
perpetual friendship was signed on the 17th November 1795
The treaty stated ' if any power or States nearer or remote, by
sea or land shall, without aggression on the part of the Raja of
of Travancore, attempt or begin hostility and war upon the
country of the said Raja or of his successors under such
circumstances the éxpulsion of and the protection of the country
against such enemies rest with the Company's Government.”
The sixth clause of the treaty stated :—* The reigning Raja of
Travancore for the time being shall not keep in his service in
any civil or military capacity nor allow to remain within his
dominions as merchants or under any other plea or pretext the
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subjects or citizens of any nation being at war with Great Britain
or with the East India Company nor under any circumstances of
peace or war allow any European nation to obtain seitlements
within the same nor enter into any new engagements with any

European or Indian States without the previous concurrence of

the British Government in India.”” This treaty clearly meant
the establishment of the English sovereignty in Travancore and
the destruction of the Datch influence there.

" The Dutch were fojlowing an. entirély selfiSh policy in
Malabar at that time. Their main policy was to keep friends
with the most powerful state or prince and they did not care at
all for previous treaty obligation or undertakings. It was this
policy that alienated- the support of all the princes of Malabar.
When the power of Marthanda Varma was in the ascendancy, the
Datch sought his friendship and betrayed the interests of other
Malabar States. When Tippu's power was dominant, they tried
to cultivate his friendship by a meek policy of submission. But
when they found Tippu thwarting all their overtures for friend;
ship they turned to the English for help. The English were
their greatest rivals in Malabar, still the exigencies of the
situation compelled them to seek their help. The Dutch
wrote to the Bengal- Government saying that they were
prepared to join sides with the English against Tippu. Bat
the English did mot take sérious notice of this offer of help.

* The Dutch volunteered to give help to the Travancore Raja,

)

the ally of the Engtish and sent two commissioners Cellarius
and Everydyck to the Raja’s court, 1In August 1792, the
Dutch Governor sought the assistance of the English again,
Colonel Hartley who commanded the English army at Chettwaye
informed the Dutch Governor Anglebeck that he would send help
if the Dutch would bear all the expenses. Anglebeck replied .
that he only required two regiments—one of Europeans and
another of native sepovs—to protect the coasts and he was .
prepared to share halfl the expenses in that connection. He
pointed out to the English that even though these soldiers were
required for the protection of Cochin, their presence would be
helpful to the English also and as such it was but proper that the
English -should bear part of the expenses. Colonel Hartley
replied that the troops had been already sent and the Dutch

should bedr the whole expense. Anglebeck gave no reply to this
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and evaded the question of meeting the expenses. He even
instructed his successor in Cochin to evade the question of
bearing the expenses by following the tactics he had followed
viz., writing to the English frequently without committing to any
deeision.

The relations between Cochin and the Dutch were by no
means cordial. The chief canse of dissension at this time was
the claim of the Dutch aver the Christians especially the Roman
Catholics in"Cochin. The Roman Catholics were carrying on a
lirge scale policy of conversion among the ' heathen vagabonds
who had consented to this course to escape the punishmenta
which their crimes deserved”. When they became Christians
they claimed immunity from punishment and thus the Raja
realised the grave error af recognising the Company's authorities
over all Christians, The Raja examined the original text of the
treaty' between Cochin and the Dutch and understood that there
was a serious mistake in the Dutch version of the treaty.
The treaty had recognised the rights of the Dutch over the
“ Mundukars * or the Roman Catholics. - But the Duteh version
of the treaty contained in it a clause interpreting ** Mundukars **
to mean all the Christians, The Raja held that that interpretation
was wrong and it was not contained in the Malayalam text of the
treaty. The Raja was supported by Mr. Powney in this claim,
but Anglebeck refused to vield. Finally the question was settled
in favour of the Dutch through the mediation of Mr. Powney.

Another cause of dispute between the Dutch and the Raja
was about the slaughter of cows by the Christians in Cochin,
The Raja wanted to prevent the slaughter of cows in his terri-
tories and wrote to Governor Anglebeck how the Christians were
violating his orders. Anglebeck promised to give suitable punish-

* ments to the offenders.

The dispute between Cochin and the Dutch over the question
of the Konkanies was a long standing one. The Konkanies had a
sacred idol at Thirumala Devaswom. The Raja -demanded from
the Devaswom a substantial contribution for the celebration of
the festival at Thripoonithurai. When the Konkanies refused
to comply with the Raja's demands, the Raja ordered them to be
punished, Captain Pannikkar and two soldiers seized Deva-

" 1 Treaty of 1663—March 20,
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resekini a chief of the Devasthanom and beheaded him. The
Rajf's soldiers plundered the Konkanies' possessions and seized
all-the treasuries of the Devaswom. The temple priests managed
to send " their sacred idol to the Dutch fort to be kept in their
custody, The Dutch were infuriated at the conduct of the
Cochin soldiers against the Konkanies who were in their protec-
tion and demanded an explanation from the Raja. The Raja
boldly replied that all the Hindos in his territory were under his
authority and the Dutch should mind their own business and not
interfere in the. aifiurs of his administration. In October 179f,
the Dutch mirched against the Cochin Raja’s palace at Mattan-
cherry. There was a skirmish between the Raja’s troops and the
Company's soldiers. The Raja was planning to attack the Dutch
fort at Cochin, But the English ugent Powney interfered and
brought aboutg reconciliation, avoiding an open capflict.

Van Anglebeck was succeeded by Van Spall as Governor of
Cochin in 1704. He was the last Dutch Governor of Cochin
The power of the Dutch in the east was steadily declining while
their home country itseH was subjected to foreign invasion. On
January 8th the French Repulican army invaded Holland and
the Stadtholder fled to England. The English and the Dutch
were allies in Europe fighting against the common fce the French
Republican Government. When Holland was, invaded by the
French, the English took measures to prevent the Dutch settle-
ments from falling into the hands of the French. On February 7,
1795 the follewing proclamation was issued by the Dutch
authorities ta all their Governors and Commundants in Oversea
possessions :—'* We have thought it necessary to write to you
that His Britannic Majesty's troops shall be admitted and take
possession of the forts in our colonies, and that they are to be
considered as the troops of a kingdom in friendship and alliance
with their Mightinesses, in case the colonies should be summoned
by the French". But the danger to the Dutch in Malabar was
not from the French, but from the English. The Dutch Governor
was making busy preparations in Cochin anticipating an invasion
of the English. The English also made no secret of their
intentions. They warned the Cochin Raja that lie should in no
way assist the Dutch, but on the contray should prevent their
domination in his territories.  The Raja, being a tributary of the
English, promised to do as directed.
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Major Petrie marched from Calicut to Cochin with two
battalions of European soldiers and one battalion of native
infantry. He bhad been given instructions to secure a peaceful
entrance into the Dutch settlements. If the Dutch would allow
this *the Governor and Council were not to be molested and all
private property and the rights of individuals were to be left
unaltered. The ostensible object ‘of the English was to prevent
the fort from falling into the hands of the French. But if the
Dutch refused admission to the fort, Petrie was authorised to
make a forcible entry. Governor Van Spall was not prepared to
surrender the fort to the English and he was making preparations
to defend the siege. Mr. Stevens the English agent went over to
" the Cochin fort to bring about an understanding between Major

Petrie and Van Spall. A confereitce was held on the night of
September 6th, 1795 when Van Spall agreed to surrender the fort
without resistance. But he wanted to obtain thé consent of
“his council belore executing his promise. The English suspected
that Van Spall was only trying to evade the issue and therefore
decided to seize the fort by force. A new army was sent from
Tellicherry to assist Major Petrie. - Petrie commenced operations
on the night of October 1g. Van Spall realised that resistance
was of no avail and revived the negotiations for peace, On the
20th October 1795 the Dutch surrendered the fort to the English-
Van Spall’s proposals for peace were not entirely accepted by the
English. The Dutch Governor suggested that all officers and
soldiers who were in, Cochin should be transpogted either to
Batavia or Ceylon at the expense of the English Government.
But this request was not granted. Petrie reserved the right
" to dispose of the Dutch garrison as he pleased. Van Spall
proposed that the Rinds belonging to the Orphan College and
poor fiouse should not be confiscated.  He also proposed that the
fortifications, Government house and other public buildings
belonging to the Company should be left as they were and not
demolished. But the English replied that these matters would be
dBCiIII!'H.l at thelr discretion.

The Dutch flag ceased to fly over Malabar from October rgth
1795. What the Dutch seized from the Portiguese, they surrendered
to the English. We have already examined how the English
managed to oust the Dutch from Travancore by the treaty they
sigoned with the Raja. We have also referred to the establishment

L
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of English influence in North Malabar. When the exiled chieftains
of North Malahar and the Zamorin of Calicut returned to their
respective countries, they understood that the Dutch no longer
held any pretence of suzerainty in Malabar.' The Zamorin realised
that he owed his position entirely to the English and Travancore
and that the jormer were destined to be his masters. Lord
Cornwallis sent General Abercromby, the Governor of Bombay, to
settle the affairs in Malabar. Abercromby sent two commissioners
to enter into agreements with the Malabar chieftains on
behalf of the English. The commissioners allowed the chief-
tains of Chirakkal, Kottayam and Kadathanad to be in charge
of their own territories, but signed special agreemenfs with
them which recognised the rights and privileges of the English.
The Zamorin of Calicut, the most prominent of the Rajas in
northern Malabar, had enthroned himself * without the concur-
rence or assent of any officer of the Company’s Government."
The Zamorin had assamed authority claiming all his ancient
rights and privileges. Buw the English entered into a ftreaty
with the Zamorin on August 18, 1792 which practically placed

1 \Vith Cochin, thers also passed into the hands of the British the Dutch
{formerly Portuguese) settlements of Tangasseri on the point of land lying
weat of Quilon Bav anil the following petty places :—

Thamboli Fattam

Kattur Pattam

Attalakkad Patiam

Manakodat Pattam

Antpny Fernaudes Pattam
Thekke Purupunkara Pattam
Mundenvelli Patiam

Domingo Fernandez Palakkal Patam
Santago Pattam

Taiveppu Pattam

11. Blicho Rodrigues Fatiam

12, Saint Loius Pattam

13, Dural Lemos Pattam

14. Ramanthuruthi Palttam

15. Sondilmlgnvankurie Silva Pattam
16. Palliport Hospital Paramba
Malabar Manual, Logan. P.'717
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Calicut at the disposal of the English Company. The Zamorin
was to administer his territories as a lease holder of the English.
Even in the matter of appointment of his ministers, the Zamorin
was to obtain the previous consent of the English, In 1705 the
English signed a new treaty with the Zamorin, which further
placed the Zamorin at the mercy of the English. In 1798 the
Zamorin practically relinquished his sovereign rights ; in July 1800
his territories were transferred to the Madras Presidency.

CHAPTER X

THE DutcH AND THEIR EurorEaN Rivars 1x MALABAR

"I'HE Dutch settlement in Malabas was only one among the

many they had in the East. Thev had established their head-
quarters in the Malaya Archipelago and strengthened their posi-
tion in Ceylon before they had ventured on an attack on Malabar.
But their European rivals in the East had concentrated their
attention mainly on their settlements in India. To the Dutch,
the loss of their Indian settlements did not mean the loss of their
Empire in the East. They continued their suzerain authority in
other parts of the Oriental World. But, that was not the case
with the Portuguese, When the Portuguese were gdriven out of
Malabar, they were driven out of India. And when they lost
their possessions in India, they held no maore in the East. The
two important European rivals for the Duteh in the East were
the Portuguese and the English. The Dutch gained the mastery
of Malabar by seizing it from the Portuguese; they lost it when
the English seized it from their hands. Even though the French
had political designs over Malabar, they could not aghieve their
objects as their ingenious plans came to no good.

When Holland liberated herself from the shackles of Spain,
the decline of the Portuguese power in the East commenced,
The Dutch, flushed with a new enthusiasm and consciousness of
their independence turned their attention towards the East,



b 123

determined to oust the Portuguese from their territories.
The Portuguese—the pioneers of European colonisation of the
East—had been enjoying a position of undisputed sovereignty in
India for a period of one hundred years. The profligate wealth
the Portuguese had amassed in India and the great ease with
which' they could carry on their administration had fostered
degeneracy. * The Portuguese policy of conquest, conversion
and commerce had its halcyon days. Wow, elements of deteriora-
tion and decay had begun to eat into the vitals of the Portuguese
Empire in the East. The sudden acquisition of illgotten wealth
and easy subjugation of vast tracts had turned the heads of the
proud Portuguese officials, The race of heroes such as Albuquer-
ques and Pachecos had given place to a base set of captains and
administrators whose only thought was money.’ But as Hunter?
observes if the system produced bitter fruits in Asia, it had its
roots in Portugal itself. The Portuguese Empire was ill-managed
both at home and abroad. This was the condition of the
Portuguese power in the East when’ it was challanged by its
powerful rival Holland, The Portuguese ' who aimed at an
Empire in India both spritual and temperal, at wholesale conver-
sion effected by conviction, bribery and frand or wviolence, who
considered no expenditure too large to effect their object, whose
soli-love had alienated all friends, and injustice created many
enemies, were now on the eve of resigning their authority to
others. Anotper power was now to become predominant in the
East, another race was to try their hand at supremacy and
another re,tig{un to be introduced®."”

When the Portuguese saw the appearance of a powerful rival
in their undisputed domains, they knew that they should strengthen
themselves for self-protection. In the early years they seem to
have been confident of keeping their own position. The Portu-
guese Viceroy wrote to his king in 1635 that he wonld easily get
the better of the Dutch as * the Dutch were every where cordially
hated and only succeeded in carrying on trade by means of the
forces at their disposal.’” But the Dutch were more confident of

P P. Meoon._History of Kerala Vol: 1 P. 183,
Hunier. History of Br. India, Val: 1. P. 183.
Day. Landof the Perumal, F. 114—113.
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securing the supremacy in India. Dee Weert had very early
clearly foreseen that when the Portuguese were turned out of
Cochin they would be out of Indig. As early as 1658 Van Goens
was making busy preparations for onsting the Portuguese from
Malabar. He wrote to the Governor General for re-inforcements
and assured him of easy victory over the Portuguese, *We could
make an attempt on Cochin where the Portugnese could collect
their strongest naval forees,”” wrote Goens, * and if we are so
lucky as to defeat them, the whole coast of Malabar and the
pepper trade will be ours.”” When the Portuguese realised their
dangerous position, they wrote to the king of Portugal for further
reinforcements. They clearly acquainted the king of the real
state of affairs in India and informed him that unless they were
properly assisted, the whole of their possessions would be lost,!
* We earnestly implore Your Majesty,” the Portguese Governors
wrote, ‘“ to send us by next vear adequate re-inforcements, other-
wise, we shall not be able to resist the enemy at all.”” But the
resinforcements which the Portuguese received were not of much
avail in their attempts to maintain their possessions in Malabar,
We have seen how the Portuguese were compelled to surrender
the ** town of Cochin with all its jurisdictions, income and lands
with all documents and papers referring to the same and what-
everelse that may be there held in the pame of the king of
Portugal®.” The Dutch allowed all unmarried true born
Portuguese to be sent back to Europe. The marrigd Portuguese
and Mestizoes were to be sent to Goa. After the sugrender of the
Cochin fort the Portuguese did not make any serious attempt
to assert their power in Malabar. The Dutch were left almost
undisputed masters of the territories they had acquired by con-
quest,

The Dutch, however, seem to have been carefully watching
the plans of the Portuguese, They knew that if they were to quit
Cochin, the Portuguese would endeavour to obtain possession of
it. Visscher! saysin this connection, “They already affect to
have claims upon it, and say arrogantly enough that the
*Company are keeping it for their king.” Moens also in his

1. Letter dated 18th December 1658,
2. Treaty dated Tth January 1663
3. Visscher letter No. 3.
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memoirs says that there were various rumours regarding the
preparations the Portuguese were making for re-instating them-
selves in India. The Portuguese were really making some
preparations by strengthening their army in Goa, But whether
it was for an attempt to regain their lost possessions or only for
defensive purposes, is not certain.!

The Danes were comparatively insignificant rivals for the
Datch in Malabar. The Danes had some trade settlements in
the Malabar Coast, but their interests in Malabar were purely
commercial. Sometimes they supplied the local Rajas with arms
in return for which they received pepper asis evident from the
following letter by an English chief at Anjengo (1757):—
« As the Dutch on one side supplied him {Travancore) with arms,
etc,, and the Danes and other Europeans at times did the same
at Coletchy (Kolachel) for which they got pepper, he withheld

from us under the pretence that we showed ourselves less
friendly to him than others**. The Danes had only two factories
in Malabar—one at Edava and another at Colachel. Hamilton
deseribes the Dane settlement at Edava as follows :—* The Danes
have a small factory here standing on the sea-side. It is a
thatched house of a very mean aspect and their trade answers
every way to the figure their factory makes "3  Their Kolachel
factory also was nothing more than a small store house. Still
the Dutch were complaining about the * jealousy ’ of the Danes
at Calicut who'were furnishing the Zamorin, the enemy of the
Dutch, with #rms and ammunition.

1 " Volume 13 of Vadulandsche [, Historie, Pag- 378 says that in the
year 1660 it was agreed beiween Portugal and Holland that Cochin and
Cannanore would remain Dutch as a pledge for arcears which were still, doe
to the Smies by Pormagal Whyso, s n puzzale (o which I can suggesi no
solution. The history does not say whether these arrears have ever been paid
or whether affy fresh settlement flected.  But it is said that the Portuguese
wauld have got the town if they were willing to make compensation for the
expenses incorred by the Dutch ; but this amount was so large that they
eould not pay .

Quoted by Mr. K. P. P. Menon in History of Kemla.

2  Fort St George Records, Cruoted by Gallettl in his introdoction to
* Dateh in Malabar *

3. Pinkerton ** Callection of voyages and Travels™ Vol, VI p, 383,
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The greatest of European rivals for the Dutch in Malabar, -
as we have seen, were the English. The main reason for the
rivalry between the Dutch and the English was of course the
ambition of both to secure the monopoly of eastern trade. The
large profits made by the Dutch had excited the jealousy of the
English and induced them to try a hand for the monopoly of
trade. Visscher! writes ** The trade of the East India Company,
s0 famous throughout the world, one of the main stays of our
country, and the resource of thousands of poor ecreatures who
make their livelihood by the employment it affords them, has
been greatly undermined by the English........ At Cochin we see
at least thirty English vessels, large and small, in the course of
the year which perform the transit between the neighbourmg
regions and put in here chiefly for the sake of provisions”,
Visscher also observes that the English trade at that time was
not so vigorous as the Dutch. The Dutch Company had the
complete support of the home Government, while the English
East India Company was a purely private concern. ** The English
Company was the weakling child of the old age of Elizabeth
and of the shifty policy of King James", observes Hunter,
* while, the Dutch Company was the strong outgrowth of the life
and death struggle of a new nation with its new Spanish
oppressors.” The patronage of the Netherlands Government
strengthened the Company’s position in India and the Dutch
were able to maintain their supremacy unchallenged throughout
the 17th century. But soon, the ‘‘weakling child " of England
grew up into a sturdy youth and the position of the Dutch was
seriously endangered. Even though England and Holland were
at peace with one another in Europe, their Companies in the East
were making use” of every opportunity to ruin each other’s
prospects. Both Companies restorted to all methods—fair or
foul—to achieve their objects in the East.

The Comparative position of the two companie% in India
in the 18th century may be understood from the following facts
gathered from an article in the Madras Mail dated 18th February
1902 :—** An illustration of the relative position of the two rivals
at the beginning of the 18th century is afforded by a few

1. Visscher's Letters VII.
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unpublished manuscripts in the British museum that possesses
some claim on the attention of your readers......... It appears
that on the 23rd November 1709, two Dutch ships, one of 30 guns
and the other of 20 and the Dutch brigantine arrived off Calicut
and anchorod opposite the British factory there. On the 24th
they approached nearer the shore, dropped anchor and promptly
fired about 300 shots at the town, but did no damage beyond
killing *one Muckwa ' boy and one goldsmith's boy and
wounding a moor womun. The Dutch Commodore now called
upon the masters of three native vessels in the roads and the
Portoguese master of a British Ketch to proceed on board his
ship. The master of the British Ketch obeyed the order and
was then directed to land and warn the British factory to take
care of themselves, for the Dutch were resolved to burn,
sink .and destroy all they could and that if the factory
wanted goods, they might go with the ships to Cochin, but
the Dutch could suffer none to be shipped at Calicut. The
factory sent an English representative to the Dutch Commodore
to state that no notice could be taken of his verbal message and
to desire that if he had anything to say .hie would communicate
it in writing and in English too as they were unacquainted with
Dutch. But the Commodore repiied that he was unacquainted
with English, so he again sent a verbal message and warned the
factory to be careful for ** powder and balls had no eye'®, .. .The
Dutch saled away from Calicut to Chittoa where they
encountered nd opposition as the Zamorin had been unable to
raise a force te protect the place. They landed, raised palisades
and laid the foundations of a tort on a spot of ground formerely
granted to the English East India Company. They pulled down
the house wherein the Company had been wont to store its
purchases of pepper after sifting it of all that was in it, while
they threatened the servants of the tompany whom they found
there, that if they did not leave immediately they would be put
in irons and shipped ofi as prisoners to Batavia. Then the
Duteh returned to their ships and set sail for Anjengo where the
Engligh company had another factory....The Bombay Govern-
ment found it difficult to behieve that, during the maintenance of
a strict alliance between England and the Netherlands the Dutch
would venture to publicly aid the ' King of Alleng” in his designs

P
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on the English factories at Anjengo ‘although by underhand
dealings they have created a difference which they strove to
forment into an open rupture,’

The following accounts given by Mr. Grose who had an
extensive travel in the Malabar coasts, give an idea about the
rivalry of the Dutch and the English in the 18th century. " As
mere traders, the English would never have got the footing they
had, if they had not added to that character the profession of
arms both at land and sea....The Dutch especially insult us in
their insinuations to the country Governments of our inferiority
in that we are not possessed of a head place of arms, such as
Batavia is to them, trom whence our operations might be more
timely and more effectually applied to any exigence than as
there now exists a necessity for waiting for orders and aids from
Europe. They do not consider or at least do not add a candid
confession of the treacherous and cruel supplantment of usin a
time of tull peace in the Spice Islands which are the mines, from
whence they draw the means of supporting the extraordinary
charges of that their beasted capital place in India, a competi-
tion with which our trade, circumstanced as it has been since
that fatal epoch could never well afford.... One of the reasons
that the Dutch East India Company flourishes and is become
more rich and powerful than all the others is, its being absolute
and invested with a kind of sovereignty and dominion more
especially over the many ports, provinces %nd colonies it
possesses in those parts. For it appoints magistrates, admirals,
generals and governors, sends and receives embassies trom kings
and sovereign princes ; makes peace and war at pleasure; and by
its own authority administers justice to all. The power of the
Dutch by sea and land is very great in the East Indies, where by
force, adress and alliance they raised themselves and still support
a great superiority in spite of the English Portuguese and other
Europeans that have some trade there ; but so inconsiderable are
those that all of them together do not enjoy what the Hollanders
enjoy. The Hollanders gave law to the very English, in 1662,

1. Eof Articleentitled “ Dutch Azcendancy in India, Its enforcement
in Malabarin 1709 Published in the Madras Mail of the 15th Feb. 1902
quated by K. . P. Manon in History of Kerala Vel. 1. P. 355—390-
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obliging them ta a peace very advantageous to Holland and their
East India Company in particular after a bloodly and expensive
war that arose from jealousy and the rivalship in commerce.”"!

Even though the Dutch and the English did not openly
come to a conflict in the early stages, there was a bitter competi-
tion between the two for the establishment of trade and political
prerogatives. The Dutch suspected the English to be intriguing
with their enemies and inciting the local chieftains to rebellions.
Visscher speaks of Mr. Adams the head of the English in Malabar
as an “enemy ” of the Dutch Company, ' Being an enemy
to our company ', Visscher® writes, * he incited the Zamorin
to the late war, himself lending in ordereto promote it 100,000
rix dollars with which that prince defraved the expenses of the
war. We have no reason to doubt this story, since he even sent
English Officers to assist the Zamorin to defend fort Paponetty
against our arms. Nay, more, when Chettwaye was conquered
" by the Zamorin and our peoplé expelled the English immediately
erected a factory there in order to secure the pepper trade "
Visscher concludes from all these that the Dutch * have but
little good to expect from the Epglish"’. **The Enghsh cannot
but look with envious eves upon the great influence our company
possesses in India and the confidence they inspire among the
nations with whom they trade. It would be better if our neigh-
bours would examine more closely into their own behaviour and
see whether their arrogance is not the cause of the mistrust and~
dislike with which they are regarded”. Visscher's allegations
against Mr.-Adams are further substantiated by the accounts of
Hamilton and others. Hamilton clearly asserts that part of the
‘money spent by the Zamorin in his war with the Dutch was
borrowed from the English. The Tellicherry records also prove
that loans were given by Mr, Adams to the Zamorin, the
Punnathur Raja and the Kolathiri prince. .

Even though thejDutch and their European rivals were
« intriguing against one another, with native princes, supplying
one another's enemeis and harbouring one another’s deserters "',
there was general peace between them. The Dutch at Cochin

. L. Ref Grose "Voyage East ladies Vel, 11 P 256 - 258.
1. Visschers letter No. 3.

17 - &



1“ a 8

were very polite and courteous in their relations with their
European rivals. Foreign ships could visit their port at Cochin
and they used to receive foreigners in their fort with great
courtesy. Galletti in this connection makes reference to one
James Forbes a servant of the English East India Company who
wrote in his Oriental Memoirs that during his wvisits to Cochin
on his company’s business he always received the kindest atten-
tion from - the Governor and the principal inhabitants. The
English and the Dutch seem to have joined in a combinetl
expedition against the pirates in 1750. When the English at
Tellicherry were attacked by Hyder Ali, the Dutch Governor
wrote courteous letters to the English and even complied with
their requisitions for supplies. This may beé because of the fact
that Hyder was the common enemy of both the English and the
Dutch, Later when Tippu invaded theé Travancore lines and
threatened an invasion of the Cochin Fort, we find the- Dutch
applying to the English for help. The Dutch proposed a joint
action against the Mysoreans, But, the English gave only an
evasive reply to the overtures of the Dutch, Before the final
expulsion of the Dutch from Cochin, the English had gained a
depot there, Galletti quotes a letter from Col, Hartléy which .
states * having a greater quantity of stores and ammunition
than is immediately wanted to thc field, I have madé a depot
at Cochin, the Governor Mynheer Anglebeck readily offering
every assistance,'’

The Dutch and the English in Malabar blamad each other
for misgovernment and tyranny. Visscher's letters contain
descriptive details of the high handed policy of the English in
Malabar especially in Anjengo and Attingal. Visscher also tries
to bring out details sbout the oppressive administration of
Tellicherry and other parts by the English. The English also
were laying special emphasis on the unpopularity of the Dutch
in the west coast. We find the Governor of Fort Marlborough
writing to the Governor of Fort St. George that the Dutch
Government was everywhere abhorred by the country people and
that the appearance of ships alone at some settlements would
occasion a revolt. The fact is that the Malabar people liked

1. Military consultations. Vel 133 1o the Fort Si. George Records.
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neither the English nor the Duatch even though both claimed the
support of the people.

The Dutch had very little to do with the French in India.
The settlements of the French in India were too weak %o be
counted as rivals for the Dutch, Their factory as Dr. Fryer says
was better stored with monsieurs than with cash. The French
had established a temporary settlement at Tellicherry before the
English had established theirs. Bnt their business in Tellicherry -
was very insignificant. Occasionally we find the Dutch
Governors complaining of the supplies of arms given by the
French to the native chieftains. But the French attempted to
contest for supremacy in Malabar only after the Dutch had left it

CHAPTER XI
PoriTical axn Socrar CoxpiTioNs oF MALABAR IN THE
Dutce FPERIOD.

VIESCHER'S letters contain interesting details about the

political and social conditions of Malabar in the 18th
century. Even though most of his cbservations are correct he
showed a tendency to stress those facts which he thought would
provide interesting reading to his coimtrymen in Holland. In
this respect hls accounts suffer from the usual defects as are
characteristiC of the records of all foreign writers.

Malabar has never been a single political unit, if we ignore
the traditional account of Cheraman Perumal's sovereignty.
Foreign travellers in Malabar in the 14th century note that the
country was divided among twelve kings. Tbn Batuta observes
“In this countrv of Malabar are twelve kings, the greatest of
whom has 50,000 troops at his command."” The reference here
to the greatest of the Malabar kings is probably the Zamorin.
When the Portuguese visited Malabar, they found the country
divided among a multiplicity of princes and chieftains. Golle-
nesse in his memoirs mentions about more than forty five

®Ehigftains in Malabar. Moens notes that the chief princes of
Malabar were the Zamorin of Calicut, the Rajas of Cochin and
Travancore and the Kolathiri, He also makes mention of the

/ -
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large number of local chieftains and nobles in Malabar who
enjoyed a partial degree of sovereign anthority, But these
chieftains were subordinate to the four principal Swaroopams of
Nediyirippu (Calicut), Perimbatappu (Cochin), Thrippappil
(Travancore) and Kolathunadu (Kolathiri).

We have seen how these different princes were in frequent
wars with one another. The accounts of Fra. Bartomomeo
relating to the political situation in Malabar are worth quoting.
“The princes who were not unanimous among themselves
attacked each other’s territories: carried away their subjects
asscaptives, excited the chief men against one another, deprived

_several families of their property and as they were too weak to
subdue an opulent and high spirited people gave to some private
individuals full freedom to revenge the injuries .which they had
suffered . In some respects the political condition of Malabar
in_the beginning of the 18th century bears resemblance to that
of Italy before it was united under the house of Savoy. Bat
Malabar had no Cavour with lofty schemes of political unifi-
cation or no Garibaldi with a daring zeal of selfless patriotism.
The military activities of Marthanda Varma were the outcome
of an inordinate personal ambition. He was never inspired
by any sentiment of national unification or patriotism. His great
achievements were the annihilation of the feudal nobility and the
creation of the powerful State of Travancare. The Raja of Cochin
no doubt had toconcede some teritories to Marthanda Varma.
The Zaniorin of Calicat had to give up his political designs over
southern Malabar, Towards the end of the Datch period we
find the powerful State of Travancore in the south with extensive
territories, Cochin shorn of her possessions in the south, and the
Zomorin confiined to his territories in the north. The Kolathiri
ceased to be a ruling power. Tt was only a question of time for
the Zamorin to bear the fate of the Kolathiri.

The Dutch period in Malabar is significant as it witnessed
the fall of the Nair nobility. The Nair chiefs of Malabar even

though they recognised the authority of the Kshatriya princes,
were de-facto sovereigns in their owp estates, Logan says that

the position which was occupied by the Nairs in the ciyil and
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military organisation of Malabar was the central point of interest
in any descriptive and historical account of the Malayalee race.
* It was a position " he says ** so_unique and so lasting that but
for foreign intervention there seems no reason why it should not
have continued for centuries to come. Their functions in the
bady politic have been v wisely described in their own traditions as
* the eye ", * the hand " and ** the order.” Logan also refers to
the martial spirit and traditions of the Nairs. This martial
spirit was kept up by their frequent wars with one another.
They had also their own systems of duels and * kutippaka.' The
latter was a custom by which the chieftains took revenge for any
murder in the family. There were institutions known as * kalaris ’
to give training for the people in the art of warfare. The Kalari
was a gymnasium where practical instruction in fighting was given
bjr an ‘asan’ or experienced veteran teacher. The Malabar
princes had large numbers of trained Nair warriors in their
services, The strength of a prince depended mainly upon his
Nair force. We have already seen the great part played by the
Nair forces in the wars of Malabar, The Nair soldiers were
directly under their Nadu Vazhis whose services were requisitioned
by the princes. '‘The Nadu Vazhi was the military chief of the
district and was bound to attend the Raja on the fisld, or march
whereever he was directed with all the fighting men of his
district, under the Desavazhis or heads of their respective
villages. It was also his duty in times of peace to assemble the
Nairs of his district every two or three yearsin order to exhibit
in the presence of the Raja, a mock or rather real fiight with the
Nairs of another district................ These combats were
instituted with a view of keeping up the martial spirit of the
Nairs."

With the destruction of the power of the Nair nobles, their
martial spirit also declined. We hawe seen how Marthanda
Varma ,succeeded in stamping out Nair predominance in his
country. The destruction of the Ettu Veettil Pillamars marked
the end of Nair hegemony in Malubar, This policy was followed
by the Cochin Raja also and we have seen how in his country
too the power of the Nairs came to an end. The distruction of

1. K,P.P Menon. His. of Kerala. Vel i, P 31,
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the power of the Nairs in Calicut was not the work of its king.
It was carried out by the Mysorean invaders. Bya vigorous
policy of persecution, Tippu broke the backbone of the Nair
nobility in North Malabar, The destruction of the power of the
feudal nobles brought about a complete change in the social and
political system of Malabar. Tts direct result was the centralisa-
tion of the political power. [t strengthened the tyrannical
position of the ruling chieftains. As Logan observes the Nair _
nobles had formed tae bulwark against the tyranny and oppression
of their own rulers. Now this bulwark was destroved.

Even though the Nairs were the predominant people in
Malabar, the Namboodiries too were fairly prominent. Visscher
notes that the Namboodiries were * exercising secular authority, "t
They were “the possessors of certain domains with Nairs or
soldiers in their service over whom they had the power of capital
punishment.”* “They had also the patronage of all offices and
dignities within their territories........they were also sometimes

lords over certain territories exercising the right of making war,”

The Namboodiries were generally rich land lords and as such they
commanded great influence in the country. Some Namboodiri
brahmins were sovereign kings, for example the Namboodiri
Rajas of Etapalli, Porakkad, Paroor, ete.

Besides the Namboodiries there were the ¢ Caimals?’
and ‘Rasidoors.’ The Caimals, were temporad potentates,
possessing the right of making war. Some of them were subject
to the princes in whose territories they are situated, but
others were independent; the difference depended on the
privilege they received in ancient times, Visscher says there

1. Yisscher letier No. XII1.

2. The tradidon of Malsbar is that the country was given .to the
~Namboodiries by Parasurama. The Namboodiries ruled over the coantry for
same time. Larter with the rise of monarchical sysiem the Namboadiries had to
give op much of thelr secular anthority. There were however a few soversign
rulers among them ex : the-Rajahs of Edappalli, Porakad & Parur.

3. The Caimals were the principal nebles of tha country. Some peity
rulers were also known as ‘' Caimals’ and ' Karthavus - eg. ' Kodaser
Karthava " ** Mangattn Kaimal,"
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were about fifty Caimals in Cochin alone. ““Rasidoors were lords
who have been raised by the Raja's to certain commands over
the army or country. In may places they were appointed to
govern a district or town in the nameof the prince,” Besides
these chieltsins there was another class of -Menons whose chief
work was to write the letters of their Raja.' Menon was the
title conferred by the Rajas on the Nairs. Visscher says there
were higher titles than Menon like * Menon Mare " and * Goerype '
(Kurup).

Special mention has been made about the Syrian Christians
of Malabar by all the Dutch writers, Visscher writes that all
Christians iy Malabar were divisible into three classes—* the
Europeans, the principal ol whom were the Putug!msa,‘ﬂu
English and the Dutch; the Topasses, who sprang  from mixed
races of whites and Indians and the native Christians of unmixed
race,” The native Chiristians were divided into two groups,
viz., new Christians and St. Thomas Christians. The new
Christians were mostly converts from low castes. The St. Thomas
Christians or Syrian Christians believe that they: have besn

1. The Malabar Kaja's used to employ large number of scribes to look
alter their secretarial work. Palmyra leaves were used for writing porposes.,
These royal scribes were hereditary digailaries having special rights and
privileges traditionally attached to their office. - Barbosa gives the following
mccount about the royal scribes at Calicut:—

*The King of Calicot keeps many clerks constaintly in his place ; they are
all in one room. separate and far from the King, sitting on benches and they
write all the affairs of the Kings' revenoe and his alms and that which is given

 atall and the complaints which are presented tothe Kingand at the same
time the account of the collectors of taxes. All thisis en broad stiff leaves
of the palm tree, without ink, with pens of ivon.”

Rel. Barbosa  *'Description of the coasts of Africa and’ Malabar in the
beginning of the 16th century” P 110

2. "Menon Mare ' “This is no higher dignity being simply the plural
form of the singular Menon, meaning seribe. The title of Menon is conferrsd
by the Raja on Nairs. The applicant presents himself before the Kaja and pays
a small sum of money, ol exceeding Hs 6 and the Rajaif the application is
accepled, calls him by his name with the lerm “Menon' added three times
over, and he is thenceforward styled Aenon by all.”

Ref- K P. i Menon, History of Kerala Val. II P. 425—26.
P i
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originally converted by the Apestle St. Thomas himself—a tale
in Visscher's! opinion, mnot to be scoffed at. They are called
Syrians because their churches were under the supervision of
Syrian Bishops and they followed the Syrian language for their
church rites. Among the Syrian Christians there were Roman
Catholics also. The Syrians had suffered many persecutions from
the papists and Visschar notes that many of their churches have
been seized by the Roman Catholics in'the time of the Portuguese.

Moens makes some observations about the history of the
Syrian Christians in Malabar, In 1751 three Syrian bishops were
sent to Malabar by the patriarch of Antioch. When they first
arrived at * bassora in Persia * they were kindly recgived by the
officers of the Duch Company there. They were brought to
Malabar in one of the Company's ships, * During their stay in
LCochin they were assigned suitable lodgings by the Dutch Com-
mander and shown every courtesy, Mar Thome, the local Syrian
bishop, refused to pay respects to the visitors. The Dutch com-
mander was going to have him brought to Cochin by force, but
he came to hear of it and fled inland and they could not lay
hands on him "'. In 1753 on the occasion of a meeting between
the king of Travancore and the Dutch Commander, the three
Syrian bishops were introduced to the king and recommended for
his special protection. The Syrian Christians in the Dutch period
were always engaged in party quarrels and fights.

The Roman Catholics were numerically supperior to the
Syrian Christians. Visscher notes that in his time they had two
Bishops and one Archbishop. The Archbishop had his residence
at ** Ambekatt a few leagues from Cochin.” The Dutch Com-
mander used to show great respect to the Romish Bishops
“saluting them with a display of arms and firing of cannon,
showing to them the same honour as to Kngs." There wasa
Roman Bishop at Cranganore who was under the protection of
the Company. There was no fear for the Dutch that the Romish
priests would intrigue with the Portuguese against them as the
Portuguese and these priests were always at variance with one
another. /

1. Visicher's letters 15.
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Among the Roman Christians was included the class of
Topasses.! Moens notes that a great number of these Topasses
were to be found near the forts of the Company. They were
proselytes of the Portuguese. “They were so much attached
to their religion that nothing wonld induce them to give it up.
Their superstitions out did even those of the Portuguese and the
Spaniards.” Topasses were the ofi-springs of Portuguese marry-
ing natives.'

There were many Jews in Malabar especially at Cochin.
The Chief Jew settlements were at ““Cranganore, Parur, Maday
and Paluthi.” The Jews had always found protection at the
hands of the Malabar princes. During the perind of Dutch
supremacy, the Jews at Cochin were under the leadership of a
chief-tain called the ‘ Mudaliar.,” When Cochin was captured by
the Dutch, the Jews came under their protection. The Jews had
assisted? the Dutch when they were carrying on their seige of
Cochin.

The Jews had always been persecuted by the Portuguese
and that was the main reason that induced them to side with the
Dutch in their attempts to capture the fort of Cochin.,, The Jews
in Malabar were distinguished into two classes, white and black

1. Moen makes the fnllowing observations about them :—* On the taking
of Cochin there yere many Topasses here and along the coast who wers the
descendants of the Mortuguese. Some were slaves who had been given their
freedam, others were the oft-springs of native women with whom their masters
had formed temporary alliances, Alter the Portuguese left the place they
assumed the surnames of their masters. Prior to 1663 they had a Bishop of
their own, and a cnthedral within the town of Cochin  When the company
took the place they came under their protection and were allowed the exercise
of their religion, They were placed under a captain and four ensigns as well
s other subordinates.”

2, Moens ohserves as follows :—"'They furnished the troopa of the Duich
company with victuals and all other assistance hoping that they would enjoy
under this company the gréatest civil and religions liberty. Bot when our
troops were compelled before the end of the good monscon to leave this coast
without having bien able to take Cochin, the Fortuguese did ot Iail to make
the Jews feel the terrible censequences of their revenge  For no sooer had
the Dutch retreated than a detachgent of soldiers wassent to the Jewish
guarters and pillaged itand setit on fir- The inbabitants then fled to the
high-lands and only returned after Cochin was taken by the Dutch,

Y 18
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jews. The white Jews claim to be the original settlers in Malabar.
They were mainly foreign immigrants into Cochin from Europe,
Arabia and Persia. The black Jews, larger in number than the
white Jews, were mostly natives or of a mixed Jewish-native
arigin."

The Dutch writers make special mention of the * Moor ' or
the Mohomedans in Malabar.® The Moors were the chief foes the
Portuguese had to encounter in Malabar. The arrival of the
Portugunese in Malabar roused the jealousy of the Mohomedans
who had the monopoly of trade. The Mohomedans? were there-
fore vigorously attacking the attempts of the Portuguese in
establishing domination in Malabar. They were very influential
at Calicut and ‘‘indeed were almost masters of the place.'!
The Dutch company used to enter into an agreement with the
chief Mohamedan chieftain every year for the supply of turmeric.

1 Visscher makes the following observation about the Whita and Black
Jews in Malabar :— "The black and white Jews inhahit the sams District, the
latter occupying the banks of the river. The white are moch richer and more
powerfnl than the black who are mostly of the slave race and amonnt, I have
been told. to'2,000 souls in Malabar. The number of white Jews who have of
late come here from Earope, Bagdad and Cairo is small ; buot there are some
also who have been setiled bere for many centuries. They try as much as
possible to prevent inter-marriages with the biack Jews, although these some-
times take place.”' Rel. Visscher's letter No. 15

e

2. A very good aunthority for the origin and early history_of the Muslims
in Malabar is ‘Tufat-Al-Muojahidin® of Shaiykh Zaynod Din, translated {rom
Arabic into English by 1.1, M. ], Rowlandson of the Madras Army in 1533
and published for the Orisntal Translation Fund of Great Britain; a revised
and annotated translation was recently poblished by the Madras University,
toe transiator being Dr. Mohomed Husayn Nainar

3. Day makes the following observations about the Malabar Muslims
{who are called Manpilas), *'Atthe end of the last century when Malabar
vwis distracted by wars and desolated both by those who called themselves its
friends as well as its avowed enemies, the Mappilas were divided into two
distinct classes, those residing along the sea coast who were traders or large
farmers; and those infand called “Jungle Mappilas' who lived by rapine,
murder and kidnapping children some of whom they sold as slaves 1o the
supper-cargoes of vessels, but (o the greater part $o the French at 'Mahe and
the Dutch in Cochin.” '

4. Visscher's letters XIX.
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b



\

,

The most powerful of the Moors was the Ali Raja of Canna-
nore with whom the Dutch had entered into many treaties,

Moens observes that there were many ‘‘foreign heathens in
Malabar” during the Dutch period of hegemony, ‘They were
divided into four classes," he writes—*Pandits Canarians (Konka-
nies), Banias and silver-smiths,”” There were about 25 Pandits
in Malabar according to Moens. They were Tamil or Telugu
Brahmins proficient in some branch of Sanskrit learning. They
were acting as priests to the other three classes, About the
Canarians, Moens makes the following observations :—** They get
their living chiefly by trade ; for most of them are traders. But
there are also many who apply themselves to agriculture. Some
of the tradmg Canarians are prominent wholesale merchants
trading with foreign nations, others native traders, others are
retailers and supply everything domestic except live stock. For
this purpose they have their stalls or little shops underneath the
houses in the town, which they rent from the residents. For the
use of these stalls they have besides the rent to pay certain taxes
annually to the poor house. They keepin stock all kinds of
fruits, vegetables, flowers, betel leaves, areca, rice, clothes and
Chinese goods and articles which they have exchanged with the
Maco' traders for other goods or brought from them." The
Canarians or Konkanies were under the protection of the Dutch
and subject to their jurisdiction. (We have referred to the
frequent quigrels between Cochin and the Dutch over the ques-
tion of this jurisdiction). The Banyas were a trading caste in
Malabar, not so numerous as the Konkanies. They were also
under the special jurisdiction of the Company. Moens also makes
refefence to the silversmiths, dyers and shoe makers.

Visscher® gives an interesting account about the mode of
Government prevalent in Malabar at that time, *The Raja is
supreme in those dominians which were subject to him, but not
in the free inheritance which belonged to the minor Rajas and
Caimals. ....... They know little of assemblies, councils and
parliaments. The Raja chooses his favourites at his pleasure,
consulting them in particular cases, but generally being guided

1. Portuguese town in Chiga.
2, VYisscher letter No. XI
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solely by his own will, unless that will should entirely counter to
the custums of the country.” No doubt the Rajas were arbitrary
in the exercise of their powers, But the arbitrary authority of
the Raja was only a later development. The Malabar Rajas
originally were mere feudal chieftalns depending for their power
on the allegiance of their feudal nobles, The nobles held lands
on feudal tenure and undertook to support the Rajas with men
and money in times of war. It was the arrival of the Europeans
that brought about the radical change in the political system of
Malabar. The foreign merchants assisted the Rajas by supplying
them with arms and ammunition and soldiers trained in new
methods of warfare. This strengthened the position of the Rajas
as against their feudal nobles whose support they required no
more. The Rajas realised that they could carry out their designs
with the suppart of foreigners and launched on a new policy of
suppressing the power of their feudal nobility. The foreign
merchants helped them in this task as they found that the power
of the feudal barons was not coducive to the advancement of their
commercial enterprise. In 1723 the English at Anjengo “resolved
inspite of money expenses to put down theenemies and subject
the country to the King.” The foreign merchants ** preferred to
have on the throne a despotic sovereign unaided by council or
clergy who could of his own accord assign them monopolies of the
produce they come in quest of and enforce the same witha
strong arm.” As we have already seen, Marthanda Varma was
the first prince of Malabar who struck the tatal blow"at the power
of the feudal barons, When he organised a powerful standing
army and trained the soldiers in novel methods of warfare under
the supervision of western generals, the power of the lpcal
borons ceased to exist. His policy was successfully followed in
other parts of Malabar,

Before this scheme of centralisation of power was carried
out, the national assemblies were playing a prominent part in
State administration. The system of village republics existed
in Malabar from very ancient times. *Socially and politically
they exercised considerable influence on the community, They
formed centres of local self government. They managed sl local
affairs, possessed common funds, levied cesses to meet certain
local expenses and acted as arbitrators or judges in matters of
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dispute arising between persons living within the limits of their
Jocal jurisdiction,”’' The National assemblies form a peculiar
teature in the early political organisation of Malabar, They were
in existence from pre-historic days and had always acted as a
curb on the despotic tendencies of the administrators. The
power of these assemblies was so great that the Rajas were
bound to consult them for all important matters, Dr, Fryer
(17th century) describes the Sates of Malabar as “having a
government most like aristicracy of any in the east, each State
having a representative and he to act according to the votes of
the Nair gentry in full assembly.”” But the power of these
assemblies had generally declined during Visscher's time ; they were
“ pever held except in cases of emergency.” Visscher notes that
there were two kinds of assemblies—one assembling under orders
of the Raja and another by the spontaneous will of the people.
But the Rajas were doing everything in their power to put down
the influence of these assemblies. The arrival of Europeans,
the assistance they rendered to the Rajus, the invasion of the
Mysoreans—all these resulted in the annihilation of the old feudal
system in Malabar and its replacement by a powerful monarchea]
despotism, The observations of Mr. Murdoch Brown to
Dr. Buchanan are worth quoting in this connection, * By this
new order of things the Rajas were vested with despotic autho-
rity over the other inhabitants, instead of the very limited
prerogatives that they had enjoyed by the feudal system under
which they would neither extract revenue from the lands of their
vassals nor edercise any direct authority in their districts. Thus
the ancient constitution of Government was in a great measure
destroyed without any other being substituted in its room.
The Raja was no longer what he had been, the head of a feudal
aristocracy with limited authority, but the all powerful deputy
of a despotic prince, whose military force was always at his
command to curb or chastise any of the chieftains who were
inclined to dispute or disobey his mandates.”™

1. History of Kerala by K. P. P*Menon, Vol, 1, P. 255,
2. Canara & Malabar by Dr. Clandius Buchanan, Vel 11—P. 180,
'ﬂ



CHAPTER XII

THE SYSTEM OF ADMINISTRATION IN MALABAR
IN THE DUTCH PERIOD

WE- hawve deseribed in the previous chapter the political condi-

tions in Malabar in the 17th and 18th centuries and
referred to the growth of royal absolutism. But royal absolutism
did not mean the unrestrained tyrrany of the Rajas. Writing
about the middle of the 18th century, Gollennesse observes,
* One point must be noticed here which is of great importance in
the company's service, viz., although the kings and princes
exercise great authority over their subjects, affairs are so
regulated by the laws of Cheraman Perumal that their rule can
in no way be called despotic. Subjects obey their king ungrodg-
ingly as long as he remains within the limits of the law.”
Gollennesse notes that the people implicity obeyed the Raja only
when he was within the limits of the laws. But if the Rajas
were to issue orders calculated to injure the interests of the whole
community, they would not be obeyed. A similar observation
has been made by Van Rheede' in his memorandum. He says
** Subjects are not bound to observe any orders, commands or
whims and council decisions of the king which are not in con-
firmity with their laws welfare or privileges, and have not been
approved in their own district and ratified at the meeting of their
district assemblies.” Van Rheede again notes:  ‘‘ No King of
Malabar has the power to make contracts which are prejudicial
to the interests of the land lords, noblemen or Nairs, such a king
would run the danger of being expelled and rejected by his
subjects.”” When we examine the early treaties between the
Dutch company and the Rajas, we invariably notice that these
treaties have been concluded with the consent of the chief nobles,
We find in these agreements clauses which definitely assert the
consent and co-operation of the nobles,* Martin Huisman says
that * the kings had indeed the power to make certain treaties

1. Memorandum of Hendrick Van Rheede, Pama (11).

2. Reler to the treatics between the Cochin Rajaand the Dutch in 1674,
1679, 1681, eic.
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which might in some measure extend the jurisdiction of trade by
sea but they could not do so against private rights.”

People used to assert their rights not only in cases of
contracts and treaties, but in matters of taxation also. A
notable instance of this kind may be seen in the resolutions
passed by the ‘nattars’ of Nanjanadu protesting against the
illegal impositions of the Travancore Raja. A resolution passed
by the Nattars in December 1713 says ... .Hereafter we should
in accordance with the Royal commands of our sovereign
Kulssekharaperumal continue to pay * Anjili’ and * Melvaram *
alone, but not any °‘Kottappanam' and unusual taxes and
should protest against such attempts by unitedly making a bold
stand and (if necessary) by emigrating. We should honourably
keep up all the privileges or rights which our ancestors enjoyed
in old days. . ..:.In thus asserting our rights if any Pidagai or
village or any single individual is subjected to loss by acts of
Government, we should support them by re-imbursing such loss
from our common funds. If at such times any one should get
into the secrets of Government and impair the privileges or rights
of the country, he should be subjected to public inquiry by the
« Nattars.” Flight to the mountains abandoning cultivation
seems to have been the retaliating step taken up by the people
against excessive taxes. A resolution passed ina meeting of
ryots at Nanjanad dated r6th Karkatakam 898 M. E. (1722) says
« On account ®f the heavy taxes imposed on us and the cruel
{reatment we were subjected to till the Kumbhom harvest of
895 M. E., we were forced to leave our fields uncultivated during
the whole of the year 8g6 and retreat to the mountains,”” The
following resolutions passed by the ryots of Nanjanad will prove
their great zeal for popular rights:—*We will be prepared to
make a bold stand and resist by force if any meanness be taken
to enforce the unjust imports and even be willing to migrate into
another country, leaving our Kumbhom crop behind.” ** If any-
body were to betray the proceedings of this assembly being
bribed by the Government Officers or consent to pay the unjust

1. Quoted by Nagam Aivya [rom the edicts found mmong the records ol
the Perinvitte Modaliar, :

He: Trav: State Manual Vol I, Ch. VI, P. 319—23,

h‘
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taxes he shall be liable to pay with his person and property the
penalty for such gross treachery.” *If any person from Nanjanad
north and south serve as an accountant under the Government
or betray our affairs, he shall pay the penalty by forfeiting
his property.” The ryots of Nanjanad conclnded their resolu-
tions by swearing by their deities “ Thammalaya Perumal and

Bhoothalingam ™ that they would preserve the rights of their
assemblies,

The spirit and enthusiasm shown by the ryots of Nanjanad
were characteristic of the people of Malabar in the 17th century
and the early half of the 18th century. We have already des-
cribed the circumstances by which popular rights had to give
place to royal authority.

The system of administration in the countries of Malabar
was essentially of an orthodox Hindu pattern. According to the
traditions of Malabar, the country was originally entrusted by
Parasurama to the Brahmin Namboodiries. They followed the
typical traditions of the Hindu polity.

The joint family was the unit of the social system. A
number of joint families constituted a village. Villages were
administered by autonomous repablics or village assemblies,

The country was divided into Nadus which were sub-divided
into Desams, The village headman was known as Desa Vzshi
or Madambi. The Desa Vazshi was in charge of he administra-
tion of the village temple and its properties. He hgd the general
superintendance of all the affairs of the Desam or village, Some-
times two or three villages were under the jurisdiction of one
Desa Vazhi. He assisted the Government in the collection of
revenues and other dues, He had to supply a fixed quota of
soldies to the king in times of war, He exercised certain police
and judicial authority in the village with the help of the
* Pramanis’ or lcading citizens. The * Pramanis‘ had no here-
ditary rights. * Any respeetable man in the village who was
considered as more intelligent than his neighbours and who was
on that account resorted to by the inhabitants [or the adjust-
ments of their little differences gradually acquired among them
the title of Pramani.*"! If a village had no Pramanis to settle

1. K.P.P. Menon. History of Kerala. Val, I1. P, 375,
r
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disputes, the inhabitants used to carry their complaints to the
Pramanis of the neighbouring village. The Desa Vazhis and
Pramanis were paid by the litigants for the settlement of their
disputes. The Desa Vazhi had other sources of income, He was
entitled to the produce of one plantain tree and one cocoanut
tree from every landlord besides contribution for ghee, sugar, etc.

The Nadu Vazhi was an officer superior to the Desa Vazhi.
He was the chief of a Nadu or district and exercised jurisdiction
over all the villages in his Nadu. He had a share in the royal
revenue besides numerous other sources of income., He was the
chief police, judicial and military officer of the district.

The Nadu Vazhi was subject to the jurisdiction of the Raja
to whom he supplied soldiers in times of war. The Rajas were
assisted by their prime ministers in all matters of administration,
Prime Ministers in Cochin and Calicut were hereditary officers;
the Paliath Achens were the hereditary prime ministers of Cochin
while Mangat Achens were the hereditary prime ministers of
Calicut. In Travancore, however, the office was not hereditary.

Concerning the administrative system of Calicut, Buchanan
says that the business of the State was conducted*by the Zamorin,
with the help of four hereditary officers called * Sarvadhikariakars.”
They were (1) Mangat Achen (2) Tinancherry Ellayatu (3)
Dharmothu Panikker (4) Paranambi. There were inferior
Kariakars appointed by the king for the collection of revenues
and customg. The defence of the country rested entirely on such
of the Nairs as received arms from the Zamorin. In cases of
emergency certain tributary chiefs were summoned to supply the
king with soldiers. :

Mangat Achen, the Zamorin's hereditary prime minister, had
his original seat at Chattodathu Idom in Vattoli where he enjoyed
the title of * Valunnavar’ under the Rajas of Kottayam. His
services were permanently transferred to the Zamorin by one of
the Rajas of Kottayam.

Dharmoth Panikker or Tamme Panikker was the com-
mander-in-chief of the Zamorin's army. He was in charge of
the Zamorin’s kalari where instructions in warfare were given
to Nair youths. Tinayanchery Elayadu and Paranampi were
Brahmin ministers of the Zamorin. ** A distinction was obeserved

19
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between the ministers and the Nadu Vazhis, though both held
their offices by hereditory right. While the ministers like the
Nadu Vazhis had to obtain the recognition of the Zamorin in the
form of a writ or sannad before they could succeed to their
predecessor’s place, in theory their appointments ceased with the
death of the Zamorin, as being attached to his person, and there-
fore had to be renewed at the Ariyittu Vazcha by his successor,”

The administrative system of Travancore was different from
that of Cochin or Calicut. The Raja appointed his Dewan or
Dalawa and there was no hereditary rule of succession. Sociaj
distinctions or rank were never the qualification for the appoint-
ment of the Dalawas in Travancore. The greatest ministers of
Travancore—Rama Iyen and Kesava Pillai—were persons who
rose from low official ranks to high positions of eminence by
virtue of their conspicuous abilities. The following accounts
abouts the administrative system of Travancore are taken from
the Report of Lieutenant Arthur.! “Under the Dalawa or
Dewan there is a chain of officers all dependant on each other
in regular gradation for the management of the revenue and
all other aﬁau’s of Government; thus the whole country is
parcelled out into a certain number of grand divisions over
each of which a principal officer termed Valia Sarvadhikariakar
presides and his authority extends to all matters of a revenue,
commercial and judicial nature. These great portions of the
country are again divided into a certain number of parts
each under the secondary controlling management of a Sarvadhi-
kariakar and these again are subdivided into districts under
the management of a kariakar who has s residency in certain
principal placesin his district. Other officers termed Proverthicars
are the last in gradation among the managing officers of
respectability, but under them again there are several inferior
afficers called Chandrakars, Toracars and Villakkars or peons
who have each « distinct and separate office. Besides the
above there isan officer appointed in each of the three great
divisions who is entitled the Melu Vicharippuker and the nature
of his office is partly judicial."”

Visscher's letters contain descriptive details about the
administrative system of Cochin. *“ The Raja chooses his

1. Li, Arthur's Keport—Selections from :hu.ﬂmd; of Tra P. 18,

'-“
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favourites at his pleasure, consulting them in particular cases,
but generally being guided solely by his own will, unless that will
should run entirely counter to the customs of the conntry. Many
keep near them a Brahmin to instruct them in the fundamental
and long established laws and customs.”! The Raja appointed
royal guards to safeguard his possessions. ' These guards were
bound to defend such places at risk of their lives and to attack
the assailants for whose death they were not held responsible.”

The administrative system in Cochin was essentially different
from that of the other countries, as the Raja had placed himself
by treaty obligations under the protection of the Dutch Company,
Even though the Dutch did not directly interfere in internal
administration, the Raja used to take their advice in all
important matters. The administration of Cochin was carried
out by a body of ministers consisting of Paliath Achen, Thala-
chennor, Manakkotta Achen and a captain appointed by the
Dutch Company.® Paliath Achen was the hereditary prime
minister and commander-in-chief of Cochin. The ministers,
however, had no jurisdiction over the foreigners and the
Christians who were under the special protection of the Company.
Besides these ministers, there were other administrative officers
like Sarvadhikariakar, Kariakar, Menon, Mudalpidi, Niyogagan-
mar, etc. The Dutch and the Raja jointly exercised the right
of removing these officers inall cases of miscondnct? The
heir-apparent was stricly forbidden to interfere in the administra-
tion,

REVENUE ADMINISTRATION

Visscheer! gives the following account concerning the revenue
administration in Malabar in general and Cochin in particular:—
#The Malabar States in common with all others in the world
possess certain fixed revenues and funds for replenishing the
treasury and maintaining royal form and the welfare of the State,
though here the Raja’s incomes are not very large or outof the
common, Their chief profits are derived from their private
estates and the inferior princes are often richer than the reigning

Visscher's letters No. X1

Reler treaties of 1674 and 1882
Keler to the treaty of 1684
Visachers letter No. XI.

;#I.-.-M.—
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sovereign being possessed of larger free and hereditary properties.”
Commerce was a source of great income to the Rajas, especially
to those who had forts in their possession, In Cochin, a ten per
cent duty was levied on all goods imported into the kingdom and
six per cent on all exports. All goods imported by the Dutch
Company were free from duties, The Dutch had also a share of
the doties imposed on goods brought into Cochin, the ratio
with Cochin being 4 : 6. Visscher! mentions many other
sources of revenue for the Cochin Raja. All merchandise con-
veyed by inland navigation pay a Jenmakara or toll of one per
cent to the Raja. The Raja is entitled to the duties on Tobacco.
All gardens situated in Karappuram pay a tenth of their fruits
to the Raja. Onall debts discharged under sentence from the
Raja he receives twenty per cent. Mothers present an off-spring
on the birth of their children. He is the inheritor of the property
of all, who die without heirs and sometimes when there are blood
relations living. He receives an acknowledgment in money for
every office or dignity he confers. Apart from this he is entitled
to certain customary presents from his subjects. [f he sent his
guards to the assistance of any one, he could expect a valuable
present in return, The punishment for criminal offences was
often in the form of heavy fines which also formed a source of
income for the Raja. Also, the Raja received a fee for the
execution of all legal documents.

The following were some of the important sourges of income
for the Rajas of Malabar.*

(1) *‘Amkam’—or battle wager,

(2) 'Chomkam’—or customs duties. The Rajas levied
customs duties on imports and exports and also on transports
both by land and sea,

(3) “Ezha’—It was often in the form of a fine or penalty.

(4) ‘Kozha'—This was a forcible contribution in cases of
EmErgency.

(5) ‘Tappu’—It was a fine imposed by the Raja upon
those who were convicted of unintentional offences.

1. Visschers' letter Mo, X1

2. Maneal of the Malabar District. Appendix X111.  Also, History of
Kerala. Val, I1, P, 324—336
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(6) ‘Pizha'—It was a fine imposed on criminals “according to
the magnitude of the crime and the circumstances of the criminal.
It sometimes extended to the total confiscation of property.

(7) ‘Purushintaram’ or succession duty. Whenever an heir
succeeded to an eminent position as Nadu Vazhi, Desa Vazhi
or land lord, he was expected to pay a stipulated amount as
revenue to the Raja.

(8) ‘Pulayithu Pennu'—The Raja had the right to dispose
of the women who were convicted of offences like adultery. The
Rajas used to exact large amounts of money from their families
for their potection. He could alsosell them to whomsoever he
pleased,

(0) ‘Kazhcha'—It consisted of presents made by the people
to the Raja on ceremonial occassions,

(10) ‘Dathu Kazhcha'—It was a fee imposed on persons who
wanted legal sanction to make adoptions.

(11) ‘Ponnarippu’—This was the share given to the Raja for
the sifting of gold.

(12) ‘Attatakkam'—or escheat,

(13) ‘Atimappanam’—It was the yearly payment made by
the Raja's slaves.

(14) ‘Chérjkkal'—These were the Raja’s private dominions
acquired by Japse or escheat.

(15) ‘Aimula’—Cows with five dugs belonged to the Raja,
(16) “Kumula'—Cows with three dugs belonged to the Raja.

(17) ‘Cehnkompu’—Cattle that were employed for bull fights,
ete., were the Raja's property,

(18) ‘Piaivalu'—Cattle with a marked tail.

(19) *Kannata Pully'—Beeves born with a peculiar white
spot near the cye.

(20) ‘Anapiti'—Wild elephants caught from jungles,

(21) ‘Utanja Urnkkal'—This meant ship-wrecked vessels.

(22) “Kinattil Panni’—Wild animals that had fallen into wells
or pits.
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(23) ‘Kompu'

{24) ‘Kuravo’ These were the presents to be made to the
(25) "Valu® Raja atter all hunting expeditions.
{26) Toly'

(27) ‘Talappanam’—Poll tax levied on certain occassions
from poor classes.

(28) All precious metals or stones.

(20) Cardamoms, teack, jack and blackwood trees, ebony,
bamboos, honey and wax.

(30) ‘Valappanam'—a tax paid by fishermen.

(31) ‘Changatam’—It was the fee paid by a person for
enjoying the special protection by the king’s guards,

(32) ‘Raksha Bhogam’—Potection money.

Apart from these sources of income the Raja was entitled to
land tax also equal to about one fifth of the produce of the land,
Whether or not the Malabar Rajas exacted a land tax in addition
to the numerous other revenues, isa question of dispute. It
appears there was no land tax in Malabar before the Mysorean
invasions, Justice Kunhi Raman Nair! - observes :—“Land taxes
were unknown in Keralam in ancient days. The ruler derived
his income from other sources thanland tax. The Rajas
and Perumals also do not appear to have exacted regular land
tax untila period when necessity for warlike preparations
ceased, though when powerful enough, they levied*forced contri-
. butions from land holders in case of emergency.”* Buchanan?
says “Under the Government of the Rajas there was no land tax
but the conqueror (Hyder) soon found the necessity of imposing
one as the expenses of his military establishment gréatly exceeded
the usual revenues” Most authors agree that the land tax was
introduced by Hyder for the first time in Malabar. Even though
Visscher noticed that there were certain estates in Malabar
whose owners were obliged to pay an annual tribute to the Raja,
he makes special mention of the fact that it was regarded as a
free-will offering rather than a tax.

1. Memorsndum on the land tenures of Travancore by Justice Kunhi
Raman Nair.  (Quoted in the Hisiory of Kerala, Vol, [1. P, 341.)

Z. Buchanan—Canara & Malabar P. 65,
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Jupicial ADMINKISTRATION

Visscher' gives the following account about the administra-
tion of justice in Malabar. “Their legal suits are tried according
to old customs viva voce. No lengthy proceedings are required
to obtain the decision of the canses which are concluded within
a few days by the fiat of the Raja who in obscure cases consults
with his Brahmins."

The warrant of a magistrate was not necessary for laying
the property of a person in arrest. Any private individual could
do it. The Raja listened to all important cases in his country
in return for which he received a fee from the litigants, All
dubious cases, where no positive proofs could be found, were
decided by solemn caths by both parties before the temple deity.
There was also the system of trial by ordeal. There were
ordeals® like boiling oil, poisonous snakes, crocodiles, ete. Trials
by ordeal were generally resorted to in heinous criminal cases,
like murder and adultery. It is evident that there were no
written laws in the country having a universal application. Van
Rheede noted that the people were not bound to obey the orders
of the king if they were beyond the Limits of “law."” By this
law, he only meant the customs and traditions of the country.
Logan says * [ it were necessary to sum up in one word the law
of the conntry as it stood before the Mahomedan invasion and

British occupation, that word would undoubtedly be the word
*Custom.” [n’ Malayalam it would be * maryida ' * Mirgam ' and
* Acharam ' ail signifying established rule and custom and all of
them Sanskrit words,”"?

The Raja was the highest authority in the administration of
justice, He listened to original cases as well as appeals trom
Desa Vazhis and Nadu Vazhis. The village republics had their
own system of dispensing justice. We have referred to the part
played by Pramanis in Villages who settled minor disputes on

1. Visscher's letter No. X,

2 The existence of the system of ordeals in ancient Malabar. is attested
to by the writings of Fra Baiolomeo, (Ref : voyage to the East-Indies) Walter
Hamilton (Re : Hindusmain) Barbosa (Description of the consis of Africa and
Malabar in the 16th cent.}) Grose {voyage to East-Indies). There is evidence
to prove that the system was prevalent even in second half of the 19th cent.

- 3- Manual of the Malabar Distriet P, P, 110—111.
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caste, religion and public morality. The Pramanis had no
written rules of procedure, but they followed the conventions and
traditions of the village. They sought the help of learned
Brahmins for complicated cases. The decisions of the Pramanis
and Karnavars were generally accepted by the litigants without
any murmur, Repudiating the authority of the Karnavars was
considered a grave offence against society, and it could even lead
to social ostracism. For the settlement of civil disputes, there
was a special civil tribunal consisting of the elders of the village.
The Nadu Vazhi was the chief judge in his district. He also
could get the assistance of learned Brahmins in the settlement of
cases. The kings used to appoint judicial officers for hearing
important cases, It was the sovereign's duty to uphold the
* Dharma ' and preserve the * Marydda * of his country.

In Calicut there was an ' officer called * Thalachennavar® to
administer justice. There seem to have been special courts
for Hindus, Mohamedans, Jews and Christians. The method
followed for realising debts was very simple. A creditor could
effect an arrest on the debtor by a very simple procedure. The
token of this embargo or arrest was the leaf of a cashew nut or
other tree which was tied on the article thus arrested ; if it was
Jand it was stuck upon a stick, the party exercising this privilege
announcing * this is the * Rama " or the arrest of the Raja." The
‘Rama' was the sacred symbol of justice recognised by the
people. Hamilton also refers to this method of realising debts.
He says “They have a good way of arresting peeple for debt,
viz., there isa proper person and with a small stick from the
judge who is generally 2 Brahmin, and when that person finds
the debtor he draws a circle around him with a stick and charges
him in the king and judge's name, not to stir out of it till the
creditor is satified either by payment or surety and it is no less
than death to the debtor to break prison by going out of the
circle.” This simple method of issuing an interdict to the
debtor's person or property was widely followed in all parts of
Malabar.!

1. “A tuft of three green twigs tisd to a doorway precluded persons from
crossing the threshold of a house and a similar toft tied to the end ofa stafi
stuck in the ground was, and stillis, insome partsa sign that there isan
imterdict on the crops there growing.”

Manual of the Malabar Dist, P. 172,
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The institution of slavery was prevalent in Malabar from
very ancient times, There wasa special class of slaves called
* Pulayds’ who were confined to the task of tilling the soil for
their lords, The land lords were bound to teed their slaves
throughout the vear. As the slaves' were employed in the
estates ol their masters all through the year, the wages they
received were sufficient for their maintenance. Wages were often
in kind. By the ancient laws of Malabar the lord was the sole
owner of the slave, answerable to nobody for the slave's life.
He could inflict punishment on his slave which might even extend
to death. Slaves could be sold by their masters at their pleasure,
The Dutch used to buy slaves in large numbers. This system
of selling slaves was abolished when the English took charge of
the administration of Malabar, Articles (3) of the Dutch terms
of capitulation at Cochin demanded that * the Dutch officers and
soldiers should be allowed to take with them all their effects
without their being liable to any search, their servants and
slaves whilst those that are married would likewise be at liberty
to take their fumilies with them.” To this the English replied
that *slave * was a name unkpown in the British dominions.
After the surrender of Cochin, the English Government wrote
to the Dutch requesting them to abolish the practice of buying
children as slaves, But they declined saying that they realised
large sums of money by it. Day says that when Cochin was
taken almost every servant in the place was found to be a slave.

-

1 The institution of slavery is a‘tributed to Parasu Rama who is said to
have organised a separate caste of slaves for tillicg the soil, The historical
explanation of this slave caste is that they were the original inhabitanis of
the country who were conguered and subdued by the northern invaders. Thers
were three classes of slaves (1} by birth {2) by pucishment (3} by purchase.
The Pulava, Parava, Vein and other such tribes are condemreed to be slave by
birth  People accused of crimes against ceste and society were condemed to
be slaves There was regular trade in slaves and many slaves were carried
away by the Burcpean merchants, 1o be employed as workmen in their estales,
iy observes “Hepori says that the Church (in Cochin) was occupied nsa
slnve podown on special emergencies and thatinthe week day. when the
racred edifice wos not yoquired for religions porposes, it was employed to
keep those nnlortanite oveatures in, whe hasl wsnally- been carried off by the
Moplas and sold (0 the Lruich who shipped them to Ceylon, Batavia, the Cape
and other places.”

Dny. Land of the Perumals, P, F. 1§3—34.
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It is worth noting in this connection that the “Pulaya’
system of slavely continues in many parts of Malabar even
to-day. Of comrse, notable changes have come about in the
relationship between the master and the slave. Still in many
backward parts of Malabar the ' Pulaya' is confined to the
tilling of his master's soil. The Pulayas live in the londs of their
masters who exercise over them some sort of a proprietary
right. Formerly social degradation wasa penalty imposed by
judicial tribunals for civil and eriminal offences. This practice,
of course, prevails no longer. But the Pulaya sytem of slavery
still continues as a relic of the past.

CHAPTER XIII

THE DUTCH POSSESSIONS IN MALABAR.

ALABAR was only one among the many possessions the
Dutch had in the East, The Dutch were concentrating
their attentions mainly on the Spice Islands which were the main
sources of their income and centres of their trade. To the Dutch
Government at home Malabar was comparatively an insignificant
acquisition. From the list of the numerous Dutch possessions
given below, we will get an idea as to the insiguiﬂ-:&nt status of
Malabar as a trade settlement (— 2

{1) Moluccas, under a Governor.

(2) Amboina and 10 other islands, under a Governor.
(3) Banda and ¢ other islands, under a Governor.
{4) Macassar, under a Governor,

(5) Solar and Timor, under a chief,

(6) Malacca with various subordinate factories in the Malay
Peninsula and on the East Coast of Sumatra, under a Governor.

(7) West Coast of Sumatra, under a Chief.
(8) Jambi, under a Chief.
(g) Palembang, under a Chiel.
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(10) Malabar, wnder a Commander.

(11) Surat, under a Director.

{12) Mocha, under a Chief,

(13) Persia (Gombroon), under a Director.

(14) Ceylon, under a Governor, with subordinate Com-
menders at Jafina and Galle.

(15) Japan (Island Desima off Nagasaki), under a Chief.
(16) Coromandel, under a Governor.

(x7) Bengal, under a Director.

(18) Batavia, under a Governor General,

(19) Samarang or North east Coast of Java, under a Com-
mander.

(z0) Bantam {Java), under a Chief.
(21) Cheribon (Java), ander a Chief.
(22) Cape of Good hope, under a Governor.

This list consisting of about 22z important trade settlements
shows the Company's possessions in 1725. In the territories
under a Governor or Commander the Dutch were maintaining
forts and garrisons. They had also certain sovereign rights in
these territories, Butin those under a Chief of Director, the
Dutch had caly commercial interests and rights. [n Malabar as
we have seen already, the Dutch had many important forts and
certain sovereign rights,

The possessions of the Company on the Malabar Coast,
consisted of * forts, the buildings within them and lands either
taken from the Portugnese or conquered since.” The most
important fortresses of the Dutch in Malabar were Quilon,
Kayvamkulam, Porakkad, Cranganore, Palliport, Chettwaye and
Cochin. The Dutch had a fortress at Cannanore and also 4 small
settlement at Calicut.

Speaking about Quilon, Gollenesse observes :—*This State
is small and produces nothing of importance except a little
pepper ; and although considerable consignments of this grain
are some times supplied, most of itis imported from Peritally
and other places. The fortress of the Hon'ble Company likewise

"
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called Quilon lies within the lines of the Signatty which were so
manfully defended last year by the brave Nairs, under the gallant
old Rajadore Achuda Barier apainst the entire foreces of the Raja
of Travancore thitt the latter had to raise the siege with great
loss and shame. The residential town of the king is also within
these lines and the Travancore works lie within a stone throw
and could be bombarded from fort Quilon.""

~ Captain Neiuhoff was the Chief Director of Dutch East India
Company at Quilon. The Dutch had occupied Quilon even
before they had established their Government nt Cochin, They
remained in possession of the fort for mearly a century.
Nieuhofi's accounts about Quilon are interesting. “The city is
fortified with a stone wall of 18-20 feet high and 8 bastions ; its
suburbs which are very large and stately are by the Portuguese
called Colang China........ The harbour is very convenient for
small vessels but not for great ones becanse the south wind blows
direcctly upon the shore and forces the waves with great violence
thither.” Even though Quilon was not very strong, it provided
ample facilities for defence, The inhabitants of the Dutch settle-
ment at Quilon were mostly Christians, Van Anglebeck says
that Christians in Quilon had been the subjects of the Company
from 1663 onwards and that they were governed without the
least interference of the Raja of Travancore. But there seems to
have been some dispute between the Travancore Raja and the
Dutch over the rights claimed by the former to,collect taxes
from the fishermen. The dispute was settled in, 1788 by the
Peace Conference at Mavelikara, The Dutch agreed that they
would collect the tax from the fishermen and remit it to the

1, VYisscher describes the nseflulness of the Quilon fort as [ollows :—
(B«f Vimecher's Letter No, IV.) “'This foet is of uss in investing the power
of the Rajas of Travancore and of Signatti in whose dominions it is sttnated
and as an oulpost against forsigners espacially the English, whose fortat
Anjengo is at no great distance. The fortress of (Juilon commands the bay of
the samn name; tolla are levied from the native traders and licenfes issued
tothem 1t possesses little territory inland besides the plain. On the =ea
sida the boundary is marked by a gate with foor stone pillars. There are
certain siations in this provinee soch as Tengapatnam in the son'h near
Cape Comorin which serve principally as places of despacch of leiters, and
for cutting mill-stones and other siopes used in the servies of the Ecast India
Company. A good deal of linen is also woven here thongh the trnde belongs
to Tatacorin.”’
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Raja’s treasury. In turn the Raja promised not to interfere in
the affirs of Dutch Quilon. After the surrender of the Cochin
fort its dependencies also passed into the hands of the English,
The Dutch fortress of Quilon (Tangacherry) became a part of the
British Dominions by the Paris Convention of 1341.

Kayamkulam was the first of the factories which the Dutch
had acquired in Malabar. But the Raja of Kayamkulam allowed
the Dutch* only certain trade privileges. He refused to comply
with their request for building a fort there, Kayamkulam had a
good bazaar or market place where all kinds of wares were sold.
The Company had a factory in the interior. At the mouth of the
river they had a “preventive station,”

The Dutch had an important factory at Porakkad. The
Company received about 400,000 lbs. of pepper from Porakkad.
Porakkad produced large quantities of rice also,

The Dutch fort at Cranganore' was small but strong. The
fort served as an outpost aginst the Raja of Cranganore and still
more against the Raja of Porakkad. "It was also of useasa
preventive station and against the smuggling trade and the
transit of prohibited goods as well as in levying certain tolls for
the East India Company.”* The Raja'’s streagth at Cranganore
was comparatively insignificant and as such the Company had
great influsnce there. Moens writing about the useiulness of the
Cranganore fort says that it was the fort that checked the
progress of Hyder Ali. “If this small fortress had not been
there, and the hook of Ayakotta had not been fortified—since
they are the only two places outside the lines of delence of
Travancore where a passage is possible—ihe Nawab would have
broken through for good ; and the utility of this little fort was
clearly proved.” The Dutch had always asserted sovereign

1 Nienhofl gives the following description about Cranganore :—*'It was
very famons among the Indians by reason of its antiquity: being situated
upon the bank of a civer about a league from tHe sea shore defended by a-wall
of earth and & stons breakwork ; which had seven bastions and the wall of
earth thres more At the peoint near the river is remaining to this dava
strong stone tower for the defence of thariver which served instead ofa
bulwark on that side. O the other point was a small fort which commanded
the river and all ships going out oz in ™

2. Visscher letter No, IV,
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authority over Cranganore, Cranganore never seems to have
been an independent country. Formerly it was an appendage
of the Zamorin. Later, by the treaty of 1717 between the Dutch
and the Zamorin, Cranganore was placed under the jurisdiction
of the Company. The Rajas of Cranganore had traditional
marriage relationship with the Zamorin's family. We find the
Dutch Governor, rebuking the Raja of Cranganore [or giving
protection to the Zamorin and his family who were driven out of
the country by Hyder. The Duotch Governor asserted that
“according to a lawful contract between him and the Hon'ble
Company all the land from Chettwaye to Cranganore was under
the ownership of the Company and also that His Highness and his
whale country were under the protection of the Company ; that
therefore his request to send away the Zamorin's family and
followers was not unreasonable.” The Dutch Governor wamed
the Raja that he must thereaiter abide implicity by the " good
advice " given by the Company.

The Dutch had from the very beginning considered their
fort of Cranganore an expensive one. As early as 1680 thev had
decided to reduce, if not to destroy, their forts at Cranganore and
Quilon. They had even offered to sell it to the Portuguese from
whom they had conquered it. In 1697 they reduced their
garrison at Cranganore to a small force of twenty Europeans. [n
. 1767 the Batavian Government issued striet orders to the Cochin
Governor Breekport to destroy the fortress. But, he refrained
from doing so as there was threat of a Mysorean mvasion. We
have already described the Mysorean invasion of Cranganore and
the subsequent prospects of the fort there, In August 1789 the
Dutch sold the fort to the Travancore Raja.

The Dutch had a small fort at Palliport. Tt was situated on
the island of Vypeen between Ayakotta and Cochin. The Dutch
had captured the fort from the Portuguese. But they sold it
along with Cranganore to Travancore,

The fort at Chettwaye was a fairly important one. Visscher
speaks of it as the strongest fortress in Malabar in his time, [t
served partly to protect their commerce and partly as a defence
against the Zamorin, The Dutch had surrendered this fortress
to the Zamorin in 1691, but ever since it had been a bone of
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contention between the Dutch and the Zamorin. Finally after
a severe war in 1717 the Datch reagained their possession at
Chettwaye.

The Dutch fortress at Cannanore was captured from the
Portuguese immediately after the conquest of Cochin. The
Portuguese Cammander at Cannanore surrendered the fort to the
Dutch without offering any resistence in February 1663, The
Portuguese used to assert their claim on Cannanore on the
ground that the Duatch had gained possession of it after the
signing of the treaty between Portugal and Holland in Europe.
The treaty was signed on the 6th of August 1661, But it was
brought into force only on the 14th of March 1663. On that
ground the Dutch refused to surrender the fort to the Portuguese,
The Dutch were on friendly terms with the Ali Raja of Cannanore,
According to the instructions of the home Government, the
Cannanore fortress was ceded to the Ali Raja in 1771,

Cochin was the strongest {ortress the Dutch had in Malabar.
It was a town of considerable importance even before it came
into the hands of the Dutch. The Potuguese had a sufficiently
strong lortress there, but the Dutch reduced its size considerably.
Visscher notes that the fortifications in Cochin were sufficient to
protect the town against the natives, who were ignorant of the
science of besieging and the methods of bombarding. But they
were not strong enough to resist a large European force.!
Moens in hiy memoirs gives instructions to his successors to
keep the forj always in repairs. It was Moens who was mainly
responsible [or the repairing of the Dutch fortifications at Cochin,
In the time of his predecessors the fort had been in a very ruinous

{, Visscher gives the [ollowing description  about the town:—"The
citcnmivesace of the 1own Is tolembly extensive. It would take a man a good
half boar walk round the walls Hut the space enclosed by them containg
several unocenpisd portions  The streets ars regular enough bul the honses
are quaint and bait after the oll Portagusse fashion .. .. The town of Cochin
is inhablted by Clirisizss fo; the heathens are not allowed by their own lnws
o dwell in it Tha inhabitants comprise howovaer differeni classes, There
are the native Christians, the Topusses and the Huropeans ; the last who
from th:mau consderable portioa of then comprising also the mixed race
sprung from Europzan fache s and native maothers .. .. There is a very com-
modious road stead (n which srvesal ships from all parts of the world annually
cast anchor ™’

Visschers letter No 111

-
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condition. Speaking about the defences of the fort, Stavorinus!
observey “‘Although it cannot be said that the greatest part of
these faortifications are constructed according to the exact rules
of art, yet the place is sufficiently fortified to withstand a
coup-de-main, and it would require a regular siege to take it.
Approches cannot even be made from any other quarter than
from the south, where thereisa dry and level plain; for to the
eastward as well as to the river there are several morasses which
would render an attack on that side extremely diffienlt, besides
the place is fortified the strongest on that side and is weakest by
the sea side,”

Apart from the fortresses we have described above, the
Dutch had many costly buildings and landed properties. In the
time of Moens the buildings of the Company were all in fairly
good condition, He was mainly responsible for the renovation
of many buildings. The important buildings at Cochin were the
Government House and the Church, When the Dutch captured
Cochin from the Portuguese, they found there many religious
establishments, There were monasteries of the order of St. Paul
and St. Augustine. The Jesuits too had their establishments
within the walls of the town. The Dutch however did not devote
much of their attention to construct buildings or monuments,
The Dutch had residencies in almost all their settlements. The
Dutch Residency at Thengappattanam, says Gollenesse, was a
small mud building worth nothing which had been, broken down
by the enemy. They had a Residency at Ponnani made of mud
which was also in ruins. Gollenesse speaks of the necessity of
re-thatching it every year. The Dutch Governor wanted to tile
the building, but the Zamorin had never consented to this
proposal thinking that it wonld mean a permanent establishment
of Dutch influence in lus country. The Dutch had * Lodges ® at
Kayamkulam and Porakkad. They were unfortified factories or
ware-houses, mostly thatched buildings of mud. The Dutch
Governor at Cochin had no authority to errect wooden buildings
without the consent of the Batavian Government Gollenesss
gives the following instruction to his successor :—“Of repairs
which require nndertaking you will find plenty every where with
0 many fortifications, lodges and buildings. Still in my opinion

1. (Stavoninos. Dutch Admiral 1775-1778.)
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twenty four carpenters and ten brick layers will be sufficient in
future in the town here. This number can always be increased
if necessary from among Topass workmen, who may be had here
in large number for one schelling a day...... Yatchts, sloops
and smaller vessels for the use of this commandery and for other
settlements are constructed here firm and strong.”

The Dutch had extensive landed properties in Malabar,
But they were scattered in different places both in Travancore
and in cochin. This was a cause of frequent friction between the
Company and the Rajas, Near their fortress at Cranganore, the
Dutch had many fields and gardens which they used to lease out
to the natives. They also possessed the islands of Muthukunnoo
in the neighbourhood of Cranganore. In an appendix to the
memoirs of Moens we find an exhaupstive list of all the landed
properties they had. The Dutch had on the whole nine islands
and sixty nine gardens and lands, In their landed properties
they had 42 08q fruit bearing cocoanut and other trees. They
had about 4,500 paras of cultivated land and 10,716 salt pans.
The Dutch Governor earnestly wished that he could possess one
** fine bit of land"" in the same place instead of having landed
properties scattered in different parts. Moens’ suggestion was to
exchange the Dutch properties in the Travancore territory with
Raja of Travancore for his territories which lay bordering on the
Dutch possessions. But he knew perfectly well that the Travan-
core Raja would not part with *evena span of his territory.'
Therefore he was thinking of selling them to Travancore for a
sum proportional to the annual revenue they had from them,

The military establishments of the Dutch in Malabar were
rather too costly for them. The Dulch realised pretty well that
their commercial interests should be backed up by military power,
But they had always shown a reluctance in having elaborate
military establishments in Malabar, After the capture of Cochin
the Dutch authorities were seriously considering whether they
should retain all the fortifications of the Portuguese. [t was
decided on the 24th January 1663 that a large part of the town
should be pulled down and the fortifications should be reduced
to such an extent that it could be managed by a small garrison.
Accordingly the Dutch destroyed many houses and public
buildings at Cochin. But fortifications were highly indispensable
- ﬂ -

-
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in Malabar so long as the Dutch did not have any settled
Government there. Therefore they decided to keep a small
garrison at Cochin and Quilon, Chettwaye, Cranganore and
Cannanore, The Batavian Government decided that in times of
peace Cochin should have only 300 soldiers, Quilon gg, Chettwaye
144, Cranganore 56 and Cannanore 79, Baut these garrisons were
hardly sufficient for even defensive purposes. Therefore we find
the Dutch authorities at Cochin frequently writing to Ceylon and
Batavia for reinforcements. In their campaign of 1740 the Dutch
received reinforcements from Ceylon to thie extent of 158
Europeans and 191 Malayas, In 1741 the whole Dutch garrison
consisted ot only 350 Europeans and 4oo Malayas. This was too
weak for defence against Travancore. Therefore the Dutch wrote
to Ceylon for a reinforcement of 200 Europeans and 200 Malayas.
But the Ceylon Government was not in a position at that time
to spare any soldiers. The Dutch were planning for enlisting
gome 1,000 men from the Pandyan country. The Dutch Govern-
ment at Cochin asked for 2,000 soldiers from Batavia in
order to wage the Travancore war. If the Zamorin was also to
attack them they wanted some 3000 more. These frequent
demands for large numbers of soldiers from Ceylon and Batavia
show how weak their military position was. Moens the ablest
of the Dutch Governors at Cochin, had pointed out to the
Batavian Government on many occasions the dangers of having
no strong garrisons in Malabar, He was of opinion that Hyder
would not have dared*an invasion of their possessiens if they had
a strong military force in Malabar. Moens was trying to keep up
the prestige of the company among the native princes by
dexterity rather than by strength. But as the Council of Seven-
teen observed in a general letter of the 3joth October 1776
* the deep decline in which these forces were, had been observed
even by the native princes and had made an impression on their
mind. " The Dutch at Cochin had to depend upon the services
of native troops whenever there was an emergency and this
involved “conmsiderable expenditure for them. Moens was of
opinion that it was better to keep in their service native
Christians and * Chegos * (Chovas or Ezhavas) as they were more
faithful than the sepoys. From the writings of Moens it is elear
that the Dutch at Cochin were dccasionally sending soldiers to
Batavia. In 1779 about 10 men were sent to Batavia, In the
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next year the Batavian Government asked for about 300 more of
which 180 were sent.

The Dutch garrisons in Malabar, though small in number
were well equipped. At Quilon the Dutch had a big store house
for gun powder, From the writings of Gollenesse it appears that
the Dutch were formerly sending *‘spoilt gun powder to Ceylon
to be made up again." But during his time the Jews of Cochin
were doing that work, Gollenesse says that in his time about
3.100 1bs, of spoilt gun powder had been imported to Cochin to
be made useful again by some methods known to the Jews. The
gun powder store house at Quilon seems to have been a worn out
one, and there were frequent suggestions to construct a new one
there. The artillery equipment of the Dutch was not very weak.
At Cochin they had 150 guns, at Ayakotta 10 guns, on the island
of Muthukunnu 3 guns, at Cranganore 2z guns and at Quilon 14
guns. Besides these, they had gunson board the ships and in
reserve field artillery, mortars, etc.’

The marine force of the Dutch was comparatively insigni-
ficant. Moens writes in 1781 " We have only a two-masted and
one-masted sloop and a quick sailing native vessel besides seven
gamels and three little couts which are used for wading and
discharging cargo and for fetching water daily from higher up
the river for the garrison, besides a row boat for towing and for
taking people to and from ships. Three of the gamels are
equipped for war so that use can be made of them in the river."
The Dutch were employing native Mukhavas (fishermen) to man
their vessels and to work in the dock-yard. They had a few
European soldiers in their serviee and some experienced linesmen
and gunners.

=

1. Appendix VII to the Memoirs of Moeas,
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CHAPTER XIV

THE POLICY OF THE DUTCH IN MALABAR

A. ApMiNISTRATIVE PoLicy.

lT i5 easy to discover that the Dutch were following no steady

policy in Malabar, Their policy changed with the changes
in circumstances. They had also different policies with the
different princes of Malabar. We always find the Duteh making
frequent adjustments in their general policy towards the Rajas
of Malabar—adjustments always dictated by prudence and
necessity, We may, however, note in general that their policy
falls into two distinct periods. They were following one general
policy from the capture of Cochin to the treaty of Mavelikara.
From the treaty of Mavelikara onwards, they were following,
rather they were compelled to follow, an essentially different
policy.

The principal object of the Dutch in driving the Portuguese
out of Malabar was to possess the monopoly of the pepper trade,
But, this was not so easy a task as the Dutch thought in the
beginning. Soon, they realised that in order to enforce the
monopoly, they must have an armed force in the country.
When they maintained an armed force it was inevitable that they
would get themselves entangled in the local pdlitics. When
once they took an interest in the Governmental #ffairs of the
Malabar princes, they could not but take an interest in seeing
their sovereign rights recognised in the country. Thus, they
tried to carry on trade with the backing of political power. It
was too late when the Dutch realised the mistake in their policy.
By that time they had lost both their trade and political power.

The political condition in Malabar was, no doubt, responsible
for inducing the Dutch to appear as a sovereign power. The
merchants who captured the Cochin fort in 1663 found that they
could very easily bring the whole of Cothin under their influence,
The destruction of the Portuguese power in Cochin had thrown
the entire State into confusion ang in the absence of a powerful
ruler, anarchy prévailed there. The throne was keenly contested
by rival parties and soon opportunities presented themselves for |
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the Dutch to appear as king-makers in Cochin. When the
Cochin Raja was crowned by the Dutch Governor under the
insignia of the Company, the Dutch Company ceased to be a
pure trading corporation ; it became a soverign power with the
onerous responsibility of protecting a prince on the throne. The
Dutch made the best use of the helplessness of the Cochin Raja
and cleverly pushed on their commercial designs. We have
already seen that the relations between the Raja of Cochin and
the Dutch were not always cordial. The Raja was frequently
complaining about the high handedness of the Dutch authorities,
while the Dutch were feeling disconcerted about the disloyalty of
the Raja. However, the Dutch always took care to see that the
Raja gave them the fixed quota of pepper,

When the Datch found that they could very easily establish
their supremacy in Cochin, they were tempted to extend it to
other parts of Malabar. The frequent disputes among the native
princes gave them convenient opportunities, They posed them-
selves as arbitrators to settle these disputes. Meanwhile, they
had humbled the Zamorin of Calicut and extended their trade
influence to many parts of northern Malabar. Their fortifications
at Cochin, Cranganore, Cannanore, Ayakotta and other places
had made them a power to be feared by the weak princes and
nobles of Malabar.

It is probable that il the Dutch had confined their attentions
to the north instead of interfering in the politics of Travancore,
they could ‘have succeeded in maintaining their possessions at
least in the north. But, they took the unwise policy of appear-
ing as the supporters of rival factions in Travancore—a policy

. which led to their final ruin, We may say in fairness to the
Dutch that they were dragged into the politics of the South by
the force of new circumstances. They could not have remained
as silent spectators of the new and rapid turn of events in the
South, even though that was actually what their policy finally
came to. The rise of Marthanda Varma foiled all their schemes
and placed them in a completely altered position. Marthanda
Varma's military activities radically altered the political system
of Malabar and in that revolutjonary process of change the Dutch
found their position also upset, [t was no doubt foolish on the

. part of the Dutch to have appeared on the scene as the champions
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of the smaller princes against Marthanda Varma. The Dutch
were trying to play the role of arbitrators between the princes of
the South. Bat, unlike as in the north, there wasa Marthanda
Varma in the South who was mnever prepared to accept the
mediation of the Dutch. When the Raja of Kayamkulam applied
to the Dutch Governor for help against Marthanda Varma, the
Dutch were not prepared to commit themselves to any under-
takings. Even though the Dutch did not send help to Kayam-
kulam, they warned the Travancore Raja to desist from violating
the territories of other princes. But, the warnings of the Dutch
as we have already seen, had wvery little effect on Marthanda
Varma. He went ahead with his scheme of annexation When
he quietly dispossessed the Rani of Elayadathu Swaroopam of her
territories, the Dutch thought it was time they took strong stepa.
This brought the Company into a most disastrous war with
Travancore—a war which taught the Dutch a most valuable
lesson of experience in the East. Finally the Dutch had to bow
to the inevitable. And with their characteristic knack of making
the best of every thing, they accepted the terms of Marthanda
Varma at Mavelikara. The treaty of Mavelikara was the
inglorious end of the ambitious phase of the Company’s career in
Malabar, This treaty which neither brought credit nor money
stripped the Dutch of all their pretences to sovereign authority
and placed them again in the position of merchants. The Dutch
were to follow a new policy thereafter. .

The Dutch Governor Moens realised more thah any body
else that new circumstances had set in and that a new policy
to suit the circumstances should be followed. A valuable lesson
which the Dutch learned from the ruinous war with Travancore
was that it was not expedient to entangle the Company in
another war. The Dutch realised that if the Company's concerns
continued to be directed on the old principles; a complete decline
was to be expected. The following were some of the weighty
considerations! for the Dutch at that time for giving up their old
policy and adopting a new one :— ’

“Even if we are completely successful (against Travancore),
it would not be of an advantage {o us commensurate with the
cost of war, because the other chiefs having obtained slbow

1 Memoirs of Moens,
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rooms would go their old ways again on account of their well
known and proved ingratitude without for this reason supplying
more pepper than they used to;

 That wars have rather served on the one hand to reveal
the impotence of Europeans against the natives of the country,
if they have to be brought to reason by force of arms, on the
other hand to impose a great and unbearable burden on us than
to bring to the Company something substantial propoertioned to .
the great hazards, inconveniences, burdens and losses which it has
brought on itseli on this coast more than ence by wars;

“That each time the war ends, all the expenses of mainten-
ance of a garrison cannot be reduced all at once and so according

as anything happens from time to time the expenses gradually
and imperceptibly grew."”

Finally the Dutch decided that in the future, affairs ought
to be looked upon from another point of view, and native chiefs
should be allowed to attack one another although they should
ruin each other. [t was this policy that compelled them to make
peace with Travancore. By making peace with Travancore the
Dutch were ignoring all their former treaty obligations with the
Malabar Rajas and chieftains. They were fully conscious of the
fact that a treaty with Travancore would endanger their prestige
and fair name in Malabar., But, they were not prepared to
follow the alternative policy of allying with the Malabar princes
against the dTravancore Raja. If they had pursued that policy
_ their soversign position in Malabar would have been rightly
vindicated. But, the Dutch thought * it was in any case better
to make their authority grow imperceptibly again by means of
the new system than by sticking to the old to see it gradually
brought more and more to scorn.”

But, we have alredy seen the disastrous consequences of
this new policy. To put in a nutshell, it resulted in the
annihilation of Dutch influence in Malabar.

The treaty the Dutch had signed with Travancore did not
in any way solve their pressing problems. On the contrary, it
only worsened them. The Amsterdam Government wrote to the
Dutch authorities at Batavia (letters dated 13jth October, 1755
and 4th October, 1756) that they should be watching the progress
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of the Travancore prince and be ** on thei® guard at every turn
of events.” They were afraid that Travancore would be " a
dangerous neighbour to the Company,” and therefore the Dutch
in Malabar were to see that * one party was kept in check by the
other.” But it was no longer in the power of the Dutch to play
the role of the keepers ot the political balance of Malabar
they themselves were in grave danger of extinction. When the

. Dutch Commandant tried to persuade the Travancore Raja from
desisting from his aggressive designs on the neighbouring
countries, the Raja plainly told him that it would be better to
mind his own business,

We have already noticed that the Dutch were following in
Cochin a policy entirely different [rom what they were tollowing
in other parts of Malabar, This was because of the fact that
they had assumed the protectorate of the kingdom of Cochin,
By their treaty with the Cochin Raja, they had committed
themselves to the task of protecting the integrity of his State at
all costs, The Dutch had some important and ** weighty reasons "’
for the retention of their power in Cochin. Visscher! gives three
‘ weighty ' reasons for its retention. The first was that it was
highly necessary for the promotion of their pepper  trade in
Malabar. The main object of the Dutch, as we have often
stressed, was to obtain the monopoly of the pepper trade and this
could be made possible only by keeping their territorial supre-
macy in Cochin. The Dutch knew perfectly well, that if they
were to give up their sovereign position in Cochin, the,Portuguese .
would regain their lost power. Further, the English also were
having an eye on Cochin. The second consideration was that it
was very useful as a provisioning station for vessels sailing from
Batavia to Mocha, or returning from Surat and Persia to Batavia,
They could obtain at Cochin plenty of victuals like poultry, pigs,
cattle, fish and fruits at a very cheap rate. The' third * weighty
reason’ for the retention of Cochin was that it served as an
outpost to protect Ceylon from the attacks of other E
nations. The Dutch were aware of the desizns of the English on
Ceylon. And they understood the value of the Cochin fort for
all measures of defence.

L Viescher letter No. V1.
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Visscher! gives seme useful hints to the Dutch Commandants
of Cochin to be followed in their relations with the local Rajas,
He says that the Commandant should be very ready—witted when
he converses with the Rajas. He must also cultivate “'a figura-
tive and metaphorical mode of expression which, besides being
considered a proof of wisdom, would enable him to throw a cloak
over subjects which were disagreeable to them and to carry out
measures which they would not take so easily if they were
expressed in plain words."”

Visscher suggests five important rules to be followed by the
Commandant for the successful management of the country.

(z) ** The Commandant must effectually defend the kingdom
ol Cochin against the future attacks of its enemies to which end
the Company have declared themselves the protector of that
kingdom, If this were not done, the Zamorin would weaken the
power of the Raja of Cochin and would allow the other nations
to establish themselves in the territories he might gain.”

{2) ** The Commandant must especially endeaveur to prevent
the Raja of Cochin from making agressions on the Zamorin or
others or provoking them to war ; which he would ‘be very ready
to do relying on the Company'sarms and hoping by their
assistance to regain some lands which he lays claim.”

{3) ** He must enquire narrowly into the justice of the claims
the Rajas make mutually on each other as he is often called on
to arbitrate ,between them. This is the more necessary as their
claims are very obscure and are seldom settled, so that they have
continual pretexts for the wars which perpetually arise between
them. A wise Commandant will take care not to involve himsalf
in these disputes unless they immediately affect the interests of
the Company.”

(4) * He must be throughly acquuinted with the laws and
customs of the natives who cling very much to them making a
part of their feligion. They carry these feelings to such an
extent that if & Commandant were unwillingly to iniringe their
laws in passing sentence it would arouse a general spirit of
of murmuring and dissatisfaction,”

1. Visscher letter No. VL.
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{6) **He must undertake no wars without great deliberation
and with a good prospect of successeas the Company might
otherwise be placed in danger.”

Summing up all these advices of Visscher we may say that
the key-note of the policy he recommended was to keep the
Company away from local wars, In posing as the protectors of
Cochin, the Dutch knew they could not evade wars entirely, But
they wanted to see that the Cochin Raja did not misuse the
Company's pledge of assistance for his own private ends.
Commandant Johannes Hertenberg had exacted a stipulation
from the Raja of Cochin that he would not undertake any hostili-
ties against the Zamorin or any other prince without the previous
knowledge and consent of the Company.

It is interesting to examine how far the Datch were able to
keep up their pledge of protecting Cochin from its enemies. The
Zamorin was the traditional enemy of Cochin and the Dutch had
given ample warning to Cochin not to give any provocation for
war to the Zamorin. From 1701 to 1710 the Dutch had however
to take up sides with Cochin against Calicut. But soon they
realised that it was a mistake on their part to spend the
Company’s resources for a war for the protection of Cochin. In
1721 the Batavian Government passed a resolution that the

Cochin Raja was no longer to be assisted in his wars with the
Zamorin. The Dutch Government at Cochin was scrupulously
following a policy of * masterly inactivity.” BEven when the
aggressive activities of Marthanda Varma threatend the integrity
of Cochin, the Dutch were not prepared to lend active assistance
to the Raja. The Raja ol Cochin continued to remonstrate
before the Dutch authorities at Cochin and Batavia. He used
to complain before the Dutch Commandant about the great
injustice that had been done to him. When he found the Cochin
Government indifferent, he wrote bitter letters of complaint to
Batavia. But the Dutch werein no mood to help him. Even
if they wanted to help him, they were not in a position to do so.
The waximum concession they could exact from Marthanda
Varma was that he would live in [riendship with the Raja of
Cochin provided the latter would give no cause to the contrary !
But Marthanda Varma was to be the judge of the Cochin Raja’s
gonduct. It was open to him to turn against Cochin at any
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moment on the ground that Cochin had given reasons for a war.
We have already seen how Cochin was compelled to enter into a
treaty with Travancore by which Cochin relieved herself of all
obligations to the Dutch,

If the new policy of the Dutch proved disastrous to their
interests with the rise of Marthanda Varma, it proved all the
more so with the invasion of the Mysoreans. In the course
of the Mysorean invasions, the Dutch displayed a genins
for * timid diplomacy * which made them appear ridiculous before
the Malabar princes. They first tried to court the friend-
ship of Hyder Ali. But Hyder treated all their overtures
with studied contempt. The Dutch took all precautions to
give no room for offence to Tippu Sultan. But, Tippu also
had realised the powerlessness of the Dutch inMalabar, The
policy of the Dutch in this period was quite characteristic of
a merchant association. They viewed every thing from a selfish
angle and adjusted their policies accordingly. But political
power had slipped off their hands long before, and therefore,
they had ceased to matter in settling the affairs of Malabar in
the latter half of the 18th century.

We may say in conclusion about the Dutch policy in Malabar
that commercial interests governed their administrative policy
and their administrative policy ruined their commercial interests.

J B. Ecoxosmic Poricy

The pathéﬁc declaration of Governor General Mossel that he
wished the ocean had swallowed up the coast of Malabar is a
good commentary on the achievements of the Dutch in this
country, Tt was for the promotion of their pepper trade that
the Dutch tried to obtain political rights in the country. It was
for this purpose alone that they waged their expensive wars
with the Malabar chieftains, The selling of pepper to other
nations was stigmatised as contraband trade and in order to
prevent this the Dutch had very often'to use force. But they
were disillusioned in their objects even at the very beginning of
their relations with the Malabar princes. Ewven if they could
compel the Rajas to sell their, pepper to the Company, they
could not prevent the people from * carrying on their trade with
other nations. Soon the Dutch realised that Malabar was a very
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expensive settlement. Visscher* writes ** Malabar is considered
by the East India Company as an expensive settlement for the
profits obtained on the goods which are sold here are far from
defraving the expenses required for its support.” The same view
was expressed by Stavorinus. He observes: "Amongst the
several conguests and settlements which the Dutch {:ompany
have made or established in the Indies, that of Malabar i3
not one of the most advantageous or important to the Dutch,
It costs the Company much money, on account of the destructive
wars in: which they have in consequence engaged the rivalry in
trade of numerous competitiors and through last not least the
infidelity and speculation of their servants.”

The greatest regret of the Dutch in Malabar was that their
trade profits and territorial revenues did not commensurate with
their expenditure. Malabar was an unimportant settlement for
the Dutch from the peint of view ol revenue? Even though
Malsbar was always described as an expensive settlement it
should not be taken to mean that the administration of Malabar
was always running on a deficit basis. There were many periods
when the revenues exceeded the expenses. The adminmstrative
reforms of Moens helped a great deal in the augmentation of the

1, Visschers latter No. VI,

2, FINANCES oF DIFFERENT POSSESSIONS :—1T760—63.
{fn Guilders at abatt 11 to an English sovereifn ) .
(N. B.—The figures. ar in thousands )
Possessions, Territorial  Trade Total Charges
revenpes.  profies. TEVENDE.
1. Surat 19 6,050 6,069 1928
2. Coromandel 511 6,407 6,918 &.111
3. Bengal . 653 2,509 1502 7.967
4.. Ceylon e G453 3,053 9,507 23101
5 Capeof Good Hope ... 1409 3¢ LT3 4,125
6. Samarang (East coant
of Java) ey 2315 gag 3,303 3,068

7. Hatavia »es 9.318 22.000 31,318 nin
8, Mulabar e 018 2,455 3393 3471

iTaken from Gatlett’s Introdoction to Dutch in Malabar |

From this list the comparative insignificance of Malabar as a source of
income for the Dutch can be known clearly. Malabar was a poor settlement
when compared with the Spice fslinds or Ceylon
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Company’s resources and the curtailment of unnecessary expenses.
In 1770-1771 the expenses of the Company amounted to only
£. 205,570 while the income was £. 325.687. The following were
the items of general revenues and tolls levied by the Company
in the time of Moens :—

(r) On imports and expaorts of Cochin.
. (2) " " of Quilon

(3) i e of Cranganore,

(4) On export of slaves,

(5) Beer-measure.

(6) The town inn.

{(7) Sury (toddy) and arrack within the town.

{8) Sury and arrack outside the town.

(9) Sury and arrack on the island of Vypeen.
(ro) Tobacco revenue within and without town.
(£x) . on the island of Bendurty.
(x2) - at Cranganore.

(13) The tolls of the ferry at Vypeen.
(14) The tolls of the ferry at Anji Caimal,

In Moens' time the gardens and E£elds were leased out lor
Rs. 13,674 fora fixed period of twenty years. This system of
more or less a permanent revenue sett@ment was followed asan
inducement to cultivators to improve the lands by intensive
cultivation. Their tenure for twenty years would be an
encouragemént for planting more cocoanut trees which were the
main sources of income in these lands. - Most of the items of
revenue were  given on a contract basis to local merchants. In
the time of Moens the total revenue of the Company (excluding
the duty on the export of slaves) amounted to 41750 Rupees
a year.

The revenue administration of the Company was thorughly
reorganised in the time of Moens. His watch word was
“Economy ' but he insisted that one must ‘' practise a ' right’
and not a * wrong * economy for the latter was just as injurious,
as the former was in the highest degree useful and necessary.”
The Commandant believed that entrusting the work of building
and fortifications to contractqrs was advantageous from the point
of view of cheapness. The Company wused to have a close
supervision over the work of the contractors. At times the
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Company would advance money to the vontractors or supply
them with materials, Moens gives five rules which accor-
ding to him constituted the right kind of economy. They were
(1) To see that everything was maintained in good condition
by means of daily supervision and precautions. (2) When
defects or decays were discovered they were to be set right as
soon as possible, (3) Works of repairs and fortifications were to
be given to contractors who were to be under the direct supervision
of the Company's commissioners. In order to secure efficiency
of work the Commandant should inspect such works personally.
(4) Closest supervision was to be given for works which were not
given on contract but which were executed at the expense of the
Company. The Commandant must carefully check every bhill
that was submitted for approval by the Company's servants and
find out for himself the correctness or otherwise of the facts
contained in the bill. (s) No expenditure whatever was to be
incurred on behalf of the Company except such as was highly
necessary and unavoidable.

The great importance Moens again and again attached to
economy shows how weak the finances of the Company in
Malabargwere. The Dutch showed a miser’s thrift and anxiety
inall their activities in Walabar. They viewed their whole
enterprise in  Malabar purely from a merchant’s point of
view and were always anxious to see that Halabar caused no
unnecessary burden on their resources at Batavia.” From the
very bcglnntng the Dutch aunthorities were advising “their Com-
mandants in Cochin to follow the strictest economy possible.
The maintenance of the fortifications at Cochin, Cranganore and
Cannanore was always considered as too expensive by the Dutch
and orders had been issued as early as 1686 to reduce the
garrisons there. In 1697 the Supreme Government at Batavia
passed certain very important resolutions concerning their fortifi-
cations and possessions in Malabar, They were as follows ;—

{1) * That the fortifications of the city of Cochin which by
the large garrison it required and the continual reparations to be
made in consequence of the great 't_uctent of the walls, were too
expensive for the Company to maintain, should be reduced by
one haH.I‘P
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(2) ““ That of the present fortifications of Cannanore, the
Portuguese tower should only be preserved with a garrison of
twenty or at the most twenty five European soldiers, to which
number the present garrison should be reduced.

{3) *“ That at Cranganore the ancient interior works should
only be preserved with a garrison of twenty Europeans, which is
judged a sufficient number for the purposes of the Company
here."

(4) * That it is likewise judged advisable at Quilon no more
should be retained than the old Portuguese tower or as much of
the present works as may be thought necessary for the interest of
the Company with fifteen or twenty men to which number the
establishment should be reduced and that the remainder of the
fortifications of the three last mentioned places should be
removed or demolished. It was further thereby determined that
all military outposts should be withdrawn except that of
Paponetty ; Porakkad and Kayamkulam should be retained as
Residencies or factories in order to keep an eye over what may
be going forward all along the coust and to avail of such oppor-
tunities of trade as might oceur."” '

* Vessels of all descriptions were to be reduced to one small
yacht, two sloops and three row boats.”

* The nymber of piecés of artillery which should be henceforth
employed gpon the fortificationsshould be fixed at 95 pieces of
iron and six pieces of brass, ordinance with two mortars: and
about 530 Europeans and 37 natives were judged sufficient for
the service of the Company.’"*

We have already observed how the successive Dutch Com-
mandants at Cochin were unwilling to carry out these instructions
in foto. Of course, they realised the great necessity for economy,

-but many of them stoutly maintained that if these instruc-
tions were carried out, the Company would lose its hold in
Malabar. The influence of the Dutch in Malabar mainly depended

~on their military strength.  If they were to give up their fortifi-
cations, they would have to give up their trade also. Further

1. Quoted from Staveorinus. Voyage to the East Indies, P. 236 et, seq.
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the Dutch in Malabar, frequently engaged as they were in war-
fare, conld not afford to reduce their fortifications, However
much they tried to keep themselves off from their costly wars,
they always found themselves involved in them. Some of the Duatch
Commandants at Ccchin maintained that the question of reducing
the garrisons and demolishing fortresses should be left mainly to
their discretion. The Batavian Government, being not in direct
contact with the affairs in Malabar, was guided by only one
motive—viz.,, economy, But the Dutch Governors who were
thoroughly acquainted with the affairs of Malabar held that this
measure of economy would be suicidal to their own interests.
Moens says “ Economy does not exclude doing what is necessary
and T am of opinion it would be wrong to practise blind obedience
in this matter. For we are supposed to possess a special and
local knowledge of the circumstances of the places in which we
are stationed. 1i therefore we receive certain instructions from
higher authority with regard to something in the interests of
economy, but we are convinced in our own minds that it would
niot really answer or would have had consequences and should
yet obey (if this can be called obedienee) then we should be
obeying blindly and even liable to punishment, or at least
responsible for the consequences.” Moens was of opinion that
in such cases the Cammandants should point out to the Supreme
Government the reasons why the instructions should not be
carried ont. He was confident that the Supreme Government
would respect the opinion of the Commandants.

But the Dutch displnyetlll the haste of a shug;-teepu- who
was winding uphis business ina certain locality asit was
unpromising. The Dutch realised that their expensive settle-
ments in Malabar would serve them no desirable purpose. As
Stavorinus remarks ' The ostentation of a great power which
cost the Company such large sums of money had not the effect
of producing in Native Princes that degree of awe and apprehen-
sion which was indispensably necessary for carrying out an
exclusive trade.” Therelore they decided to wind up their
business by selling their important fortresses to the native Rajas
and by sending back large number of their servants and soldierg

to Batavia. What they did not sell was forcibly captured from
them by the English.
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C. Reumcmous PoLicy

The history of the Dutch in Malabar is not stained by any
heinous acts of forcible conversion or religious persecution.
It must be said to the credit of the Dutch that they have left
behind an unblemished record of religious actitivities. In this
respect the Dutch stand in striking contrast to the Portu-
guese. The Portuguese with their sectarian fanaticism placed
conversion above commerce in their programme of activities.on
the Malabar coast. Their policy of conversion was not quite
pleasing to the Malabar princes. The Raja ol Cochin had
strictly forbidden his subjects under pain ol very heavy penalties
to embrace Roman Catholicism. But, when the Portuguese
power became dominant in Malabar, this prohibition was with-
drawn. The Portuguese followed an active policy of religious
propaganda and even introduced a system of inquisition in order
to suppress the anti-Catholic activities of the Jews. The
Portuguese carried on their policy of conversion not only among
the Hmdus but smong the Syrian Christians also. Syrian
Christians of Malabar, following the tradition that they were
converted by the Apostle St. Thomas himself owed allegiance to
the see of Antioch in spivitual affairs, They had always stood
loyal by their kings in Malabar, and as such had enjoyed many
rights and privileges. But their church was not well organised.
Neither were the finances of the church sound enough to take up
any missionary activitics. The Portuguese backed up by their
sovereign rights in Malabar, could easily convert many ancient
Syrians to Roman Catholicism—a policy which led to bitter
hostility between the followers of the two faiths. The Syran
Christians, persecuted by the Portuguese, had taken a solemn
pledge in an assembly at Mattancherry never to obey Roman
Bishops or follow the rites introduced by the Portuguese, When
the Dutch obtained domination in Malabar, the Syrian Christians
looked up to them for protection from religious persecution. By
the treaty of 1663 between Cochin and the Dutch all the
Christians were placed under the protection of the Company.
The Dutch fort of Cochin was mainly inhabited by Christians and
they were all under the jurisdiction of the Company. It has
always been a matter of comtroversy between the Cochin Raja
and the Duatch whether the Christians in Cochin were under the

23



178

complete jurisdiction of the Company or not. By tlie treaty of
1664 it was stipulated that “those Christians who reside in the
Raji's territory should obey and perform their obligations to
that Government as the heathens do."” Moens observes in his
Memoirs that the Christians in Malabar had always been relying
upon the protectien of the Dutch Company. Probably they
thought that by placing themselves under the Company's
protection, they could escape the payment of taxes to the king.
Moens says, “They are no doubt under the protection of the
Company, but are in realitv subjects of the king, at least those
who reside in this territory (Cochin) because there are so many
Christians who live in the territory of the Company and are
therefore as a matter of fact subjects of the Company. It is the
same with the native Christians who are now under the king of
Travancore in so far as they inhabit the territory which formerly
belonged to the king of Cochin but has since been conguered by
the king of Travancore. The Company retains its protection
over them.” The Company’s protection did not mean immunity
from punishments. If ghe Christians were offenders of the Raja’s
laws they had to suffer the same penalty as the non-Christians.
But the ancient Christians enjoyed one important privilege, and
that was, they had to pay to the king only half the tax the
Hinduos bad to pay, This. privilege, however, was not extended
to the new converts. The new converts had to pay the same
amount of tax as the Hindus were paying. The Company usually
extended its protection only in cases where Chyistians were
harassed by the Rajas or the Hindus in the observance of their
religious rites and ceremonies. Even in such cases, the Company
would not blindly assist the Christians, It was always the
policy of the Dutch to bring moral pressure on the Rajos to see
that justice was done to their Christian subjects

There were frequent disputes between the Cochin Raja and
the Dutch concerning the jurisdiction over the native Christians,
The treaty of 1663 stated **All free persons and those belonging
to the church if subjects of the king of Portugal and those who
might be wandering through the country should be included in this
treaty.”” 1t wasclearly stated in this treaty that * All Christians
who had been formerly subject to the Government of this fort
(Cochin) were to be under the protection of the Dutch Company.”
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In short, the Dutch claimed protection over the Roman Catholics
of Cochin who were formerly under the jurisdiction of the
Portuguese, But later, when serious disputes arose between the
Raja and the Dutch over this question, it was pointed out by Mr.
Powney, the English Commissioner that there wasa significant
difference in the wording of the treaty as it appeard in the
Malayalam copy and the Dutch copy. In the Malayalam copy
the Dutch were stated to be having jurisdiction only over the.
 Mundukars." In the Dutch copy, however, the word ‘ Mundu-
kars * was further explained as referring to all Christians, The
Raja held that * Mundukars ' only meant the fishermen of the
coast. But Van Anglebeck, the Dutch Commandant at that
time, maintained that it included all those who followed the
latin ritual. -

The Syrian Christians however were not under the complete
jurisdiction of the Company. ‘loens states this fact very clearly.
“ The Company has never had any authority nor could have over
the St. Thomas Christians who were always subjects of the
country princes. Not even the Portuguese exercised any
jurisdiction over them although they did their utmost with the
consent of the king of Cochin to make these Christians accept
the doctrines of Rome and acknowledge the hierarchy of the
Pope.” But the Dutch were taking a keen interest in the affairs
of the Syrian Christians also. Probably that might have been due
to the fact that the Sydan Christians stoutly opposed the Papal
see and the Romish Church, When the three Antiochan Bishops
arrived at Malabar, we find the Dutch Commander giving them
a very hospitable welcome, They were taken in a Dutch ship
from Persia to Malabar At Cochin the Dutch Commander took
special care for their accommodation, We also find the Dutch
Commander recommending them to the Travancore Raja's specia]
protection when they were introduced to the Raja at Mavelikara
in 1753. The Dutch took great interest in the protection of their
rights. Moens says, * The administrators of this coast and the
preachers of the reformed community have not only kept up a
correspondence with the 8t. Thomas Christians about maintain-
ing, and advised them to maintain steadfastly the rights of the
Eastern Church against the bishops of the Roman Catholics, but
have also displayed much zeal in attempting to unite them with
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the Protestant Church.’ It was the great ambition of Moens to
effect a union between the Syrian and the Protestant churches.
He firmly believed that there was a greater possibility of a
union between the Syrians and the Protestants than between
the Syrians and the Catholics. The Dutch Commander had
invited many learned Syrian priests to his house at Cochin to
discuss the possibilities of such a union, The Dutch authori-
ties at Amsterdam too had this object in view and had given
special instructions to their officers in Malabar to pursue this
policy.

" Van Angelbeck mentions two important rights exercised by
the Dutch in Cochin over the Christians. (1) All the Christians
in‘Cochin were to be tried by the Dutch. (2) The Raja was not
to impose new taxes on the Christians without the knowledge of
the Company. But when the Cochin Rajas saw that the power
of the Dutch was steadily declining in Malabar, they pressed their
rights further over the Christisns. By the treaty of 1785 the
latin converts “* were to pay a tax to the Raja which was to be
collected by their own headmen but, should they fail to realise
the same, the Dutch Government was obliged to collect it and
pay it over to the Raja,” The treaty also said * Should Christians
purchase or rent lands from the heathens, they were liable to
imposter which the purely Christian lands were exempt from."

We have already noticed how the iresh enthusiasm of the
Protestant religion had been a powerful stimulus for the political
and commercial progress of Holland. When Holland was
liberated from the shackles of Catholic Spain, she commenced her
new career as a political power in FEurgpe contesting the supre-
macy of Spain and Portugal beyond the seas, Holland appeared as
the rival of Spain and Portugal in religions as well as commercial
activities. But even though the Dutch were able to supplant
the Portoguese and the Spaniards in the commercial field, they
were not quite successful in the realm of religion. This was
mainly due to the fact that their programme of religious activities
was not so vigorous as that of their rivals. Spesking about the
influence of the Protestant religion in Malabar, Gollenesse says,
“ To my sincere regret [ must confess that the Reformed Doctrine
. has made little progress in spite of all careful forethought and
the regulations concerning schools and education of children and
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the instructions regarding the penetration of Popish supersti-
tions.”” Gollenesse bitterly regrets that he conld not effectively
counteract the propaganda of the Catholics in Malabar. Almost
all the children of the European employess married to Catholic
women were in his time brought up in the Catholic faith, The
Commander made some earnest efforts to teach them the new
Potestant faith, but his chief difficulty was that the Dutch
language was thoroughly unfamiliar to the people. Portuguese
missionaries could carry on their propaganda in their own
language which was fairly popular in Malabar, They were also
acquainted with Malayalam which placed them ona position of
distinct advantage. **'What can the zeal of areformed preacher,
whom nobody can understand " observes Gollenesse “do to
combat the bustle ot the thonsand Romish priests in this coast
who are perfectly equipped with the necessary knowledge of the
languages?” Butitis doubtful whether the Dutch in general
showed the necessary zeal of a refcrmed preacher. M they had
shown that zeal, certainly they could have combated the

* bustle " of the Jesuit priests who were hated by the bulk of the
native population at that time.

Moens® exhaustive Memoirs deal with every branch of the
activities of the Dutch in Malabar,, Speaking about the import-
ance ol propagating the Protestant religion in Malabar, e gives
certain advices to be followed by the Dutch Commandants.

(1) The Commandant must set a good example to the
community by himsell attending public worship regularly.

(2) He must stand up for the good caunse publicly and show
his partiality for those that excel in learning and virtue,

(3) He should give a fairfield to the Teachers and even
encourage them always to have recourse confidently with him,
He must listen to them kindly when they want ussistance for the
purposes of 1eligion, or the church and show friendliness to them
and hold them in due respect.

{(4) He must take care that * the sailors, infantry and
gunners are marched to churchin an orderly manner evey Sunday,
and that when the military are in barracks or in the field a psalm
is sung and night prayers are said every ¢vening.”
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(5) Finally the Commandant must take care that * the
Sunday should not be disecrated but that on that day, which is
set apart from a general toa particular use all public trades
and crafts are suspended—necessary cases and extra-ordinary
circumstances exempted—so that everywhere in and outside the
town you may see it is Sunday.”

These instructions of Moens are charucteristic of an enthusi-
astic reformer of the 18th century. But how far the other Dutch
Commandants followed these rules, is a doubtful question,

The Dutch in Malabar had only one church and that was
at Cochin. When the Portuguese maintained their domination
in Malabar they had established numerous churches and
monasteries in all parts of the country. There was a church in
almost every factory and attached to most of the churches were
the monasteries of Jesuit monks and other missionaries. There
were also important Portuguese churches at Mattancherry and
Perimani (behind the island of Vendurti), Besides these, there
were forty seven Syrian churches following Catholic doctrines.
When the Dutch replaced the Portuguese, the Latin Christians
and their churches came under their special protection.'

i. The following is mlist of the important Latin churches which were
under the protection of the Dutch Company in the time of Moens :—

(1} Vypeen -

2] Miraculogs Cross in Vypesn

{3 Valarparam E

(4) Paliport in Vypeen

(5 Cranganore

{6} Paponeity

(7] Chettwaye

{#] Vendurt

(9) Anji Caimal (Ernakolam)

{10} Martancherry

(11) Senhora de Sande and the Chapel of 5t Jaosquebrado which
belangs toat

{i2) St. Lonis with its chapel of St Jago

(13} Castello {Eda Cochil

(14} St, Abdre with the chapels of Tangie (Edatinkal} °Tombulie,
Catorty * and Mani corde (Manacoram)

In the time of Gollenssse, there were eleven Roman parishes ander the
jurisdiction of the Duich. They were 1) Saint Louwis: (21 Sr. Saude
i3) Maitanchery (4) Vypeen (3] Cruz de Milagre (6) Paliport (7] Cran-
ganore (8) Valarparam (9] Agji Caimal® (I0) Vendurii (11} Palurty

Even though thess churches were under the costrol of the Dutch they
made no attempts 1o demolish them or convert them into Projestant institutiony
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The Protestant church at Cochin was administered by a
Church Council consisting of the Preacher, two Elders and four
Deacons. The church council was to report to the Commandant
whatever had been decided at its meetings. The Duteh had
some charitable institutions in the country, the most important
of them being the Orphanage and the Leper Asylum. The
Orphanage was for taking care of the poor children who had lost
their parents. They were given free education by the Deacons.
Only Orphans of European parentage were admitted to this
institution, Preference was shown for orphans of Protestant
faith. Children of Catholic parents also could be admitted to
the orphanage and they were at liberty to choose their own
religion when they came of age. If they chose to become
Catholics the cost of their education and upbringing had
to be demanded from the Catholic priests, The boys in the
Orphanage were under the direct supervision of the Deacons.
After their education in the Orphanage they were put to some

profession suitable to their tastes.

The Leper Asylum was at Palliport on the island of Vypeen.
There were many patients suffering from leprosy and the Dutch
had always taken elaborate care to prevent the wide spread of

_ this disease by segregafing the lepers from others. The Com-
pany had a special commission of inspection which was respon-
sible for reporting all cases of leprosy in the locality. The lepor
house had a special fund of its own, administered by special
trustees. Btt later this was placed under the management of
the Deacons.

The liberal policy of religious toleration and the tharitable
activities of the Dutch deserve real praise. Even though the
Dutch at first showed some antagonism towards the Catholics,
they were later treated with great toleration and courtesy.
The Jesuits who were asked to leave Cochin when the fort was
captured were allowed to return and settle down within the
territories of the Company. The toleration extended by the
Dutch towards the Catholics was greatly appreciated even by
the Pope. The following is a letter addressed by the Pope
Clement XIV to the Vicar Apostolic of Malabar :—

* Greetings to our Reverened Brother: Our beloved son
Stephen Boyd, Secretary to the Congregation for the propagation
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of Christians had communicated to usin detail the attention paid
and the trouble taken by the Dutch Governor for the safety of
the Christinns who are there yonder. And as such Christian
acts of kindness undoubtedly concern us greatly and as on their
account we are indebted to him, so it is our earnest desire that
at least our feelings of pratitute for the same be made known
and clear to this man. Therefore to show our gratitude we have
hereby to recommend to Your Reverence to assure him of our
grateful sentiments in the most forcible and the most striking
manner and at the same time to testify that we feel ourselves
8o much more indebted to him for what he has done as we flatter
ourselves that he will continue in this way to lay the Christians
and us under further obligation.”

“Given at Rome the 23rd July 1772 in the 4th year of our
Papal reign. Stephlien Borgia,""

The Dutch policy towards the Hindus was even more
gencrous, They always respected Hindu temples and other
places of worship, Even in the question of slaughter of cows,
we find the Dutch promising the Cochin Rajato lend.all their
helpin punishing the offenders. In the long history of their
relations with the Hindao princes and people of Malabar we can
scarcely getan instance when the Dutch deviated from their
traditional policy of toleration. Even when engaged in warfare
they never indulged in foolish acts of iconoclastic vandalism.
Perhaps, the only instance when the Dutch wounded the
religious susceptibilities of the Hindus was when some of their
soldiers desecrated the temple of Punnathu Nambidi in the course
of the wir with the Zamorin. But even this was done without
the knowledge of the Commander.

Vi . Malabarand the Dutch by K M| Panikker, P, P. 125—120
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LCHAPTER XV

THE DUTCH TRADE IN MALABAR

TH.‘E policy of the Dutch in Malabar has been described as

“maximum pepper trade with minimum expense.”
Pepper was the main attraction for the Dutch in Malabar, and
as Gollenesse clearly states *' it was for the sake of this grain that
the Company maintained its expensive establishments on the
coast.”” Aswe have very often stated, the principal object of
the Dutch in Malabar was to possess the monopoly of pepper
trade. But they were disillusioned in this even at the very
beginning. Inall their contracts with the native princes they
had stipulated that all the pepper should be sold to them with-
out fixing the price defiinitely. The rivalry of the other
European merchants soon made it imposible for them to secure
the monopoly in trade. Other merchants were offering higher
prices for the pepper and naturally the people would sell their
pepper only to those who would offer higher prices. Discussing
this question, Stavorinussays: "“They however early met with
much disappointment on this head, (viz,, securing the monopaly
of pepper trade) both by the bad faith of the Malabar princes
and by the constantly increasing competition of European rivals
who adopted a surer mode of obtaining as much pepper as they
wanted by.always following the market price or even paying
something above it, while our Company continually insisted upen
the performance of the contracts that no pepper should be
furnished to any others although a fixed price was never stated
in them and they only speak of the market price as the rule go
by.” The Datch stigmatised selling of pepper to foreign nations
as contraband trade, but they had no power to stop it.!

I. The Abbe Raynal makes the following observations on the trade of
the Dutch in 1760:—"The Company have not succeeded in their hope of
excluding other European nations from this coast. They procure no kind of
merchanidise here but what they are furnished with from their ather settle-
ments and being rivalled in their trade they are obliged to give a higher price
here than in the markets where they enjoy an exclusive privilege *

Quoted by K. P. P, Menon, History ol Ksrala, Vol 1. P. 364,

4
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Gollenesse was of opinion that there were only two ways of
restoring the pepper trade of the Dutch., The first was to follow
the market as the other merchants would do. The second was
to adopt extreme measurés by which they could compel the
Rajas to observe the contracts, Butif they were to follow the
first policy, they need not have wasted so much blood and meney
in order to secure exclusive contracts. They need not have waged
expensive wars for the maintenance of their political power.
Having committed themselves to so much of heavy expenditure
in Malabar, they could not afford to appear as ordinary competi-
tors with the other European powers. As Gollenesse said ** to
follow the market was well nigh imposible because an ordinary
merchant who had to defray no expenses of any importance was
better off with 25%, profit on pepper than the Hon'ble Company
with 1009, in as much as the latter had to bear the considerable
burdens of so many establishments on the coast.”” The second
alterfative was even more hazardous. In compelling the Malabar
kings to observe the contracts the Company was only getting
itself involved in further wars and more expenditure. Even if
they could defeat these princes in war there was no guarantee that
they would keep the contract. Even if they could compel the
princes, they could not coerce the people to submission on a
question which involved definite financial loss for them. The
system of pepper collection was two-fold—contract collection
and collection through private persons, The Travancore Raja had
entered into a contract with the Company in 1753 I::jr which he
promised to sell 3,000 candies out of his h{.m:htnry territories
at the rate of Rs. 65 a candy and 2,000 candies out of his
conquered territories at the rate of Rs 55 per candy. The
Company maintained that the Raja had the obligation to observe
the contract as he had received * great favour and advantages”
from the Company. “The Company did not stand in his way
when he was making himselt master of so many kings and fertile
pepper lands” contends Moens, “from which he is now drawing
great revenues not to speak of the expenses of a garrison and
fortifications which we have to bear here in time of peace for the
safety of His Highness.” But none of these wasa weighty
consideration for the Raja to keep the contract, He never
fulfilled his obligation and was carrying on his trade with the
English and other merchants,



187

When Hendrick Zwaardercroon was the Commander, he
issuad an order that the pepper in Malabar should be sold at
a premium of 25%. Hisobject was to prevent the smuggling
trade. As the buyers could get pepper at a low price from the
Company there would be no profit in the smuggling trade.
But the Durch authorities in Holland considered this too low
and therefore fixed the premiumas 509 in 1725. In 1733
it was raised to roo%,. But theresult of this increase in the
premium was an increase in the smuggling trade. " The greater
the premium of pepper, the greater were the profits of smuggl-
ing.” However much the Dutch tried to prevent this “contra-
band trade” it only increased as years went by. Dsnally this
trade was carried through sea, but when the Dutch fortified and
garrisoned their outposts in the sea, the “contraband"” trade was
carried through land.

Before the arrival of the Dutch in Malabar there was no
such practice asa * monopoly of trade " in this country. In the
time of the Portuguese, trade was carried on between the
Company and the people and the Rajas were only the mediators
between the two,* But the Dutch introduced the ingenious
system of trade monopoly and the Rajas became parties to it.
But as we have already observed, even though the Rajas were
parties to the contract they never fulfilled the contract.

The important articles of trade next to pepper mentioned by
Gollenesse are piece-goods, cardamoms, cotton, areca, sandal,
cowries, chanks, curcuma (saffron), indigo, timber, lime and
bricks, rice, coir, fuses, hides, . cocoanut oil, salt, charcoal and
fire wood. He also includes slaves as objects of trade. Kottar
in Travancore was an important place for piece-goods. Carda-
mom was mainly produced at Kottayam in the kingdom of
the Kolastiri and this trade had been mainly carried on by the
English in those parts. Sandalwood was purchased at Canara
and sent to Batavia for the-China trade. Cowries were brought
from the vessels which came from the Maldives and they were
sold mainly at Calicut. The Dutch were planning for an
exhaustive indigo cultivation in the Mangat country and the
land of the Anji Caimals. Special seedlings were brought from
Ceylon, Surat and other parts. The main centres of timber trade
were Porakkad and Kayamkulam. The supply of rice in Malabar
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was too meagre and therefore the Dutch were importing rice
from Canara. Coir was mainly brought from Parur and Cochin.
Fuses were prepared at Kayamkulam. But after Kayamkulam
was captured by the Travancore Raja, fuses were made at
Cochin. Malabar was a great export centre of hides. Hides
were generally exported to Ceylon. Cocoanut oil was mainly
supplied by Cochin. Salt was manufactured at Vendurti in large
quantities, Charcoal was burnt at Paponetty.

Most of the Dutch trade was done with the *bombaras’
which came from Sind, Cutch and other northern regions. Be-
sides the ‘ bombaras ' there were native vessels which came from
Basrur and Mangalore and other ports. There were native
vessels trading with cochin from countries of the south like
Quilon, Anjengo, Tengapatnam and Colachel. Native vessels
also came from Manapar, Tuticorin, Kilkare, Coilpatnam, Jafina-
patnam and Negapatam, Ships, even from China, visited the
Cochin port. All these vessels brought to Cochin the things
which the places they come from produced.

The Muscat bombaras brought dates, sulphur, incense,
asafoetida, puvata, Manjalcana, or gall nuts, sticks of liguorice,
shark-fins, fish-gut, kismis, almonds, pastasjes (pistacchios?)
rose water, glass beads, small alcatives (persian carpets or table
cloths) ormus-salt, saleb (a medicinal timber), mirragomma, alwe,
aurom, pigmentum, tutia (2 kind of medicine for eve cothplaint),
small pearls, chalies, blue stone, gum arabic and salt pl:tm

The other bombaras brought capoe, cotton thread, canvas,
coarse spreads, chintzes, wollen clothes, combars, gessia-
pats, niquaniasses, ulwa seed, coriander seed, cummin seed,
mustard seed, catjang, grain, cardels (a kind of edible small
bean), borax, ajuvan or onion seed, putjack root, jerzelin seed,
and jerzelin oil, amenica oil, mustard oil, paparcar, fennel seed,
urida beans, assasalie or garden cress seed, sal armoniac, addi-
vidigam root, trivetty or tricolpaconna, ammekoron root,
kargorony root, aretta root, wheat, ani seed, corkeljan (a medicine
for horses), covy or sandal earth, gall nuts, coffee of the Mocha
kind, soap and chanks.

The imports from Rajpur were catu, raw lac, wood, salt,
coriander, covy or sandal earth, urida, onion and salt petre.
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The imports from Barssalore, Mangalore and Nanjeswaram
were rice, atjang, horse beans, jerzelin seed, urida beans, sandal-
wood, white dry areca, fresh areca, chelas, roomals, canjau leaves
and Jager kana.

The imports from Cannanore, Tellicherry, Vatakara, Tanur
and Ponnany were cardamoms, country-iron, sappan wood,
pulenjica beans, iris root, garlic, aretia root, tobacco, javely,
white and black root, raw wax, chikney areca and fresh areca.

Piece goods, tamarind, jager sugar and coir fibre were the
principal products from Quilon, Anjengo, Tengapatnam and
Colachel.

From Manapar, Tuticorin, Kilcare and Coilpatnam were
imported diverse cotton goods as spreads, chintzes, frocks, stock-
ings, cambays, handkerchiefs, catjes, tuppatties, chelas, roomals
and also tobacco, salt, onions, writing olas, and carpetty or
native sugar. |

The imports from Acheen were Dividar wood, sappan wood,
benzoin, patjapat, camphor, unworked aguil wood, white dried
areca, gatte gamber, sago and rattans.

From China were imported silk of diverse colours, raw silk,
silk stuffs, lanquin sugar, spiaulter, quick silver, camphor, alum,
radix China, cantjore root, porcelain, tea, boeyans, iron pans,
anise flower, castor, arsenic pitch, copper articles, silk and cotton
stockings, preserved ginger, quipersols, different kinds of paper
and pedermany (a kind of medicine for eye complaints.)

The principal exports to Muscat were sugar, spices, spiaulter,
iron, steel, lead, tin, pepper, sandalwood, cardamoms, wooden
articles, dry ginger, curcuma, nerbale beans, castor, porcelain,
rice, cocoanuts with and without husks, agel wood, benzoin,
camphor, clove-pepper, patjapat, palcatcherry piece goods, cow-

ries, coir fibre and ropes. X

The exports to other parts were sugar, spices, Japanese
copper, spiaulter, lead, tin, quick silver, camphor, raw chinese
silk, sappan wood, alum, pepper cardamoms, Bengal silk stuffs.
Palcatchery chialauw, Bengal long pepper and roots of the same,
triatroot, porcelain, clove pepper, pitch, dry ginger, curcuma,
cocoanuts with and without husks, wooden articles, cuva root

It i



and flour, marmanjel, nerbale beans, coir fibre and ropes,
janaparil or little whet-stones, fruita-canjara, fruita-mattapesy,
sollenjan or wild ginger, calliatour wood and dry areca.

The exports to Rajpur were spices, sugar, alum, spiaulter,
cova, cocoanuts with and without the husk.

The exports to Barssalore and Mangalore were spices, sugar,
Japanese copper, tin and lead, steel, spianlter, Bengal long pepper
and roots thereof, Bengal silk clothes, Colletje and Manapur blue
salempuries and white caatjes, Malaceca pitch, Dividar wood,
colliatour wood, benzoin, camphor, Chinese silk stuffs, quick-
silver, vermillion, Chinese iron pans, cantjore root, radix China,
raw silk, alum, copera, oil, tamarind, honey, dry ginger and
cammelmas.

The exports to Cannanore, Tellicherry, Vadacara, Calicut,
Tanur, and Ponnai were spices, sugar, Japanese copper, lead,
tin, spiaulter, camphor, benzoin, dividar wood, Malacca pitch,
calliatour wood, Manapar and Colachel piece goods, tamarind,
Manapar onions, writing olas, jager kana, raw lac, armozines,
Batavin arrack, Ceylon arrack, Cochin arrack, corcapully fruit,
sole and upper leather, magadotties, Bengal salt petre, clove
pepper, Malacca long pepper, cocoanut oil, commelmas, atty and
tripilly fruit.

To Quilon, Anjengo, Tengapatnam and Colachel were expor-
ted spices, sugar, Japanese copper, iron, lead, tin, spiaulter, steel
and cotton, ' .

The principal exports to Manapar, Tuticorin, Kilkare, Coil-
patnam and Jafinapatanam, Negapatam and Aacheen were
chikney areca, coir fibre, copra and cocoanuts, nerbale, sandal-
wood, pulenjica, dry ginger, curcuma, fruita canjara and angelica
boards.

The exports to China were sandal, pepper, cotton, putjuc
roof, gummamira, alwe, olibanum gum, sulphur, salt petre,
timber, catu, asafoetida, fish teeth, elephant tusks, shark fins;
fish gut, sbada horn, arabian gum, Surat cambay, gingham
coverlets, combars, lead and tif.

The trade was mostly carriedl on on the exchange system.
The Company used to buy these articles and keep them in large
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stock, There were local merchants in the service of the Company
to arrange for the purchase and sale of these articles The
Dutch had to battle with many difficulties for a smooth trade
in Malabar. The .havoc done by pirates on the sea was
always causing them anxiety. The scarcity of money among the
merchants also interrupted their trade, Formerly the Company's
trade had suffered very much because of the private trade carried
on by the Commanders and chiefs of the settlement. The
Commanders used to carry on their private trade either in person
or through private agents and they were making enormous profits
out of it. But the Batavian Government issued orders strictly
forbidding private trade by the Commanders. Asa compensa-
tion for their loss they were given 3%, brokerage on the
Company’s merchandise, C. L. Senff, Moens' predecessor in
Malabar, complained that the compensation was too poor and
therefore he should be allowed to carry on private trade. When
Moens became the Commander a new arrangement was devized
by which the brokerage was raised from 3% to 5%. It was leit
to Moens’ option to have private trade or this commission. But
Moens realised that “if an administrator was allowed to do for
himself what he was bound to’do for the Company, viz., to trade,
sell-interest might at times so lead him astray, that he would
see first to his own interests and to the Company's only after-
wards,"’

Even thopgh private trade for personal profits was given up,
Moens tried a system ol private trade on behall of the Company
which was to enjoy the profits thereof. This was found to be
highly profitable, Moens was encouraged to take up this sytem
of private trade on behalf of the Company by the report of Mr.
Schrender, an ex-councillor of Cochin. Schrender stated in his
secret considerations: *“The Honourable Company cannot only
do everything that private persons can do, but even much more,
if it is served faithfully und a man applied to its affairs the same
amount of judgment of retlection as he would to his own"
Moens wanted to bring this suggestion into practice by ** serving
the Company faithfully applying to its affairs the same amount
of judgment and reflection as he would to his own.” Moens takes
great pride in having carried on this trade very profitably. A
profit of Rs. 5472290 was made on powder and candy sugar
alone, The total profits amounts to Rs, 126,342-5-0.
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We may notice one general rule about the prospects of the
Company’s trade in Malabar, It was prosperous when the
Company’s influence among the Malabar princes was strong ; it
declined when the Company's power declined,

CHAPTER XVI

ADMINISTRATIVE SYSTEM OF THE DUTCH EAST INDIA COMPANY

HE Dutch who stepped into the shoes of the Portuguese in
Malabar excelled their predecessors in many respeets. We

have already referred to the liberal policy of religious toleration
followed by the Dutch as constrasted with the rigorous policy
of couversion pursued by the Portuguese. It was in the
field of administration that the Dutch showed their definite
superiority. The Portuguese Company was ill-organised and
throughly inefficient. [t was organised on the worst patern of
medieval fendalism and proved to bea colossal failure in the
East. The Dutch East India Company, on the other hand, had
in it all the marks of a modernised democratic State. ** Govern-
ment by Councils”, the characteristic feature of European
Government, was the main principle of the Dutch administration
in the East also. Unlike the Portuguese Company, there was no
unnecessary interference and no arbitratory restrictions from the
home Government, The Dutch Company in the East was
practically a sovereign body, devising its own rules and policies
suiting the circumstances of the country and age. Grose in his
voyage to the East Indies observes: ' One of the reasons why the
Dutch East India Company flourishes and is become more rich
and powerful thap all the others isits being absolute and
invested with a kind of sovereignty and dominion more especially
over the many ports, provinces apd colonies it possesses.”” Even
though the Company enjoyed the patronage of the State, it was
never hampered in any of its activities by the authorities of the
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State, The main strength of the Dutch East India Company
was that it had a very sound system of organisation, a system
which deserved the admiration of all western commercial
- concerns. The organisation of the Dutch Company was
considered the model for the English East India Company
and we can find the close resemblance between the two
in almost every detail. The English publicly acknowledged the
superiority and merit of the Dutch administrative system and
deliberately copied its principles. Dutch officers were taken into
the servicesof the Company so that their system of administra-
tion could be more effectively practised. In 1687 Governor Yale
of Madras sent the Directors of the English Company ' a book
containing the Dutch methods " and commenting on the book
the directors made the following observation :—* As there
appears in this (the book) great wisdom and policy we recommerid
to you the frequent reading and consideration of what is
contained in these papers, which the oftener you read, the more
you will - discover the wisdom of these persons who contrived
those methods...... Our design in the whole is to get up the
Dutch Government among the English in the Indies (than which
a better cannot be invented) for the good of posterity and to put
us upon an equal footing of power with them to offend or defend
or enlarge the English dominions and unite the strength of ou
nation under one entire and absolute command subject to vs, as
we are and ever shall be most dutifully to our own sovereign.”
The only n;‘.?stiuctinn the English wanted to make was that of
nomenclature. They wanted to have their English terms, viz.,
Attorney General instead of Fiscal, Alderman instead of sepin,
Burgesses instead of Burghers, serjeants instead of Baillies, Presi-
dent and Agent instead of Commander, Director or Commissary

The organisation of the Company in Holland was in the form
of a loose confederation. The different *‘chambers)’ at the
varions posts formed the units of this confederation. There
were ““ chumbers '’ at Amsterdam, Middleburg, Rotterdam, Delft.
Hoorn and Enkhuizen andeach of these chambers had its own
ships for trade with the East. The chambers kept their own
accounts of the ships they were sending to the East. The
governing body of the Dutth East India Company was a board
of directors consisting of 60 members. Amsterdam had the
largest representation in the board ; one third of the directors

oo
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were chosen by the Amsterdam chamber. Middleburg selected
one fifth of the total number of Directors. Rotterdam, delft,
Hoorn, and Enkhuizen chose seven members each to the board.
The supreme administrative body was the Council of Seventeen—
usually known as the  Seventeen,” Eight out of the seventeen
members were appointed by the Amsterdam chamber which was
the predominant unit. The Council had its sessions tor six years
at Amsterdam and for two years at Middleburg, (The council of
Seventeen was often referred to as the Amsterdam Couneil). The
Council arranged for the sail of ships fixing the number each
chamber had tosend and also fxing the dates for their sail.
The council met only three times i vear, but there were special
committees of the council for carrying on the routine busihess of
administration,

The chiel officer in charge of the administralion of the
Company's Eastern  possessions was the Governor General, He
was assisted by a council of nine members, each one to bein
charge of a separate department. For example, there was one
commercial expert, one naval expert, one chiel army officer, one
advocate general and jurist and one director general for the
factories. -The Governors of Moluceas, Amboyna, Banda and
Coromandel were the other members of the Council. The
Governor General enjoyed almost sovereign powers in the Council,
The Director General was the officer next in importance to the
Governor General, All questions relating to the eastern trade
were decided by the Governor General's Council without being
influenced by the instructions from the Home Government. The
Home Government ot being in direct acquaintance with the
circumstances of the East usually allowed sovereign authority to
the Governor General and Council for all affairs relating to the
Company’s administration in these parts. The membership of the
Governor General's council was not fixed as nine. In some Vears
there were only eight members, four of whom would be with the
Governor General at Batavia, The Governor General had always
a casting vote. .

Calletti treats the different services of the Dutch East®India
Company under six headings political, ecclesiastical. military,
naval, medical and artisan, .

There were various grades in the polical seTvices, e,
apprentice, junior assistant, assistant book keeper, under
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merchant, merchant, upper merchant. In each settlement there
was a Governor or a Commander ora Director as the head of
this hierarchy of officers. These officers were entitled to certain
commissions and aflowances besides their regular salary. Their

salaries per month were as follows -—

Governor 200 Guilders
Malabar Cammander I50—180
Upper merchant So—r100
Merchant 60— 70
Under merchant 40

Book keeper 30

Assistani 24— 26 .
Junior Assistant 16— 20
Apprentice 0— 10

The officers received allowances for lodging and provisions,
which almort amounted to their respective salaries. In Malabar
there was a Commander’ incharge of the settlements on the Coast,
From the writings of Moens, we know how the Commanders
before his time were making enormous profits by private
trade. But that system was disallowed and the Commanders
were given 5%, commission on the profits of the Company. The
salary of the Commander was no doubt not very attractive. Buot
his total income including all his commissions and itllowances
amounted to nearly 3,000 pounds a year.

The different fortresses, military settlements and factories in
Malabar were under the supreme control of the, Commander at
Cochin. At Cochin, the head quarters of the Dutch in Malabar,
there wis a second-in-council to assist the Commander. In the
time of Gollenesse there were six under-merchants, 15 book
keepers, 24 assistants, and 19 apprentices, Thus there were 66
members in Cochin bolonging to the Political service. At Quilon
there were g members of the political service and at Cannanore
four. There were residents at Porakkad, Ponnani and other
places, But many of these establishments were reduced consider-
ably and in the time of Moens there were only 43 officers of the
Political service at Cochin, two at Quilon and one each at
Cranganore, Kayamkulam al'li‘i Porakkad.

1. ‘Moens was given the title ol “ Governor® being an extra-ordinary
member of the Council of India.
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The constitution of the political service in Malabar closely
resembled that of Batavia. The Commander was assisted by a
council of nine. Here also, the membership of the council was
not strictly fixed. Sometimes there were nine members in the
council, some times only seven. The main departments under the
charge of the councillors were the warehouses and store house,
the treasury, the post office, the trade office and the political
secretarint, The members of the council were styled as
** Honourable.” There were subordinate officers in the political
service called “ administrators.”” In the factories also there were
political committees to assist the chief officer. Many ol the
Dutch settlements were under officers who had the rank of
“under merchants."

In the ecclesiastical service of the Company the *Preacher’
was the highest officer. The Preacher was also the head of the
educational department as education and religion were not
seéparated in those days, There were many deacons under the
preacher and they were expected to carry on some missionary
activity. The Preachers were generally proficient in the verna-
calar and Portuguese, as a knowledge of these was highly
necessary for religious instruction. The Preacher’s salary was
go—120 guilders, the deacon's 24—36 guilders and the school
master's 7—15.  All these officers received allowances for house
rent, fire wood and food besides their salaries. In Cochin there
were one préacher’ and two deacons.

The chief officers of the military service were a serjeant
major and a chief engineer with their head quarters at Batavia,
Below them there were captains, captains-lieutenant, lieutenants,
ensigns, serjeants, corporals and privates, There were superior
officers in the army like Brigadier, Colonel, Lieutenant-Colonel
and Major, Their salaries were as follows :—

Brigadier e 350 guilders.
Colonel & 250

Lt. Colonel -y 200

Major T &
Serjeant Major = 20 4
Captain ' 80—100 guilders.

i

1. Visscher was a preacher of the Dutch in Cochin during the yeary
1717=—1723; -

¥
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Captain Lientenant . 70 guilders.

. Lieutenant S 30— 60 i
Enasign i 40 o
Serjeant o 20 i
Corporal L 14 T
Private 9

The salary for the Chief En@neer was 140 goilders a munlh

The Chief Military Officer for the Duch garrisons in Malabay
had usually the rank of a Captain. There were under the Captain
one Captain-Lieutenant, four Lieutenants and six Ensigns, These
officers were in charge of the European armies in Malabar. There
was one Captain assisted by two Licutenants and one Ensign for
the other armies of the Dutch in Malabar (Malayan, Eurasian
and native troops.) There were also one Captain and one
Lieutenant in charge of the artillery.

The Chief Officers of the naval department were Commander,
Captain-at-sea, Captain-Lieutenant-at-sea, Skipper and Lieu-
tenant. Their salaries were as follows :—

Commander 120 guilders,
Captain-at-sea - 100
- Captain Lieutenant-at-sea 8o
Skipper 6o
Lieutenant 48

There were other naval officers like chiel maritime officer,
port officer 'md master attendant who were in charge of the ports,
At Cochin there was only one maritime officer who had the
command of the port and the sea.

The Surgeon General with his headquarters at Batavia was
the Chief Medical Officer. He was assisted by upper surgeons,
sergeons and under surgeons, The salaries were as follows :—

Surgeon General Bo guilders.
Upper surgeons 45—63 =
Surgeons and under surgeons 14—30

In Malabar the Chiel Medical Officer had the rank of an
upper surgeon. There were many surgeous and under surgeons
also in Malabar, In Cochin there were about S-1r surgeons.
.+ The chief officers of the Arkisan service were the inspector of
fortifications and superintendent of the press. There were many



subordinate oficers of this department in Malabar employed for
ship-building and fortification. There were also many saiths,
carpenters, masons, etc., in the service of the Company.

The distinctive feature of the administration of the Dutch
East India Company was “ efficiency,” The Dutch realised that
* good management was of great importance to the Company and
that good servants of greater importance.” Moens wrote:
“Good service and good servants are bound up with one
another as effect and cause. Hence, itis time beyond dispute
that where the best servants are, there things are done best,"
Therefore the Dutch always took care to secure efficient officers
for the service of their Company. Liberal salaries were given to
their servants in order to ensure efficiency of work. Still there
seem to have been many * deserters "' from the company’s service,
Moens speaks with great regret about the desertions of De Lannoy
and Duyvenschot. While he does not appreciate their action, he
deplores the circumstances that led toit, Even though they
were men of real meiit, no recognition was given to their services
mn the Company and it was their discontent that pursuaded them
to remain in the services of Travancore, Gollenesse knew that it
was impossible ** to make all the croocked sticks straight." Still
he advised his successor to * remember the deserving when
opportunity offered and to recommend them to the Right
Worshipfuls,” Moens also pleaded for giving attractive encourage.
ments to the servants of the Company lest the Company should
miss the benefits of their talents. But he bniiev;zgi that much
depended on the chief of the settlements. * For if he sets a good
example in everything, " says Moens, ** and himself does nothing
which the whole world may not know and so need not be afraid
of any one, is conscientious in his work, treats everyone severely
or kindly according to his merits, and before all has a head on
his shoulders, then those who would like to commit malpractices
will think twice before doing so.”

Besides Europeans, the Company had in its services large
numbers of Topasses, Lascorins and Mukhavas, The Topasses
wire formerly in the services of the Portuguese. After the
arrival of the Dutch the majority of them had taken up services
with them. Most of the gardeos and fields of the Company
were rented out to the Topasses. They were also employed in
the ship-building yard and in the smithy. Some served as
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carpenters, some as soldiers and some as interpreters. The
service of interpreters was highly necessary for the Duteh
especially when  they were dealing with criminal cases i the
courts. The great defect about the native interpreters was that
they could not understand the Dutch language clearly and
distinctly, When a native witness was to be examined in a court
of Inw, it was necessary that the clerk of the court should undeg-
stand the evidence without any mistake. But often many grave
mistakes were committed by the native interpreters who transta.
ted the vemacular into Dutch. The Dutch Commanders were
always complaining about the want of efficient interpreters who
should have not only an *‘idea clara™ but also an * idea
distincta.” Moens keenly felt the difficulty in  employing
incompetent native interpreters and suggested that Europeans
should take pains to learn the vernacular tongue. He suggested
that the small European boys who came to Malabar along with
their parents should be taught the Vernacular and Dutch
languages throughly with a view to making them interpreters,

The Topasses liad certiin exclusive privileges as servants of
the Company, e. g., they alone could sell refreshments to the
Company’s ships. Gollenesse was frequently complaining about
the disloyalty of the Topasses who were regularly deserting the
Company’s service. By the regulation of September 26, 1730 the
Dutch autharities were persuading the deserters to come back to
the Company’y services. A general pardon was assured to the
deserters ; stil] it was not sufficient inducement for their return,

The Lascorins who were employed in the seryices of the
Company were Christians who accepted the Romish faith in the
dhys of the Portuguese. They served the Company mainly as
soldiers. Gollenesse says that about 300 Lascorins deserted the
Company’s service and took with them their muskets also,

The Mukhavas (Christian fishermen) were largely employed
is coolies by the Dutch for the construction of fortresses and
buildings. Some of them were recruited as soldiers also.

JubicaL” ApyaxistraTION

The Dutch aimed at the establishment of a high standard of
justice in their possessions. Jhere wasa court of justice at
Cochin presided by the Second-in-Council and Chief Administrator,
Most of the members of the political council were members of the

-
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Bench and they settled all civil and criminal casess. There
was also a subordinate court at Cochin dealing with small cases:
1t was presided over by a member of the political council.

Formerly the Chief of the settlement—the Commander—
used to be the president of the court of jusice also. But later
the judicial functions were vested in the Second-in-Council.
This change was brought about after the trial and punishment
" of the Ceylon Governor Perter Vvyst in 1732. The Commanders
were strictly forbidden from interfering in the affairs of judical’
administration. They werg to approve of the decisions of the
Court in criminal cases with the advice of their Council. If they
could not approve of the sentence they could stay its execution
till the final decision of the case came from Batavia. But even
though the Commander was formally forbidden from interfering
in the affairs of the court, it was his duty as chief of the settle-
ment to see that the administration of justice was properly done.
Moens gives nine important suggestions for the consideration of
the Commander in this respect.

(1) *When appointing judges of the court of justice, he
should take special care and pay much attention to selecting the
best men available at the station.

(2) He should make the members of this court understand
the delicacy, importance and responsibility of their office......
that a judge must exercise neither excessive severity nor
misplaced leniency, but be nothing more than an éxecutor of the
laws which he must weigh with the acts doue or the facts of the
suit according to the circumstances of eath particular case,

(3) The Chief should not listen to the complaints of litigants
who have lost their casein the civil court. That would only
encourage people to show disrespect to the court of law.

(4) The Chief can be considerate towards the luser ina
civil case by helping him to file an appeal to the proper judicial
authorities,

(5) 1f the judge for some reason refuses the loser permission
to appeal, the Chief may then make the loser understand that a
way of appeal is still left him, namely, by making application to
the judge (ad quem) for permissicn to appeal.

{6} The Chief may advise the judge to clarify his judgment
if it is unintelligible without prejudicing the former judgment.
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(7). The Chiel may recommend prompt hearing and disposal
of cases for avoiding delay.

{8) The Chief sould not grant any ‘committimus® except
in cases which the Supreme authority has reserved to itself.

{9) In criminal cases he should take care to make a distinc-
tion between crimes which directly concern the Company's own
interests and all other crimes.”

Usaally the Communders did not interfere in the regular
course Bf judicial administration. But the formal consent of the
Commander was necessary for the execution of the sentences.
If the Commander disagreed with the judgment in any, particular
case, he conld stuy the execution ol the sentence and refer the
matter for the final decision of the Batavian Council which was
the supreme authority in everything. But there were no
occassions for such interferente irom the Batavian Counecil.
Like the other branches of administration, the judicial adminis-
tration of the Dutch was also perfect and sound.

CoNCLUSION

The Dutch period covering more than a century and a
quarter was of great political importance asit witaessed certain
fundamental changes in the political system of the country,
Even though the Dutch interfered frequently in the internal
politics of the conntry, their history is not stained by any acts
of cruelty or barbarism. Comparing the Portuguese and the
Dutch administrations of Malabar, Mr. Panikker says.! * Unlike
the Portuguese, the Dutch never claimed that they had conquered
India or any portion of it. As their pretensions were less and
their desire to do profitable trade evident, they caused less fric-
ton and created less trouble than the Portuguse,.... +Calculat-
ing, matter-of-fuct, and well-trained in the doubtful art of
diplomacy, the Dutch presented a striking contrast to the
arrogant and incompetent Portuguese whose finances were always
an the brink of bankruptcy, tiut whose pretensions were never

1  Malabar and the Daich, K. M. Panikkar, P, 167—108,

a6
.



202

less than those of universal dominion and Empire." The haughty
and thoroughly selfish policy of the Portuguse had made them
extremely uanpopular with the princes and people of Malabar,
It must be =zaid to the credit of the Dutch that they were not
hated by any section of the people of Malabar in any period of
their stay in the country. The Dutch had always viewed with
disapproval the high-handed policy of the Portuguese in Malabar.
We find in the writings of all the Dutch administrators severe
criticism of the Portuguese methods and policy. Ths Dutch
always took pride in considering themselves better civilized than
the Portuguese who, according to them, were no better than
barbarians. The name of the Portuguese had become a by-word
for cruelty and even to-day the ward * Paranki’ is used in
Malayalam to reter to barbarism. The Dutch rule appeared as
a relieving substitute for the harsh reign of the Portuguese, The
scorn and contempt the Dutch had for the Portuguese policy is
clearly evident from the writings of Nieahofi and others, When
Nienhoff was sent to Quilon, Travancore and other parts to
arrange for trade agreements with the native rulers, the ministers
of Travancore accused him for the harsh treatment the Dutch
had accorded to the Queen oi Quilon. He asked Nieuhofi
** whether the Dutch would do less than the Portuguese had
done.” Nieuhoff replied: * If we should lollow the foot-steps
of the Portuguese we must be guilty likewise of the same
enormities, in murdering, plundering, etc., things not customary
with us, the intention of our Company being to maintain every
one in his right, and establish a free commerce without interrup-
ton.”  As we have already stated, the Dutch came to Malabar
as merchants and wanted only to remain as merchants. The
role the Company played as a soverign authority was only
anaccident in its history, But the Portuguese came to Malabar
as merchints, masters and missionaries. They wanted to be
all the three at the same time and deliberately sought to
achieve this object.

The Datch rule in Malabar did not leave any  permanent
mﬂrh as thB Pm‘tugllm did Thﬂ Pﬂnﬂgﬂm Iuﬂguagc h EVEeT
to.day known to some parts of Malabar and many Portuguese
words have crept into the Vergacular. The religion of the
JPortuguese continues in all vigour and force on the Malabar coasi
and the converts to their faith remain tuithful to their religion.
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The most indelible mark of the Portuguese rule in Malabar is
the mixed caste of Topasses who even to-day follow the old
Pmuguﬁ‘e traditions. But viewed,from the standpoint of
leaving permanent results, the Dutch rule was very unimportant.
It was only a passing cloud. The Dutch language is nowhere
spoken, the Dutch traditions are nowhere in vogue, and even
the Dutch religion has disappeared from the country. But the
Dutch are remembered by the Malayalees for their liberal and
large-hearted policy. The Dutch in general upheld the cause of
honesty and justice. They never allowed their servants to
commit any malpractices in the country or to be cruel towards
the local inhabitants. They always paid due respect to the
Malabar princes und chieftains and were very polite in their
relations with them, Even though they were zealous champions
of the Protestant faith, they never allowed religious fanaticism to
override their sense of duty. They showed great respect to the
traditional ceremonies and religious observances of the Malayalees.
They even considered it their duty to protect the religious rights
of the local inhabitants. We have referred to the strong attitude
taken by Governor Angelbeck against the slaughter of cows.
This is sufficient indication of their concern and respect for the
religion and beliefs of the natives. In all these things the Dutch
offer a brilliant contrast to the Portuguese. Once a Dutch man
asked a Portuguese priest at Goa, ** When do you imagine the
sway of my countrymen will melt like that of yours in India '
Promptly came the reply: ** As soon as the wickedness of your
nation shall exceeed that of my people.” But students of Datch
history in Malabar know perfectly well that the wickedness of
the Dutch was never the reason for their disappearance.

We have referred to some of the humanitarian activities of
the Dutch in Malabar like the Orphanage and the Leper Asylum.
The Dutch spent liberal sums for the hospital, and many of the
Company's officers and their wives took keen interest in these
charitable institutions. Some Commanders had made themselves
very popular with the local inhabitants during their stay in the
country., Some of them coold converse in Malayalam without
difficulty and tock a keen interest in the local traditions and
history of the country. The Pulrh administrators, even though
mainly interested in commerce, were keen observers of things and
men and critical students of history. The Memoirs of Moens
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and the letters of Visscher are priceless Ireasure—houses of
information about Malabar and its history. Van Rheede's
‘ Hortus Malabaricus' has immortalised the memory of the
Duteh relations with Malabar, Van Rheede made an extensive
study of the vegetable products of the country, Special agents
were sent to the different highlands and forests of the country to
collect all available specimens of plants. He classified them
into different groups and gave their distinctive names in the
Sanskrit, Malayalam and Latin languages. A comprehensive
report about the distinctive usefulness of these plants and alsn
their sketches were included in his valnable book. Tt took many
years for the book to be completed and edited. The first volume
was printed in 1686 at Amsterdam and the twelfth (last) volume
in 1703, Van Rheede had the able assistance of many Malayalee
and Portuguese scholars in the production of this comprehensive
book. The names of the plants in  Malayalam were given by the
Konkanies like Ranka bhattan, Vinayaka Pandither and Appu
bhattan and an Ezhava by name Itty Achuthan, The sketches
of these plants were rendered in the Portuguese language drawn
by the Carmelite Priest, Mathaeus at Cochin. The details ahout
these plants were rendered in the Portuguese language by
Emmanuel Carnerio and they were transiated into latin by
Herman Van Douep the Government Secretary. The name of the
plant is given below every sketch in Malayalam and Latin,
Probably Malayalam types were for the first time made in Europe
for this purpose.

The Datch rule in general was conducive to the development
of trade and industries. The Dutch gave a fillip to the pepper
. trade of Malabar and gave wide advertisement to Malabar pepper
in the world markets. Commanders like Gollenessee and Moens
mtroduced new methods for the improvement of cotton fabries.
New systems of dyeing and printing were introduced into the
country by these Commanders. The Dutch also rendered
valuable service to the Malabar princes in giving training to their
soldiers in new methods of warfare. The Dutch popularised
western weapohs of warfare and their example was followed by
many local princes. Some of the Dutch officers were taken into
the services of the Native Stages. We have seen how the
services of De Lannoy were useful for the training up of the
Travancore army and the cunstrm':i'r}n of the fortifications. The
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engineering skill of the Dutch was made use of by the local Rajas
On many occasions.

One fmportant point that should be remembered about the
Dutch rule of Malabar is that, their power declined not becauss
of the decay of their administration but because of the rase
of certain circumstances over which . they had no control,
Usually the .influence of a particular power disappears when it
declines of its own accord. But that was not the case of
the Dutch jn Malabar, The Dutch administration was efficient
and sound from beginning till end, There was no deteriora-
tion In the system of the management of the Company’s affairs,
On the other hand, it is worth while to note that the Dutch took
special care and attention for securing efficiency of administration
towards the latter part of their reign in Malabar. But, their
disappearance was due to certain outside factors. The first
factor was the rite of Marthanda Varma and the consequent
progress of Travancore as a poweriul State. The next was the
invasion of the Mysoreans. The last was the strong rivalry of
the English. Marthanda Varma dealt the death below to the
Dutch Company, the Mysoreans hastened its death, the English
effected it. '

%2
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APPENDIX I

List or Dutce CoMMANDERS AT CocHIN

Hustaart _ .. Captured Cochin in 1663.
Peter de Bitter wh }Cmmisﬁuners in charge
Charles Valkenburg of the fort,

Ludalif Colster First Governor,
Hendrick Adriaan Van Rheede 1673—1677

Jacob Lobo thyg—ri678
Martin Huysman 1680—1681
Gulmer Vorsbury 1684—1686
Isaac Van Dielen 168 7—1603
Swaardekroon 1603—1608
Peter Cocsaart (acting) 1608

+ Magnes Wickelman 1hg8—1701
W. Moerman 1705—1704
Barent ketel 1700—1710
J. Hertenberg 1717—1724
De. Jong 1724—I1731
A, Maten [731—I1735
J. 5. Van Gollenesse 1735—1743
Siersma 1743—1748
€. Stevens 1748—1750
Le Haye 1750—1751
(. Cunes 1751—1I757 *
C.De Jong 1757—1761
G, Wayerman 1761—1764
C. Breekpot 1704—1700
C., L. Snett 1760—1771
Adrian Moens 1771—1781
Van Angelbeck 1781—1793
Vun Spall 1793—1795
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APPENDIX 1

CHEONOLOGY OF EVENTs RELATING TO THE HISTORY OF THE

Dutce 18 MALABAR

Year. I Month. Event.

1504 | Houtman organised a sail to the East.

1505 | April 2 | A Heet of four vessels under Houtman sailed

i to the east.

1601 | Sixteen Dutch ships sailed to the East.

1bo2 | Mar. 20 | Formation of the Dutch East India Company.

1608 | Oct. 13 | Dutch signed a treaty with the Zamorin for
“the ruin and destruction of the Portu-
guﬁt“” .

1610 Arrival of the Dutch in Cevlon.

161g | Establishment of Dutch power in Batavia.

1658 | Dec. 20 | Seized the Portuguese fortress at Quilon.

1661 | Feb. 10 | Arcival of the Dutch at Ayakotta,

1hb1 |' Mar. 12 | Paliath Achen entered into an agreement
with the Dutch on Board the "Muscaat

| boom.'

1661 [ The Dutch made an unsuccessful attack on
Cochin. Dutch captured Quilon and Cranga-
nare. :

1662  Feb. The Dutch took the palace of the Ranee of
Cochin and made her prisoner.

1662 | Oct. 25| The Dutch forces returned to Cochin under
Gﬂuﬂall Hustaart,

16z | Nov, Van Goens joined the Dutch at Cochin.




Year. l Month.

Eveént.

680

1H8g
b1

1097

1701 to|

1710

1710

1714

1715
1717

1739

1742

1753

| Jan. 8

.’411; 20

Sep. 10

Jan,

Cochin capitulated to the Dutch.

The Dutch concluded & treaty with the Raja
| ol Cochin who consented to become their
| sl

The Dutch possessions in Malabar and on the
I western const were placed under the Cochin
command.

| Negotiations with the Portuguese for the
exchange or sale of the Catholic institutions,

Adoption into the Cochin Raja’s family.

Chettwaye given to the Zamorin by the
Dutch:

Reduced the fortifications at Cochin, Crangi-
nore, Cannanore and Quilon,

War between the Duatch and the Zamorin.

Raja of Cranganore reinstated in his original
Possessions.

Dispute between the Dutch and Zamorin over
Chettwaye.

' Zamorin invaded Cochin.

Peace concluded between the Dutch and the
Zamorin.
| Raja of Quilon died and his territories
| amalgamated with Kayamkulam.

' Dutch fort at Quilon attacked by Travancore
forces—Travancore troops beaten off.

Oct. 15’ Cochin Raja ?et the Dutch ambassador at

Mavelikara \vhere they attempted to negoti-
ate a peace with Travancore.




Year. Month, | Ewvent,

1753 | Aug. 15| Treaty of Mavelikara between Travancore

and the Dutch.

1757 300 European and 17,000 coloured troops

| arrived at Cochin from Batavia,

1757 to Raja ol Cochin and the Dutch formed an

1758 alliance to drive out the Zamorin,

1758 The Dutch relieved the Chettwaye fort, The
Travancore lines constructed,

1762 The Raja of Travancore defeated the Zamorin
and restored to the Cochin Raja his lost
POssessions. .

1766 Hyder invaded Malabar.

1766 | Apnl Dutch Commissioners met Hyder at Calicut
to assert their rights and privileges.

1775 Travancore purchased from the Dutch certain
territories,
1776 Tippu took Cranganore and Ayroor,

1776 | Nov, 13 | The Dutch fort at Chettwaye was compelled
to surrender to the Mysoreans.

1778 |-Jan. 8 | The Dutch took the palace of the Cranganore
Raja.

1778 | Mar. 3 | The Mysoreans attacked the Cranganore
Falace and compelled the Dutch to retire
to their fort.

178g | The Dutch sold the fort of Cran;gunnre to the
Travancore Raja.

1789 Aug, Cmng;.nom and Palliport sold by the Dutch
e to Travancore,

1700 | April | Tippu mjw:] the Travancore lines.

- e W —
L
ar .
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Year. 1| Hl:mth.!l Event.

1790 | Mar. 7 1 Tippu seized the Cranganore fort.

1700 i Treaty between the Cochin Raja and the
| English, :
15791 Disputes between the Dutch and the Cochin
Raja over the Konkanies.
1791 | The Dutch handed over Chettwaye to the
Zamorin,

1765 Feb 24 The Dutch at Cochin ordered Stadtholder
to admit the British to their possessions,

1795 Sep 6 | Conference at Cochin between Major Petrie.
| | Mr. Stevenon and Van Spall.

1795 i_D:l 19 = The fortress of Cochin surrendered to the
| English.
| ;

APPENDIX II1

Translation of the Agreement between Travancore and the
Dutch for the purchase of the fort of Cranganore "md the oatpost
of Ayakotta \—

*“ The enlightened and poweriul king of Travancore, Wanji
Bala Marthanda Rama Varma has sent his first State Minister
and Dewan the respectable Kesava Pillai to the Most Wutslﬁpiul
John Gerrard Van Angelbeck, Governor of the Netherlands India
and Commander of the forces of the Enlightened and Powerful
Netherlands Company in the Malabar coast with the intention
of purchasing from the Company the fort of Cranganore and the
post of Ayakotta with the gardens and lands belonging thereto,
having consulted and negotiated upon this it was adjusted upon
the following conditions :—

“The Dewan Kesava Pillay has bought for his master and
Hon. Governor Van Angelbeck on s]l:e part of the Company has
sold to the king of Travancore for the just sum of three hundred
theusand Surat Rupees, the fort nfi ‘Cranganore and the post of
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Ayakotta with the cannon and ordinance belonging to them as
they now stand together with the Powder magazine though
no small arms or any other tﬁects and further the following lands
and gardens . —

The Muskaton island now leased for Rupees 300.

The garden of Kilo Barki now leased for Rupees 115.
The garden of Ascencio de Rosa leased for Rupees 1g0.
The gartden of Nagachetty leased for Rupees 164.

The garden of Hendrick Meyer leased for Rupess 230.
Garden of Babo Probo leased for Rupees 64.

The garden of Alewyn leased for Rupees 310.

The garden of Dama Moona leased for Rupees 1220.
Lhe garden of Arekel Ittooppoo leased for Rupees 199,
The garden of Konoto Barki leased for Rupees 115.

“The purchase and sale is agreed to upon this condition that
the King of Travancore shall not hinder the navigation of the
river past the fort either to the Company’s vessels or in the
vessels of the King of Cochin or their subjects whether the same
be empty or loaded with rice, paddy or goods of any description
as also all floats of wood and bamboos, etc., ina word all goods
whatever without exception shall pass and repass -free and
without hindrance, nor shall there be any new tax put.upon them.

*“The King promises solemnly that the fire wood which must
be brought from above Cranganore shall not be prevented on any
pretext or taxed with any duty whatever, but on the contrary
that he will assist all in his power to forward the firewood to
Cochin by every possible means.

“The Lepers" House at Palliport with the buildings, gardens
and further ground belonging to it to remeun in the foll and free
possession of the Company.

“The Romish Church at Cranganore and Avakotta stand
from ancient times under the Company and must remain under
them. The King shall not interfere with the same or with the
parsons. The Christians are to remain vassals of the Company
and must not be burdened with any new tax.

“The Parson's house at Pglliport which the Governor erected
and ‘gave as a present to the cRurch shall remain with the Church
and no new burdens be ed.



“The inhabitants shall keep'their gardens and lands that
they now possess as private property. % Such as are, Christians
remain the same as the Catholic Christian vassals of the Company
and must not thus under any ‘pretence be burdened with addi-
tional taxes, only paying to the king the sum they formerly paid
to the Company.

“The King promises before the delivery of the aforesaid
fort and lands to make a payment in ready money of Rupees
Fifty thousand and the four following years in equal instalments
by furnishing an account of pepper annually to the amonnt of
Rupees Sixty two thousand five hundred, for the better security
of which and as lawful debtors the merchants David Rahaby,
Ephraim Cohem and Ananda Setty bound themselves. A

“All this negotiated in the fort of Cochin in the year Koilang
nine hundred and seventy four and on the nineteenth of the
month of Karkadagom or the thirty first July Seventeen eighty
nine."

APPENDIX IV

TeE TeEXT oF THE TREATY BETWEEN THE DUTCH
AND THE ENGLISH

Answers of the English.
The garrison of Cochin will

Propositions of the Duich.
The Governor in Council of

Cochin proposes to Major Petrie
of the 77th Regiment Command-
ing the detaichments of the
King’s and E. L C's. troops, to
surrender this place on the zoth
of this month and requests at the
same time that all hostilities may
cease,

Article 1
"The officers of the garrison and
the military that have defended
Cochin will with all the honours

be prisoners and the fort given
over to His Great Britannic
Majesty tomorrow noon at
twelve O'clock at which time
the Bay gate and the New
gate shall be delivered over to
such detachments as Major
Petrie will order to take
possession of them,

Article 1
| The garrison will march out
4s requested and lay down
ti;\ei.r arms on the Esplanade



218

of war march out from the Bay
gate together with their arms,
baggage, flying colours, beating
of drums and lighted matches as
also two cannons with their ap-
purtenances.
Article 2
All officers and soldiers which
are of thé garrison of Cochin will
with as little delay as possible be
transported either to Batavia
or Ceylon at the expense of the
English Government in English
vessels,
Article 3
The said officers and soldiers
will take with them all their
effects without their being liable
to any search. Their servants
and slaves : whilst those that are
married will likewise be at liberty
to take their families with them.
Article 4
The Governor, the members of
Council and all servants of Police
and Trade, *Churchmen, Military
and Naval, and other servants in
the pay of the Dutch Company as
also all the inhabitants of Cochin
either Europeans, or natives will
be at liberty to hold their persons
and property movable and im-
movable merchandize and other
effects without being therein
molested or obstructed on any
account whatsoever.
Article 5
Among the foregoing is also
understood, regarding the li
of the Factor and Residenf of
Porea, J. A. Scheits, who is

when thev must retire back as
prisoners of war.

Ariicle 2
Cannot be granted; about
the garrison, it will be disposed
of as the C-in-C may deem
proper.

Arficle 3
Allowed, excepting with res-
pect to slaves, a name on-
known in the British dominions

Article 4

All private properties will
be sacred.

Article 5
A reasonable time will be
allowed him to settle his
affairs, but he must be con-
sidered as a prisoner of war,
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employed here in keeping the
Company's mercantile books and
he must be allowed to return to
his station to receive his office.
Article 6 i

The Governor, the members
of the Council and all servants
of Police and Trade, the Church-
men and further servants in pay,
will beat liberty to take their
{amilies, male and female, slaves
and also their possessions either
to Batavin or Ceylon and they
will be granted there to at the
expense of the British Govern-
ment the necessary ships and
transports.

Article 7

The funds- belonging to the
Orphan College and the poor
House will not be confiscated or
seized upon, they being money
of orphans and the poor.

Article 8
All officers and servants, eivil
and political, of the Company
who may wish to remain at this
place as private individuals shall
be granted the protection of the
British flag,
Article g
All marcantile articles, am-
munitions, artillery goods, arms,
© provisions and other articles
which belong to the Company
and are found at this place will
faithfully be made over accord-
ing to a specific statement to the
commissaries that will be appoin-

-

Article 6
This is replied to in the
second article,

Article 7
The funds mentioned in this
article will belong to His
Great Britannic Majesty in so
far that he will appoint per-
sons over them for their
management.
Arlicle 8
All the inhabitants who are
willing to remain and to take
the oath of allegiance to His
Great Britannic Majesty will
in every respect be treated as
British subjects,
Article g
Everything mentioned in
this article will be faithfully
delivered over to such persons
as Major Petrie will appoint
hereafter to dispose there
:tnut agreeably to the direc-
tion of His Great Britannic
hajesty.
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ted to receive them and the
specified list will in duplicate be
duly delivered to Major Petrie.
Artidle ro
The fortifications, the Govern-
ment houses, all magazines and
other public buildings belonging
to the Company will be kept as
they are at present and not be
tltmbli.ﬂlﬂd+
Arilicle 11
The free exercise of the re-
formed religion, as nsual in the

Dutch Church, where divine
setvice is performed, will be
permitted.

Articla 12
The convent at Verapolly and
all other Romish churches, as
also the Heathen temples will
receive the protection, that they
have hitherto enjoyed, under the
Dutch Company.
Artiele 13
All Topasses (half-castes) and
inland Christians as also the
Banyans, silversmiths, painters,
washers and shoe-makers who
are subjects and wvassals of the
Dutch Company will retain their
property and also all privileges
and protections which they always
had enjoyed of the said Com-

pany.
Arficle 14

All documents, charters, resolu-
tions and other papers belonging
to this Government will withgut
any search being made of
be delivered over to the

Article 10
Regarding the fort of Cochin
and all other public buildings
they will be disposed of as the
Commander-in-Chief or the
Commanding Officer will think
proper at the time,
Arlicle 11
Allowed.

Article 12
The British Government
everywhere protects religious
EXETCiSes.,

Ariicle 13
Answered in the fourth and
eighth articles.

Ariicle 14
All Public Documents and
papers must be delivered over
to persons appointed to receive
them, but Mr. Van Spall will
have authenticated vouchars,
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nor, Mr. Van Spall in order to be
carried with him wherever he
may be removed to.
Article 15
No one will occapy the Govern-
ment House during (his} Mr, Van
Spall's stay at Cochin, but he
will remain in it, unmolested,

Arlicle 16
In case of any English desert-
ers being found in the garrison
of Cochin, they will be pardoned.

driscle 17
All public papers, Notarial or
Secretariat deeds which may in
the least be to the security of
the possessions, belonging to the
inhabitants of this place will be
respected and preserved in the
hands of those who hold that
office in order to be made use of
whenever required.
Article 18
The Auctioneer of the town
the Seguester and the Curator
(Trustees) will be supported in
the recovering of all outstanding
money and be therein protected
by the usual officers of justice.
Article 19
After this capitulation shall
have been signed, the new gate
shall be made over to an English
detachment of 50 men to which
an equal number of Dutch sol-
diers shall be added, to whom it
will be charged that no Dutch
snldier may get out and no
English one may rush in, and

of those which may concern
himself during his management
of Cochin,
Article 15
Answered in the second
article,

Article 16
All deserters will absolutely
be given over.

Article 17
Answered in the fourteenth
article.

Article 18

All inhabitants who remain
in Cochin will be subject to
H?n'tish Laws.

Arlicle 1g
The gate of the fort of
Cochin will be taken possession
of by a detachment of British
troops tomorrow noon at 12
O'clock. The garrison will be
lodged as conveniently as the

‘circumstances will allow until

‘t can be disposed of - there
* bout agreeably to the second
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next day all the gates will be
taken possession of by the
English troops and the garrison
of Cochin will retire to a certain
place and remain there, until
their departure for Batavia or
Ceylon laying down their arms
as usual with the exception of
the officers Commanding them
who will retain their swords.
Article 20

All servants of the Company
the Police the Military, the Navy
and others in pay will be suppor-
ted by the English Government
until they are taken in English
vessels to the place of thewr
destination, either Batavia or
Colombao.

Article 21

All sick and wounded now in
the hospital are to be treated
and maintained by the English
Government.

The fulfilment of all the above
stated articles and the manner of
capitulation agreed to are to be
faithfully observed and signed
respectively by Major Petrie, the
Governor Van Spall and the
Couneil of this place.

1gth October 1795
iﬁignedl J. L. Van Spall.
P. J. De Can.
" . A Eellum
e H.. Scheids,

P2

r].p.r-u—-

article, The offiicers may re-
tain their swords.

Arlicle 20

Major Petrie is of opinion
that he has not the power to
enter into such an Agreement
on account of the Hon'ble
Company. The last part of
this article has been answered
in article 2 nd.

Article 21
Allowed.

Major Patrie consents toa
cessation of arms, until 4
o'clock in the morning at
which time Mr. Van Spall
should declare whether or not
he will accept the afore-men-
tioned articles of capitulation.
11-30 p.M. 1g9th October 1795,

(Signed) G. Petrie,
Major, 77th Regiment,
Commanding.

b VmSpnl!-
}-En
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